Optimizing treatment for soiltransmitted helminthiasis

Inauguraldissertation

zur

Erlangung der Würde eines Doktors der Philosophie

vorgelegt der

Philosophisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät

der Universität Basel

Von

Chandni Patel

Basel, 2022

Originaldokument gespeichert auf dem Dokumentenserver der Universität Basel

https://edoc.unibas.ch

Genehmigt von der Philosophisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät auf Antrag von

Prof. Dr. Jennifer Keiser

Prof. Dr. Jakob Zinsstag

Prof. Dr. John Russel Stothard

Basel, den 15. December 2020

Prof. Dr. Martin Spiess

The Dean of Faculty

Acknowledgements

I would like to start by thanking Jenny for, not only giving me the opportunity to work as a PhD student at the Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, but for the support and freedom you have granted me these past few years. In each of the projects that I worked on, you were always open and available to discuss plans, results and next steps. I know I will look back on the time we spent working together both in Switzerland and in the field with happiness and a sense of accomplishment. Not only were you able to open up a new field to explore, but you also opened the door to a great number of friendships.

To all my Wormy Friends, I had a blast working, sharing and learning from all of you. It is not every day, one gets so lucky to encounter such a dynamic group of individuals, who take their work and friendships seriously. Thank you all for your support and constant acceptance of my "American" ways. I can truly say that you all made my time in Basel inexplicably enjoyable.

Specifically, I would like to thank the clinical trials section of our group, which spent countless hours trying to develop and conduct trials with me. Evi, I know we hit if off from the beginning, but our relationship grew to so much more so quickly. I don't know how I would have survived in Côte d'Ivoire without you guiding my way. Dani, thank you for sitting and waiting with me all those hours in every place in Côte d'Ivoire; your laidback personality was much appreciated and always cherished. To Sophie, thank you for all the deep discussions and for opening your mind and your home to me. Ima, thanks for meeting my smile with a smile every time. And to Jessi, for teaching me the ropes and picking up my slack, you made it easy and I cannot thank you enough for that.

Particularly, to Smarta and Tikiti, I can't think of one of you without the other and I don't think this PhD would have been so exciting and productive without either of you. Smarta, your kindness and willingness to help people (mostly me) in all kinds of situations always surprises me. I can't wait to hear about the next chapter of your life, while I share mine with you. Tikiti, the chances of a double defense are looking slimmer and slimmer these days, but like all of our other projects, I am sure your PhD thesis will compliment mine perfectly. Thank you for always being my soundboard, the reasonable one and a great friend.

To all of the amazing collaborators that ensured our work was possible in Côte d'Ivoire, I thank you. Jean, I am not sure anything concerning this PhD could have happened without your presence and guidance as a gatekeeper to the communities we worked with during our trials. Touré, I don't think I would have been successful in this PhD work without your hard work and dedication to ensuring our projects went as planned. To all the members of the field team, especially Deles, Nadège and Ulrich, many thanks to your countless days and nights of work and the patience and kindness you all showed me. Special thanks to all the community members, village chiefs and ministry of health officials who cooperated and engaged with our team during the long clinical trial processes. Your willingness to participate in the research we conducted shows the capacity and generosity of the Ivorian people.

Outside of the sphere of this PhD research, I would like to thank Dominik for encouraging me to apply for the position and always taking an interest in my PhD research projects. Also, I would like to thank Narissa and her family for opening her heart and her home to a fellow expat in Basel. To all the other people I encountered during my time at Swiss TPH, thank you all for laughing, dancing and enjoying parts of your life with me.

Finally, I would like to thank my family back home, who have always supported me from across the pond. To my dad, who always taught me the value of hard work, I can't thank you enough. To my brother, who shares my passion in improving the lives of others, thanks for always reminding me that every person deserves the opportunity for good health. Of course, to my husband Chris, who unknowingly took me on this great adventure to Switzerland, thank you for bringing my life happiness and completeness. Finally, to my mom, who showed me the privilege and responsibility of a higher education and sacrificed her time and energy to ensure I successfully completed by PhD, words cannot describe my appreciation.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements 1
Table of Contents 3
Summary
1.Introduction
1.1. Epidemiology
1.2. Life Cycle
1.3. Clinical presentation12
1.4. Morbidity
1.5. Diagnosis
1.6. Clinical management
1.7. Public health control
1.7.1. History of STH control
1.7.2. WASH interventions
1.7.3. Preventive chemotherapy
1.8. Study settings
1.8.1. Côte d'Ivoire
1.8.2. Other study settings
1.9. Research aim and objectives
1.10. References
2. Efficacy and safety of ascending dosages of albendazole against <i>Trichuris trichiura</i> in preschool-aged children, school-aged children and adults: A multi-cohort randomized controlled trial
3. Efficacy and safety of albendazole in hookworm-infected preschool-aged children, school-aged children and adults in Côte d'Ivoire: a phase II randomized controlled dose- finding trial
4. Design and conduct of a randomized controlled multi-country trial of co-administered ivermectin and albendazole
4.1. Efficacy and safety of ivermectin and albendazole co-administration in school-aged children and adults infected with <i>Trichuris trichiura</i> : study protocol for a multi-country randomized controlled double-blind trial
4.2. Efficacy and safety of co-administered ivermectin and albendazole in school-aged children and adults infected with Trichuris trichiura: a multi-country randomized controlled trial
5. Use of fecal calprotectin and fecal occult blood as point-of-care markers for soil- transmitted helminth attributable intestinal morbidity in a randomized controlled trial
Conducted in Cote d'Ivoire, Lao FDK and Pemba Island, I anzania

6.1. Controlling STHs with anthelminthics	113
6.1.1. Anthelminthic resistance	114
6.1.2. Other causes of reduced efficacy	
6.1.3. Changing drug regimens to improve efficacy	116
6.1.4. Alternative treatment options	
6.1.5. Emerging drugs in the fight against STHs	119
6.2. Eliminating the STH research gaps	120
6.2.1. Geographic gaps in the evaluation of mass drug administration	
6.2.2. Difficulties in morbidity measurements	121
6.3. Study design in the context of STH control	122
6.3.1. Alternative trial designs for evaluation of anthelminthics	123
6.3.2. Complimenting trials with non-randomized studies	125
6.4. References	
7.Conclusions	136

Summary

Soil-transmitted helminths (STHs), namely *Ascaris lumbricoides*, *Trichuris trichiura* and hookworms, are intestinal parasites infecting a quarter of the people living in the world today. Highest at risk for infection are children in subtropical and tropical climates with limited access to improved drinking water sources, inadequate sanitation and living in poverty. Infections with helminths tend to be asymptomatic, though more intense infections can cause abdominal discomfort, anemia and wasting. Preventive chemotherapy, or treatment without diagnosis, to at-risk populations is the current recommendation by the World Health Organization (WHO) for the control of STHs. The strategy of preventive chemotherapy is carried out through mass drug administration of either single dose albendazole or mebendazole to reduce the morbidity of infections in the target population. Though there has been a reduction in the prevalence of STHs in the last 15 years, the low efficacy of both treatment options against *T. trichiura*, and to a lesser extent hookworm infections, is a drawback to control strategies. Optimized therapies for STH control are needed if elimination is to be reached and maintained.

The objectives of this thesis are to assess regimens and dosages of current available treatment options that are potentially available for mass drug administration. The first and second objectives of this thesis are to identify an optimal dose of the currently used albendazole in preschool-aged children (PSAC), school-aged children (SAC) and adults infected with either *T. trichiura* or hookworms in Côte d'Ivoire. In the first objective of this PhD thesis, results show albendazole, regardless of dose, has low efficacy against *T. trichiura*, though findings need to be interpreted carefully as recruitment goals were not met for PSAC and adults. In the second objective, moderate efficacy of albendazole was shown against hookworm; specifically, an 800 mg dose (twice the current standard dose) provides superior efficacy in adults.

The third objective of this PhD research was to design and conduct a multi-country trial assessing the efficacy of combination therapy of albendazole and ivermectin against T.

trichiura. The trial was conducted in three settings: Pemba Island, Tanzania, Lao PDR and Côte d'Ivoire using the same standardized protocol. Though the combination therapy was proved to be efficacious in Pemba Island, Tanzania and Lao PDR, albendazole combined with ivermectin was not found to be superior than monotherapy of albendazole in Côte d'Ivoire. Potential reasons for this discrepancy range from emerging resistance to population-based differences, which are being further investigated.

The last objective of this thesis aimed to identify potential gut morbidity markers in participants included in the efficacy trial of the third objective. Identifying two potential morbidity markers: fecal calprotectin and fecal occult blood, the study assessed the correlation between the markers and STH infection. No association was found between either marker and STH infection, making them poor markers for STH gut morbidity.

Based on the findings of the research conducted, it is recommended that alternative combination therapies be used for the control of STHs. Drugs such as oxantel pamoate or moxidectin combined with a higher dose of albendazole could be highly efficacious against all three STHs, especially in settings such as Côte d'Ivoire. Furthermore, a thorough evaluation of control programs are needed to assess the benefits and costs of mass drug administration in reducing the burden of disease. Finally, research in the fields of STH and neglected tropical diseases need to expand and diversify the study designs used in assessing drug efficacy and effectiveness.

1. Introduction

1.1. Epidemiology

Soil-transmitted helminths (STHs), namely *Trichiura trichiura, Ascaris lumbricoides*, and hookworms (*Ancyclostoma duodenale* and *Necator americanus*), affect mostly individuals living in poverty in tropical and subtropical environments. Prevalence estimates indicate that approximately 1.45 billion people were infected with at least one STH species in 2010 [1]. Though there has been a reduction (32.3% from 2007-2017) in the disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) attributed by intestinal nematode infections, STHs continue to cause considerable disease burden (1.9 million DALYs as of 2017) primarily in low-income and lower-middle-income countries [2].

A. lumbricoides (roundworm), the most prevalent of all the STHs, caused over 447,000 infections in 2017 with over 32,000 (~ 7%) of those causing complications, defined as heavy infestations, mild abdominal problems and severe wasting [3]. Human infection of whipworm (*T. trichiura*) has a prevalence rate of 3,790 per 100,000 as of 2017 with approximately 10,700 (~ 4%) trichuriasis complications. Though the least prevalent of the STHs, hookworm infections (estimated number of 229,000 in 2017) caused a considerable amount anemia (mild, moderate and severe) and complications (9,500 and 28,900 cases, respectively) [3].

Although STHs are most common in warmer climates, global distribution varies by STH species as seen in Figure 1. *A. lumbricoides* has a higher endemicity South America, Asia, and west and southwest parts of Africa comparatively to trichuriasis and hookworm infections, which are more prevalent in Southeast Asia and the eastern and southern countries of Africa.



Figure 1: Global prevalence of (A) *Ascaris lumbricoides*, (B) *Trichuris trichiura* and (C) *Ancyclostoma duodenale* and *Necator americanus* infections as of 2010. Adapted from Jourdan and colleagues [4]; data from Pullan and colleagues [1].¹

Prevalence of each STH also varies by age as seen in Figure 2. Children aged 5-9 years have the highest prevalence rate of ascariasis, while individuals aged 15-24 years have the highest prevalence rates of *T. trichiura* and hookworm infections. While hookworm prevalence rates level off into adulthood, drastic decreases are seen in the prevalence rates after their peaks for ascariasis and trichuriasis [5]. Mortality due to STH infection is uncommon with only ascariasis attributable deaths being reported at 3205 deaths in 2017.

¹ Reprinted from The Lancet, 391, Jourdan, P.M., et al., *Soil-transmitted helminth infections*. 2018, with persmission from Elsevier.



Figure 2: Global prevalence rate of *Ascaris lumbricoides* (blue), *Trichuris trichiura* (orange) and hookworm (green) infections by age group in 2017. Data from Global Health Data Exchange [5].

1.2. Life Cycle

As suggested by the name of infections, soil plays an important role in the life cycle of STHs. For *A. lumbricoides* and *T. trichiura*, eggs mature in warm, moist soils before being ingested orally by human hosts. In the case of *A. lumbricoides*, after maturation into the second-stage, larvae penetrate the mucosa of the small intestine and travel through the vascular system to the pulmonary circulation (Figure 3) [6, 7]. From here, third-stage larvae are able to travel up the trachea to the pharynx, where they are swallowed and return to the small intestine to develop into adults [6, 7]. The larger adult females (20-25 cm) can produce tens to hundreds of thousands of fertilized eggs daily, which are then excreted in the stool. While the time from infection to maturation to adult worm takes 10-12 weeks, adults have a lifespan of 1-2 years [8]. Depending on environmental factors, such as soil temperature and humidity, fertilized eggs can lay dormant for years or become infectious in a matter of weeks [9].



Figure 3: Life cycle of *Ascaris lumbricoides*. Images from <u>http://clipart-library.com/</u> for non-commercial use excepting the image of adult worms (bottom right), which is taken from Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) at <u>http://www.cdc.gov</u>.

Meanwhile after ingestion, *T. trichiura* eggs hatch and molt in the intestine, as seen in Figure 4 [4]. First stage larvae (L1) penetrate the epithelium of the large intestine and mature to adulthood [10]. In the final two larval stage (L3 and L4), the thicker, posterior end of the worm extends beyond the epithelial tissue into the gut lumen, while the thinner end remains embedded in the epithelial cells, hence the moniker whipworm [10]. Adult females (3-5 cm in length) may lay thousands of eggs every days, which are excreted by the human host [11]. Patent infection takes 2-3 months to develop and adults can survive several years in the gut [12]. Excreted in a non-infectious state, eggs can become infectious in 2-4 weeks but may survive in harsh conditions for months [11].



Figure 4: Life cycle of *Trichuris trichiura*. Images from <u>http://clipart-library.com/</u> for non-commercial use excepting the image of adult worms (right), which is taken from Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) at <u>http://www.cdc.gov</u>.

A. duodenale and *N. americanus* eggs hatch in soil within 48 hours and mature to third stage larvae (L3) before infecting hosts (Figure 5) [13]. Though *A. duodenale* can be ingested, the primary route of both hookworm species infection is penetration of the skin, usually through bare feet [13, 14]. The larvae migrate to the lungs and then into the gastrointestinal tract in a similar manner as *A. lumbricoides*. Once in the small intestine, L3 larvae mature to fifth stage larvae (L5), which attach to the mucosal lining using teeth (*A. duodenale*) or cutting plates (*N. americanus*). Once adulthood (about 1 cm in length) is reached, females can produce up to tens of thousands of eggs, depending on species, which are excreted in the stool of hosts [13]. The two species have several major differences: *A. duodenale* is 8-13 cm in length, produces up to 20,000 eggs daily and has a life expectancy of 1-3 years, while *N. americanus* is 7-11 cm long, can lay up 6000 eggs daily and live up to 10 years [15]. The time to patency is about 1-2 months and survival of L3 larvae is dependent on temperature and moisture of the environment, which also varied by species [13, 15].



Figure 5: Life cycle of hookworm. Images from <u>http://clipart-library.com/</u> for non-commercial use excepting the image of adult worms (bottom right), which is taken from Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) at <u>http://www.cdc.gov</u>.

1.3. Clinical presentation

STHs, while found worldwide, are highly overdispersed, meaning a small minority of the infected population carries the most worms [16]. These highly infected individuals are generally more likely to present with symptoms, while individuals with light of moderate infections can be asymptomatic or have non-specific symptoms [4, 10, 13]. Symptoms also depend on the life cycle of the parasite. A localized, pruritus and rash at the site of entry can occur when hookworm larvae penetrate the skin, known as ground itch [14]. In *A. lumbricoides* and hookworm infections, pulmonary complications (e.g. Loeffler's syndrome, pneumonitis) can occur when larvae migrate through the circulatory system [15, 17].

Adult worms can cause gastrointestinal and abdominal distress, especially with increased worm burden. Ascariasis can cause diarrhea, intestinal bleeding and bowel obstruction; moreover, systemic eosinophilia, anemia, weight loss, malnutrition and hepatobiliary complications can occur if infections remain untreated [4, 8]. Symptoms of *T. trichiura* and hookworm infections are similar; however, as these worms attach themselves directly to the host, inflammation of the intestinal mucosa is common [10, 14]. Hookworm infection, in particular, can cause severe anemia (especially in small children and women of childbearing age) resultant from both leaking of blood where the worm is attached and the active feeding on the host's blood [15]. Blood loss is estimated 0.15 ml for *A. duodenale* and 0.03 ml for *N. americanus* [15]. Long-term impacts from STH infections also include stunted growth, lower physical fitness and reduced working capacity [11, 18, 19].

1.4. Morbidity

STH infections tend to be chronic in nature lasting years with recurring infections. STH attributable morbidity is difficult to measure and has been thought to be underestimated in terms of DALYs, which are based on prevalence estimates and limited symptoms such as mild abdominal pain, heavy infestation, severe wasting and anemia (only in the case of hookworm infections) [20, 21]. Lacking among these symptoms are long-term effects such as impaired cognition, reduced physical fitness and/or working capacity, and stunting, along with more common (albeit less specific to only STHs) general malaise and diarrhea. Compounding to limitations of DALYs, the economic burden has not been clearly defined for STHs, as is the case for many other NTDs [20].

Furthermore, the burden in an infected person is difficult to assess. Besides patient reported symptoms, the most common and non-invasive method of evaluating the worm burden in an individual is through examination of the stool for eggs. The more eggs in a standardized sample of stool indicates a higher worm burden. The largest drawback of this method is the rate of egg shedding is not constant and egg shedding does not quantify the number of larvae or adult worms in the gut. There is a need for adequate markers of morbidity, which is an objective of this PhD thesis.

1.5. Diagnosis

Since the shedding of eggs occurs in stool, coprological diagnosis methods are most common. The gold standard method for diagnosis of STHs recommended by the World Health Organization (WHO) is the microscopic examination of the Kato-Katz thick smear for eggs after fresh homogenized stool is sieved and stain is applied to the eggs [22, 23]. Egg counts are multiplied by a constant factor to estimate the eggs per gram (EPG) of stool, which defines infection intensity and worm burden. Because the method is low cost, easily performed with a light microscope and does not take much time (several minutes) to assess several parasites, it is the most widely used method of helminth diagnostics [24]. However, there are several drawbacks. Once slides are prepared, there is a window of time in which they should be read (especially for hookworm), which can be constraining to the accurate diagnosis [25]. Moreover, the sensitivity of the technique is reduced in low intensity infections (though this improves with multiple examinations from multiple stool samples) [26-30].

The formol-ether technique, similar to the Kato-Katz in terms of ease and speed, can be used on both fresh and preserved stool samples [31]. However, a drawback to this technique is that is not quantitative. Several other methods base their technique on the flotation of eggs. The McMaster technique uses a saturated saline solution allowing eggs to float to the top of chambers of a slide [32]. The Kato-Katz (two slides) and the McMaster technique have similar sensitivities for each of the STHs, which are greater than the formol-ether technique [29]. Another egg flotation technique is the FLOTAC and mini-FLOTAC, which can be used on preserved samples after several weeks [33, 34]. These techniques have drawbacks in that the protocol is more time-consuming and complex, as well as the resources needed (i.e. centrifuge) are more costly and may not be available in resource-limited settings [35]. The FLOTAC technique is more sensitive in the diagnosis of each STH than the Kato-Katz and McMaster methods as a large amount of stool is analyzed, while the mini-FLOTAC has similar sensitivities to that Kato-Katz and McMaster techniques [29].

The last microscopic method to mention in my thesis is the FECPACK^{G2}, which is also based on egg flotation [36]. The approach includes capturing an image of a slide that can be stored on a computer and read at any time in any place, though the sensitivity was found to be lower than two slides of the Kato-Katz [37]. Research is underway to improve sensitivity and scalability of this technique.

As strategies for STH control move from reducing transmission to elimination and surveillance, increased sensitivity of diagnostic tools is needed. Molecular diagnostic techniques include polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP), which detect DNA from STH in the stool [38]. These molecular methods are more sensitive than microscopic methods; however, they are more resource-straining and have not been fully developed in a standard protocol for STHs [38].

Given the epidemiology of helminths, a cost-effective diagnostic technique is needed, which is scalable and sustainable to control programs in resource-limited settings.

1.6. Clinical management

Administered therapy for the first-line treatment of helminths include the use of benzimidazoles: albendazole and mebendazole (Figure 6). For *A. lumbricoides, T. trichiura* and hookworm, a single dose of either 400 mg of albendazole or 500 mg of mebendazole (preventive chemotherapy) or 100 mg of mebendazole (individual patient management) can be given twice daily for three days [39].



Figure 6: Structures of albendazole and mebendazole.

Albendazole was discovered in 1975 and approved for human use in 1982 [40], while mebendazole was introduced in 1977 as a veterinary anthelmintic [41]. Albendazole is metabolized to albendazole sulphoxide, the active form of the drug, in the liver [40]. This active form binds to the helminth tubulin, which disrupts the formation of cytoplasmic microtubules and inhibits cell division and energy production [41, 42]. Not only are adult worms, but also larvae are affected and hatching of eggs is also prevented [43, 44]. While the metabolite of albendazole prove to be the active form against STHs, mebendazole itself is active against helminths in a similar manner to albendazole [40].

Another class of compounds that has anthelmintic properties are the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChR) agonists (Figure 7), which include levamisole and pyrantel pamoate [45]. Both drugs bind to the nAChR and cause overstimulation of the muscles of the worm leading to paralysis sand eventual death [46]. Levamisole is given at 80 mg or 2.5 mg/kg in a single dose, while pyrantel pamoate is given as a single dose of 10 mg/kg [47]. Two other nAChR agonists that have shown anthelmintic effects are oxantel pamoate and tribendimidine, though they are not currently on the WHO list of Essential Medicines for use against STHs [45, 48,

49]. While oxantel pamoate has a weight dependent dose (20 mg/kg), tribendimine is given weight independently at a dose of 400 mg [50-52].



Figure 7: Structures of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonists.

Another common anthelmintic is ivermectin, which has been an antiparasitic in veterinary medicine since 1981 [53]. As a macrocyclic lactone, ivermectin binds to glutamate-gated chloride channels (GluCls) on muscle cells (particularly those of the pharynx), which causes a flood of chloride ions leading to paralysis and death [54]. In 2018, another macrocyclic lactone named moxidectin was approved for use against onchocerciasis, or river blindness, by the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) [55]. It works in a similar (though not identical) manner as ivermectin binding to GluCls. The drug is part of the milbemycin subfamily, while ivermectin belongs to the sub-family of avermectins (Figure 8) [56]. A weight dependent dose (200 μ g/kg) is used for ivermectin , while an 8 mg weight independent dose of moxidectin is used for most helminth infections [57].



Figure 8: Structures of ivermectin and moxidecitn.

1.7. Public health control

1.7.1. History of STH control

Formal global control of STHs began with resolution of WHA54.19 by the World Health Assembly in 2001 [58]. A goal was set to achieve 75% coverage of deworming therapy in school-aged children at risk for STHs and schistosomiasis by 2010 [58]. Though millions of school-aged children were treated for STHs, the goal was not achieved by 2010, but did provide the momentum needed for development of formal global strategies for the control and elimination of STHs. In 2012, the WHO published *Accelerating work to overcome the global impact of neglected tropical diseases* and *Eliminating soil-transmitted helminthiases as a public health problem in children* [59, 60]. The former details the roadmap to elimination of the 17 neglected tropical diseases by 2020, while the latter outlines the specific strategies for

н і он STHs [59, 60]. Both call for an integrated NTD plan at the country level with 75% coverage in 100% of affected countries by 2020 [59, 60]. Inspired by the WHO roadmap, a group of industry partners, donors, non-government organizations and NTD stakeholders gathered and committed to the control of 10 NTDs, including STHs, in the London Declaration on Neglected Tropical Diseases [61]. Then in 2015, the elimination of NTDs was included as part of Sustainable Development Goal 3 [62]. Following a series of guidelines and updates based on annual progress reports, the WHO recommended expanding annual or bi-annual deworming to preschool-aged children, women or reproductive age and pregnant women after the first trimester of pregnancy [63].

Simultaneous to deworming, Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) interventions and improvements became imperative to combat STH transmission. In early 2010, the European Region of the WHO made the Parma Declaration on Environment and Health, which pledged to improve WASH conditions, especially for the well-being of children by 2020 [64]. Following the Parma Declaration, resolution WHA64.24 recommends an integrated approach for proper WASH practices for primary prevention [65]. Furthermore, Sustainable Development Goal 6 focuses on providing adequate access to water and sanitation services by 2030 [62].

While targets for 75% deworming coverage are well on track in the 103 countries that remain endemic for STHs, new targets were developed for 2030 [66]. These include STH elimination in preschool- and school-aged children and expanding control programs to adolescents, women of reproductive age and pregnant/lactating women, as well as universal access to basic WASH [66].

1.7.2. WASH interventions

Approaches for WASH control of soil-transmitted helminths focus on the prevention of contamination of soil with eggs/larvae and prevention of contact with contaminated substances,

such as food and water. Health education and behavior change play a large part in preventing open defecation, poor hygiene practices during self-care and food preparation and walking barefoot. Prevention of contaminated soil can be achieved through appropriate waste management. Usually the installation of improved latrines with adequate maintenance that are easily accessible to community members lowers the odds of STH infection [67]. Ingestion of or contact with contaminated substances can be prevented with access to clean water and improved hygiene practices (i.e. handwashing with soap before eating). The use of treated water and access to piped water have both been shown to reduce the odds of STH infection [67]. Handwashing (before and after eating and after defecation) lower the odds of STH infection with a significant lowering of infection when using soap [67]. Particularly in the case of hookworm, the wearing of shoes also lowered the odds of infection [67]. WASH continues to play an important role, not only in the control and elimination of STHs, but also in the prevention of many other NTDs and infectious diseases, which is why integrated approaches that include WASH and deworming therapy are parts of successful and comprehensive control programs [68].

1.7.3. Preventive chemotherapy

Another way to control for STHs is preventive chemotherapy (PC), or treatment of STHs without diagnosis. The use of PC not only interrupts transmission by reducing soil contamination, but also reduces the morbidity of STHs. Routine distribution of PC to either entire populations or targeted populations (i.e. school-aged children) is called mass drug administration (MDA). Compared to WASH interventions, PC remains the fastest and lowest costing form of STH control.

Current WHO guidelines recommend one of the benzimidazoles (albendazole or mebendazole) annually for endemic countries with prevalence of STHs \geq 20% and <50% or biannually in

20

countries with prevalence \geq 50% [63]. As seen in Figure 9, the frequency of PC depends on the prevalence within the endemic country and should be evaluated and tailored periodically [66].



Figure 9: Decision tree for preventive chemotherapy. From WHO's 2030 targets [66].

However, PC is usually limited to SAC due to the high prevalence of STHs among the population and the ease of access to the target population through a structured school system. Though the global coverage rates are reaching 75% as outlined in the 2020 targets, coverage rates vary substantially by region, as seen in Table 1. Furthermore, over one billion preschool-and school-aged children require PC globally, as of 2019 [69].

D	Coverage of preventive chemotherapy (%)			
Kegion	Preschool-aged children	School-aged children		
Africa	71.73	63.97		
Americas	40.14	50.93		
Eastern Mediterranean	76.27	23.39		

Table 1: Coverage rates by region, 2017 [70].

European	0*	69.57
South-East Asia	76.69	90.3
Western Pacific	50.27	51.34
Global	69.4	70.18

*No preventive chemotherapy required and/or no data available

One of the drawbacks of traditional PC approaches has been limiting the target population to children. Particularly, hookworm infections are hard to control in children, since adolescents and adults contribute predominantly to disease transmission [71, 72]. Though recent recommendations have included expansion of PC to adolescents, women of reproductive age and pregnant women, many countries have yet to implement strategies within control programs targeting these populations.

Compounded to the limitations in targeted populations is the limitations of the therapies themselves. Though pyrantel, levamisole and ivermectin are also included on the WHO's Model List of Essential Medicines, only albendazole and mebendazole are included as part of the recommendations for mass drug administration of chemotherapy [45]. While periodic evaluation of the prevalence of endemic countries aims to reduce drug pressure and the risk of growing resistance, the fact remains that the efficacy of both albendazole and mebendazole has decreased in the last two decades [47]. Though there is very little evidence of human resistance to date, the frequent and expansive use of anthelminthics in veterinary medicine shows the development of resistance [73-76]. Moreover, cure rate (CRs) and egg reduction rates (ERR) remain low and moderate against *T. trichiura* and hookworm infections, respectively, as seen in Table 2 [47].

Table 2: Cure rates and	and reduction rates	of benzimidazolas	Data from Moser et al	2017 [47]
Tuble 2: Cure futes and	egg reddetion rates	of benziniidazoies.	Data Hom Woser et al.	2017 [47].

Soil-transmitted helminth	Albendazole (400 mg)		Mebendazole (500 mg)	
	Cure rate (%)	Egg reduction rate (%)	Cure rate (%)	Egg reduction rate (%)
A. lumbricoides	96	99	96	98
T. trichiura	31	50	42	66
hookworm	80	90	33	61

Though current standard doses of the benzimidazoles are not highly efficacious against *T*. *trichiura* and hookworm infections, there is an opportunity to optimize the existing therapies, which is the focus of this PhD research. Evidence of efficacy of higher doses of albendazole against both trichuriasis and hookworm infections have been alluded to in the literature; however, a formal dose-response relationship against these two indications has not been assessed [42]. The first and second objectives of my PhD were to determine the optimal dose of albendazole by conducting phase two clinical trials with those infected with *T. trichiura* and hookworm. Since limited evidence is available for pre-school aged children and adults, these two target populations were added to the trial designs along with school-aged children.

Another way to improve standard treatment is to add another therapy, which has long been used in the field of other infectious diseases to prevent resistance and improve efficacy [77, 78]. Recent work has also shown that combination therapy of ivermectin and albendazole may be effective in reducing the risk of STH infections (risk ratio (RR) =0.44) [79]. However, very few trials have shown the impact of combination of standard doses of ivermectin (200 μ g/kg) and albendazole (400 mg) [80-83]. To this effect, the third objective of my PhD was to aid in the design and conduct of a multi-country trial evaluating the efficacy and extended effects of co-administered ivermectin and albendazole compared to the monotherapy of albendazole in community-wide framework.

1.8. Study settings

1.8.1. Côte d'Ivoire

The bulk of the PhD research comprising this thesis was conducted in the Republic of Côte d'Ivoire. Côte d'Ivoire is a country on the coast of West Africa and has a tropical climate in which STHs thrive. The three trials conducted in Côte d'Ivoire took place in the southeast region of the country in four different settings: Azaguié, Rubino, Dabou and Jacqueville, as seen in Figure 10. In collaboration with the Centre Suisse de Recherches Scientifiques (CSRS),

23

located in Abidjan, and local Ministry of Health officials, the recruitment of the first trial begin in October 2018 and the final sample for final trial was collected in February 2020.



Figure 10: Counter-clockwise from top left: map of Africa highlighting Côte d'Ivoire in red; map of Côte d'Ivoire with reference box of southeast region; map of study sites.

Côte d'Ivoire, having an STH prevalence $\geq 20\%$, provides annual MDA to preschool- and school-aged children [70]. Coverage with ivermectin for onchocerciasis begin in the early 2000s and expanded to include albendazole for the treatment of lymphatic filariasis in 2010 as NTD programs took a more integrated approach [84]. Formal school-based mass drug administration of albendazole for STH began in 2012. However, interruption due to civil unrest in the early 2010s left gaps in coverage. Coverage for STH remains high with $\geq 75\%$ coverage within the last 5 years, though combination ivermectin and albendazole was discontinued in 2019 at the close of the national lymphatic filariasis program [66]. However, STH prevalence varies not only geographically, but also by species [84]. *T. trichiura* and hookworm prevalences vary village to village within a district and single infections (without multiparatism) are more often the case than not.

1.8.2. Other study settings

Some of the research that took place during this PhD was done outside of Côte d'Ivoire. The third and fourth objectives of this thesis took place in the framework of a multi-country clinical trial conducted in Chake Chake district, Pemba Island, Tanzania, Nambak district, Lao People's Democratic Repiblic (PDR) and Dabou and Jacqueville districts of Côte d'Ivoire. Pemba Island is off the east coast of Africa in the Indian Ocean. While the island is relatively small in size and mass drug administration with PC is conducted biannually (since 2003), STH prevalence remains high [85]. There has also been a history of combination ivermectin and albendazole used for the control of lymphatic filariasis from the early 2000s to the mid-2010s. Nambak district is located within the province of Luang Prabang in northern Lao PDR, which has high rate of STH infections [86]. Since 2006, there has been biannual mass drug administration with mebendazole to both preschool- and school-aged children. Besides the bezimidazoles, there has been no other mass drug administration of anthelminthics, such as ivermectin, through control programs in Lao PDR.

In addition to the collaboration with the CSRS in Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire, specific partner institutes were identified to work with in both other trial settings. Namely, the Public Health Laboratory Ivo de Carneri in Pemba Island and the Lao Tropical and Public Health Institute in Lao PDR. The importance of choosing three diverse settings where community-based research can take place is an integral part of my third and fourth objectives, which delve into the differences of efficacy and morbidity within and between countries.

1.9. Research aim and objectives

The overall goal of this research is to evaluate the efficacy and safety of optimized treatment regimens and dosages against STH infections, and to assess potential association of morbidity markers with infection status and intensity. The overall aim of this research is to better inform

25

decisions and guide ongoing helminth control programs on best treatment and monitoring options by achieving the following objectives:

- 1. To assess the safety and efficacy of albendazole against *T. trichiura* among preschoolaged children, school-aged children and adults in Côte d'Ivoire by conducting a dosefinding (DF) randomized controlled trial
- To assess the safety and efficacy of ascending doses of albendazole against hookworm infection in preschool-aged children, school-aged children and adults in Côte d'Ivoire by conducting a dose-finding (DF) randomized controlled trial
- 3. To design and conduct a multi-country trial evaluation on the efficacy and safety of coadministered albendazole and ivermectin versus albendazole monotherapy.
- 4. To evaluate gut morbidity markers for STH infections within the framework of a multicountry trial of albendazole-ivermectin.
- 1.10. References
- 1. Pullan, R.L., et al., *Global numbers of infection and disease burden of soil transmitted helminth infections in 2010.* Parasit Vectors, 2014. 7: p. 37.
- GBD 2017 DALYs and HALE Collaborators, Global, regional, and national disabilityadjusted life-years (DALYs) for 359 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet, 2018. 392(10159): p. 1859-1922.
- James, S.L., et al., Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. The Lancet, 2018.
 392(10159): p. 1789-1858.
- Jourdan, P.M., et al., Soil-transmitted helminth infections. The Lancet, 2018. 391(10117): p. 252-265.
- 5. Global Health Data Exchange, *GBD results tool*. GHDx, 2020.

- 6. Crompton, D.W., Ascaris and ascariasis. Adv Parasitol, 2001. 48: p. 285-375.
- D. D. Despommier, et al., *Parasitic Diseases*. Fifth Edition ed. 2005, New York: Apple Trees Productions, LLC. 363.
- Bethony, J., et al., *Soil-transmitted helminth infections: ascariasis, trichuriasis, and hookworm.* Lancet, 2006. 367(9521): p. 1521-32.
- 9. Dold, C. and C.V. Holland, *Ascaris and ascariasis*. Microbes Infect, 2011. **13**(7): p. 632-7.
- Else, K.J., et al., *Whipworm and roundworm infections*. Nature Reviews Disease Primers, 2020.
 6(1): p. 44.
- Bundy, D.A. and E.S. Cooper, *Trichuris and trichuriasis in humans*. Adv Parasitol, 1989. 28: p. 107-73.
- 12. Stephenson, L.S., C.V. Holland, and E.S. Cooper, *The public health significance of Trichuris trichiura*. Parasitology, 2000. **121 Suppl**: p. S73-95.
- 13. Loukas, A., et al., *Hookworm infection*. Nat Rev Dis Primers, 2016. 2: p. 16088.
- 14. Hotez, P.J., et al., *Hookworm infection*. N Engl J Med, 2004. **351**(8): p. 799-807.
- Brooker, S., J. Bethony, and P.J. Hotez, *Human hookworm infection in the 21st century*. Advances in parasitology, 2004. 58: p. 197-288.
- Croll, N.A. and E. Ghadirian, Wormy persons: contributions to the nature and patterns of overdispersion with Ascaris lumbricoides, Ancylosotma duodenale, Necator americanus and Trichuris trichiura. Tropical and geographical medicine, 1981. 33(3): p. 241-248.
- 17. Löffler's syndrome. British medical journal, 1968. **3**(5618): p. 569-570.
- Guyatt, H., Do Intestinal Nematodes Affect Productivity in Adulthood? Parasitology Today, 2000. 16(4): p. 153-158.
- 19. Miguel, E. and M. Kremer, *Worms: Identifying Impacts on Education and Health in the Presence of Treatment Externalities.* Econometrica, 2004. **72**(1): p. 159-217.
- King, C.H. and A.-M. Bertino, Asymmetries of Poverty: Why Global Burden of Disease Valuations Underestimate the Burden of Neglected Tropical Diseases. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2008. 2(3): p. e209.

- 21. Vos, T., et al., Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 310 diseases and injuries, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. The Lancet, 2016. 388(10053): p. 1545-1602.
- 22. Katz, N., A. Chaves, and J. Pellegrino, *A simple device for quantitative stool thick-smear technique in Schistosomiasis mansoni*. Rev Inst Med Trop Sao Paulo, 1972. **14**(6): p. 397-400.
- 23. WHO, *Helminth control in school-age children: A guide for managers of control programmes (second edition).* 2011, World Health Organization: Geneva.
- 24. WHO, *Bench aids for the diagnosis of intestinal parasites*. 1994, World Health Organization: Geneva.
- Bosch, F., et al., *Diagnosis of soil-transmitted helminths using the Kato-Katz technique: what is the influence of stirring, storage time and storage temperature on stool sample egg counts?* PLoS Negl Trop Dis, Submitted.
- Barda, B.D., J. Keiser, and M. Albonico, *Human Trichuriasis: Diagnostics Update*. Current Tropical Medicine Reports, 2015. 2(4): p. 201-208.
- Glinz, D., et al., Comparing Diagnostic Accuracy of Kato-Katz, Koga Agar Plate, Ether-Concentration, and FLOTAC for Schistosoma mansoni and Soil-Transmitted Helminths. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2010. 4(7): p. e754.
- 28. Knopp, S., et al., Diagnosis of Soil-Transmitted Helminths in the Era of Preventive Chemotherapy: Effect of Multiple Stool Sampling and Use of Different Diagnostic Techniques.
 PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2008. 2(11): p. e331.
- 29. Nikolay, B., S.J. Brooker, and R.L. Pullan, *Sensitivity of diagnostic tests for human soiltransmitted helminth infections: a meta-analysis in the absence of a true gold standard.* Int J Parasitol, 2014. **44**(11): p. 765-74.
- Sayasone, S., et al., Repeated stool sampling and use of multiple techniques enhance the sensitivity of helminth diagnosis: A cross-sectional survey in southern Lao People's Democratic Republic. Acta Tropica, 2015. 141: p. 315-321.
- Ritchie, L.S., *An ether sedimentation technique for routine stool examinations*. Bulletin of the
 U.S. Army Medical Department. United States. Army. Medical Department, 1948. 8(4): p. 326.

- 32. WHO, Assessing The Efficacy Of Anthelminthic Drugs Against Schistosomiasis And Soil-Transmitted Helminthiases. 2013, World Health Organization: Geneva.
- Barda, B.D., et al., *Mini-FLOTAC, an Innovative Direct Diagnostic Technique for Intestinal Parasitic Infections: Experience from the Field*. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2013.
 7(8): p. e2344.
- 34. Cringoli, G., et al., *FLOTAC: new multivalent techniques for qualitative and quantitative copromicroscopic diagnosis of parasites in animals and humans.* Nat Protoc, 2010. **5**(3): p. 503-15.
- Knopp, S., et al., *Diagnostic Accuracy of Kato-Katz and FLOTAC for Assessing Anthelmintic Drug Efficacy*. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2011. 5(4): p. e1036.
- FECPACKG2. Avaible at: <u>https://www.techiongroup.com/Products/FECPAKG2</u>, Techion
 Group Ltd.: p. Accessed on 01 Oct 2020
- 37. Moser, W., et al., *Diagnostic comparison between FECPAKG2 and the Kato-Katz method for analyzing soil-transmitted helminth eggs in stool.* PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2018.
 12(6): p. e0006562.
- Mbong Ngwese, M., et al., *Diagnostic Techniques of Soil-Transmitted Helminths: Impact on Control Measures*. Tropical medicine and infectious disease, 2020. 5(2): p. 93.
- 39. Letter, M., *Drugs for Parasitic Infections*. 2007: Medical Letter, Incorporated.
- 40. Dayan, A.D., *Albendazole, mebendazole and praziquantel. Review of non-clinical toxicity and pharmacokinetics*. Acta Tropica, 2003. **86**(2): p. 141-159.
- McCarthy, J.S. and T.A. Moore, 42 Drugs for Helminths, in Mandell, Douglas, and Bennett's Principles and Practice of Infectious Diseases (Eighth Edition), J.E. Bennett, R. Dolin, and M.J. Blaser, Editors. 2015, Content Repository Only!: Philadelphia. p. 519-527.e3.
- 42. Horton, J., *Albendazole: a review of anthelmintic efficacy and safety in humans*. Parasitology, 2000. 121 Suppl: p. S113-32.
- 43. Cline, B.L., et al., *Larvicidal activity of albendazole against Necator americanus in human volunteers*. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 1984. **33**(3): p. 387-94.

- 44. Maisonneuve, H., et al., *Ovicidal effects of albendazole in human ascariasis, ancylostomiasis and trichuriasis.* Annals of tropical medicine and parasitology, 1985. **79**(1): p. 79-82.
- 45. WHO, *WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children (21st list)*. 2019, World Health Organization: Geneva.
- 46. Qian, H., R.J. Martin, and A.P. Robertson, *Pharmacology of N-, L-, and B-subtypes of nematode nAChR resolved at the single-channel level in Ascaris suum.* Faseb j, 2006. 20(14):
 p. 2606-8.
- 47. Moser, W., C. Schindler, and J. Keiser, *Efficacy of recommended drugs against soil transmitted helminths: systematic review and network meta-analysis.* Bmj, 2017. **358**: p. j4307.
- 48. Martin, R.J., et al., Oxantel is an N-type (methyridine and nicotine) agonist not an L-type (levamisole and pyrantel) agonist: classification of cholinergic anthelmintics in Ascaris. International journal for parasitology, 2004. 34(9): p. 1083-1090.
- 49. Robertson, A.P., et al., *Tribendimidine: Mode of Action and nAChR Subtype Selectivity in Ascaris and Oesophagostomum.* PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2015. **9**(2): p. e0003495.
- 50. Albonico, M., et al., Evaluation of the efficacy of pyrantel-oxantel for the treatment of soiltransmitted nematode infections. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 2002. 96(6): p. 685-690.
- 51. Peldán, K. and T. Pitkänen, *Treatment of Trichuris trichiura infection with a single dose of oxantel pamoate*. Scand J Infect Dis, 1982. **14**(4): p. 297-9.
- 52. Xiao, S.-H., et al., *Tribendimidine: a promising, safe and broad-spectrum anthelmintic agent from China*. Acta tropica, 2005. **94**(1): p. 1-14.
- 53. Campbell, W.C., *Ivermectin: An update*. Parasitology Today, 1985. 1(1): p. 10-16.
- 54. Geary, T.G., *Ivermectin 20 years on: maturation of a wonder drug*. Trends in Parasitology, 2005. 21(11): p. 530-532.
- Milton, P., et al., *Moxidectin: an oral treatment for human onchocerciasis*. Expert Review of Anti-infective Therapy, 2020: p. 1-15.

- 56. Prichard, R.K. and T.G. Geary, Perspectives on the utility of moxidectin for the control of parasitic nematodes in the face of developing anthelmintic resistance. International journal for parasitology. Drugs and drug resistance, 2019. 10: p. 69-83.
- 57. Keller, L., et al., Efficacy and Safety of Ascending Dosages of Moxidectin and Moxidectinalbendazole Against Trichuris trichiura in Adolescents: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Clin Infect Dis, 2020. 70(6): p. 1193-1201.
- 58. World Health Assembly, WHA54.19 Schistosomiasis and soil-transmitted helminth infections.
 2001: <u>http://www.who.int/neglected_diseases/mediacentre/WHA_54.19_Eng.pdf?ua=1</u>.
- 59. WHO, Accelerating work to overcome the global impact of neglected tropical diseases : a roadmap for implementation. 2012, World Health Organization: Geneva.
- WHO, Eliminating soil-transmitted helminthiases as a public health problem in children:
 Progress report 2001–2010 and strategic plan 2011–2020. 2012, World Health Organization:
 Geneva.
- 61. London Declaration on Neglected Tropical Diseases [Internet]. Available from: http://www.who.int/neglected diseases/London Declaration NTDs.pdf, 2012.
- 62. UN General Assembly, *Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development*.
 2015: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/21252030%20Agenda%20for%20S
 ustainable%20Development%20web.pdf.
- 63. WHO, *Guideline: preventive chemotherapy to control soil-transmitted helminth infections in at-risk population groups.* 2017, World Health Organization: Geneva.
- 64. Parma Declaration on Environment and Health. Available from: https://www.euro.who.int/ data/assets/pdf file/0011/78608/E93618.pdf, 2011.
- 65. World Health Assembly, *WHA64.24 Drinking-Water, Sanitation and Health*. 2011: https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/WHA64/A64_R24-en.pdf.
- 66. WHO, 2030 targets for soil-transmitted helminthiases control programmes. 2020, World Health Organization: Geneva.

- 67. Strunz, E.C., et al., *Water, sanitation, hygiene, and soil-transmitted helminth infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* PLoS Med, 2014. **11**(3): p. e1001620.
- Brooker, S.J., et al., *Global feasibility assessment of interrupting the transmission of soil-transmitted helminths: a statistical modelling study.* The Lancet Infectious Diseases, 2015. **15**(8): p. 941-950.
- 69. WHO, Weekly Epidemiological Record, 25 September 2020. 2020, World Health Organization:
 Geneva. p. 461-476.
- 70. WHO. Interactive report on status of distribution and implementation of soil-transmitted helminthiases. 2020 21/10/2020]; Available from: http://www.who.int/neglected_diseases/ntddata/sth/sth.html.
- 71. Anderson, R.M., et al., *How effective is school-based deworming for the community-wide control of soil-transmitted helminths?* PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2013. 7(2): p. e2027.
- 72. Truscott, J.E., et al., *Can chemotherapy alone eliminate the transmission of soil transmitted helminths?* Parasit Vectors, 2014. 7: p. 266.
- 73. Coles, G.C., *Drug resistance and drug tolerance in parasites*. Trends in Parasitology, 2006.
 22(8): p. 348.
- Rashwan, N., M. Scott, and R. Prichard, *Rapid Genotyping of β-tubulin Polymorphisms in Trichuris trichiura and Ascaris lumbricoides*. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2017. 11(1): p. e0005205.
- 75. Silvestre, A. and J. Cabaret, Mutation in position 167 of isotype 1 β-tubulin gene of Trichostrongylid nematodes: role in benzimidazole resistance? Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology, 2002. 120(2): p. 297-300.
- 76. Sutherland, I.A. and D.M. Leathwick, *Anthelmintic resistance in nematode parasites of cattle: a global issue?* Trends in Parasitology, 2011. 27(4): p. 176-181.
- Hughes, D. and D.I. Andersson, *Evolutionary consequences of drug resistance: shared principles across diverse targets and organisms*. Nature Reviews Genetics, 2015. 16(8): p. 459-471.
- Prichard, R.K., et al., A research agenda for helminth diseases of humans: intervention for control and elimination. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2012. 6(4): p. e1549.
- 79. Palmeirim, M.S., et al., *Efficacy and safety of co-administered ivermectin plus albendazole for treating soil-transmitted helminths: A systematic review meta-analysis and individual patient data analysis.* PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2018. **12**(4): p. e0006458.
- Belizario, V.Y., et al., A comparison of the efficacy of single doses of albendazole, ivermectin, and diethylcarbamazine alone or in combinations against Ascaris and Trichuris spp. Bull World Health Organ, 2003. 81(1): p. 35-42.
- 81. Ismail, M.M. and R.L. Jayakody, *Efficacy of albendazole and its combinations with ivermectin or diethylcarbamazine (DEC) in the treatment of Trichuris trichiura infections in Sri Lanka*. Ann Trop Med Parasitol, 1999. **93**(5): p. 501-4.
- Knopp, S., et al., Albendazole and mebendazole administered alone or in combination with ivermectin against Trichuris trichiura: a randomized controlled trial. Clin Infect Dis, 2010. 51(12): p. 1420-8.
- 83. Speich, B., et al., *Efficacy and safety of albendazole plus ivermectin, albendazole plus mebendazole, albendazole plus oxantel pamoate, and mebendazole alone against Trichuris trichiura and concomitant soil-transmitted helminth infections: a four-arm, randomised controlled trial.* Lancet Infect Dis, 2015. **15**(3): p. 277-84.
- Loukouri, A., et al., Impact of annual and semi-annual mass drug administration for Lymphatic Filariasis and Onchocerciasis on Hookworm Infection in Côte d'Ivoire. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2020. 14(9): p. e0008642.
- 85. Palmeirim, M.S., et al., *Efficacy and safety of a single dose versus a multiple dose regimen of mebendazole against hookworm infections in children: a randomised, double-blind trial.*EClinicalMedicine, 2018. 1: p. 7-13.
- 86. Laymanivong, S., et al., Current status of human hookworm infections, ascariasis, trichuriasis, schistosomiasis mekongi and other trematodiases in Lao People's Democratic Republic. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene, 2014. 90(4): p. 667-669.

2. Efficacy and safety of ascending dosages of albendazole against *Trichuris trichiura* in preschool-aged children, school-aged children and adults: A multi-cohort randomized controlled trial

Chandni Patel^{1,2}, Jean T. Coulibaly^{1,3}, Jessica D. Schulz^{1,2}, Yves N'Gbesso⁴, Jan Hattendorf^{1,2}, Jennifer Keiser^{1,2}

¹ Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Basel, Switzerland

² University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

³ Unité de Formation et de Recherche Biosciences, Université Félix Houphouët-Boigny,

Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire and Centre Suisse de Recherches Scientifiques en Côte d'Ivoire,

Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

Published in *EClinicalMedicine* 2020; 22: 100335.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

EClinicalMedicine



journal homepage: https://www.journals.elsevier.com/eclinicalmedicine

Research Paper

Efficacy and safety of ascending dosages of albendazole against *Trichuris trichiura* in preschool-aged children, school-aged children and adults: A multi-cohort randomized controlled trial

Chandni Patel^{a,b}, Jean T. Coulibaly^{a,c}, Jessica D. Schulz^{a,b}, Yves N'Gbesso^d, Jan Hattendorf^{a,b}, Jennifer Keiser^{a,b,*}

^a Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Basel, Switzerland

^b University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

^c Unité de Formation et de Recherche Biosciences, Université Félix Houphouët-Boigny, Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire and Centre Suisse de Recherches Scientifiques en Côte

d'Ivoire, Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

^d Department de Agboville, Centre de Santé Urbain d'Azaguié, Côte d'Ivoire

ARTICLE INFO

Article History: Received 5 February 2020 Revised 18 March 2020 Accepted 19 March 2020 Available online 5 May 2020

Keywords: Soil-transmitted helminths Albendazole Trichuis trichiura Dose-finding

ABSTRACT

Background: The efficacy of the widely used albendazole against the soil-transmitted helminth *Trichuris trichiura* is limited; yet optimal doses, which may provide increased efficacy, have not been thoroughly investigated to date.

Methods: A randomized-controlled trial was conducted in Côte d'Ivoire with preschool-aged children (PSAC), school-aged children (SAC), and adults infected with *T. trichiura*. Participants were randomly assigned (1:1:1:1) using computer-generated randomization. PSAC were randomized to 200 mg, 400 mg, 600 mg of albendazole or placebo. SAC and adults were randomized to 400 mg, 600 mg, 800 mg of albendazole or placebo. The primary outcome was cure rates (CRs) against trichuriasis. Secondary outcomes were *T. trichiura* egg reduction rates (ERRs), safety, CRs and ERRs against other soil-transmitted helminths. Outcome assessors and the trial statistician were blinded. Trial registration at ClinicalTrial.gov: NCT03527745.

Findings: 111 PSAC, 180 SAC, and 42 adults were randomized and 86, 172, and 35 provided follow-up stool samples, respectively. The highest observed CR among PSAC was 27.8% (95% CI: 9.7%–53.5%) in the 600 mg albendazole treatment arm. The most efficacious arm for SAC was 600 mg of albendazole showing a CR of 25.6% (95% CI: 13.5%–41.2%), and for adults it was 400 mg of albendazole with a CR of 55.6% (95% CI: 21.2%–86.3%). CRs and ERRs did not differ significantly among treatment arms and flat dose-responses were observed. 17.9% and 0.4% of participants reported any adverse event at 3 and 24 h follow-up, respectively.

Interpretation: Albendazole shows low efficacy against *T. trichiura* in all populations and doses studied, though findings for PSAC and adults should be carefully interpreted as recruitment targets were not met. New drugs, treatment regimens, and combinations are needed in the management of *T. trichiura* infections. *Funding:* Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation.

© 2020 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license. (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/)

1. Introduction

Almost a quarter of the world's population is infected with soiltransmitted helminths (STHs): *Trichuris trichiura* (whipworm), *Ascaris lumbricoides* (roundworm), and *Ancylostoma duodenale* or *Necator americanus* (hookworms) [1]. STH infections account for a burden of over 1.9 million disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) per year with trichuriasis accounting for 213 thousand DALYs [2]. Greatest at risk for infection are those living without access to potable water and

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: jennifer.keiser@swisstph.ch (J. Keiser).

living with inadequate sanitation in tropical climates [3–5]. Heavy intensity infections may lead to diarrhea, abdominal pain, inflammation, obstruction and, if untreated, nutrition and immune system impairment [3,6].

Preventive chemotherapy (PC), recommended by the World Health Organization (WHO) is the periodic administration of anthelmintic drugs through mass drug administration (MDA) campaigns [1]. PC has been successful in reducing the number of STH infections and reducing the burden of disease (especially moderate and heavy infections) by averting an estimated 61 thousand DALYs from 2010 to 2015 [7,8]. Current recommendations for MDA of first-line treatment include monotherapy of 400 mg of albendazole or 500 mg of

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100335

Research in context

Evidence before this study

A literature review was conducted in PubMed searching for "Trichuris" and "albendazole" from inception to January 1, 2020. Different dosages and regimens of albendazole have been tested against *T. trichiura*; however, a thorough dose-finding study has not been done to date for preschool-aged children, school-aged children, and adults.

Added value of this study

This is the first multi-cohort, randomized-controlled trial conducted to determine the optimal dose of albendazole in several age groups targeted by treatment recommendations of the WHO. Based on the results of this trial in Côte d'Ivoire, it can be concluded that the current recommended dose of 400 mg of albendazole is not efficacious and higher doses do not provide any added benefit.

Implications of all the available evidence

Treatment with a single dose of the benzimidazoles annually or biannually in areas of STH prevalence $\geq 20\%$ is the current key recommendations for the control of soil-transmitted helminths; however, efficacy of the drugs against trichuriasis is very low. Evidence from this trial confirms that albendazole, even at higher doses, is insufficient for treating *T. trichiura* infections; and, therefore novel treatments or combination therapy should be considered as part of control efforts to control and ultimately eliminate STHs.

mebendazole once or twice a year targeting children, girls and women of reproductive age, and women after the first trimester of pregnancy in settings where STH prevalence is $\geq 20\%$ [1,9]. However, albendazole and mebendazole show limited efficacy against *T. trichiura* (cure rates of 30% and 42%, respectively) [9,10].

To date, the optimal dose for albendazole has not been determined and 400 mg is the standard dose regardless of age and/or weight [1,11]. Though a driver of efficacy has not been identified, hypothetically, a higher dose may be needed for school-aged children (SAC) and adults. Different doses of albendazole have been tested for efficacy against *T. trichiura*, but a formal dose-response relationship has not been conducted [12]. The objective of this trial was for the first time to determine the efficacy and safety of ascending doses of albendazole against *T. trichiura* in three population cohorts (preschool-aged children (PSAC), SAC, and adults).

2. Methods

2.1. Study design

A phase two, parallel, randomized, placebo-controlled, dose-finding trial was conducted in seven villages near the town of Azaguié in the Agboville department of southern Côte d'Ivoire from October 23, 2018 to January 12, 2019. PSAC 2–5 years of age, SAC 6–12 years of age, and adults over the age of 21 years were invited to participate in the trial. It was decided not to include community members aged 13–20 years for two reasons: no differences between teenagers and adults were expected and teenage community members are the most transient population in remote villages based on our own previous experience. Ethical clearance was obtained from the Comité National d'Éthique des Sciences de la Vie et de la Santé (July 3, 2018, reference No. 089-18//MSHP/CNESVS-km), and the Ethics Committee of Northwestern and Central Switzerland (July 20, 2018, Nr 2018-00545).

2.2. Participants

Prior to enrolment, an information session explaining the purpose, procedure, benefits, and risks of the trial was conducted in each of the seven villages for all community members. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants and/or parents and guardians of the children after they had attended the information session. Additionally, SAC provided written assent.

PSAC, SAC, and adults were eligible if they provided two stool samples and were positive for *T. trichiura*. Only PSAC with *T. trichiura* infection intensities \geq 60 eggs per gram of stool (EPG) and SAC and adults with *T. trichiura* infection intensities \geq 100 EPG were included in the trial. Excluded from the trial were those with acute or uncontrolled systemic illnesses (e.g., severe anemia defined as hemoglobin <8.0 g/dl, infection, clinical malaria) as assessed by a medical doctor upon initial clinical assessment and liver function tests, those who had received anthelmintic within the previous 4 weeks, those who were allergic to benzimidazoles, and pregnant or breastfeeding women.

2.3. Randomization and masking

Study participants eligible for treatment were randomly assigned to one of the treatment arms using a computer-generated, stratified block randomization code. A random allocation sequence with varying random blocks of 4 and 8 stratified by 2 levels of baseline infection intensity (light and moderate/heavy T. trichiura) according to WHO guidelines was provided by a statistician not involved in recruitment or data collection [13]. Since so few moderate and high infections are present in the setting, it was decided to combine these two levels of intensity into one stratum. PSAC were 1:1:1:1 randomized to placebo or albendazole at 200 mg, 400 mg, or 600 mg. SAC and adults were 1:1:1:1 randomized to placebo or albendazole at 400 mg, 600 mg, or 800 mg. Study-site investigators were aware of the study group assignment, whereas outcome assessors and the trial statistician were masked to group assignment. Participants might have recognized the study group assignment due to the number of tablets administered.

2.4. Procedures

Children and adults provided two stool samples collected on two different days after providing name, age, and sex in a village-wide census. Duplicate Kato-Katz thick smears (41.7 mg each) were prepared from each sample and examined for *T. trichiura, Ascaris lumbricoides*, and hookworm eggs [14]. Egg counts were recorded by experienced technicians and classified as light, moderate, or heavy [14]. An independent quality control was conducted for 10% of the slides prepared with results considered correct if: (i) no difference in presence/absence of *T. trichiura, A. lumbricoides*, and hookworm; (ii) egg counts were +/-10 eggs for counts \leq 100 eggs or +/-20% for counts >100 eggs (for each species separately) [15].

Before treatment, eligible children and adults were examined physically and questioned for clinical symptoms by a trial physician. Height using a stadiometer, weight using a scale, and temperature using an ear thermometer were collected by trial nurses. In addition, venous blood samples were taken at baseline to assess organ toxicity, complete blood count, and hepatic/renal function, while capillary blood samples using the finger-prick method were used to measure hemoglobin levels (HemoCue 301) and diagnose malaria through a rapid test (ICT Malaria P.f. Antigen Test, ICT Diagnostics).

On the day of treatment, enrolled participants were given potable water and a high-fat breakfast before receiving either albendazole or placebo orally with water. Active adverse event assessment using a questionnaire was conducted at 3 h, 24 h, and 14–21 days after treatment. Participants were asked about the occurrence and intensity of headache, abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, itching, allergic reactions, and any other symptom; moreover, temperature was taken to assess fever. Between 14 and 21 days post-treatment, treatment efficacy was assessed by collecting and examining two additional stool samples as described above. At the end of the trial, all participants and excluded children/adults remaining positive for any helminth infection were treated with 400 mg of albendazole in accordance with WHO guidelines [1].

2.5. Outcomes

The primary outcome is cure rate (CR) against *T. trichiura* at 14-21 days post-treatment. Secondary outcomes include egg reduction rate (ERR) against *T. trichiura*, CRs and ERRs against *A. lumbricoides* and hookworm, and drug safety. Drug safety was assessed at 3 h, 24 h, and 14-21 days after treatment.

2.6. Sample size

The main aim of this trial is to determine the dose-response relationship of albendazole against *T. trichiura*. A series of simulations

а



2.7. Statistical analyses

All data were collected on paper forms and entered twice into a database (Access 2010, Microsoft), cross-checked using the Data Compare utility of EpiInfo, version 3.5.4 (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA, SA), and any discrepancies corrected by consulting the hard copy. Data management and descriptive results were done in Stata, version 15 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA), and the estimation of the dose-response curve was performed in R, version 3.5.1 (www.r-project.org).

An available-case analysis was performed according to the intention-to-treat principle using a full analysis set of all randomized participants providing any follow-up data. A per protocol analysis was planned according to the protocol. Since there were no protocol deviations the per protocol population was identical to the available case population. CRs were calculated as the percentage of egg-positive participants at baseline who become egg-



Fig. 1. a: PSAC participant flow-chart. Abbreviations: EPG, eggs per gram; PSAC, preschool-aged children. b: SAC participant flow-chart. Abbreviations: EPG, eggs per gram; SAC, preschool-aged children. c: Adults participant flow-chart. Abbreviations: EPG, eggs per gram.

3



Fig. 1 Continued.

negative after treatment. EPG was assessed by calculating the mean egg counts from the quadruplicate Kato-Katz thick smears and multiplying this number by a factor of 24. The ERR was calculated with the following formula:

$$ERR = 1 - \frac{\frac{1}{n}e^{\sum \log(EPG_{follow-up}+1)} - 1}{\frac{1}{n}e^{\sum \log(EPG_{baseline}+1)} - 1}$$

Geometric mean egg counts were calculated for the different treatment arms before and after treatment to assess the corresponding ERRs. Bootstrap resampling method with 5000 replicates was used to calculate 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for ERRs point estimates. ERRs were not calculated when too few infections were observed; moreover, 95% CIs were not calculated in cases of too small sample sizes for other helminth infections.

The hyperbolic E_{max} dose-response model was fitted using the DoseRange packages version 0.9–17 with the coefficients and the variance-covariance matrix estimates from a logistic regression. The analysis code is similar to the one used for the sample size simulations (Supplementary Material). The half–maximal–effect dose (ED₅₀) was estimated as half of the maximal placebo-adjusted effect on logit scale and afterwards back-transformed to probability (i.e., cure rate) scale.

Adverse events were descriptively evaluated as the number and proportion of participants reporting adverse events before and after treatment. The trial is registered at ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT03527745).

2.8. Role of the funding source

The funder of the study had no role in the study design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, or writing of the report. The corresponding author had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

3. Results

3.1. Baseline characteristics

Participants were recruited for the trial between October 23, 2018 and December 1, 2018. Despite an intensive screening effort, the targeted sample size (160 participants in each age cohort) was not reached for PSAC (69%) and adults (26%). A total of 2330 (493 PSAC, 850 SAC, and 987 adults) were screened for eligibility. Of those screened, 137 PSAC, 273 SAC, and 56 adults were invited for clinical examination, while 1607 were negative for *T. trichiura* and 50 PSAC, 112 SAC, and 95 adults had too low infection intensities. Of those invited to clinical examination, 26 PSAC, 40 SAC, and 14 adults either refused participation, were excluded based on eligibility criteria, or absent on treatment day. 53 eligible SAC children were oversampled and not enrolled in the trial. A total of 111 PSAC, 180 SAC, and 42 adults were randomly assigned to one of four treatment arms (Fig. 1a–c). At follow-up, 25 PSAC (22-5%), 7 SAC (3-9%), and 7 adults (16-7%) did not provide stool samples or were absent.

Baseline demographic and parasitological characteristics of PSAC, SAC, and adults included in the trial are presented in Table 1. Age, weight, height, and infection intensity were balanced across arms within the PSAC and SAC cohorts. In PSAC and adult cohorts, there were more female than male participants across all arms. Among SAC, there were more females in the placebo group in comparison to those receiving 400 mg of albendazole (25 vs 15); all other arms were balanced in terms of sex. The majority of infections were of light intensity (ranging 67–81% across arms) in all three age cohorts. In total, 22 PSAC, 57 SAC, and 3 adults had moderate or heavy intensity infections. There were very few co-infections with *A. lumbricoides* and/or hookworm: 20 PSAC, 54 SAC, and 2 adults were infected with hookworm.



Fig. 1 Continued.

3.2. Efficacy against T. trichiura

CRs and ERRs of each arm against *T. trichiura* are shown in Table 2 for SAC, while results for PSAC and adults can be found in Supplementary Table S1. The E_{max} model predicted a maximal CR (E_{max}) of 24.7% and an ED₅₀ at 118 mg. This predicted dose–response curve showed a plateau at approximately 500 mg (Fig. 2) with predicted CRs for the investigated doses of 6.5% (95% CI: 2.1%–18.3%) in the placebo group and 18.7% (95% CI: 9.7%–32.9%), 20.2% (95% CI: 13.9%–28.4%), and 21.1% (95% CI: 12.0%–34.6%) at 400 mg, 600 mg, and 800 mg, respectively. The observed CRs were close to the predicted values, except at 600 mg where the observed CR was 5.4%–points higher (25.6%, 95% CI: 13.5%–41.2%). Observed ERRs plateaued already at the first investigated dose (400 mg, ERR: 82.0%, 95% CI: 67.8%–90.5%).

Observed CRs among PSAC were similar across all arms ranging from 9.5% (95% CI: 1.2%-30.4%) to 27.8% (95% CI: 9.7%-53.5%). The corresponding geometric ERRs found were also similar across treatment arms ranging from 63.8% in the 200 mg albendazole arm to 88.5% in the 600 mg albendazole arm. Observed CRs for adults were 55.6% (95% CI: 21.2%-86.3%), 50.0% (95% CI: 15.7%-84.3%), 27.3%(95% CI: 6.0%-61.0%), 14.3(95% CI: 0.4%-57.9%) for albendazole at 400 mg, 600 mg, 800 mg, and placebo, respectively. The geometric ERRs ranged from 85.2% (placebo arm) to 97.7% (400 mg of albendazole arm).

Supplementary Table S2 presents the proportions of participants cured within each treatment arm by sex.

3.3. Efficacy against hookworm and A. lumbricoides

Data on CRs and ERRs against other helminth infections for PSAC, SAC, and adults are presented in Supplementary Table S3. For

hookworm, 7 out of the 10 infections with follow-up data were cured with any dose of albendazole across all treatment arms in all cohorts.

For roundworm, CRs ranged between 66·7%–100% for PSAC given albendazole and 0% for PSAC given placebo. For SAC, CRs ranged from 84·6%–100% in active treatment arms and 38·5% in the placebo arm. All adults with *A. lumbricoides* infections were cured receiving either 400 mg or 800 mg of albendazole. Geometric and arithmetic ERRs had similarly large ranges for PSAC and SAC for all active treatment groups (placebo groups were considerably lower), and 100% for the adults cured by 400 mg or 800 mg of albendazole.

3.4. Safety

At baseline 102 PSAC, 172 SAC, and 42 adults were questioned for symptoms. A total of 84 (26.6%) participants reported mild symptoms at baseline, such as abdominal pain (11.4%), headache (11.1%), itching (5.4%), and diarrhea (4.4%).

104 PSAC, 175 SAC, and 41 adults were interviewed at 3 h posttreatment for adverse events and 86 PSAC, 154 SAC, and 32 adults were interviewed at 24 h post-treatment for adverse events. After treatment the proportion of reporting any adverse events was 17.9% and 0.4% at 3 and 24 h follow-up, respectively. Numbers of participants reporting each adverse event is reported in Table 3.

After treatment of 200 mg of albendazole, one participant (PSAC) reported a case of clinical malaria requiring inpatient hospitalization due to a serious adverse event. The participant received anti-malaria treatment and was released from the hospital within 24 h. No allergic reaction to any treatment arm was observed.

4. Discussion

The WHO has approved five different drugs and combinations against STH infections, of which albendazole is the most widely

 Table 1

 Baseline characteristics of participants. Numbers represent N (%) unless otherwise stated. Abbreviations: ALB, albendazole; EPG, eggs per gram; IQR, interquartile range; PLAC, placebo; PSAC, preschool-aged children; SAC, school-aged children;

 SD, standard deviation.

		PSA	C			S.	AC			Adu	ts	
A) (<i>n</i>	ALB 200 mg n = 27)	ALB 400 mg (<i>n</i> = 30)	ALB 600 mg (<i>n</i> = 27)	PLAC (<i>n</i> = 27)	ALB 400 mg (<i>n</i> = 45)	ALB 600 mg (<i>n</i> = 46)	ALB 800 mg (<i>n</i> = 43)	PLAC (<i>n</i> = 46)	ALB 400 mg (<i>n</i> = 11)	ALB 600 mg (n = 9)	ALB 800 mg (<i>n</i> = 12)	PLAC (<i>n</i> = 10)
Mean (SD) age (years) 4-	-0 (0-9)	3.8(1.1)	4.0 (0.9)	4.1 (0.9)	8.9(1.9)	8.7 (2.0)	8.8(1.8)	8.9 (1.9)	40.5 (11.9)	36-6(12-2)	44-8 (15-9)	44.4 (12.3)
Females 18	8 (67%)	16 (53%)	18 (67%)	16 (59%)	15 (33%)	19 (41%)	17 (40%)	25 (54%)	9 (82%)	7 (78%)	8 (67%)	6 (60%)
Mean (SD) weight (kg) 15	5.1 (2.9)	14.8 (2.2)	15.1 (2.3)	14.6 (2.5)	26.2 (6.5)	24.1 (5.7)	24.3 (4.1)	25.3 (6.6)	54.0 (7.6)	60.5 (8.9)	57.0 (6.0)	57.4 (9.7)
Mean (SD) height (cm) 97	7.2 (9.5)	99.2 (10.4)	97.6(10.1)	97.5 (10.7)	126.8 (10.5)	123.7 (11.4)	125.0 (8.8)	125.8 (12.2)	157.5 (5.3)	158.8 (5.8)	158.5 (8.3)	160.1 (8.5)
Trichuris trichiura							. ,					. ,
Median EPG [IOR] 20	64	210	228	216	426	507	414	387	168	156	195	138
[9	96-5581	[144-510]	[150-726]	[120-438]	[192-1266]	[186-1134]	[162-1116]	[222-1068]	[114-504]	[114-288]	[150-402]	[114-270]
EPG geometric mean 30	03.4	303.9	328.5	371.7	538-6	510.3	501.1	521.4	257.4	204.8	272.8	173.0
Infection intensity												ute
Light (1-999 EPG) 22	2 (81%)	24 (80%)	21 (78%)	22 (81%)	30 (67%)	31 (67%)	30 (70%)	32 (70%)	10 (91%)	9 (100%)	10 (83%)	10(100%)
Moderate 5	(19%)	5(17%)	6(22%)	4 (15%)	15 (33%)	15 (33%)	12 (28%)	14 (30%)	1 (9%)	0 (0%)	2 (17%)	0(0%)
(1000-9999 EPG)								(,				
Heavy (>10.000 0	(0%)	1 (3%)	0(0%)	1 (4%)	0(0%)	0(0%)	1 (2%)	0(0%)	0(0%)	0(0%)	0(0%)	0(0%)
EPG)		. ,	. ,		. ,			. ,	. ,		. ,	
Hookworm												ica
Infected children 0		1	0	0	1	2	3	1	1	0	0	1
Ascaris lumbricoides												eu
Infected children 8		5	3	4	18	10	13	13	3	0	3	0
Median EPG [IOR] 79	929	2118	1938	6216	5526	14.823	7668	528	13,500		1068	
(3	3123-10.3951	[1428-6144]	[30-10.530]	[723-12.987]	[690-17.160]	[1962-25.050]	[2520-14.952]	[210-13.122]	[3906-18.954]		[168-12.600]	22
EPG geometric mean 3	190.4	2163-3	857.6	2606.3	2752.7	4418-1	3241.1	1078-3	9998.5		1314.5	
Infection intensity												72(
Light (1-4999 2	(25%)	3 (60%)	2 (67%)	2 (50%)	8 (44%)	4 (40%)	6 (46%)	8 (62%)	1	0	2	0
EPG)												
Moderate 6	(75%)	2 (40%)	1 (33%)	2 (50%)	9 (50%)	6(60%)	7 (54%)	5 (38%)	2	0	1	0 2
(5000-49.999	()	= ()	- ()	= ()	- ()	- ()	. ()	- ()				ū
EPG)												
Heavy (>50.000 0	(0%)	0(0%)	0(0%)	0(0%)	1 (6%)	0(0%)	0(0%)	0(0%)	0	0	0	0
FPC)	N N	/			</td <td>· · · · /</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td>-</td>	· · · · /				-		-

7

Table 2

Observed and predicted cure rates and egg reduction rates against *Trichuris trichiura* of SAC at 3 weeks follow-up. Abbreviations: ALB, albendazole; CI, confidence interval; CR, cure rate; EPG, eggs per gram; ERR, egg reduction rate; PLAC, placebo; SAC, school-aged children.

	ALB 400 mg	ALB 600 mg	ALB 800 mg	PLAC
Positive before treatment (n)	43	43	41	46
Cured after treatment (n)	7	11	7	3
Observed CR [95% CI]	16.3 [6.8, 30.7]	25.6 [13.5, 41.2]	17.1 [7.2, 32.1]	6.5 [1.4, 17.9]
Predicted CR [95% CI]	18.7 [9.7, 32.9]	20.2 [13.9, 28.4]	21.1 [12.0, 34.6]	6.5 [2.1, 18.3]
EPG geometric mean				
Baseline	542.3	517.3	507.9	521.9
3 weeks follow-up	97.4	59.9	108.1	230.1
Observed ERR [95% CI]	82.0 [67.8, 90.5]	88.4 [74.8, 94.9]	78.7 [60.5, 89.0]	55.9 [26.1, 75.2]
EPG arithmetic mean				
Baseline	1094-4	955.3	1247.4	1094.0
3 weeks follow-up	545.2	687.1	893.6	1009.8
Observed ERR [95% CI]	50.2 [21.5, 67.9]	28.1 [-49.5, 69.6]	28.4 [2.6, 54.3]	7.7 [-46.0, 43.1]

used [11]. Although albendazole has been licensed for human use since 1982, there have been limited studies of its efficacy against *T. trichiura* in PSAC and adults; and, the optimal dosages of the drug have not been determined in humans [3,10,17]. There are many studies on the single dose of 400 mg recommended by the WHO, which reveal albendazole has low efficacy against *T. trichiura* [6,9]. Despite the lack of effective alternative treatment against trichuriasis, to date only a handful of studies have been conducted on higher dosages and dose-finding studies in different age-groups have not been carried out [12,18,19]. As national control programs move towards elimination, treatment of all age groups becomes increasingly important to prevent spread of infection; therefore, optimal doses for PSAC, SAC, and adults are necessary [6].

This trial revealed that there is no remarkable dose response of albendazole against *T. trichiura* in PSAC, SAC, and adults within the observed range. The current recommended dose of 400 mg for SAC is not efficacious against *T. trichiura* and higher doses of 600 mg or 800 mg do not increase CRs or provide a greater reduction in infection intensity. These results are confirmed by the predictions of the E_{max} model, which show no visual difference between CRs between

doses of albendazole for SAC. Furthermore, only the 400 mg dose of albendazole has an arithmetic ERR slightly surpassing the proposed \geq 50% arithmetic ERR by the WHO [20]. Though recruitment was limited for PSAC and adults, a similar conclusion is plausible as CRs for albendazole were low in all treatment arms. Though this study was conducted in a single country only, we are convinced that the findings of this trial are generalizable to wider populations as possible confounding factors were limited (e.g., a rigorous diagnostic procedure was used). Moreover, strain differences resulting in varying albendazole susceptibility are not to be expected. In one of our recent trials, an albendazole combination with oxantel pamoate found similar CRs against STHs in both Laos and a nearby setting in Côte d'Ivoire [21].

It is impossible to conclude if 400 mg is the optimal dose for SAC and adults, since a 200 mg dose of albendazole was not tested. A flat dose response was not anticipated for any cohort, so the dose of 200 mg of albendazole was not included as a treatment arm when the trial was designed. In PSAC, however, a dose 200 mg of albendazole provided a similar efficacy and ERR as albendazole at 400 mg, hinting that the recommended higher dose does not provide any



Fig. 2. CRs and ERRs predicted by the hyperbolic *E*_{max} model. Dotted lines represent the dose-response curve and the hatched area corresponds to the 95% confidence band. White numbers present the predicted CRs and ERRs for the investigated doses. Gray circles with black numbers represent the observed dose group CRs and the gray vertical lines correspond to the 95% confidence intervals. Predicted and observed estimates are similar in the placebo group; therefore, only one number is provided.

		PSA	ic			SA	C			Adu	ılts	
Adverse Event	ALB 200 mg	ALB 400 mg	ALB 600 mg	PLAC	ALB 400 mg	ALB 600 mg	ALB 800 mg	PLAC	ALB 400 mg	ALB 600 mg	ALB 800 mg	PLAC
Before treatment												
Headache	0/24(0.0)	2/26 (7.7)	0/26 (0.0)	1/26 (3.9)	5/41 (12.2)	3/45 (6.7)	5/42 (11.9)	6/44 (13.6)	6/11 (54.6)	2/9 (22·2)	3/12 (25.0)	2/10 (20.0)
Abdominal pain	0/24(0.0)	1/26(3.9)	2/26 (7.7)	1/26(3.9)	8/41 (19.5)	5/45 (11.1)	10/42 (23.8)	4/44(9.1)	0/11 (0.0)	1/9(1.1)	1/12 (8.3)	3/10 (30.0)
Nausea	0/24(0.0)	0/26 (0.0)	0/26 (0.0)	0/26 (0.0)	1/41 (2.4)	0/45(0.0)	0/42 (0.0)	1/44(2.3)	1/11 (9.1)	1/9(1.1)	1/12 (8.3)	0/10 (0.0)
Vomiting	0/24(0.0)	0/26 (0.0)	0/26(0.0)	0/26 (0.0)	0/41 (0.0)	0/45(0.0)	2/42 (4.8)	1/44(2.3)	0/11 (0.0)	(0.0) 6/0	0/12 (0.0)	0/10 (0.0)
Diarrhea	2/24 (8.3)	1/26 (3.9)	2/26 (7.7)	1/26(3.9)	0/41 (0.0)	2/45 (4.4)	2/42 (4.8)	4/44(4.6)	0/11 (0.0)	(0.0) 6/0	0/12(0.0)	0/10 (0.0)
Itching	0/24(0.0)	0/26 (0.0)	1/26(3.9)	1/26(3.9)	4/41 (9.8)	1/45 (2.2)	3/42 (7.1)	0/44(0.0)	2/11 (18·2)	1/9(1.1)	3/12 (25.0)	1/10 (10.0)
3 hr post treatment												

Table 3

2/10 (20.0) 0/10 (0.0)

 $(0.0) \frac{9}{6}(0) \frac{9$

3/11 (27.3) 3/11 (27.3) 1/11 (9.1) 0/11 (0.0) 0/11 (0.0) 0/11 (0.0) 0/11 (0.0)

3/46 (6.5) 4/46 (8.7) 0/46 (0.0) 1/46 (2.2) 2/46 (4.4) 0/46 (0.0)

 $\begin{array}{c} 5/42 \ (11.9) \\ 7/42 \ (16.7) \\ 0/41 \ (0.0) \\ 0/42 \ (0.0) \\ 0/42 \ (0.0) \\ 0/42 \ (0.0) \\ 0/42 \ (0.0) \\ 0/42 \ (0.0) \end{array}$

3/45 (6.7) 3/45 (6.7) 0/45 (0.0) 0/45 (0.0) 1/45 (2.2) 1/45 (2.2) 0/45 (0.0)

1/42 (2.4) 4/43 (9.3) 0/43 (0.0)

1/26 (3.9) 1/26 (3.9) 0/26 (0.0)

0/26 (0.0) 2/26 (7.7) 0/26 (0.0)

0/43 (0.0) 3/43 (7.0) 1/43 (2.3) 0/43 (0.0)

0/26 (0.0) 1/26 (3.9) 0/26 (0.0)

0/26 (0.0) 1/26 (3.9) 0/26 (0.0) 0/26 (0.0)

3/27 (11·1) 1/27 (3·7) 0/27 (0·0) 0/27 (0·0) 2/27 (7·4) 0/27 (0·0) 0/27 (0·0)

2/25 (8.0) 0/25 (0.0) 0/25 (0.0) 0/25 (0.0) 0/25 (0.0) 1/25 (4.0)

Vomiting Diarrhea

Abdominal pain

Nausea

Headache

Serious adverse event 24 hr post treatment

Itching

Headache Abdominal pain

0/26 (0.0)

/10(10.0)

2/11 (18·2)

(22.2) 1/9 (11.1)

2/9 (

0/10 (0.0) 0/10 (0.0) 0/10 (0.0) 0/10 (0.0)

0/6 (0.0) 0/6 (0.0) 0/6 (0.0) 0/6 (0.0) 0/6 (0.0)

 $(0.0) \frac{9}{0}$

0/7 (0.0) 0/7 (0.0) 0/7 (0.0) 0/7 (0.0) 0/7 (0.0)

0/10 (0.0) 0/10 (0.0) 0/10 (0.0) 0/10 (0.0) 0/10 (0.0)

0/37 (0.0) 0/37 (0.0) 0/37 (0.0) 0/37 (0.0) 0/37 (0.0)

0/39 (0.0) 0/39 (0.0) 0/39 (0.0) 0/39 (0.0) 0/39 (0.0) 0/39 (0.0)

0/41 (0.0) 0/41 (0.0) 0/41 (0.0) 0/41 (0.0) 0/41 (0.0) 0/41 (0.0)

0/37 (0.0) 0/37 (0.0) 0/37 (0.0) 0/37 (0.0) 0/37 (0.0)

0/19 (0.0) 0/19 (0.0) 0/19 (0.0) 0/19 (0.0)

0/21 (0.0) 0/21 (0.0) 0/21 (0.0) 0/21 (0.0) 0/21 (0.0) 0/21 (0.0)

0/25 (0.0) 0/25 (0.0) 0/25 (0.0) 0/25 (0.0) 0/25 (0.0) 0/25 (0.0)

0/21 (0.0) 0/21 (0.0) 0/21 (0.0) 0/21 (0.0) 0/21 (0.0) 0/21 (0.0)

Vomiting Diarrhea

Itching

Nausea

0/41 (0.0)

0/37 (0.0)

0/19 (0.0) 0/19 (0.0)

(0.0) 6/0 0/11 (0.0)

0/10 (0.0)

0/46 (0.0)

0/6(0.0)

benefit in this age group for *T. trichiura* infection. However, this finding would need to be confirmed in a follow-up study as our recruitment targets for this age group were not met.

More females were recruited into the trial than males. Additional analysis stratified by sex showed a difference in CRs between females and males. Females and males had similar baseline infection intensities (Table 1) and it was confirmed through pharmacokinetic analyses that drug exposure of albendazole was similar across sex regardless of treatment arm (data not shown). Further studies will need to assess whether this difference may be due to chance or to evaluate the underlying reasons for this finding.

The findings of this trial are comparable to others on albendazole in the literature. In a recent network meta-analysis, Moser and colleagues found that 400 mg of albendazole had a limited efficacy against T. trichiura with CRs having decreased from 38.6% in 1999 to 16.4% in 2015 [10]. However, most of the trials included in the analysis limited their study populations to SAC [10]. In comparison, mebendazole was found to have a slightly higher CR (42.1%) with a single dose and higher CRs when given at 100 mg twice/day for 3 days (CR=63%) [10,19].

In 2000, Horton et al. summarized in a literature review that increasing the single dosage and using repeated doses improves the efficacy of albendazole against T. trichiura [12]. In contrast, in our study increased single dosages did not provide improved efficacy against T. trichiura. Differences could be attributed to decreasing efficacy over the last two decades, differing study design, or geographic area [12]. The scope of this trial did not include evaluation of repeated doses of albendazole, which shows mixed results in humans and would be more difficult to administer through control programs [19.22].

A low number of study participiants due to low prevalence in adults, and to a lesser extent, in PSAC, is a main limitation of our trial. Only 4.3% of adults screened were included in the trial as the majority (84.7%) of adults screened were found to be T. trichiura negative. The limited sample size of adults (n = 35 across four treatment arms) might have triggered higher CRs for the 400 mg and 600 mg treatment arms (55.6% and 50.0%, respectively). For PSAC, 62.1% of screened PSAC were negative for T. trichiura infection and only 22.5% of PSAC participated in the trial.

In conclusion, albendazole is not an effective treatment of T. trichiura even at the highest doses administered. Recently, a few trials have shown that combination therapy of albendazole and ivermectin is more efficacious against trichuriasis compared to monotherapy with the added benefit of Strongyloides stercoralis control [23]. This trial confirms to reduce the burden of STHs, new first-line treatments are needed, or combination therapy should be administered.

Data sharing

Deidentified individual participant data reported in this research article and the study protocol are available upon request from the corresponding author after all findings are published. Data will be shared after the approval of a proposal by the authors for legitimate scientific purposes.

Declaration of Competing Interest

We declare no competing interests.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (Grant OPP1153928). We thank all participating children and adults. We thank the field workers from the 7 villages and the field/laboratory teams from the centre Suisse de Recherches Scientifiques in Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire for their continuing dedication to the quality and conduct of this study.

Supplementary materials

Supplementary material associated with this article can be found in the online version at doi:10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100335.

References

- World Health Organization. Guideline: preventive chemotherapy to control soiltransmitted helminth infections in at-risk population groups. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 https://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/guidelines/deworming/en/ (accessed on 7 November 2019).
- [2] GBD 2017 DALVs and HALE Collaborators. Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life-years (DALVs) for 359 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2017. Lancet 2018;392 (10159):1859–922.
- [3] Jourdan PM, Lamberton PHL, Fenwick A, Addiss DG. Soil-transmitted helminth infections. Lancet 2018;391(10117):252–65.
- [4] Strunz EC, Addiss DG, Stocks ME, Ogden S, Utzinger J, Freeman MC. Water, sanitation, hygiene, and soil-transmitted helminth infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med 2014;11(3):e1001620.
- [5] Ziegelbauer K, Speich B, Mäusezahl D, Bos R, Keiser J, Utzinger J. Effect of sanitation on soil-transmitted helminth infection: systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med 2012;9(1):e1001162.
- [6] Pullan RL, Smith JL, Jasrasaria R, Brooker SJ. Global numbers of infection and disease burden of soil transmitted helminth infections in 2010. Parasit Vectors 2014;7:37.
- [7] Marocco C, Bangert M, Joseph SA, Fitzpatrick C, Montresor A. Preventive chemotherapy in one year reduces by over 80% the number of individuals with soiltransmitted helminthiases causing morbidity: results from meta-analysis. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 2017;111(1):12–7.
- [8] Montresor A, Trouleau W, Mupfasoni D, et al. Preventive chemotherapy to control soil-transmitted helminthiasis averted more than 500 000 DALYs in 2015. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 2017;111(10):457–63.
- [9] Schulz JD, Moser W, Hürlimann E, Keiser J. Preventive chemotherapy in the fight against soil-transmitted helminthiasis: achievements and limitations. Trends Parasitol. 2018;34(7):590–602.
- [10] Moser W, Schindler C, Keiser J. Efficacy of recommended drugs against soil transmitted helminths: systematic review and network meta-analysis. BMJ Clin Res Ed 2017;358:j4307.

- [11] World Health Organization. The selection and use of essential medicines: report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO model list of essential medicines and the 6th WHO model list of essential medicines for children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/273826/EML-20-eng.pdf?ua=1 (accessed on 7 November 2019).
- [12] Horton J. Albendazole: a review of anthelmintic efficacy and safety in humans. Parasitology 2000;121 Suppl:S113–32.
- [13] Montresor A, Crompton DWT, Hall A, Bundy DAP, Savioli L. Guidelines for evaluation of soil-transmitted helminthiasis and schistosomiasis at community level. Vitamin and mineral nutrition information system. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 1998 https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/63821 (accessed on 7 November 2019).
- [14] Katz N, Chaves A, Pellegrino J. A simple device for quantitative stool thick-smear technique in schistosomiasis mansoni. Rev Inst Med Trop Sao Paulo 1972;14 (6):397–400.
- [15] Speich B, Ali SM, Ame SM, Albonico M, Utzinger J, Keiser J. Quality control in the diagnosis of *Trichuris trichiura* and *Ascaris lumbricoides* using the Kato-Katz technique: experience from three randomised controlled trials. Parasit Vectors 2015;8:82.
- [16] Klingenberg B. Proof of concept and dose estimation with binary responses under model uncertainty. Stat Med 2009;28(2):274–92.
- [17] Dayan AD. Albendazole, mebendazole and praziquantel. Review of non-clinical toxicity and pharmacokinetics. Acta Trop 2003;86(2):141–59.
- [18] Keiser J, Utzinger J. Efficacy of current drugs against soil-transmitted helminth infections: systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 2008;299(16):1937–48.
- [19] Keiser J, Utzinger J. The drugs we have and the drugs we need against major helminth infections. Advances in Parasitology; 2010. p. 197–230.
- [20] World Health Organization. Assessing the efficacy of anthelminthic drugs against schistosomiasis and soil-transmitted helminthiases. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/79019 (accessed on 24 November 2019).
- [21] Moser W, Coulibaly JT, Ali SM, et al. Efficacy and safety of tribendimidine, tribendimidine plus ivermectin, tribendimidine plus oxantel pamoate, and albendazole plus oxantel pamoate against hookworm and concomitant soil-transmitted helminth infections in Tanzania and Côte d'Ivoire: a randomised, controlled, singleblinded, non-inferiority trial. Lancet Infect Dis 2017;17(11):1162–71.
- [22] Geary TG, Woo K, McCarthy JS, et al. Unresolved issues in anthelmintic pharmacology for helminthiases of humans. Int J Parasitol 2010;40(1):1–13.
- [23] Palmeirim MS, Hürlimann E, Knopp S, et al. Efficacy and safety of co-administered ivermectin plus albendazole for treating soil-transmitted helminths: a systematic review, meta-analysis and individual patient data analysis. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2018;12(4):e0006458.

Supplementary Material

Sample size calculations

Sample size determination for Patel et al. 'Efficacy and safety of ascending dosages of albendazole against Trichuris trichiura in preschool-aged children, school-aged children and adults: a multi-cohort randomized controlled trial'. The true apparent cure rates used in the simulations are shown in table 1.

Table 1: Assumed true apparent cure rates (in percent) used in the simulations

Doses [mg]	T.t. 1	T.t. 2	T.t. 3	T.t. 4	Hook 1	Hook 2	Hook 3	Hook 4
0	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5
400	20	15	25	25	20	50	50	50
600	30	30	35	35	30	70	70	75
800	40	40	45	45	35	80	80	85

Simulation code

```
library(DoseFinding)
library(dplyr)
set.seed(11031103)
# True cure rates against Trichuris (S1-S3) and Hookworm (S4-S6)
Tcrs <- list(T1 = c(0.05, 0.20, 0.30, 0.40),
             T2 = c(0.05, 0.15, 0.30, 0.40),
             T3 = c(0.05, 0.25, 0.35, 0.45),
             T4 = c(0.05, 0.20, 0.30, 0.35),
             H1 = c(0.05, 0.50, 0.70, 0.80),
             H2 = c(0.05, 0.50, 0.75, 0.85),
             H3 = c(0.05, 0.40, 0.65, 0.75),
             H4 = c(0.05, 0.60, 0.75, 0.85))
Nseq <- seq(30, 50, 5)
                          # Samples sizes per arm to evaluate
                           # 5% loss to follow-up
lossFU <- 0.05
doses <- c(0, 400, 600, 800) # Doses
pred.range <- 0:800
                         # predict dose response curve from 0 to 800
loops <- 200
                           # simulation runs per combination
counter <- 0
# data frame to store the simulation results
res <- data.frame(matrix(NA, loops * length(Nseq) * length(Tcrs), 5))</pre>
colnames(res) <- c("Seq","N","nfu","Median_0_800","Median_400_800")</pre>
for(k in 1:length(Tcrs)){
 Tcr <- Tcrs[[k]]
  for(j in Nseq){
    for(i in 1:loops){
      counter <- counter + 1
     res[counter, 1] <- k
      res[counter, 2] <- j
      n <- rbinom(4, j, 1-lossFU)</pre>
      res[counter, 3] <- sum(n)</pre>
```

```
cured <- rbinom(4, n, Tcr)</pre>
      # ensure variation in placebo arm
      if(cured[1] == 0) cured[1] <- 1</pre>
      # fit logit model
      df <- data.frame(cbind(dose=doses, cured=cured, n=n))</pre>
      Crate <- df$cured/df$n
      fitBin <- glm(Crate ~ factor(doses) - 1, family = binomial, weights = df$n)</pre>
      drEst <- coef(fitBin)</pre>
      vCov <- vcov(fitBin)
      # fit dose range model
      gfit <- fitMod(doses, drEst, S=vCov, model = "emax", type = "general")</pre>
      logitPred <- predict(gfit, predType ="ls-means", doseSeq = pred.range, se.fit=TRUE)</pre>
      # confidence band on logit scale
      LB <- logitPred$fit-qnorm(0.975)*logitPred$se.fit</pre>
      UB <- logitPred$fit+qnorm(0.975)*logitPred$se.fit</pre>
      # confidence band on probability (cure rate) scale
      LB <- 1/(1+exp(-LB))
      UB <- 1/(1+exp(-UB))
      # Range 0 - 800 mg
      res[counter, 4] <- median(UB-LB)</pre>
      # Range 400 - 800 mg
      res[counter, 5] <- median(UB[401:801]-LB[401:801])
    }
 }
res$para <- ifelse(res$Seq <= 3, "Tri", "Hook")</pre>
sum.res <-res %>% group_by(para, N) %>%
  summarise(`median 0-800mg`=median(Median_0_800)*100/2,
             `median 400-800mg`=median(Median_400_800)*100/2,
            nFU = mean(nfu/4))
```

para	Ν	median 0-800mg	median $400-800$ mg	nFU
Hook	30	12.9	11.6	28.5
Hook	35	11.9	10.7	33.3
Hook	40	11.0	10.0	38.0
Hook	45	10.5	9.4	42.7
Hook	50	9.9	8.9	47.5
Tri	30	12.3	12.1	28.5
Tri	35	11.3	11.2	33.2
Tri	40	10.5	10.4	38.0
Tri	45	9.9	9.9	42.7
Tri	50	9.3	9.4	47.5

Table 2: One half length of the 95CI (percentage-pts)

}

Results Tables

		PS	AC			Ad	lults	
	ALB 200 mg	ALB 400 mg	ALB 600 mg	PLAC	ALB 400 mg	ALB 600 mg	ALB 800 mg	PLAC
Positive before treatment	21	23	18	24	9	8	11	7
Cured after treatment	2	4	5	4	5	4	3	1
Observed CR [95% CI]	9·5 [1·2, 30·4]	17·4 [5·0, 38·8]	27·8 [9·7, 53·5]	16·7 [4·7, 37·4]	55·6 [21·2, 86·3]	50·0 [15·7, 84·3]	27·3 [6·0, 61·0]	14·3 [0·4, 57·9]
Predicted CR [95% CI]	17·2 [6·5, 38·3]	20·1 [10·3, 35·6]	22·5 [9·8, 43·8]	13·6 [5·1, 31·3]				
EPG geometric mean								
Baseline	273.3	327.4	324.7	285.2	257.2	223.4	291.4	198.6
3 weeks follow-up	99.1	42.4	37.4	59.6	6.0	11.8	21.6	29.4
Observed	63.8	87.1	88.5	79.1	97.7	94.7	92.6	85.2
ERR	[33.1,	[67.3,	[70.4,	[53.5,	[86·7,	[61·0,	[71.9,	[65.9,
[95% CI]	83.1]	95.3]	95.7]	91.2]	99.8]	99·6]	98.5]	95.3]
EPG arithmetic mean								
Baseline	491.4	914·1	1126.0	952.5	444.7	291.8	448.4	229.7
3 weeks follow-up	456.9	273.7	816.3	206.5	298.0	184.5	228.5	87.4
Observed	7.0	70.1	27.5	78.3	33.0	36.8	40.0	61.9
ERR	[-25.3,	[33.2,	[-6·4,	[32.6,	[- 18·9,	[- 105·0,	49.0	[36.1,
[95% CI]	50.7]	86.1]	76.5]	89.6]	99·4]	96·0]	[7:0, 94:4]	86.1]

Table S1: Cure rates and egg reduction rates against *Trichuris trichiura* of PSAC and adults at 3 weeks follow-up.

Abbreviations: ALB, albendazole; CI, confidence interval; CR, cure rate; EPG, eggs per gram; ERR, egg reduction rate; PLAC, placebo; PSAC, preschool-aged children.

		PSAC	SAC	Adults
ALB	F	2/14 (14.3%)	na	na
200 mg	Μ	0/7 (0%)	na	na
ALB	F	2/10 (20.0%)	3/14 (21.4%)	4/7 (57.1%)
400 mg	Μ	2/13 (15.4%)	4/29 (13.8%)	1/2 (50.0%)
ALB	F	5/12 (41.7%)	5/18 (27.8%)	3/7 (42.9%)
600 mg	Μ	0/6 (0%)	6/25 (24.0%)	1/1 (100.0%)
ALB	F	na	3/16 (18.8%)	1/7 (14.3%)
800 mg	Μ	na	4/25 (16.0%)	2/4 (50.0%)
BL AC	F	3/15 (20.0%)	1/25 (4.0%)	1/4 (25.0%)
PLAC	М	1/9 (11.1%)	2/21 (9.5%)	0/3 (0%)

Table S2: Proportion of	participants cured b	y treatment arm and s	ex in PSAC, SAC and adults.

Abbreviations: ALB, albendazole; F, female; M, male; na, not applicable; PLAC, placebo; PSAC, preschool-aged children; SAC, school-aged children.

		PS/	AC			SA	С			Ad	lults	
	ALB 200 mg	ALB 400 mg	AL B 600 mg	PLAC	ALB 400 mg	ALB 600 mg	ALB 800 mg	PLAC	ALB 400 mg	AL B 600 mg	ALB 800 mg	PLA C
Hookworm												
Positive												
before	0	1	0	0	1	2	3	1	1	0	0	1
treatment												
Cured after	na	1	na	na	0	2	3	0	1	na	na	0
treatment	IIu	1	IId	nu	0	2	5	0	1	nu	nu	0
CR	na	100	na	na	0.0	100	100	0.0	100	na	na	0.0
Ascaris lumbrice	oides											
Positive												
before	6	3	1	2	18	9	13	13	2	0	3	0
treatment												
Cured after treatment	5	2	1	0	16	9	11	5	2	na	3	na
CR	83.3	66.7	100	0	88.9	100	84.6	38.5	100	na	100	na
EPG geometr	ic mean											
Baselin	3436.	3958·	20.0	4240.	2701.0	2770 7	3262.	1087.	7261.		1314.	
e	1	5	30.0	9	2/81.0	3//0./	2	5	8	na	5	na
3 weeks				1711								
follow-	0.9	14.3	0	1/11.	0.9	0	0.9	190.8	0	na	0	na
up				4								
ERR	99.9	99.6	100	59·7	99.9	100	99.9	82.5	100	na	100	na
EPG arithmet	ic mean											
Baselin	7091.	4880.	20.0	7989·	12519.	15535.	8971·	9067·	8703·	200	4612.	20
e	0	0	30.0	0	0	3	4	7	0	па	0	na
3 weeks		1104.		2426.				7525.				
follow-	7.0	0	0	2450	125.0	0	51.2	1525	0	na	0	na
up		0		U				4				

Table S3: Cure rates and egg reduction rates against hookworm and *Ascaris lumbricoides* of participants at 3 weeks follow-up.

 $\frac{\text{d}p}{\text{ERR}} = \frac{99 \cdot 9}{75 \cdot 5} \frac{100}{100} \frac{69 \cdot 5}{99 \cdot 0} = \frac{99 \cdot 0}{100} \frac{100}{99 \cdot 4} \frac{17 \cdot 0}{100} \frac{100}{\text{na}} \frac{100}{\text{na}} \frac{100}{\text{na}} \frac{100}{\text{na}} \frac{100}{100} \frac{$

3. Efficacy and safety of albendazole in hookworm-infected preschool-aged children, school-aged children and adults in Côte d'Ivoire: a phase II randomized controlled dose-finding trial

Chandni Patel^{1,2}, Jean T. Coulibaly^{1,2,3,4}, Daniela Hofmann ^{1,2}, Yves N'Gbesso⁵ Jan Hattendorf^{2,6}, Jennifer Keiser^{1,2*}

¹Department of Medical Parasitology and Infection Biology, Swiss Tropical and Public Health

Institute, Basel, Switzerland

² University of Basel, Basel Switzerland

³ Unité de Formation et de Recherche Biosciences, Université Félix Houphouët-Boigny,

Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

⁴Centre Suisse de Recherches Scientifiques en Côte d'Ivoire, Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

⁵ Centre de Santé Urbain d'Azaguié, Department de Agboville, Côte d'Ivoire

⁶ Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute,

Basel, Switzerland

Published in *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 2020; 73(2): e494-e502.



Efficacy and Safety of Albendazole in Hookworm-infected Preschool-aged Children, School-aged Children, and Adults in Côte d'Ivoire: A Phase 2 Randomized, Controlled Dose-finding Trial

Chandni Patel,^{1,2} Jean T. Coulibaly,^{1,2,3,4} Daniela Hofmann,^{1,2} Yves N'Gbesso,⁵ Jan Hattendorf,^{2,6} and Jennifer Keiser^{1,2}

¹Department of Medical Parasitology and Infection Biology, Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Basel, Switzerland, ²University of Basel, Basel Switzerland, ³Unité de Formation et de Recherche Biosciences, Université Félix Houphouët-Boigny, Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire, ⁴Centre Suisse de Recherches Scientifiques en Côte d'Ivoire, Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire, ⁵Centre de Santé Urbain d'Azaguié, Department de Agboville, Côte d'Ivoire, and ⁶Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Basel, Switzerland

Background. Infections with hookworms affect about half a billion people worldwide. Recommended therapy includes 400 mg of albendazole, which is moderately efficacious. Higher doses have been rarely assessed.

Methods. A randomized, controlled dose-finding trial was conducted in Côte d'Ivoire with the aim of recruiting 120 preschoolaged children (PSAC), 200 school-aged children (SAC), and 200 adults. Eligible PSAC were randomized 1:1:1 to 200 mg, 400 mg, or 600 mg of albendazole; the other age groups were randomized 1:1:1:1:1 to placebo or 200 mg, 400 mg, 600 mg, or 800 mg. The primary outcome was cure rates (CRs) assessed 14–21 days post-treatment by quadruplicate Kato-Katz thick smears. Hyperbolic E_{max} models were used to determine dose-response.

Results. 38 PSAC, 133 SAC, and 196 adults were enrolled. In adults, predicted CRs increased with ascending doses of albendazole, with a CR of 74.9% (95% confidence interval [CI], 55.6%–87.7%) in the 800-mg arm. Observed CRs increased with ascending doses of albendazole reaching a maximum of 94.1% (95% CI, 80.3%–99.3%). In SAC, the predicted dose-response curve increased marginally, with CRs ranging from 64.0% in the 200-mg arm to 76.0% in the 800-mg arm. Sample size in PSAC was considered too small to derive meaningful conclusions. 10.7% and 5.1% of participants reported any adverse event at 3 hours and 24 hours post-treatment, respectively.

Conclusions. A single 800-mg albendazole dose provides higher efficacy against hookworm and is well tolerated in adults and should be considered for community-based strategies targeting adults. For PSAC and SAC, current recommendations suffice.

Clinical Trials Registration. NCT03527745.

Keywords. hookworm; Côte d'Ivoire; albendazole; soil-transmitted helminthiasis; drug safety.

Necator americanus or *Ancylostoma duodenale*, two types of hookworm, affect approximately 500 million individuals worldwide [1, 2]. As a soil-transmitted helminth (STH), hookworm is most common in tropical and subtropical settings where larvae are able to survive in moist, warm soil.

Hookworm accounted for approximately 845 000 disabilityadjusted life-years lost in 2017, with an estimated economic loss of more than \$100 billion [3, 4]. The hookworm can cause skin irritation when it enters through the skin, acute lung

Received 23 April 2020; editorial decision 11 June 2020; published online 15 July 2020. Correspondence: J. Keiser, Helminth Drug Development Unit, Department of Medical Parasitology and Infection Biology, Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Socinstrasse 57, CH-4051 Basel, Switzerland (jennifer.keiser@swisstph.ch).

Clinical Infectious Diseases® 2021;73(2):e494–502

inflammation and difficulty breathing when larvae migrate through the pulmonary system, and gastrointestinal issues such as blood loss, diarrhea, and abdominal pain [5, 6]. Morbidity is highly correlated with infection intensity, and more serious infections can cause anemia from blood loss [3, 7].

Albendazole is one of two benzimidazoles currently on the World Health Organization (WHO) Model List of Essential Medicines as a anthelmintic against intestinal STHs [8]. Developed in 1975 and licensed less than a decade later for human use, albendazole is part of current global control strategies [9, 10]. The mainstay of control is based on targeted preventative chemotherapy (PC) in preschool-aged children (PSAC), school-aged children (SAC), and women of reproductive age (WRA) given annually/biannually using either 400 mg of albendazole or 500 mg of mebendazole [10]. In 2012, the WHO published targets for 75% of coverage with PC in PSAC and SAC in all endemic countries and regular treatment of about 600 million PSAC and SAC who are in need of treatment by 2020 [11]. In 2018, additional targets were developed

[©] The Author(s) 2020. Published by Oxford University Press for the Infectious Diseases Society of America. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted reuse, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciaa989

with the aim of STH control by 2030, including achieving and maintaining elimination in PSAC and SAC and expanding control programs to WRA [12].

Though PC with benzimidazoles has been successfully used as a cornerstone of control programs, efficacy against hookworm remains moderate (cure rates [CRs] of 79.5% for 400 mg albendazole and 32.5% for 500 mg of mebendazole) [13]. Several studies have shown that multiple doses of albendazole over an increased number of days have higher efficacy; however, this strategy could prove difficult during mass drug administration (MDA) campaigns [14–18]. A single dose that is greater than 400 mg may be more efficacious and effective at curing hookworm infection, though an optimal dose has not been identified, and limited evidence on the efficacy and safety for PSAC and adults is available. The novel aim of this trial is to characterize the dose-response relationship for the efficacy and safety of albendazole against hookworm in PSAC, SAC, and adults.

METHODS

Study Design, Area, and Population

A phase 2, parallel, randomized, controlled trial was conducted in 21 villages surrounding the town of Rubino in southeastern Côte d'Ivoire from 5 January 2019 to 17 April 2019. PSAC aged 2–5 years, SAC aged 6–12 years, and adults aged \geq 21 years were invited to participate in the trial.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical permission from the Comité National d'Éthique des Sciences de la Vie et de la Santé in Côte d'Ivoire was issued on 3 July 2018, while the Northwestern and Central Switzerland Ethics Committee provided ethical clearance on 20 July 2018. Written informed consent was obtained from adult participants and from the parents/guardians of participating children after they had attended a community-wide information meeting. Additionally, SAC provided written consent.

Eligibility Criteria

Participants were eligible for the trial if they were willing to provide informed consent and two stool samples. Only participants with hookworm infection intensity of \geq 24 eggs per gram (EPG) of stool were included. Those with acute or uncontrolled systemic illness (eg, severe anemia defined as hemoglobin <8.0 g/ dL, infection, clinical malaria with fever) as assessed by a medical doctor, those who had received anthelmintics within the previous four weeks, those with allergies to benzimidazoles, and women who were pregnant or breastfeeding were excluded.

Randomization and Treatment

A computer-generated, stratified block randomization code was generated by the trial statistician who was not involved in participation recruitment, treatment administration, or outcome assessment. The randomization list with varying blocks of three and six for PSAC or five and ten for SAC and adults was stratified by baseline hookworm infection intensity (either light or moderate/heavy) per WHO guidelines [19]. After a lengthy period of recruitment, it was decided to eliminate the placebo group for the PSAC cohort. PSAC were randomized 1:1:1 to albendazole at 200 mg, 400 mg, or 600 mg. SAC and adults were randomized 1:1:1:1:1 to albendazole at 200 mg, 400 mg, 600 mg, or 800 mg or placebo. Outcome assessors were blinded to treatment allocation. Participants were potentially aware of the treatment arm that they were assigned due to the different number of tablets provided by unblinded study investigators.

Field and Laboratory Procedures

After a census in each community was conducted, children and adults in the appropriate age groups were asked to provide two stool samples. From each sample, duplicate Kato-Katz thick smears (each 41.7 mg) were prepared and examined for hookworm, *Trichuris trichiura*, and *Ascaris lumbricoides* eggs by two independent, trained technicians using light microscopes [20]. A third technician conducted an independent quality control for 10% of the slides. Results were considered correct if no difference in presence/absence of each helminth or egg counts were ±10 eggs for counts ≤100 eggs or ±20% for counts >100 eggs (for each species) [21]. Slides with incorrect results were re-read until a consensus was met.

Participants were invited for a clinical examination where individuals were physically examined, questioned for clinical symptoms, and underwent a series of rapid tests for malaria and pregnancy. Additionally, individuals were asked to provide a venous blood sample to assess complete blood count and hepatic/ renal function.

Active adverse event (AE) reporting was conducted 3 hours, 24 hours, and 14–21 days post-treatment. At 14–21 days post-treatment, enrolled participants were asked to provide two stool samples for quadruplicate Kato-Katz smears, which were collected and analyzed as described above. At the end of the trial, all individuals who provided any stool sample and remained positive for any STH infection were treated with 400 mg of albendazole per WHO recommendations [10].

Outcome Measures

CR against hookworm infection at 14–21 days post-treatment was the primary outcome. Secondary outcomes were egg reduction rates (ERRs) against hookworm, CRs and ERRs against other STHs, and drug safety.

Sample Size

Multiple simulations were conducted to justify the required sample size. Assumed CRs against hookworm for placebo and albendazole at 200 mg, 400 mg, 600 mg, and 800 mg were 2.5%, 30%, 50%, 70%, and 80%, respectively, while loss to follow-up

was estimated at 10%. Simulations indicated that 40 participants per arm would be sufficient to predict the dose-response curve with a median precision, defined as one-half the length of the corresponding confidence band of approximately 10 percentage points [22].

Statistical Analyses

Data were collected on paper forms by trained personnel and entered twice into a database (Microsoft Access 2010, Wallisellen, Switzerland). Data were cross-checked using Beyond Compare 4 (Scooter Software, Madison, WI), and discrepancies were corrected using the original data. Analysis was performed using Stata, version 15 (StataCorp, College Station, TX) and R software, version 3.5.1 (www.r-project.org).

An analysis set of all randomized participants who provided any follow-up data was used to perform an available-case analysis. CRs were calculated as the percentage of egg-positive participants at baseline who become egg-negative post-treatment. EPG was calculated using the mean egg counts from the quadruplicate Kato-Katz thick smears and multiplying by a factor of 24. ERRs were calculated using geometric mean egg counts with the following formula:

$$ERR = 1 - \frac{\frac{1}{n} e^{\sum \log(EPG_{follow-up}+1)} - 1}{\frac{1}{n} e^{\sum \log(EPG_{baseline}+1)} - 1}$$

The 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for ERR point estimates were calculated using a bootstrap resampling method with 5000 replicates. ERRs were not calculated for infections of *T. trichiura* and *A. lumbricoides* because too few infections were observed. To predict dose-response curves in terms of CRs and ERRs, hyperbolic $E_{\rm max}$ models were fitted using the R software DoseFinding package.

The number and proportion of AEs and participants reporting AEs were descriptively summarized before and after treatment.

RESULTS

Baseline Characteristics

Figure 1 shows participant flow charts for each age cohort. A total of 642 PSAC, 947 SAC, and 1691 adults were screened for eligibility. Of those screened, 57 PSAC, 173 SAC, and 289 adults were positive for hookworm infection. Hence, despite exhaustive screening efforts, target sample sizes for PSAC (120) and SAC (200) were not reached. Based on eligibility criteria of \geq 24 EPG, 50 PSAC, 164 SAC, and 256 adults were invited to participate in clinical examination. There were 12 PSAC, 31 SAC, and 60 adults who refused to participate, were excluded based on eligibility criteria on the day of treatment, or were absent.

On treatment day, 38 PSAC, 133 SAC, and 196 adults were randomized to either three or five treatment arms (Figure 1). At

14–21 days post-treatment, 3 SAC (2.3%) and 23 adults (11.7%) did not provide any stool samples or were absent; all PSAC provided stool samples at follow-up.

Baseline demographic and parasitological characteristics of PSAC, SAC, and adults included are presented in Table 1. The proportions of females were lower in the 200-mg group in PSAC and higher in the 200-mg arm in SAC and adults. Other baseline characteristics were balanced. The majority of infections were of mild intensity (ranging from 92% to 100% across arms) in all three age cohorts; only 3 PSAC, 5 SAC, and 4 adults had moderate-intensity infections, and there were no highintensity infections. Only 1 PSAC, 6 SAC, and 2 adults were coinfected with *T. trichiura*, and 2 PSAC, 3 SAC, and 1 adult were coinfected with *A. lumbricoides*.

Efficacy

For adults, CRs and ERRs of each arm against hookworm infection are presented in Table 2; results for PSAC and SAC can be found in Supplementary Table 1. The E_{max} model predicted a maximum CR of 97.2% (placebo adjusted, 80.4%) and a half maximal-effect dose (ED₅₀) on logit scale at 724 mg in the adult cohort (314 mg on probability scale). The dose-response curve showed no plateau within the observed dose range. The predicted CRs were 16.8% (95% CI, 7.4%-33.8%), 37.9% (95% CI, 26.2%-51.3%), 55.6% (95% CI, 44.7%-66.0%), 67.3% (95% CI, 55.6%-77.2%), and 74.9% (95% CI, 55.6%-87.7%) for placebo, 200 mg, 400 mg, 600 mg, and 800 mg, respectively (Figure 2). Likewise, observed CRs increased with ascending doses of albendazole and reached a maximum of 94.1% (95% CI, 80.3%-99.3%). In terms of ERRs, the E_{max} predicted ERR at the first investigated dose of 200 mg was 93.5% (95% CI, 79.1%-98.2%) and increased to 97.5% (95% CI, 86.0%-99.6%) in the 800-mg albendazole arm (Figure 2). Observed and predicted ERRs differed only slightly across all treatment arms.

In SAC, observed CRs and ERRs against hookworm showed a less pronounced dose-response effect compared with adults. The increase in terms of CR after 400 mg was small. Observed CRs ranged from 63.0% (95% CI, 42.4%–80.6%) in the 200-mg arm to 76.0% (95% CI, 54.9%–90.6%) in the 800-mg arm. The observed CR in the placebo group was 43.5% (95% CI, 23.2%–65.5%). Geometric ERRs were high in all arms. The number of eligible PSAC was far below the anticipated sample size, and results are only descriptively analyzed. Observed CRs were 69.2%, 61.5%, and 83.3% and geometric mean–based ERRs were 99.0%, 96.2%, and 99.6% for 200 mg, 400 mg, and 600 mg of albendazole, respectively.

Supplementary Table 2 presents the proportions of participants cured of hookworm infection within each treatment arm by sex.

There were very few coinfections with *T. trichiura* and/or *A. lumbricoides* (9 and 5 participants, respectively). Only two participants remained coinfected with mild infection at three



Figure 1. Trial flow charts. A, PSAC participant flow chart. B, SAC participant flow chart. C, Adults participant flow chart. Abbreviations: PSAC, preschool-aged children; SAC, preschool-aged children.

S
Ξ
a
·#
<u>е</u> .
E
å
Ŧ
0
8
÷
<u>.</u>
P
ž
ă
ar
Ë,
c
e
≞
ë
as
â
÷
ط
Ť.
a.
_

	Pres	chool-aged Child	łren			School-aged Chil	ldren				Adults		
Characteristic	Albendazole, 200 mg (n = 13)	Albendazole, 400 mg (n = 13)	Albendazole, 600 mg (n = 12)	Placebo (n = 24)	Albendazole, 200 mg (n = 27)	Albendazole, 400 mg (n = 27)	Albendazole, 600 mg (n = 29)	Albendazole, 800 mg (n = 26)	Placebo (n = 40)	Albendazole, 200 mg (n = 41)	Albendazole, 400 mg (n = 38)	Albendazole, 600 mg (n = 40)	Albendazole, 800 mg (n = 37)
Age, mean (SD), y	3.8 (1.2)	3.8 (1.3)	3.8 (1.1)	9.1 (2.2)	9.1 (1.9)	9.8 (1.9)	9.2 (2.2)	9.4 (2.3)	35.4 (10.3)	39.8 (12.2)	36.3 (12.2)	38.2 (11.5)	35.7 (12.0)
Females	5 (38%)	69%) (8 (67%)	8 (33%)	13 (48%)	8 (30%)	5 (17%)	7 (27%)	7 (18%)	16 (39%) ^a	7 (18%)	7 (18%)	9 (24%)
Weight, mean (SD), kg	15.5 (3.6)	13.8 (3.8)	14.4 (2.9)	26.0 (5.4)	25.7 (5.5)	27.7 (6.8)	24.8 (7.0)	27.9 (10.3)	59.7 (9.9)	61.3 (9.5)	61.6 (9.3)	62.7 (8.0) ^b	59.7 (8.8)
Height, mean (SD), cm	98.8 (12.3)	98.1 (9.5)	96.1 (9.5)	132.6 (13.2)	127.2 (12.7)	129.8 (13.1)	123.9 (18.2)	137.5 (39.7)	165.8 (10.7) ^a	166.6 (10.7)	168.1 (7.5)	168.3 (10.0) ^a	165.2 (9.3) ^a
Hookworm													
Median EPG (inter- quartile range)	216 (150–618)	126 (60–540)	252 (111–423)	183 (78–450)	126 (72–336)	138 (78–246)	156 (84–528)	153 (66–366)	57 (96–318)	126 (54–444)	96 (54–264)	189 (63–570)	114 (84–216)
EPG geometric mean	251.1	178.4	238.8	209.1	166.7	162.1	219.5	226.4	136.5	147.9	116.3	198.4	151.8
Infection intensity													
Mild (1–1999 EPG)	12 (92%)	12 (92%)	22 (92%)	22 (92%)	26 (96%)	27 (100%)	27 (93%)	24 (92%)	38 (95%)	40 (98%)	38 (100%)	40 (100%)	36 (97%)
Moderate (2000- 3999 EPG)	1 (8%)	1 (8%)	2 (8%)	2 (8%)	1 (4%)	0 (%0) 0	2 (7%)	0 (0%)	2 (5%)	1 (2%)	(%0) 0	(%0) 0	1 (3%)
Heavy (≥4000 EPG)	(%0) 0	(%0)0	(%0) 0	(%0) 0	(%0) 0	(%0)0	(%0)0	2 (8%)	(%0) 0	(%0) 0	(%0) 0	(%0) 0	(%0) 0
Trichuris trichiura	0	0	~~	2	2	0	0	2	-	0	0	0	-
Ascaris lumbricoides	1	0	-	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0
Abbreviations: EPG, eg ^a Missing data from 1 pć ^b Missing data from 2 pć	gs per gram; SD, s [.] articipant. articipants.	tandard deviation.											

|--|

Result	Placebo	Albendazole, 200 mg	Albendazole, 400 mg	Albendazole, 600 mg	Albendazole, 800 mg
Positive before treatment	35	35	30	39	34
Cured after treatment	5	16	16	22	32
Observed CR (95% CI)	14.3 (4.8 to 30.3)	45.7 (28.8 to 63.4)	53.3 (34.3 to 71.7)	56.4 (39.6 to 72.2)	94.1 (80.3 to 99.3)
Predicted CR (95% CI)	16.8 (7.4 to 33.8)	37.9 (26.2 to 51.3)	55.6 (44.7 to 66.0)	67.3 (55.6 to 77.2)	74.9 (55.6 to 87.7)
EPG geometric mean					
Baseline	135.9	132.3	118.6	204.1	139.6
3 weeks follow-up	91.1	8.2	5.0	6.2	0.2
Observed ERR (95% CI)	33.0 (-27.1 to 67.3)	93.8 (87.0 to 97.3)	95.8 (90.2 to 98.3)	97.0 (92.5 to 98.9)	99.8 (99.5 to 100.0)
Predicted ERR (95% CI)	33.0 (19.6 to 49.9)	93.5 (79.1 to 98.2)	96.4 (90.4 to 98.7)	97.1 (88.4 to 99.3)	97.5 (86.0 to 99.6)
EPG arithmetic mean					
Baseline	348.3	325.0	242.0	414.9	275.6
3 weeks follow-up	478.6	63.9	32.2	69.5	2.1
Observed ERR (95% CI)	-37.4 (-137.1 to 44.6)	80.3 (58.1 to 91.8)	86.7 (75.3 to 94.0)	83.3 (68.0 to 92.7)	99.2 (97.6 to 100.0)
Abbraviationa: CL confidence inte	ruel: CR auro rato: ERC ageo	por grom: EPP, and reduction	rata		

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; CR, cure rate; EPG, eggs per gram; ERR, egg reduction rate.

weeks post-treatment, and one participant with trichuriasis was lost to follow-up.

Safety

At baseline, 38 PSAC, 130 SAC, and 173 adults were questioned for symptoms. Among these, 34 participants (10.0%) reported a total of 43 mild symptoms at baseline, the majority of which were reported by adults. The most common reported symptoms at baseline were abdominal pain (9.2%), headache (6.4%), and itching (4.7%) in adults.

At three hours post-treatment, 34 PSAC, 118 SAC, and 137 adults were interviewed. From these, 2 PSAC, 11 SAC, and 18

adults reported at least one AE (10.7%). The most common AEs reported at 3 hours follow-up were abdominal pain (10.1% of SAC and 5.8% of adults) and headache (10.0% in adults, 5.9% in PSAC, and 2.2% in SAC).

A total of 28 PSAC, 89 SAC, and 120 adults were interviewed at 24 hours follow-up; 12 reported experiencing any AE (5.1%). Abdominal pain was the most common reported AE at the 24-hour examination, reported by 2.2% of SAC and 5.0% of adults.

The number of AEs reported and number of participants reporting any AE by each treatment arm can be found in Table 3. A more detailed report of symptom-specific AEs can be found in Supplementary Table 3.



Figure 2. Cure rates (CRs) and egg reduction rates (ERRs) of albendazole in adults predicted by the hyperbolic E_{max} model. Dotted lines represent the dose-response curve, and the hatched area corresponds to the 95% confidence band. White numbers present the predicted CRs and ERRs for the investigated doses. Gray circles with black numbers represent the observed dose group CRs, and the gray vertical lines correspond to the 95% confidence intervals. Abbreviation: geo, geometric.

	Total	39	30	20	18	11	ი
	Albendazole, 800 mg	7	Ð	5	4	1	-
Adults	Albendazole, 600 mg	Ð	4	4	с	5	ю
	Albendazole, / 400 mg	11	ω	5	5	2	2
	Albendazole, 200 mg	10	8	4	4	2	2
	Pla- / cebo	9	Ð	2	2	-	-
	Total d	ю	ო	11	11	ю	ю
	Albendazole, 800 mg	-	-	с	с	0	0
Children	Albendazole, 600 mg	-	-	.	-	.	-
School-aged (Albendazole, 400 mg	0	0	2	2	2	2
	Albendazole, 200 mg	0	0	e	ო	0	0
	Pla- cebo	-	-	2	2	0	0
	Total	-	-	2	2	0	0
:hildren	Albendazole, 600 mg	-	-	-	-	0	0
eschool-aged C	Albendazole, 400 mg	0	0	0	0	0	0
Pres	Albendazole, 200 mg	0	0	1	4	0	0
1	Number of	Symptoms	Participants	Adverse events	Participants	Adverse events	Participants
	ime Point	Sefore	treatment	hours after }	treatment	4 hours after	treatment

DISCUSSION

Currently, there are several drugs approved by the WHO for the treatment/control of STH infections, though albendazole and mebendazole are the most common due to their ease of administration (single dose regardless of weight) and low cost [8, 23]. Albendazole, being more efficacious than mebendazole against hookworm, is a cornerstone of PC programs in both moderate/ high and low STH transmission settings; however, the standard dose of 400 mg varies in efficacy [13]. Factors such as infection intensity, coinfection with other STHs, and species type have all been proposed as determinants of the variability of albendazole efficacy [13, 15, 23–25].

The results of this trial confirm that at a recommended 400mg dose, albendazole is moderately efficacious against hookworm infection in PSAC, SAC, and adults (CRs of 61.5%, 74.1%, and 53.3%, respectively). In a recent systematic review, a comparable CR of 400 mg of albendazole against hookworm was found to be 70.5% (95% CI, 54.5%–82.6%) in trials conducted between 2000 and 2016 [13]. A published review of the literature until 1999 showed that efficacy of a single dose of 400 mg of albendazole was 77.7%, specifically 91.8% against *A. duodenale* and 75.0% against *N. americanus* [15]. In the same review, the efficacy of 200 mg of albendazole was found to be significantly lower (70.0%) in older children and adults, which is clearly confirmed in this trial for adults [15].

Remarkably, a higher dose of albendazole has increased efficacy, with a single dose of 800 mg of albendazole having a CR of 94.1% in adults. In PSAC and SAC, efficacy of albendazole remained moderate in all intervention arms; moreover, a slight increase in efficacy was seen in PSAC with ascending doses, though results should be interpreted carefully due to the small number of PSAC in each arm. No well-controlled trials were found specifically for PSAC or SAC; however, CRs for 200 mg, 600 mg, and 800 mg that were reported in a systematic review were within the ranges reported in this trial for the respective doses [15].

The greatest limitation of this trial was the poor recruitment of children. Only 24% and 67% of needed PSAC and SAC, respectively, were recruited into the trial. Hence, as mentioned before, it was difficult to identify the optimal dose of albendazole in these cohorts. The generalizability of the results are also limited to settings where infection intensity and coinfection with other STHs are low; evidence suggests that albendazole's efficacy is affected by these factors [13, 23]. Since the diagnostic method used did not differentiate between the two common hookworm species, efficacy results may not be applicable to settings where *A. duodenale* is the predominant species, as *N. americanus* is most prevalent in sub-Saharan Africa [6, 16, 26, 27].

Current recommendations of a single dose of a benzimidazole administered annually or biannually to SAC may not be enough to eliminate helminthiasis. Recent models have shown that PC that targets only SAC will not eliminate hookworm infections

Table 3. Number of Adverse Events and Number of Participants Reporting Adverse Events

and that to interrupt hookworm transmission, communitybased PC that also targets adults who are the main reservoir of hookworm transmission, which was confirmed in this trial, is needed [25, 28, 29]. Community-based MDA was shown to reduce the infection rate of hookworm by 91% in a study carried out from 2012 to 2013 in the Republic of Congo [30]. A recent clinical trial conducted in Kenya showed community-based treatment strategies to be more effective than school-based treatment in reducing hookworm prevalence; moreover, the costs were equitable [31]. Currently, a series of trials are being conducted in one Asian and two African settings to evaluate the feasibility of hookworm and other STH transmission interruption with community-based MDA [32].

Community-based MDA aligns with the 2030 targets of the NTD Roadmap, which plans to expand control programs to WRA, who are at risk of iron-deficiency anemia [12, 23]. Evidence from this trial can have a direct impact on the program strategies for the control and elimination of hookworm infection. Given the remarkable higher efficacy observed, increasing the dose of albendazole for adults targeted by community-based MDA may aid in the interruption of transmission.

The estimated cost of one albendazole tablet is \$0.018 with an additional 10% for overhead costs [33]. Recent estimates have shown that the average per-person cost of annual treatment at the community level is \$0.68, which could be reduced during scale-up to \$0.33 if coverage remains high [31]. These estimates are within the reported range of costs (\$0.33–\$0.70) for treating an infected individual reported by the WHO in 2017 [10]. Integrating an additional albendazole tablet into program strategies for treatment of adults would not drive costs outside of current ranges, though more evidence on the cost-effective-ness of two tablets of 400 mg albendazole for adults is needed.

In conclusion, this trial provides direct evidence on the optimal dose of albendazole for treatment of hookworm infection in low-transmission settings. Though sample sizes in SAC and PSAC were lower than anticipated, our findings support use of the currently recommended albendazole doses since increasing doses revealed no benefit in these age groups. However, we observed a considerably higher efficacy with administration of 800 mg of albendazole in the adult cohort. Strategies to integrate an 800-mg dose of albendazole to adults during communitybased MDA should therefore be explored.

Supplementary Data

Supplementary materials are available at *Clinical Infectious Diseases* online. Consisting of data provided by the authors to benefit the reader, the posted materials are not copyedited and are the sole responsibility of the authors, so questions or comments should be addressed to the corresponding author.

Notes

Author contributions. C. P., J. T. C., J. H., and J. K. designed the study. C. P., J. T. C., D. H., and J. K. performed the study. C. P., J. H., and J. K. analyzed and interpreted the data. C. P. and J. K. wrote the initial draft of the manuscript. J. T. C., D. H., and J. H. revised, read, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Acknowledgments. The authors thank all participating children and adults from the 21 villages. Additional thanks to the field workers and the field/laboratory teams from the Centre Suisse de Recherches Scientifiques in Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire, for their exemplary conduct in this trial.

Financial support. This work was supported by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (grant OPP1153928).

Potential conflicts of interest. The authors: No reported conflicts of interest. All authors have submitted the ICMJE Form for Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest.

References

- Jourdan PM, Lamberton PHL, Fenwick A, Addiss DG. Soil-transmitted helminth infections. Lancet 2018; 391:252–65.
- Pullan RL, Smith JL, Jasrasaria R, Brooker SJ. Global numbers of infection and disease burden of soil transmitted helminth infections in 2010. Parasit Vectors 2014; 7:37.
- Bartsch SM, Hotez PJ, Asti L, et al. The global economic and health burden of human hookworm infection. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2016; 10:e0004922.
- 4. GBD 2017 DALYs and HALE Collaborators. Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for 359 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet 2018; 392:1859–922.
- Crompton DW. The public health importance of hookworm disease. Parasitology 2000; 121 Suppl:S39–50.
- Hotez PJ, Brooker S, Bethony JM, Bottazzi ME, Loukas A, Xiao S. Hookworm infection. N Engl J Med 2004; 351:799–807.
- Brooker S, Akhwale W, Pullan R, et al. Epidemiology of plasmodium-helminth co-infection in Africa: populations at risk, potential impact on anemia, and prospects for combining control. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2007; 77:88–98.
- World Health Organization. WHO model list of essential medicines for children (21st list). Geneva: World Health Organization, 2019.
- Dayan AD. Albendazole, mebendazole and praziquantel. Review of non-clinical toxicity and pharmacokinetics. Acta Trop 2003; 86:141–59.
- World Health Organization. Guideline: preventive chemotherapy to control soil-transmitted helminth infections in at-risk population groups. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, 2017.
- World Health Organization. Accelerating work to overcome the global impact of neglected tropical diseases: a roadmap for implementation. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, 2012.
- 12. World Health Organization. 2030 targets for soil-transmitted helminthiases control programmes. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, **2020**.
- Moser W, Schindler C, Keiser J. Efficacy of recommended drugs against soil transmitted helminths: systematic review and network meta-analysis. BMJ 2017; 358:j4307.
- 14. Adegnika AA, Zinsou JF, Issifou S, et al. Randomized, controlled, assessor-blind clinical trial to assess the efficacy of single- versus repeated-dose albendazole to treat *Ascaris lumbricoides*, *Trichuris trichiura*, and hookworm infection. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2014; 58:2535–40.
- Horton J. Albendazole: a review of anthelmintic efficacy and safety in humans. Parasitology 2000; 121 Suppl:S113–32.
- Loukas A, Hotez PJ, Diemert D, et al. Hookworm infection. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2016; 2:16088.
- Steinmann P, Utzinger J, Du ZW, et al. Efficacy of single-dose and triple-dose albendazole and mebendazole against soil-transmitted helminths and *Taenia* spp.: a randomized controlled trial. PLoS One **2011**; 6:e25003.
- Yap P, Du ZW, Wu FW, et al. Rapid re-infection with soil-transmitted helminths after triple-dose albendazole treatment of school-aged children in Yunnan, People's Republic of China. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2013; 89:23–31.
- Montresor A, Crompton DWT, Hall A, Bundy DAP, Savioli L. Guidelines for evaluation of soil-transmitted helminthiasis and schistosomiasis at community level. Vitamin and Mineral Nutrition Information System. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, 1998.
- Katz N, Chaves A, Pellegrino J. A simple device for quantitative stool thicksmear technique in *Schistosomiasis mansoni*. Rev Inst Med Trop Sao Paulo 1972; 14:397–400.
- Speich B, Ali SM, Ame SM, Albonico M, Utzinger J, Keiser J. Quality control in the diagnosis of *Trichuris trichiura* and *Ascaris lumbricoides* using the Kato-Katz technique: experience from three randomised controlled trials. Parasit Vectors 2015; 8:82.
- Klingenberg B. Proof of concept and dose estimation with binary responses under model uncertainty. Stat Med 2009; 28:274–92.

- Hotez PJ. "The Unholy Trinity": the soil-transmitted helminth infections ascariasis, trichuriasis, and hookworm infection. In: Hotez PJ. Forgotten people forgotten diseases. Washington, DC: ASM Press, 2014:17–40.
- 24. Bennett A, Guyatt H. Reducing intestinal nematode infection: efficacy of albendazole and mebendazole. Parasitol Today **2000**; 16:71–4.
- Haldeman MS, Nolan MS, Ng'habi KRN. Human hookworm infection: is effective control possible? A review of hookworm control efforts and future directions. Acta Trop 2020; 201:105214.
- Coulibaly JT, Hiroshige N, N'Gbesso YK, Hattendorf J, Keiser J. Efficacy and safety of ascending dosages of tribendimidine against hookworm infections in children: a randomized controlled trial. Clin Infect Dis 2018; 69:845–52.
- Hotez PJ, Bethony J, Bottazzi ME, Brooker S, Buss P. Hookworm: "the great infection of mankind." PLoS Med 2005; 2:e67.
- Truscott JE, Turner HC, Farrell SH, Anderson RM. Soil-transmitted helminths: mathematical models of transmission, the impact of mass drug administration and transmission elimination criteria. Adv Parasitol 2016; 94:133-98.

- Turner HC, Truscott JE, Bettis AA, et al. An economic evaluation of expanding hookworm control strategies to target the whole community. Parasit Vectors 2015; 8:570.
- Pion SD, Chesnais CB, Bopda J, et al. The impact of two semiannual treatments with albendazole alone on lymphatic filariasis and soil-transmitted helminth infections: a community-based study in the Republic of Congo. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2015; 92:959–66.
- Pullan RL, Halliday KE, Oswald WE, et al. Effects, equity, and cost of schoolbased and community-wide treatment strategies for soil-transmitted helminths in Kenya: a cluster-randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2019; 393:2039–50.
- 32. Ásbjörnsdóttir KH, Ajjampur SSR, Anderson RM, et al; DeWorm3 Trials Team. Assessing the feasibility of interrupting the transmission of soil-transmitted helminths through mass drug administration: the DeWorm3 cluster randomized trial protocol. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2018; 12:e0006166.
- Montresor A, Gabrielli AF, Diarra A, Engels D. Estimation of the cost of largescale school deworming programmes with benzimidazoles. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 2010; 104:129–32.

Supplementary Table 1: Cure rates and egg reduction rates against hookworm of PSAC and SAC at 3 weeks follow-up. Abbreviations: ALB, albendazole; CI, confidence interval; CR, cure rate; EPG, eggs per gram; ERR, egg reduction rate; PLAC, placebo; PSAC, preschool-aged children; SAC, school-aged children.

		PSAC				SAC		
	ALB 200 mg	ALB 400 mg	ALB 600 mg	PLAC	ALB 200 mg	ALB 400 mg	ALB 600 mg	ALB 800 mg
Positive before treatment	13	13	12	23	27	27	28	25
Cured after treatment	9	8	10	10	17	20	18	19
Observed CR	69.2	61.5	83.3	43.5	63.0	74.1	64.3	76.0
[95% CI]	[38.6, 90.9]	[31.6, 86.1]	[51.6, 97.9]	[23.2, 65.5]	[42.4, 80.6]	[53.7, 88.9]	[44.1, 81.4]	[54.9, 90.6]
Predicted CR				43.4	64.0	68.9	71.0	72.1
[95% CI]				[25.2, 63.6]	[46.4, 78.5]	[59.1, 77.2]	[59.8, 80.1]	[57.7, 83.1]
EPG geometric mean								
Baseline	251.1	178.4	238.8	229.5	166.7	162.1	200.1	234.9
3 weeks follow-up	2.6	6.8	0.9	21.5	3.9	1.6	3.4	3.8
Observed ERR	99.0	96.2	99.6	90.6	97.7	99.0	98.3	98.4
[95% CI]	[94.7, 99.9]	[83.5, 99.4]	[98.5, 100]	[72.3, 97.3]	[93.5, 99.3]	[97.4, 99.7]	[95.4, 99.5]	[95.9, 99.6]
Predicted ERR [95%				90.6	97.9	98.3	98.5	98.5
CI]				[70.4, 97.5]	[80.3, 99.8]	[92.9, 99.6]	[91.1, 99.7]	[88.2, 99.8]
EPG arithmetic mean								
Baseline	528.5	422.8	398.0	500.1	343.3	262.7	398.8	1102.6
3 weeks follow-up	42.8	275.5	7.2	347.8	150.7	13.6	30.2	524.9
Observed ERR	91.9	34.8	98.2	30.4	56.1	94.8	92.4	52.4
[95% CI]	[72.2, 99.8]	[-1.5, 94.1]	[93.6, 100]	[-6.4, 68.0]	[19.0, 96.3]	[89.5, 98.6]	[83.2, 97.0]	[32.9, 91.6]

		PSAC	SAC	Adults
	F	na	3/8 (37.5%)	1/7 (14.3%)
FLAC	Μ	na	7/15 (46.7%)	5/35 (14.3%)
ALB	F	3/5 (60.0%)	8/13 (61.5%)	9/14 (64.3%)
200 mg	Μ	6/8 (75.0%)	9/14 (64.3%)	14/21 (33.3%)
ALB	F	5/9 (55.6%)	5/8 (62.5%)	2/4 (50.0%)
400 mg	Μ	3/4 (75.0%)	15/19 (79.0%)	14/26 (53.9%)
ALB	F	7/8 (87.5%)	2/5 (40.0%)	4/7 (57.1%)
600 mg	Μ	3/4 (75.0%)	16/23 (69.6%)	18/32 (56.3%)
ALB	F	na	6/7 (85.7%)	9/9 (100.0%)
800 mg	Μ	na	13/18 (72.2%)	23/25 (92.0%)

Supplementary Table S2: Proportion of participants cured by treatment arm and sex in PSAC, SAC and adults. Abbreviations: ALB, albendazole; F, female; M, male; na, not applicable; PLAC, placebo; PSAC, preschool-aged children; SAC, school-aged children.

		PSAC	e		U	SAC					Adults		
Adverse event	ALB	ALB	ALB	PLAC	ALB	ALB	ALB	ALB	PLAC	ALB	ALB	ALB	ALB
	200 mg	400 mg	600 mg	12110	200 mg	400 mg	600 mg	800 mg	12110	200 mg	400 mg	600 mg	800 mg
Before treatment													
Headache	0/13	0/13	0/12	0/23	0/27	0/27	0/28	0/25	2/35	2/35	2/30	3/39	2/34
	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(5.7)	(5.7)	(6.7)	(7.7)	(5.9)
Abdominal nain	0/13	0/13	0/12	0/23	0/27	0/27	1/28	0/25	3/35	6/35	4/30	1/39	2/34
Nausea	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(3.6)	(0.0)	(8.6)	(17.1)	(13.3)	(2.6)	(5.9)
Nausea	0/13	0/13	0/12	0/23	0/27	0/27	0/28	0/25	0/35	0/35	0/30	0/39	0/34
Indusca	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)
Vomiting	0/13	0/13	0/12	0/23	0/27	0/27	0/28	0/25	0/35	0/35	0/30	0/39	0/34
vonnting	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)
Diamhaa	0/13	0/13	1/12	1/23	0/27	0/27	0/28	0/25	0/35	1/35	2/30	0/39	1/34
Diamiea	(0.0)	(0.0)	(8.3)	(4.4)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(2.86)	(6.7)	(0.0)	(2.9)
Itahing	0/13	0/13	0/12	0/23	0/26	0/27	0/27	1/24	1/34	1/35	3/30	1/39	2/33
nening	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(4.2)	(3.0)	(2.86)	(10.0)	(2.6)	(6.1)
3 hr after treatment													
IIl	1/12	0/10	1/12	1/21	1/24	0/25	0/26	0/22	2/31	3/28	4/21	2/31	1/26
Headache	(8.3)	(0.0)	(8.3)	(4.8)	(4.2)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(6.5)	(10.7)	(19.1)	(6.5)	(3.9)
A h dominal main	0/12	0/10	0/12	1/21	2/24	2/25	1/26	3/22	0/31	1/28	1/21	2/31	3/26
Abdominal pain	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(4.8)	(8.3)	(8.0)	(3.9)	(13.6)	(0.0)	(3.6)	(4.7)	(6.5)	(11.5)
N	0/12	0/10	0/12	0/21	0/24	0/25	0/26	0/22	0/31	0/28	0/21	0/31	1/26
Nausea	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(3.9)
M	0/12	0/10	0/12	0/21	0/24	0/25	0/26	0/22	0/31	0/28	0/21	0/31	0/26
vomiting	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)
D' 1	0/12	0/10	0/12	0/21	0/24	0/25	0/26	0/22	0/31	0/28	0/21	0/31	0/26
Diarrnea	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)
T/ 1 '	0/12	0/10	0/12	0/21	0/24	0/25	0/26	0/22	0/31	0/28	0/21	0/31	0/26
Itching	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)
Serious adverse	0/12	0/10	0/12	0/21	0/24	0/25	0/26	0/22	0/31	0/28	0/21	0/31	0/26
event	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)
24 hr after treatmen	it (/	/		/	/	/	/		/	/	/	
			0/11	0/15	0/18	0/23	0/17	0/16	0/24	0/24	0/21	1/27	0/24
Headache	0/8 (0.0)	0/9 (0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(3.7)	(0.0)

Supplementary Table S3: Reported number of participants experiencing adverse events by treatment arm among PSAC, SAC, and adults questioned. Abbreviations: ALB, albendazole; PLAC, placebo; PSAC, preschool-aged children; SAC, school-aged children.

Abdominal pain $0/8$	0/8 (0 0)	0/0 (0 0)	0/11	0/15	0/18	2/23	0/17	0/16	0/24	1/24	2/21	3/27	0/24
	0/8 (0.0)	0/9 (0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(8.7)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(4.2)	(9.5)	(11.1)	(0.0)
Name o//	0/7 (0 0)	0/6(0,0)	0/8 (0 0)	0/11	0/14	0/17	0/14	0/12	0/21	1/24	0/16	1/25	1/21
Indused	Nausea $0/7 (0.0)$	0/0 (0.0)	0/8 (0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(4.2)	(0.0)	(4.0)	(4.8)
	$\Omega/(\Omega)$	0/2(0,0)	0/11	0/14	0/17	1/14	0/12	0/21	0/22	0/16	0/25	0/21	
vonnting	0/7 (0.0)	0/0 (0.0)	0/8 (0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(7.1)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)
Diarrhaa	0/7 (0 0)	0/6 (0.0)	0/2(0,0)	0/11	0/14	0/17	0/14	0/12	0/21	0/22	0/16	0/25	0/21
Diamea	0/7 (0.0)		0/8 (0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)
Itahing	0/8 (0 0)	0/0 (0 0)	0/11	0/15	0/18	0/23	0/17	0/16	1/24	0/24	0/21	0/27	0/24
Itening	0/8 (0.0)	0/9 (0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(4.2)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)
Serious adverse	0/7(0,0)	0/6 (0 0)	0/2 (0 0)	0/11	0/18	0/17	0/14	0/12	0/21	0/22	0/16	0/25	0/21
event	0/7 (0.0)	0/0 (0.0)	0/8 (0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)

4. Design and conduct of a randomized controlled multi-country trial of co-administered ivermectin and albendazole

4.1. Efficacy and safety of ivermectin and albendazole co-administration in school-aged children and adults infected with *Trichuris trichiura*: study protocol for a multi-country randomized controlled double-blind trial

Chandni Patel^{1,2‡}, Eveline Hürlimann^{1,2‡}, Ladina Keller^{1,2}, Jan Hattendorf^{1,2}, Somphou Sayasone^{1, 2, 3}, Said Ali⁴, Shaali Ame⁴, Jean Tenena Coulibaly^{1, 2, 5, 6} and Jennifer Keiser^{1, 2*}

¹ Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Basel, Switzerland

- ² University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland
- ³ Lao Tropical and Public Health Institute, Vientiane, Lao People's Democratic Republic
- ⁴ Public Health Laboratory Ivo de Carneri, Chake Chake, Pemba, Zanzibar (Tanzania)
- ⁵ Unité de Formation et de Recherche Biosciences, Université Félix Houphouët-Boigny,

Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

- ⁶ Centre Suisse de Recherches Scientifiques en Côte d'Ivoire, Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire
- [‡] The authors contributed equally to the present work.

Published in BMC Infectious Diseases 2019; 19(1): 262.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-019-3882-x

Patel et al. BMC Infectious Diseases

Open Access

Efficacy and safety of ivermectin and albendazole co-administration in schoolaged children and adults infected with *Trichuris trichiura*: study protocol for a multi-country randomized controlled double-blind trial

(2019) 19:262



Chandni Patel^{1,2+}, Eveline Hürlimann^{1,2+}, Ladina Keller^{1,2}, Jan Hattendorf^{1,2}, Somphou Sayasone^{1,2,3}, Said M Ali⁴, Shaali M Ame⁴, Jean T Coulibaly^{1,2,5,6} and Jennifer Keiser^{1,2*}

Abstract

Background: Soil-transmitted helminthiasis affects almost 2 billion people worldwide in tropical climates. Preventive chemotherapy, using the benzimidazoles (albendazole and mebendazole) is the current main recommended control strategy. Nevertheless, there is limited efficacy of these drugs against hookworm infection and, to a greater extent, against trichuriasis. We describe a protocol for a trial investigating the efficacy and safety of the co-administration of ivermectin and albendazole against trichuriasis.

Methods: A double-blind, placebo-controlled randomized controlled trial will be conducted in three countries (Côte d'Ivoire, Tanzania and Lao PDR) with the aim to determine the efficacy, safety and extended effects of co-administered ivermectin and albendazole compared to standard albendazole monotherapy. We will enroll 600 participants aged 6–60 years in each setting. The primary outcome is cure rate (CR) against *Trichuris trichiura* infection as assessed by Kato-Katz 14–21 days after treatment. Secondary outcomes include CRs against concomitant soil-transmitted helminth (STH) infections (*Ascaris lumbricoides*, hookworm and *Strongyloides stercoralis*) and egg reduction rates (ERRs) against STH at 14–21 days, 180 days and 360 days. Tolerability of treatment, infection status assessed by polymerase chain reaction (PCR), and potential benefits of deworming on nutritional and morbidity indicators will be assessed. The primary analysis will include an available-case set and use logistic regression models adjusted for age, sex and weight.

Discussion: This trial will provide robust results on the efficacy and safety of co-administration of ivermectin and albendazole with the aim to better inform WHO recommendations on control of STHs. Furthermore, secondary and explanatory outcomes will provide direct evidence on the extended effects of combination therapy and insight on the relationship between nutrition and morbidity parameters and infection status and intensity.

Trial registration: NCT03527732 (date assigned: 17 May 2018).

Keywords: *Trichuris trichiura*, Côte d'Ivoire, Lao PDR, Tanzania, Drug efficacy, Ivermectin, Albendazole, Soil-transmitted helminthiasis, Drug safety

* Correspondence: jennifer.keiser@swisstph.ch

[†]Chandni Patel and Eveline Hürlimann contributed equally to this work.

¹Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Basel, Switzerland

²University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s). 2019 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

Background

Almost 2 billion people are infected with soil-transmitted helminths (STHs), the majority being preschool and school-aged children living in Asia and Africa [1, 2]. Ascaris lumbricoides (roundworm), Trichuris trichiura (whipworm) and Necator americanus or Ancylostoma duodenale (hookworms), the most common STHs, account for an annual burden of 1.9 million disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) related to infection [1, 3]. Infection can be the result of the ingestion of T. trichiura or A. lumbricoides eggs or the penetration of skin by hookworm larvae [4]. Inadequate access to clean water, poor hygiene and unimproved sanitation lead to an increase in risk of STH infection, thus particularly affecting populations in low- and middle-income countries [4]. Morbidity due to STHs are related mostly to high intensity infections and may include acute symptoms such as diarrhea, dysentery, abdominal pain or obstruction; if left untreated, STH infections can lead to inflammation, nutrition and immune system impairment and, finally, can cause physical and mental development retardation in children and limited working capacity in adults [1, 4].

To date, preventive chemotherapy (PC) that is the periodic administration of anthelminthic drugs to at-risk populations without prior diagnosis, is the cornerstone of helminth control put forth by the World Health Organization (WHO) to reduce the burden of STHs. PC is implemented in the form of annual mass drug administration (MDA) campaigns and the recommended target populations have been expanded from only school-aged children to include younger children (1-5 years of age), adolescent (10–19 years) girls, women of reproductive age (15–49 years) and pregnant women after the first trimester in areas with an STH prevalence of $\geq 20\%$ [5]. A biannual frequency of MDA is recommended in case of high prevalence (> 50%). Albendazole, one of the two main drugs used for MDA, is considered safe and well tolerated; however, it is not efficient in clearing infection and reducing worm loads in all three types of STHs [2, 6]. While it shows satisfyingly high cure rates (CRs) (96%) and egg reduction rates (ERRs) (>98%) against A. lumbricoides, efficacy against hookworm is lower (CR = 80% and ERR = 90%) and against Trichuris trichiura is disturbingly low with CRs of 31% and ERRs of 50% [6]. Furthermore, this drug has been used for more than three decades and comparison of efficacy measures over time indicates a decreasing trend over time; although resistance has so far not been documented in its use in humans [5]. In view of insufficient efficacy, especially against T. trichiura, coupled with the potential for resistance emergence from long-term use, there is not only a pressing need for the development of new treatments against STH infections, but also a need to optimize current treatment schemes [7].

The co-administration of standard drugs together with other anthelminthics, such as ivermectin, could be a way to achieve universal impact on all STH species [8]. Moreover, the combined use of ivermectin and albendazole against STH infection has been added recently to the WHO Model Lists of Essential Medicines paving the way for application in control programs [9]. A recent meta-analysis indeed shows a lower risk (risk ratio (RR) = 0.44) of still being positive for T. trichiura post-treatment for co-administered ivermectin and albendazole when compared to albendazole alone; however, these findings are based on a very limited amount of qualifying studies (n = 3) conducted in various settings, limited to school-aged children and/or adolescents with considerable variation among the reported efficacy measures [10]. Interestingly, two studies also highlight potential extended effects on follow-up infection status or intensity (18 weeks and 1 year) compared to single or other combined drug regimens [11, 12]. To better inform and guide ongoing helminth control programs on optimization and implementation of ivermectin-albendazole integrated treatment schemes, a deeper understanding of its impact across a range of different transmission settings, including a broader age range and a prolonged monitoring period, is needed.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first large, multi-country trial assessing the safety and efficacy of the combination of ivermectin and albendazole and the extended effects of treatment against *T. trichiura*.

Methods/design

Trial design

This is a multi-country, parallel group, double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized controlled trial (RCT). It will be implemented as a community-based study targeting children, adolescents and adults aged 6 to 60 years. In each of the three countries, 600 T. trichiura-positive community members will be randomly assigned to either receive the current standard treatment (albendazole/placebo) or the combination therapy (ivermectin/albendazole). All participating communities will be followed-up over a period of one year including four assessment time points at baseline, 3 weeks, 6 months and 12 months after treatment (see Fig. 1). The WHO Trial Registration Data Set summarizes the most important trial information and is given in Additional file 1. The study adheres to the Standard Protocol Items: Recommendations for Interventional Trials (SPIRIT) statement [13] and a checklist is provided as supplementary file (see Additional file 2).

Study area and participants

The trial will be conducted in two African settings, namely Côte d'Ivoire and Pemba Island, Tanzania, and one Asian setting, Lao People's Democratic Republic



(PDR). Potential study areas will be selected based on earlier findings and insights from local collaborators on T. trichiura endemicity. In Côte d'Ivoire, the Agnéby-Tiassa region in the southeast of the country has been identified with high STH infection prevalence (particularly for T. trichiura) in previous community-based studies or RCTs [14, 15]. Pemba Island is still highly endemic to STH infections [16]. Potential study communities on Pemba will be selected based on accessibility besides T. trichiura endemicity. An area fulfilling these criteria is considered the Shehia of Pujini, 9 km south-east of Chake Chake, Pemba. In Lao PDR recent data suggests highest infection rates for T. trichiura to be found in the northern zone of the country including the province of Luang Prabang [17]. In each study location community members from 6 to 60 years of age will be invited for participation.

Recruitment

In order to recruit participants from a broad age range (6–60 years), entire communities with less than 1000 inhabitants (smaller communities are easier to be mobilized and monitored) will be pre-screened and a census conducted to identify *T. trichiura* cases and eligible individuals in each household, respectively.

All adult community members will be invited to participate in an informational meeting explaining the purposes and procedures of the study, including potential benefits and risks. In this open discussion forum, parents/caregivers/potential participants will be encouraged to ask questions and be informed of actions to prevent acquiring STH infections in the future.

Individuals (including parents/caregivers of children) interested in participating in the trial will be invited to complete the process of informed consent; thereafter, individuals will be assessed for study eligibility during screening procedures.

Eligibility criteria

Participants will be eligible to be included in the trial if they fulfill all of the following criteria:

- Provide written informed consent signed by either the participant him/herself (≥18 years of age in Lao PDR and Pemba, Tanzania or ≥ 21 years of age in Côte d'Ivoire) or by parents and/or caregivers for children/adolescents; and oral assent by child/ adolescent (aged 6–17 years Lao PDR and Pemba, Tanzania or aged 6–20 years in Côte d'Ivoire).
- 2. Agree to comply with study procedures, including provision of two stool samples at the beginning (baseline) and on three follow-up assessments (approximately 3 weeks, 6 months, and 12 months later).
- 3. Aged ≥ 6 to ≤ 60 years and weighing at least 15 kg.

4. Positive for *T. trichiura* infection in at least two slides of the quadruple Kato-Katz thick smears and infection intensity of at least 100 eggs per gram (EPG) of stool.

Participants will be ineligible to be included in the trial if they fulfill any of the following criteria:

- Presence of major systemic illnesses, e.g. severe anemia (below 80 g/l Hemoglobin (Hb) according to WHO [18]), clinical malaria as assessed by a medical doctor (positive *Plasmodium* rapid diagnostic test (RDT) and ≥ 38 °C ear temperature), upon initial clinical assessment.
- 2. History of acute or severe chronic disease (e.g. cancer, diabetes, chronic heart, liver or renal disease).
- 3. Recent use of anthelmintic drug (within past 4 weeks).
- 4. Attendance in other clinical trials.
- 5. Known allergy to study medications (i.e. ivermectin and albendazole).
- 6. Pregnancy or lactating in the 1st week after birth (according to WHO guidelines within lymphatic filariasis control programs [19]).
- 7. Current use of medication with known interaction (e.g. for ivermectin: warfarin; for albendazole: cimetidine, praziquantel and dexamethasone).

Intervention

All T. trichiura-infected, consenting, and participating community members will be treated with the respective single or combination treatment regimen at day 0. Re-treatment with the intervention assigned at randomization will occur at 6 months in all participants found to be positive for any STH. 400 mg albendazole tablets will be the product of Glaxo Smith Kline, UK (Zentel®) and a single tablet will be administered. 3 mg tablets of ivermectin (Stromectol®) will be obtained from Merck, France and administered at a dose of 200 µg/kg body weight recorded for each participant. Matching ivermectin placebo tablets (in terms of appearance) will be produced and a certificate of manufacture and analysis be provided by the University of Basel. Since ivermectin and albendazole are known to be better absorbed in humans after a high-fat meal is consumed, participants will receive a local high-fat breakfast prior to treatment [20, 21]. After ingestion of the medication, the subjects will be observed for 3 h to ensure retention of the drug. Vomiting within 1-h post-dosing will require redosing. The subjects will not be allowed more than one repeated dose. No re-administration will be needed for subjects vomiting after one hour.

Outcomes

Primary outcome

The primary outcome is *T. trichiura* infection status as assessed by Kato-Katz 14–21 days after treatment measured

as CR, calculated as the percent of infected individuals at baseline free from infection after treatment.

Secondary outcomes

Secondary outcomes include the ERR against *T. trichiura*, CRs and ERRs against other concomitant STH infections (*A. lumbricoides*, hookworm and *Strongyloides stercoralis*), reinfection rates, tolerability of treatment and infection status assessed by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Outcomes will be assessed at 14–21 days, 180 days and 360 days post-treatment.

Exploratory outcomes

Exploratory outcomes include the molecular characterization of *T. trichiura* strains from different settings and investigation of potential resistance markers through deep sequencing as well as the evaluation of the potential benefits of deworming on nutrition status and morbidity indicators.

Sample size calculation

Based on a recent systematic review and the published literature, we assume that the CR of albendazole against T. trichiura is 30% compared to 50% in the ivermectinalbendazole treatment regimen [6]. To achieve a power of 90% at a significance level of 5%, 121 participants per study arm are needed to detect a statistically significant difference. With an estimated loss to follow-up of 15%, 143 participants will be required in each study arm. Furthermore, we assume the same treatment efficacy and a reinfection risk of 10% at 6 months. Consequently we expect a proportion of negative patients after 12 months of 44% in the albendazole arm and of 65% in the ivermectin-albendazole arm resulting in a required sample size of 111 participants per arm. To account for a loss to follow-up of 30% after 6 months and 40% at final assessment (12 months), we aim to recruit 300 participants in each treatment group (600 in total) in each country for a total of 1800 participants.

Randomisation

Study participants eligible for treatment will be randomly assigned in a 1:1 allocation to one of the treatment arms using sealed, opaque sequentially-numbered envelopes prepared by persons independent of the trial. Since treatment success is influenced by infection intensity, stratified block randomization will be used (baseline infection intensity: light infections and moderate/heavy infections) to ensure balanced treatment groups in terms of infection intensity. The computer-generated stratified randomization sequence, provided by a statistician, will vary randomly in blocks of four, six and eight and will be stratified by 2 levels of baseline infection intensity (light: < 1000 EPG, and moderate and heavy: \geq 1000 EPG *T. trichiura* infections).

Blinding

The trial will be double-blinded (i.e. study participants and the trial team/researchers conducting the treatment and assessing the outcomes will be blinded). One 400 mg albendazole tablet will be given to each participant. The ivermectin (or corresponding placebo) tablets used for each treatment arm will be repacked into neutral separate plastic bags each containing the maximum number of ivermectin tablets with regard to weight and dose or the corresponding number of appearance-matched placebo tablets produced by the University of Basel. If at any point during the trial an unanticipated need to unblind a participant's treatment allocation arises for reasons of safety, the principal investigator, site investigators, and ethics committee will be notified and the instance will be documented.

Trial timeline

The trial will last for fourteen months. The screening for the baseline will start three weeks prior to the treatment. Follow-up screening will take place 14–21 days, 180 days and 360 days post-treatment and each will last for about three weeks. Schedules of visits are summarized in Table 1.

Data collection

All data besides a household questionnaire will be collected during scheduled visits and recorded on paper case report forms (CRFs), laboratory reporting forms or logs. Subsequently, data will be double-entered into a

Table 1 Se	chedule	of	visits	in	trial	

database using EpiInfo (v3.5.4). Access will be limited to study investigators and study personnel entering data; both working independently from the project funder. Data reported in the household questionnaire will be collected using paper forms in Pemba Island and using Open Data Kit (ODK) on mobile tablet computer devices in Côte d'Ivoire and Lao PDR where electronic data collection has already been applied in earlier studies. Data entered via ODK collect will be uploaded to a server hosted by the Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute (Swiss TPH; Basel, Switzerland). For quality assurance in-built error, range and consistency checks will be programmed for the data entry masks (i.e., in EpiInfo and ODK). The obtained data will be handled strictly confidentially. Personal data will be coded for data analysis. No names will be published at any time, and published reports will not allow for identification of single subjects.

Clinical assessment

A clinical examination of the study participants assessing general health (blood pressure, pulse rate, symptoms, medical history, etc.), anthropometric parameters including height, weight, mid-upper arm circumference (MUAC) and skinfold thickness (i.e. tricep and subscapular skinfolds) as well as tympanic temperature using an ear thermometer (Braun Thermoscan 5, Braun GmbH, Kronberg, Germany) will precede the treatment and will be repeated on two

	Screening	Baselin	e/Treatm	ent/Safety	Follow-up					
	-21 to -1	Hours		Days						
	days	0		3	24	21	180	185	360	
Diagnosis (stool and urine examination)	Х					Х	Х		Х	
Gut morbidity (stool RDTs)	Х					Х	Х		Х	
Informed consent	Х									
Demographics	Х									
Medical history		Х								
Clinical examination		Х					Х		Х	
Pregnancy testing		Х					Х		Х	
Hemoglobin measurement		Х					Х		Х	
Plasmodium co-infection (in Côte d'Ivoire/ Lao PDR only)		Х					Х		Х	
W. bancrofti co-infection (in Africa only)		Х					Х		Х	
Venous blood examination (in Côte d'Ivoire/ Lao PDR only)		Х				Х	Х		Х	
Physical functioning		Х					Х		Х	
Randomization and treatment			Х							
Selective re-treatment								Х		
Capturing AEs				Х	Х	Х				
Capturing SAEs				Х	Х	Х				
Treatment satisfaction				Х		Х	Х			

follow-up assessments (days 180 and 360) to evaluate potential benefits from deworming. Blood pressure will be measured using a sphygmomanometer (OMRON M6, Omron Healthcare CO., LTD, Kyoto, Japan). Body weight will be measured using a mobile, digital scale (SECA Model 803, Seca Gmbh Co, Hamburg, Germany) with a precision to the nearest 0.1 kg, while height will be measured using a measuring stick in centimetres. Mid-upper arm circumference will be measured to the nearest 0.1 cm using a MUAC tape; and a caliper (Harpenden Skinfold Caliper, HaB International Ltd., Warwickshire, England) will be used to measure tricep and subscapular skinfold thicknesses to the nearest 0.2 mm. All anthropometric measurements will be taken twice, recorded and the average value then used. A licensed physician will conduct a physical examination on each participant before treatment at baseline, 6 months and 12 months.

Biospecimen collection and testing Stool samples

Community members providing informed consent will be asked to provide two stool samples of at least 15 g each within a maximum of 5 days at baseline. From every stool specimen, duplicate Kato-Katz thick smears (41.7 mg each) will be prepared and read under a microscope for eggs of *T. trichiura, A. lumbricoides* and hookworm by experienced technicians [22]. A subsequent independent quality control of sample results (approximately 10%) will be conducted. All microscopically analyzed quadruplicate Kato-Katz thick smears will be destroyed within one day (after passing the quality control).

A portion of 2–3 g of stool from each specimen will be preserved in 70% ethanol and shipped to the Swiss TPH, Basel, Switzerland for PCR analysis which will allow further classification of hookworm infection into the three species *N. americanus*, *A. duodenale* and *A. ceylanicum* [23]. A subsample of 10 participants with high intensity infections following treatment from each of the settings (30 in total) will be subjected to deep sequencing for characterization of *T. trichiura* strains and investigation of potential resistance markers [24].

Additionally, a small amount of feces (less than 1 mg) from the second stool sample of participants identified as positive for *T. trichiura* in the first sample will further be tested for fecal occult blood and fecal calprotectin (Actim Fecal Blood and Calprotectin, Oy Medix Biochemica Ab, Espoo, Finland) as proxies for gut morbidity and inflammation using a rapid diagnostic immunoassay test [25]. In Lao PDR, the remains of each stool sample (ideally 10 to 20 g) will be processed by the Baermann technique for identification of *S. stercoralis* infections and be recorded qualitatively as larva-positive or negative [26].

Blood samples

Enrolled participants undergoing a clinical examination at baseline, 6 months and 12 months will be asked to provide a finger-prick blood sample to evaluate Hb levels using a HemoCue analyzer (Hemocue Hb 301 system; Angelholm, Sweden). Additionally, participants in Côte d'Ivoire and Lao PDR will be asked to provide a finger-prick blood sample for an RDT (i.e. Humasis Pf/Pan and Humasis Pf/ Pv) for *Plasmodium* spp. infection, while participants in Côte d'Ivoire and Pemba will be asked to provide a finger-prick blood sample for an RDT (i.e. ENCODE Filariasis IgG/IgM) detecting antibodies in the blood to identify potential co-infection with *Wuchereria bancrofti*, as patients with filariasis have shown a significantly higher frequency of adverse events after combined treatment with ivermectin and albendazole [27, 28].

In one African (i.e., Côte d'Ivoire) and the Asian setting (i.e., Lao PDR), participants will be asked to give approximately 8 ml of venous blood at baseline, 6 months and 12 months to assess potential improvement on nutritional indicators for micronutrient (i.e. (pro-) vitamins, inflammation markers, and iron/ferritin) and macronutrient (i.e. albumin) deficiencies. Blood will be collected in EDTA and Serum Vacutainers (BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). In Côte d'Ivoire and Lao PDR we will undertake analysis of biochemical and hematological parameters as a proxy for functioning of vital organs. These parameters may include urea, creatinine, bilirubin, azotemia, Alanine Amino Transferase (ALAT), Aspartate Amino Transferase (ASAT), hematocrit, erythrocytes and platelets. Serum separated from collected blood in serum blood collection tubes after centrifugation will be aliquoted at local laboratories in Côte d'Ivoire and Lao PDR and then sent on dry ice to accredited reference laboratories within Switzerland and Germany. Samples will be kept at - 20 °C in field labs and in transport and stored at - 80 °C in Switzerland and in Germany. Ferritin, soluble transferrin receptor, retinol-binding protein, α1-acid glycoprotein and C-reactive protein will be measured using Sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) techniques [29]. Transferrin will be measured using immunoturbidimetry; iron will be measured using spectrophotometry; hepcidin will be measured using a solid phase ELISA; and vitamin A will be measured using high performance liquid chromatography.

Urine samples

Female participants over the age of ten years will be asked to give a urine sample of at least 10 ml for a pregnancy RDT at baseline, 6 months and 12 months before (re-)treatment is administered to avoid accidental treatment of pregnant girls/women.
Questionnaire

Household questionnaire

A household questionnaire will be administered to all participating households between screening and 3 weeks follow-up to assess socioeconomic factors (e.g. structure, condition, amenities), presence of sanitation/water facilities (e.g. shower, latrine/toilet, water sources), and hygiene attitudes/practices (e.g. defecation, hand-washing, water use). Collected information will be used to assess the relationship between reinfection rates and household characteristics/behaviors; moreover, an evaluation of the potential associations of high intensity and persistent infections with sociodemographic characteristics will be conducted.

Treatment satisfaction

Subjective treatment satisfaction will be assessed at 3 h, 3 weeks and 6 months after treatment to investigate relationship with treatment compliance and observed efficacy in reducing egg output and morbidity. Participants will be asked to provide short-term treatment satisfaction (e.g. convenience of treatment) at 3 h and 3 weeks post-treatment, while long-term treatment satisfaction (e.g. effectiveness in reducing symptoms) will be asked at 6 months follow-up.

Physical functioning and well-being

Children 6 to 16 years of age will be administered a patient-rated physical functioning and well-being questionnaire during clinical examination before treatment and at 6 months and 12 months follow-up using tools already applied and evaluated in school-aged children from rural settings in Côte d'Ivoire and pre-tested in a comparable school-aged population not otherwise involved in this trial [30].

Adverse events

Very few adverse events (AEs) are expected after ivermectin-albendazole co-administration in STH-infected individuals. The most common AEs reported were ab-dominal cramps, headache, fatigue, nausea, diarrhea, fever and vertigo [31–33].

Subjects will be kept for observation for at least 3 h following treatment for any acute AEs. In addition, patients will also be interviewed 3 h, 24 h, and 3 weeks after treatment about the occurrence of AEs. If there is any abnormal finding, the local study physician will perform a full clinical, physical and biochemical examination and findings will be recorded. An emergency kit will be available on site to treat any medical conditions that warrant urgent medical intervention. Information on all AEs (onset, duration, intensity, seriousness and causality) will be immediately entered in the appropriate AE module of the CRF that serves as source document.

For all AEs and serious adverse events (SAEs), sufficient information will be pursued and/or obtained so as to be graded on severity, relatedness and expectedness. These data will be recorded on the appropriate CRF sections, regardless of whether they are thought to be associated with the study or the drug under investigation. Any study-related unanticipated problem posing risk of harm to subjects or others (including all unexpected adverse drug reactions) and any type of SAE will be immediately (within a maximum of 24 h after becoming aware of the event) notified to the study sponsor-investigator and co-PIs.

Statistical methods

The primary available-case analysis will include all participants with primary endpoint data. In addition, an intention-to-treat analysis for the primary endpoint assessed at 3 weeks will be conducted considering all participants with missing endpoint data as treatment failure or all as treatment success to ensure that the results are not sensitive to potential loss to follow-up bias. CRs will be calculated as the percentage of egg-positive participants at baseline who become egg-negative after treatment. Infection intensity expressed as the arithmetic and geometric mean EPG will be calculated for each treatment arm. EPG will be assessed by adding up the egg counts from the quadruplicate Kato-Katz thick smears and multiplying this number by a factor of six. The ERR will be calculated as:

$$ERR = 1 - \frac{\frac{1}{n} e^{\sum \log(EPG_{follow-up}+1)} - 1}{\frac{1}{n} e^{\sum \log(EPG_{baseline}+1)} - 1}$$

In the primary model we estimate the difference among CRs by using unadjusted logistic regressions. In a subsequent analysis an adjusted logistic regression (adjustment for age, sex and weight) will be performed.

Geometric mean egg counts will be calculated for the different treatment arms before and after treatment to assess the corresponding ERRs. Bootstrap resampling method with 5000 replicates will be used to calculate 95% confidence intervals for ERRs and the difference between the ERRs.

Results from the stool RDT for fecal occult blood will be categorized as negative, trace and positive. For calprotectin, the semiquantitative RDT allows classifying individuals by concentration into negative (levels below $50 \ \mu g/g$ of feces), low (50–200 $\ \mu g/g$) or high ($\geq 200 \ \mu g/g$) intensities.

Anthropometric measurements such as height and weight of school-aged children will be translated into weight-for-age, height-for-age and weight-for-height related z-scores using readily available Stata commands calculating growth indicators for children/adolescents 5–19 years [34]. Body mass index and indicators for muscle and fat tissue, such as MUAC and skinfold thickness, will serve as additional indicators of nutritional status for adults [35].

Questionnaires on physical functioning and treatment satisfaction will be evaluated by creating summary scores by summing up and transforming the single question scores according to the following formula: [(actual raw score-lowest possible raw score)/(possible raw score range)]*100 [30].

Nutritional and morbidity indicators will be analyzed using logistic and linear regression as appropriate. To compare individual's changes in nutrition/morbidity categories as an effect from treatment, McNemar's test will be applied. The analysis after 6 and 12 months of follow-up will be complemented by generalized estimating equation models with independent correlation structure and empirical estimators to account for missing data.

AEs will be evaluated descriptively as the difference of proportion reporting AEs before and after treatment.

Discussion

Soil-transmitted helminthiasis remains a public health burden in many low- and middle-income countries [4]. Since the passing of the resolution WHA 54.19 by the World Health Assembly in 2001, great strides have been taken to reduce the morbidity and mortality of STH infections [36]. With the changing epidemiological landscape of soil-transmitted helminthiasis moving from control to elimination, MDA implementation is shifting from school-based to community-based [37, 38]. This trial marks the first multi-country, longitudinal, randomized double-blind controlled trial assessing the safety and efficacy of a combination therapy at the community level.

With the scaling up of PC programs, mounting drug pressure increases the risk for drug resistance against the benzimidazoles in populations infected by STHs. Nonetheless, combination treatment of two or more drugs can provide heightened efficacy and protection against drug resistance [39]. Our data will provide robust evidence on the possible increased efficacy and extended effects of combined albendazole and ivermectin treatment when compared to albendazole alone to pave the way of the former as recommended treatment for soil-transmitted helminthiasis for use in control programs.

We will report not only on efficacy and safety outcomes of combination ivermectin and albendazole therapy, but also the effects of drug administration on morbidity in a broad age range. In the midst of controversy on the impact of PC through mass deworming campaigns, this trial provides direct evidence in determining the relationship between deworming campaigns and clinical morbidity and nutritional indicators [5, 40–44]. The role of vitamin A as a protective factor against re-infection will be assessed, as well as the long-term (6 and 12 months) effects of STH therapy on anemia. Moreover, serum hepcidin levels will be quantified to determine the dynamics between iron-deficiency anemia, anemia of chronic disease and infection status/intensity. The use of fecal rapid diagnostics tests as surrogates for gut morbidity will provide a novel proof of concept between STH infection status intensity. These nutritional and gut parameters will be measured in various settings (Asia and Africa) using standardized methods at 6 and 12 months in the hopes of providing clarity to the potential impact of mass deworming in communities.

We will also report on the differences in CRs and sensitivity between the current diagnostic method recommended by the WHO (Kato-Katz smear) and DNA-based methods (qPCR). A major drawback of the Kato-Katz method is the low sensitivity for infections of low intensity [45]. As countries shift from STH control to elimination, more sensitive methods of diagnosis are needed as infection intensities lower. PCR methods offer the advantage that only single samples need to be taken and multiple infections can be detected in one reading; however, estimates of sensitivity vary and standardization of technique is needed [46, 47]. This trial will provide an opportunity to collect samples from various settings where co-infections may vary and refine the current qPCR technique.

In conclusion, this trial will aim to generate evidence to inform future WHO guidelines of STH therapy and its impact on morbidity. Currently, the combination of ivermectin and albendazole is a safe and effective treatment that is currently given to more than 500 million individuals yearly as part of the Global Programme to Eliminate Lymphatic Filariasis; and there may be opportunities to transition the program to control and elimination of soil-transmitted helminthiasis [48, 49]. However, evidence on the efficacy of the co-administration of ivermectin and albendazole against STHs from high quality RCTs is needed to confirm results and scale up combination therapy in endemic areas.

Additional files

Additional file 1: World Health Organization Trial Registration Data Set for the efficacy and safety of IVM-ALB co-administration trial summarizing the most important trial information. (DOCX 20 kb)

Additional file 2: SPIRIT checklist for the efficacy and safety of IVM-ALB co-administration trial referring to study protocol elements within manuscript sections. (DOC 122 kb)

Abbreviations

AE: Adverse event; CR: Cure rate; CRF: Case report form; CSRS: Centre Suisse de Recherches Scientifiques; EDTA: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid; ELISA: Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; EPG: Eggs per gram; ERR: Egg reduction rate; Hb: Hemoglobin; MDA: Mass drug administration; MUAC: Mid-upper arm circumference; NIOPH: National Institute of Public

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful for the award from the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (opportunity ID: OPP1153928). The authors would like to recognize the assistance of the respective study country research institutions who facilitated all regulatory processes and set up all communication with involved stakeholders and study communities.

Funding

This trial receives financial support from the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (opportunity ID: OPP1153928) obtained by JK. The Swiss TPH acts as sponsor of the study. The funding source had no role in the design of the study, and will not be involved in data collection, data analysis, interpretation of the results, and decision to publish study-related findings. The trial benefits from logistics and human resources provided by of CSRS in Abidjan, PHL-IdC in Pemba, and NIOPH in Vientiane.

Availability of data and materials

The datasets used and/or analyzed as well as data collection forms and model consent forms of the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' contributions

JK is the principal investigator of the trial. EH, JH, SS, SAI, SAm, JTC and JK contributed to the original protocol and CP and LK assisted in revisions of the protocol versions. CP, EH and JK drafted the manuscript. All authors are significantly involved in the trial preparation and conduct. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

This study protocol has been approved by the institutional research commissions of the Centre Suisse des Recherches Scientifiques (CSRS) in Abidjan, Public Health Laboratory Ivo de Carneri (PHL-IdC) in Pemba, National Institute of Public Health (NIOPH) in Vientiane, and Swiss TPH in Basel. Ethical approval was obtained from the ethics committees in Switzerland: "Ethikkommission Nordwest- und Zentralschweiz" (BASEC Nr Req-2018-00494; date of approval 05 July 2018); in Côte d'Ivoire: Comité National d'Éthique et de la Recherche, Ministère de la Santé et de Lutte contre le SIDA (reference no. 088-18/MSHP/CNESVS-km; date of approval 24 January 2019) and Direction de la Pharmacie, du Médicament et des Laboratoires (reference no. ECCl00918; date of approval to be issued); in Pemba: Zanzibar Medical Research and Ethics Committee, Ministry of Health (protocol no. ZAMREC/0003/Feb/2018; date of approval 23 May 2018); and in Lao PDR: National Ethics Committee for Health Research, Ministry of Health (reference no. 093/NECHR; date of approval 23 October 2018). Written informed consent will be sought from adults and parents or legal guardians of children below the age of adulthood (21 years in Côte d'Ivoire and 18 years in Pemba and Lao PDR) prior to study enrollment. Children aged below the age of adulthood will sign an informed assent form. The informed consent is provided by trained field staff in the local language and the participant will receive a copy of the consent form in written format. Participation is voluntary and study participants have the right to withdraw from the study at any given point in time with no further obligations. Participants will be treated free of charge at the end of the trial with albendazole. A general liability insurance of the Swiss TPH is in place (Winterthur Police Nr. 4,746,321) and patient liability insurances will be issued in the respective trial countries to cover any potential study-related harm.

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Author details

¹Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Basel, Switzerland. ²University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland. ³Lao Tropical and Public Health Institute, Vientiane, Lao People's Democratic Republic. ⁴Public Health Laboratory Ivo de Carneri, Chake Chake, Zanzibar, Pemba, Tanzania. ⁵Unité de Formation et de Recherche Biosciences, Université Félix Houphouët-Boigny, Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire. ⁶Centre Suisse de Recherches Scientifiques en Côte d'Ivoire, Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire.

Received: 21 November 2018 Accepted: 5 March 2019 Published online: 18 March 2019

References

- Pullan RL, Smith JL, Jasrasaria R, Brooker SJ. Global numbers of infection and disease burden of soil transmitted helminth infections in 2010. Parasit Vectors. 2014;7:37.
- WHO. Guideline: preventive chemotherapy to control soil-transmitted helminth infections in at-risk population groups. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- GBD 2017 DALYs and HALE Collaborators. Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for 359 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet. 2018;392(10159):1859–1922.
- Jourdan PM, Lamberton PHL, Fenwick A, Addiss DG. Soil-transmitted helminth infections. Lancet. 2017.
- Schulz JD, Moser W, Hurlimann E, Keiser J. Preventive chemotherapy in the fight against soil-transmitted helminthiasis: achievements and limitations. Trends Parasitol. 2018;34(7):590–602.
- Moser W, Schindler C, Keiser J. Efficacy of recommended drugs against soil transmitted helminths: systematic review and network meta-analysis. BMJ. 2017;358;j4307.
- Lo NC, Addiss DG, Hotez PJ, King CH, Stothard JR, Evans DS, Colley DG, Lin W, Coulibaly JT, Bustinduy AL, Raso G, Bendavid E, Bogoch II, Fenwick A, Savioli L, Molyneux D, Utzinger J, Andrews JR. A call to strengthen the global strategy against schistosomiasis and soil-transmitted helminthiasis: the time is now. Lancet Infect Dis. 2017;17(2):e64–9.
- Prichard RK, Basanez MG, Boatin BA, McCarthy JS, Garcia HH, Yang GJ, Sripa B, Lustigman S. A research agenda for helminth diseases of humans: intervention for control and elimination. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2012;6(4):e1549.
- WHO. The selection and use of essential medicines: report of the WHO expert committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO model list of essential medicines and the 6th WHO model list of essential medicines for children).
 In: WHO tech rep Ser. Geneva: World Health Organization. p. 2017.
- Palmeirim MS, Hürlimann E, Knopp S, Speich B, Belizario V Jr, Joseph SA, Vaillant M, Olliaro P, Keiser J. Efficacy and safety of co-administered ivermectin plus albendazole for treating soil-transmitted helminths: a systematic review meta-analysis and individual patient data analysis. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2018;12(4):e0006458.
- Belizario VY, Amarillo ME, de Leon WU, de los Reyes AE, Bugayong MG, Macatangay BJ. A comparison of the efficacy of single doses of albendazole, ivermectin, and diethylcarbamazine alone or in combinations against *Ascaris* and *Trichuris* spp. Bull World Health Organ. 2003;81(1):35–42.
- Speich B, Moser W, Ali SM, Ame SM, Albonico M, Hattendorf J, Keiser J. Efficacy and reinfection with soil-transmitted helminths 18-weeks posttreatment with albendazole-ivermectin, albendazole-mebendazole, albendazole-oxantel pamoate and mebendazole. Parasit Vectors. 2016;9:123.
- Chan AW, Tetzlaff JM, Altman DG, Laupacis A, Gotzsche PC, Krleza-Jeric K, Hrobjartsson A, Mann H, Dickersin K, Berlin JA, Dore CJ, Parulekar WR, Summerskill WS, Groves T, Schulz KF, Sox HC, Rockhold FW, Rennie D, Moher D. SPIRIT 2013 statement: defining standard protocol items for clinical trials. Ann Intern Med. 2013;158(3):200–7.
- Coulibaly JT, Fürst T, Silué KD, Knopp S, Hauri D, Ouattara M, Utzinger J, N'Goran EK. Intestinal parasitic infections in schoolchildren in different settings of Côte d'Ivoire: effect of diagnostic approach and implications for control. Parasit Vectors. 2012;5:135.
- Wimmersberger D, Coulibaly JT, Schulz J, Puchkow M, Huwyler J, N'Gbesso Y, Hattendorf J, Keiser J. Efficacy and safety of ivermectin against *Trichuris trichiura* in preschool- and school-aged children: a randomized controlled dose-finding trial. Clin Infect Dis. 2018;67(8):1247–55.

- Palmeirim MS, Ame SM, Ali SM, Hattendorf J, Keiser J. Efficacy and safety of a single dose versus a multiple dose regimen of mebendazole against hookworm infections in children: a randomised, double-blind trial. EClinicalMedicine. 2018;1:7–13.
- Laymanivong S, Hangvanthong B, Keokhamphavanh B, Phommasansak M, Phinmaland B, Sanpool O, Maleewong W, Intapan PM. Current status of human hookworm infections, ascariasis, trichuriasis, schistosomiasis mekongi and other trematodiases in Lao People's Democratic Republic. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2014;90(4):667–9.
- WHO. Haemoglobin concentrations for the diagnosis of anaemia and assessment of severity. In: Vitamin and Mineral Nutrition Information System. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011. WHO/NMH/NHD/MNM/11.11.
- WHO. Preventive chemotherapy in human helminthiasis: coordinated use of anthelminthic drugs in control interventions: a manual for health professionals and programme managers. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006.
- Guzzo CA, Furtek CI, Porras AG, Chen C, Tipping R, Clineschmidt CM, Sciberras DG, Hsieh JY, Lasseter KC. Safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics of escalating high doses of ivermectin in healthy adult subjects. J Clin Pharmacol. 2002;42(10):1122–33.
- Pawluk SA, Roels CA, Wilby KJ, Ensom MH. A review of pharmacokinetic drug-drug interactions with the anthelmintic medications albendazole and mebendazole. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2015;54(4):371–83.
- Katz N, Chaves A, Pellegrino J. A simple device for quantitative stool thicksmear technique in schistosomiasis mansoni. Rev Inst Med Trop São Paulo. 1972;14(6):397–400.
- Kaisar MMM, Brienen EAT, Djuardi Y, Sartono E, Yazdanbakhsh M, Verweij JJ, Supali T, VAN Lieshout L. Improved diagnosis of *Trichuris trichiura* by using a bead-beating procedure on ethanol preserved stool samples prior to DNA isolation and the performance of multiplex real-time PCR for intestinal parasites. Parasitology. 2017;144(7):965–74.
- Avramenko RW, Redman EM, Lewis R, Bichuette MA, Palmeira BM, Yazwinski TA, Gilleard JS. The use of nemabiome metabarcoding to explore gastrointestinal nematode species diversity and anthelmintic treatment effectiveness in beef calves. Int J Parasitol. 2017;47(13):893–902.
- Bustinduy AL, Sousa-Figueiredo JC, Adriko M, Betson M, Fenwick A, Kabatereine N, Stothard JR. Fecal occult blood and fecal calprotectin as point-of-care markers of intestinal morbidity in Ugandan children with Schistosoma mansoni infection. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2013;7(11):e2542.
- Garcia LS, Bruckner DA. Diagnostic medical parasitology. 3rd ed. Washington, D.C.: ASM Press; 1997.
- 27. Dunyo SK, Nkrumah FK, Simonsen PE. A randomized double-blind placebocontrolled field trial of ivermectin and albendazole alone and in combination for the treatment of lymphatic filariasis in Ghana. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2000;94(2):205–11.
- Simonsen PE, Magesa SM, Dunyo SK, Malecela-Lazaro MN, Michael E. The effect of single dose ivermectin alone or in combination with albendazole on *Wuchereria bancrofti* infection in primary school children in Tanzania. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2004;98(8):462–72.
- Erhardt JG, Estes JE, Pfeiffer CM, Biesalski HK, Craft NE. Combined measurement of ferritin, soluble transferrin receptor, retinol binding protein, and C-reactive protein by an inexpensive, sensitive, and simple sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay technique. J Nutr. 2004;134(11):3127–32.
- Fürst T, Müller I, Coulibaly JT, Yao AK, Utzinger J, N'Goran EK. Questionnairebased approach to assess schoolchildren's physical fitness and its potential role in exploring the putative impact of helminth and *Plasmodium* spp. infections in Côte d'Ivoire. Parasit Vectors. 2011;4:116.
- Knopp S, Mohammed KA, Speich B, Hattendorf J, Khamis IS, Khamis AN, Stothard JR, Rollinson D, Marti H, Utzinger J. Albendazole and mebendazole administered alone or in combination with ivermectin against *Trichuris trichiura*: a randomized controlled trial. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;51(12):1420–8.
- 32. Ndyomugyenyi R, Kabatereine N, Olsen A, Magnussen P. Efficacy of ivermectin and albendazole alone and in combination for treatment of soiltransmitted helminths in pregnancy and adverse events: a randomized open label controlled intervention trial in Masindi district, western Uganda. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2008;79(6):856–63.
- 33. Speich B, Ali SM, Ame SM, Bogoch II, Alles R, Huwyler J, Albonico M, Hattendorf J, Utzinger J, Keiser J. Efficacy and safety of albendazole plus ivermectin, albendazole plus mebendazole, albendazole plus oxantel pamoate, and mebendazole alone against *Trichuris trichiura* and concomitant soil-transmitted helminth infections: a four-arm, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 2015;15(3):277–84.

- Vidmar SI, Cole TJ, Pan HQ. Standardizing anthropometric measures in children and adolescents with functions for egen: update. Stata J. 2013; 13(2):366–78.
- Wang Y, Chen H. Use of percentiles and Z-scores in anthropometry. In: Preedy V, editor. Handbook of Anthropometry. Edn. New York: Springer; 2012. p. 29–48.
- World Health Assembly: WHA54.19 Schistosomiasis and soil-transmitted helminth infections. In. https://www.who.int/neglected_diseases/ mediacentre/WHA_54.19_Eng.pdf; 2001.
- 37. Brooker SJ, Mwandawiro CS, Halliday KE, Njenga SM, McHaro C, Gichuki PM, Wasunna B, Kihara JH, Njomo D, Alusala D, Chiguzo A, Turner HC, Teti C, Gwayi-Chore C, Nikolay B, Truscott JE, Hollingsworth TD, Balabanova D, Griffiths UK, Freeman MC, Allen E, Pullan RL, Anderson RM. Interrupting transmission of soil-transmitted helminths: a study protocol for cluster randomised trials evaluating alternative treatment strategies and delivery systems in Kenya. BMJ Open. 2015;5(10):e008950.
- 38. Pullan RL, Halliday KE, Oswald WE, McHaro C, Beaumont E, Kepha S, Witek-McManus S, Gichuki PM, Allen E, Drake T, Pitt C, Matendechero SH, Gwayi-Chore MC, Anderson RM, Njenga SM, Brooker SJ, Mwandawiro CS. Impact, equity and cost of school-based and community-wide treatment strategies for soil-transmitted helminths in Kenya: a cluster-randomised controlled trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 2018; in press.
- Moser W, Schindler C, Keiser J. Drug combinations against soil-transmitted helminth infections. Adv. Parasitol. 2019;103:91–116.
- 40. Andrews JR, Bogoch II, Utzinger J. The benefits of mass deworming on health outcomes: new evidence synthesis, the debate persists. Lancet Glob Health. 2017;5(1):e4–5.
- 41. Hicks JH, Kremer M, Miguel E. The case for mass treatment of intestinal helminths in endemic areas. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2015;9(10):e0004214.
- Montresor A, Addiss D, Albonico M, Ali SM, Ault SK, Gabrielli AF, Garba A, Gasimov E, Gyorkos T, Jamsheed MA, Levecke B, Mbabazi P, Mupfasoni D, Savioli L, Vercruysse J, Yajima A. Methodological bias can lead the Cochrane collaboration to irrelevance in public health decision-making. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2015;9(10):e0004165.
- Taylor-Robinson DC, Maayan N, Soares-Weiser K, Donegan S, Garner P. Deworming drugs for soil-transmitted intestinal worms in children: effects on nutritional indicators, haemoglobin, and school performance. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;(7):Cd000371.
- 44. Welch VA, Ghogomu E, Hossain A, Awasthi S, Bhutta ZA, Cumberbatch C, Fletcher R, McGowan J, Krishnaratne S, Kristjansson E, Sohani S, Suresh S, Tugwell P, White H, Wells GA. Mass deworming to improve developmental health and wellbeing of children in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2017;5(1):e40–50.
- Nikolay B, Brooker SJ, Pullan RL. Sensitivity of diagnostic tests for human soil-transmitted helminth infections: a meta-analysis in the absence of a true gold standard. Int J Parasitol. 2014;44(11):765–74.
- Khurana S, Sethi S. Laboratory diagnosis of soil transmitted helminthiasis. Trop Parasitol. 2017;7(2):86–91.
- O'Connell EM, Nutman TB. Molecular diagnostics for soil-transmitted helminths. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2016;95(3):508–13.
- Becker SL, Liwanag HJ, Snyder JS, Akogun O, Belizario V Jr, Freeman MC, Gyorkos TW, Imtiaz R, Keiser J, Krolewiecki A, Levecke B, Mwandawiro C, Pullan RL, Addiss DG, Utzinger J. Toward the 2020 goal of soil-transmitted helminthiasis control and elimination. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2018;12(8):e0006606.
- Ichimori K, King JD, Engels D, Yajima A, Mikhailov A, Lammie P, Ottesen EA. Global programme to eliminate lymphatic filariasis: the processes underlying programme success. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2014;8(12):e3328.

Additional file 1. World Health Organization Trial Registration Data Set for the IVM-ALB co-administration multi-country trial.

Data category	Information				
Primary registry and trial identifying number	ClinicalTrials.gov				
	NCT03527732				
Date of registration in primary registry	17 May 2018				
	Zentralschweiz: BASEC Nr Req-2018-00494; Ministère de la santé et de l'hygiène publique,				
Secondary identifying numbers	vie et de la santé: 088-18/MSHP/CNESVS-km; Ministry of Health, National Ethics Committee for Health Research, Lao PDR: 093/NECHR; Zanzibar Medical Research and Ethics				
Source(s) of monetary or material support	Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, the United States of America				
Primary sponsor	Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute				
Secondary sponsor(s)	None				
Contact for public queries	Jennifer Keiser, jennifer.keiser@swisstph.ch, +41612848218 Swiss Trapical and Bublic Health Institute				
	Basel Switzerland				
	Jennifer Keiser, jennifer.keiser@swisstph.ch,				
Contact for scientific queries	+41612848218				
	Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute,				
	Basel, Switzenand				
Public title	administration				
Scientific title	Efficacy and safety of ivermectin and albendazole co-administration in school-aged children and adults infected with <i>Trichuris</i> <i>trichiura</i> : a multi-country randomized controlled trial				
Countries of recruitment	Côte d'Ivoire, Lao PDR, Pemba Island (Tanzania)				
Health condition(s) or problem(s) studied	Trichuriasis				
	 Comparator drug: 400 mg albendazole single tablet (Zentel®) and tablets of placebo at day 0 administered orally 				
Intervention(s)	 Experimental drug: 400 mg albendazole single tablet (Zentel®) and 200µg/kg using 3mg tablets of ivermectin (Stromectol®) at day 0 administered orally 				
Key inclusion and exclusion criteria	Inclusion criteria: community members (6-60 years, minimum weight: 15 kg) infected with <i>T. trichiura</i> (at least 2/4 Kato-Katz thick smears positive and infection intensities of at least 100 eggs per gram of stool) providing written informed consent signed by the adult participant or caregiver and assent by child/adolescent.				

	malaria), history of acute or severe chronic disease (<i>e.g.</i> cancer, diabetes, chronic heart, liver or renal disease), recent use of anthelmintic drug (within past 4 weeks), attending other clinical trials, known allergy to study medications (<i>i.e.</i> ivermectin and albendazole), pregnancy or lactating in the 1st week after birth, currently taking medication					
	warfarin; for albendazole: cimetidine, praziquantel and dexamethasone)					
Study type	Multi-country, parallel group, double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized controlled trial. Phase III					
Date of first enrolment	24 September 2018					
Target sample size	1800					
Recruitment status	Recruiting: participants are currently being recruited and enrolled					
Primary outcome(s)	Cure rate (CR) against <i>Trichuris trichiura</i> 14-21 days post-treatment					
Key secondary outcomes	 Egg reduction rate (ERR) against <i>T. trichiura</i> CRs and ERRs against other concomitant soil-transmitted helminth infections (i.e., <i>Ascaris lumbricoides</i>, hookworm and <i>Strongyloides stercoralis</i>) Reinfection rates Tolerability of treatment Infection status assessed by polymerase chain reaction 					



SPIRIT 2013 Checklist: Recommended items to address in a clinical trial protocol and related documents*

Section/item	ltem No	Description	Addressed on page number
Administrative infor	rmation		
Title	1	Descriptive title identifying the study design, population, interventions, and, if applicable, trial acronym	1
Trial registration	2a	Trial identifier and registry name. If not yet registered, name of intended registry	4
That registration 2a That identifier and registry name. If not yet registered, name of intended registry 2b All items from the World Health Organization Trial Registration Data Set Protocol version 3 Date and version identifier Funding 4 Sources and types of financial, material, and other support			Additional file 1
Protocol version 3 Date and version identifier			See manuscript publication date
Funding	4	Sources and types of financial, material, and other support	23
Roles and	5a	Names, affiliations, and roles of protocol contributors	1, 23
responsibilities	5b	Name and contact information for the trial sponsor	Additional file 1
	5c	Role of study sponsor and funders, if any, in study design; collection, management, analysis, and interpretation of data; writing of the report; and the decision to submit the report for publication, including whether they will have ultimate authority over any of these activities	23
	5d	Composition, roles, and responsibilities of the coordinating centre, steering committee, endpoint adjudication committee, data management team, and other individuals or groups overseeing the trial, if applicable (see Item 21a for data monitoring committee)	23-24

Background and6aDescription of research question and justification for undertaking the trial, including summary of relevant studies (published and unpublished) examining benefits and harms for each intervention			
	6b	Explanation for choice of comparators	6-7
Objectives	7	Specific objectives or hypotheses	6
Trial design	8	Description of trial design including type of trial (eg, parallel group, crossover, factorial, single group), allocation ratio, and framework (eg, superiority, equivalence, noninferiority, exploratory)	7
Methods: Participa	nts, int	erventions, and outcomes	
Study setting	9	Description of study settings (eg, community clinic, academic hospital) and list of countries where data will be collected. Reference to where list of study sites can be obtained	7-8
 Eligibility criteria Inclusion and exclusion criteria for participants. If applicable, eligibility criteria for study centres and individuals who will perform the interventions (eg, surgeons, psychotherapists) Interventions Interventions for each group with sufficient detail to allow replication, including how and when they will be administered 		8-9	
Interventions	11a	Interventions for each group with sufficient detail to allow replication, including how and when they will be administered	10
	11b	Criteria for discontinuing or modifying allocated interventions for a given trial participant (eg, drug dose change in response to harms, participant request, or improving/worsening disease)	N/A
	11c	Strategies to improve adherence to intervention protocols, and any procedures for monitoring adherence (eg, drug tablet return, laboratory tests)	10
	11d	Relevant concomitant care and interventions that are permitted or prohibited during the trial	9
Outcomes	utcomes 12 Primary, secondary, and other outcomes, including the specific measurement variable (eg, systolic blood pressure), analysis metric (eg, change from baseline, final value, time to event), method of aggregation (eg, median, proportion), and time point for each outcome. Explanation of the clinical relevance of chosen efficacy and harm outcomes is strongly recommended		10-11
Participant timeline	13	Time schedule of enrolment, interventions (including any run-ins and washouts), assessments, and visits for participants. A schematic diagram is highly recommended (see Figure)	12, 28, Figure 1

Sample size	14	Estimated number of participants needed to achieve study objectives and how it was determined, including	11
Recruitment	15	Strategies for achieving adequate participant enrolment to reach target sample size	8
Methods: Assignme	ent of ir	nterventions (for controlled trials)	
Allocation:			
Sequence generation	16a	Method of generating the allocation sequence (eg, computer-generated random numbers), and list of any factors for stratification. To reduce predictability of a random sequence, details of any planned restriction (eg, blocking) should be provided in a separate document that is unavailable to those who enrol participants or assign interventions	11
Allocation concealment mechanism	Allocation 16b Mechanism of implementing the allocation sequence (eg, central telephone; sequentially numbered, opaque, sealed envelopes), describing any steps to conceal the sequence until interventions are assigned mechanism		11
Implementation 16c Who will generate the allocation sequence, who will enrol participants, and who will assign participants to interventions			11
Blinding (masking)	17a	Who will be blinded after assignment to interventions (eg, trial participants, care providers, outcome assessors, data analysts), and how	12
	17b	If blinded, circumstances under which unblinding is permissible, and procedure for revealing a participant's _ allocated intervention during the trial	12
Methods: Data colle	ection,	management, and analysis	
Data collection methods	18a	Plans for assessment and collection of outcome, baseline, and other trial data, including any related processes to promote data quality (eg, duplicate measurements, training of assessors) and a description of study instruments (eg, questionnaires, laboratory tests) along with their reliability and validity, if known. Reference to where data collection forms can be found, if not in the protocol	12-17
	18b	Plans to promote participant retention and complete follow-up, including list of any outcome data to be collected for participants who discontinue or deviate from intervention protocols	17

Data management	19	Plans for data entry, coding, security, and storage, including any related processes to promote data quality (eg, double data entry; range checks for data values). Reference to where details of data management procedures can be found, if not in the protocol			
Statistical methods	20a	Statistical methods for analysing primary and secondary outcomes. Reference to where other details of the statistical analysis plan can be found, if not in the protocol	17-19		
	20b	Methods for any additional analyses (eg, subgroup and adjusted analyses)	18-19		
	20c Definition of analysis population relating to protocol non-adherence (eg, as randomised analysis), and any statistical methods to handle missing data (eg, multiple imputation)				
Methods: Monitorin	g				
Data monitoring	21a	Composition of data monitoring committee (DMC); summary of its role and reporting structure; statement of	12		
		whether it is independent from the sponsor and competing interests; and reference to where further details about its charter can be found, if not in the protocol. Alternatively, an explanation of why a DMC is not needed			
	21b	Description of any interim analyses and stopping guidelines, including who will have access to these interim results and make the final decision to terminate the trial	N/A		
Harms	22	Plans for collecting, assessing, reporting, and managing solicited and spontaneously reported adverse events and other unintended effects of trial interventions or trial conduct	17		
Auditing	23	Frequency and procedures for auditing trial conduct, if any, and whether the process will be independent from investigators and the sponsor	N/A		
Ethics and dissemine	nation				
Research ethics approval	24	Plans for seeking research ethics committee/institutional review board (REC/IRB) approval	22		
Protocol amendments	25	Plans for communicating important protocol modifications (eg, changes to eligibility criteria, outcomes, analyses) to relevant parties (eg, investigators, REC/IRBs, trial participants, trial registries, journals, regulators)	N/A		

Consent or assent 26a Who will obtain informed consent or assent from potential trial participants or authorised surrogates, and how (see Item 32)			22
	26b	Additional consent provisions for collection and use of participant data and biological specimens in ancillary _ studies, if applicable	N/A
Confidentiality	27	How personal information about potential and enrolled participants will be collected, shared, and maintained _ in order to protect confidentiality before, during, and after the trial	13
Declaration of interests	28	Financial and other competing interests for principal investigators for the overall trial and each study site _	23
Access to data	s to data 29 Statement of who will have access to the final trial dataset, and disclosure of contractual agreements that limit such access for investigators		12
Ancillary and post- trial care	30	Provisions, if any, for ancillary and post-trial care, and for compensation to those who suffer harm from trial _ participation	23
Dissemination policy	31a	Plans for investigators and sponsor to communicate trial results to participants, healthcare professionals,	23
	31b	Authorship eligibility guidelines and any intended use of professional writers	23
	31c	Plans, if any, for granting public access to the full protocol, participant-level dataset, and statistical code	23
Appendices			
Informed consent materials	32	Model consent form and other related documentation given to participants and authorised surrogates	23
Biological specimens	33	Plans for collection, laboratory evaluation, and storage of biological specimens for genetic or molecular analysis in the current trial and for future use in ancillary studies, if applicable	13

*It is strongly recommended that this checklist be read in conjunction with the SPIRIT 2013 Explanation & Elaboration for important clarification on the items. Amendments to the protocol should be tracked and dated. The SPIRIT checklist is copyrighted by the SPIRIT Group under the Creative Commons "<u>Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Unported</u>" license. 4.2. Efficacy and safety of co-administered ivermectin and albendazole in school-aged children and adults infected with *Trichuris trichiura* in Côte d'Ivoire, Laos, and Pemba Island, Tanzania: a double-blind, parallel-group, phase 3, randomised controlled trial

Eveline Hürlimann, Ph.D.^{1,2}, Ladina Keller, M.Sc.^{1,2}, Chandni Patel, M.S.P.H.^{1,2}, Sophie B. Welsche, M.Sc.^{1,2}, Jan Hattendorf, Ph.D.^{1,2}, Said Ali, M.Sc.³, Shaali Ame, Ph.D.³, Somphou Sayasone, Ph.D.^{1,2,4}, Jean T. Coulibaly, Ph.D.^{1,2,5,6}, Jennifer Keiser, Ph.D.^{1,2}

¹ Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Basel, Switzerland

² University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

³ Public Health Laboratory Ivo de Carneri, Chake Chake, Pemba, Zanzibar (Tanzania)

⁴ Lao Tropical and Public Health Institute, Vientiane, Lao People's Democratic Republic

⁵ Unité de Formation et de Recherche Biosciences, Université Félix Houphouët-Boigny,

Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

⁶ Centre Suisse de Recherches Scientifiques en Côte d'Ivoire, Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

Published in *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* 2021; 22(1): p123-135.

Efficacy and safety of co-administered ivermectin and albendazole in school-aged children and adults infected with *Trichuris trichiura* in Côte d'Ivoire, Laos, and Pemba Island, Tanzania: a double-blind, parallel-group, phase 3, randomised controlled trial

Eveline Hürlimann, Ladina Keller, Chandni Patel, Sophie Welsche, Jan Hattendorf, Said M Ali, Shaali M Ame, Somphou Sayasone, Jean T Coulibaly, Jennifer Keiser

Summary

Background Preventive chemotherapy with albendazole or mebendazole remains one of the cornerstones of soiltransmitted helminth control. However, these drugs are less effective against *Trichuris trichiura*. Combined ivermectin–albendazole is a promising treatment alternative, yet robust evidence is lacking. We aimed to demonstrate superiority of co-administered ivermectin–albendazole over albendazole monotherapy in three distinct epidemiological settings.

Methods We conducted a double-blind, parallel-group, phase 3, randomised controlled trial in community members aged 6–60 years infected with *T trichiura* in Côte d'Ivoire, Laos, and Pemba Island, Tanzania, between Sept 26, 2018, and June 29, 2020. Participants with at least 100 *T trichiura* eggs per g of stool at baseline were randomly assigned (1:1) using computer-generated randomisation sequences in varying blocks of four, six, and eight, stratified by baseline *T trichiura* infection intensity, to orally receive either a single dose of ivermectin (200 µg/kg) plus albendazole (400 mg) or albendazole (400 mg) plus placebo. Patients, field staff, and outcome assessors were masked to treatment assignment. The primary outcome was cure rate against *T trichiura*, defined as the proportion of participants with no eggs in their faeces 14–21 days after treatment, assessed by Kato-Katz thick smears, and analysed in the available-case population according to intention-to-treat principles. Safety was a secondary outcome and was assessed 3 h and 24 h after drug administration. The trial is registered at ClinicalTrials.gov, NCT03527732.

Findings Between Sept 13 and Dec 18, 2019, Jan 12 and April 5, 2019, and Sept 26 and Nov 5, 2018, 3737, 3694, and 1435 community members were screened for trial eligibility in Côte d'Ivoire, Laos, and Pemba Island, respectively. In Côte d'Ivoire, Laos, and Pemba Island, 256, 274, and 305 participants, respectively, were randomly assigned to the albendazole group, and 255, 275, and 308, respectively, to the ivermectin–albendazole group. Primary outcome data were available for 722 participants treated with albendazole and 733 treated with ivermectin–albendazole. Ivermectin–albendazole showed significantly higher cure rates against *T trichiura* than albendazole in Laos (66% [140 of 213] *vs* 8% [16 of 194]; difference 58 percentage points, 95% CI 50 to 65, p<0.0001) and Pemba Island (49% [140 of 288] *vs* 6% [18 of 293], 43 percentage points, 36 to 49, p<0.0001) but had similar efficacy in Côte d'Ivoire (14% [32 of 232] *vs* 10% [24 of 235], 4 percentage points, -2 to 10, p=0.24). No serious adverse events were reported; observed events were mostly classified as mild (95% [266 of 279] in the albendazole group and 91% [288 of 317] in the ivermectin–albendazole group), and all were transient in nature.

Interpretation Treatment with ivermectin–albendazole resulted in higher efficacy against trichuriasis than albendazole alone in Laos and Pemba Island but not in Côte d'Ivoire. We recommend implementation of this combination therapy for soil-transmitted helminth control in countries with high *T trichiura* prevalence and proven enhanced efficacy of this treatment, particularly where ivermectin is beneficial against other endemic helminthiases.

Funding Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation.

Copyright © 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an Open Access article under the CC BY 4.0 license.

81

Introduction

Soil-transmitted helminthiasis affects approximately one in five people in the world and disproportionally affects the most neglected populations.¹ It is caused by infections with the nematodes *Trichuris trichiura*, Ascaris lumbricoides, and hookworm.² The mainstay of soil-transmitted helminth (STH) control is preventive chemotherapy as periodic mass drug administration with a single dose of either albendazole or mebendazole to at-risk populations without prior diagnosis, besides

Lancet Infect Dis 2022; 22: 123–35

Published Online November 29, 2021 https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1473-3099(21)00421-7

See Comment page 10

Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Basel, Switzerland (F Hürlimann PhD L Keller PhD, C Patel PhD S Welsche MSc, J Hattendorf PhD, S Savasone PhD. JT Coulibaly PhD Prof J Keiser PhD); University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland (E Hürlimann, L Keller, C Patel, S Welsche, J Hattendorf, S Sayasone, J T Coulibaly, Prof J Keiser); Public Health Laboratory Ivo de Carneri, Chake Chake, Pemba, Zanzibar, Tanzania (S M Ali MSc, S M Ame PhD); Lao Tropical and Public Health Institute. Vientiane, Laos (S Sayasone); Unité de Formation et de Recherche Biosciences. Université Félix Houphouët-Boigny, Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire (IT Coulibaly): Centre Suisse de **Recherches Scientifiques en** Côte d'Ivoire, Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire (IT Coulibaly)

Correspondence to: Prof Jennifer Keiser, Department of Medical Parasitology and Infection Biology, Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Basel CH-4051, Switzerland Jennifer.Keiser@swisstph.ch





Research in context

Evidence before this study

We searched PubMed, ISI Web of Science, ScienceDirect, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL), and ClinicalTrials. gov from Jan 1, 1960, to April 15, 2021. We used "ivermect* [AND] albendaz* [AND] (hookworm [OR] trichuri* [OR] ascari* [OR] soil-transmitted helminth*) [AND] (cure* [OR] trial)" as search terms for PubMed, ISI Web of Science, and ScienceDirect, and the keywords "ivermectin" and "albendazole" for CENTRAL and Clinical Trials.gov. The latest evidence on the efficacy and safety of co-administered ivermectin plus albendazole against soil-transmitted helminths is presented in our systematic review, meta-analysis, and individual-patient data analysis, which was published in 2018. In that study, we identified four randomised controlled trials that investigated the standard dose of combined ivermectin (200 µg/kg) and albendazole (400 mg). All four trials exclusively assessed efficacy and safety in school-aged children and adolescents (aged 6-20 years), yet adult populations are also targeted in preventive chemotherapy interventions against soiltransmitted helminths. Generalisability of the four trials to other endemic settings is limited. Two studies were done on the Zanzibar archipelago (Pemba and Unguja Islands), Tanzania; one in the Philippines; and one in Sri Lanka. The trials in the Philippines and Sri Lanka were done before 2000 and used a weak diagnostic approach, with only one stool sample analysed before and after treatment.

Added value of this study

We conducted a randomised controlled trial in three settings with distinct epidemiological profiles and treatment history with anthelmintic drugs. We targeted whole communities and recruited approximately 600 participants aged 6-60 years in each of the three settings to provide robust data and to allow for subgroup analysis. Our study showed higher efficacy against Trichuris trichiura if ivermectin-albendazole was used for treatment than if albendazole monotherapy was used in two settings. Both treatment regimens showed excellent safety profiles with mostly mild and transient adverse events. The trial results from Côte d'Ivoire highlight the existence of settings in which combination treatment does not show enhanced efficacy over albendazole alone, warranting the need for further investigation of emerging drug resistance, parasite genetics, and host-parasite interactions affecting drug efficacy.

Implications of all the available evidence

The availability of efficacious drugs to treat all types of soiltransmitted helminth infections is a requirement for progress in morbidity control. Our findings support the integration of combination therapy as recommended treatment in preventive chemotherapy schemes against soil-transmitted helminthiasis, although the efficacy needs to be confirmed in a pilot study.

other strategies tackling exposure (eg, by improving sanitation and providing access to safe water).³ The main goal of preventive chemotherapy is to reduce morbidity by decreasing infection intensities and to ultimately eliminate soil-transmitted helminthiasis as a public health problem. Elimination as a public health problem is defined as the prevalence reduction of moderate and heavy intensities to below 2%, as assessed in preschoolaged and school-aged children, by 2030.⁴

Single-dose albendazole treatment shows high and moderate efficacy against *A lumbricoides* and hookworm infections, respectively.⁵ Yet, performance against *T trichiura* is unsatisfactory, with egg reduction rates (ERRs) and cure rates below 50%.⁵ Furthermore, albendazole has been used for many decades, and several hundred million doses are donated yearly to endemic areas for STH control.⁵ Its consistent use makes it prone to drug resistance, a phenomenon common in veterinary medicine but not yet proven for human soil-transmitted helminthiases.⁵⁶

In view of the empty pipeline of new potent anthelmintic drugs, the evaluation of drug combinations of already registered products has been identified as a research priority.⁷ The use of drug combinations with different mechanisms of action might not only enhance efficacy but also delay the onset of resistance.⁸ Ivermectin–albendazole is one of the most promising drug combination candidates and was recently added to the

WHO List of Essential Medicines, which paves the road for its use in deworming programmes.9 Since 2000, ivermectin-albendazole has been successfully used for the control of lymphatic filariasis, showing an excellent safety profile.10 However, robust evidence on the potentially enhanced efficacy from co-administered ivermectinalbendazole against STHs in varying age groups and endemicity settings is lacking.¹¹⁻¹⁵ The primary objective of this trial was to assess the efficacy and safety of coadministered ivermectin-albendazole 14-21 days after treatment in community members aged 6-60 years infected with T trichiura in different transmission settings. This trial has the ultimate goal to inform STH preventive chemotherapy schemes put forth by WHO, and hence includes long-term follow-up outcomes that are presented elsewhere.16

Methods

Study design and participants

We did a phase 3, randomised, controlled, double-blind, parallel group, superiority trial in Côte d'Ivoire, Laos, and Pemba Island, Tanzania, between Sept 26, 2018, and June 29, 2020. Details on trial design and methodology were published elsewhere.¹⁷ All community members aged 6–60 years who were positive for *T trichiura* in at least two slides of quadruplicate Kato-Katz smears, with an infection intensity of at least 100 eggs per g of stool (EPG), were eligible for trial inclusion. Excluded from

the trial were individuals presenting with severe chronic or acute systemic illness (eg, severe anaemia with haemoglobin levels below 80 g/L, clinical malaria [positive rapid diagnostic test plus body temperature ≥38°C], reported or suspected diabetes, HIV, AIDS, or tuberculosis), pregnant women, lactating women in the first week after birth, and children who weighed less than 15 kg, as assessed upon baseline clinical examination.

This trial was done in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and Good Clinical Practice guidelines. The protocol was approved by independent ethics committees in Côte d'Ivoire (reference numbers 088-18/MSHP/ CNESVS-km and ECCI00918), Laos (reference number 093/NECHR), Pemba (Zanzibar, reference number ZAMREC/0003/Feb/2018), and Switzerland (reference number BASEC Nr Req-2018-00494). Participating adults, or parents or guardians of participating children, provided written informed consent. Children provided written (Côte d'Ivoire) or oral (Laos and Pemba) assent. All authors take responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the data and the fidelity of the trial to the protocol, which is available together with the statistical analysis plan in appendix 1.

Randomisation and masking

Computer-generated randomisation sequences in varying blocks of four, six, and eight participants, stratified by two levels of baseline T trichiura infection intensity (light = <1000 EPG; moderate to heavy = \geq 1000 EPG), were provided by the trial statistician. Enrolled participants were randomly assigned in a 1:1 ratio to receive either a single dose of albendazole (400 mg; Zentel; Glaxo-SmithKline, London, UK) plus appearance-matched placebo (produced by the University of Basel) or albendazole (400 mg) plus ivermectin (200 µg/kg; Stromectol; Merck Sharp & Dohme, Readington, NJ, USA) using sealed, opaque, sequentially numbered envelopes containing the treatment assignment (A or B) and six ivermectin or corresponding placebo tablets (sufficient to dose participants weighing up to 97 kg). The envelopes were prepared in Basel, Switzerland, by people who were independent of the trial. Participants were randomly assigned in the order they presented to the administrating investigators on the day of treatment. Investigators verified whether participants had baseline light or moderate-to-heavy infection intensity, chose the treatment envelope from the respective pile based on treatment allocation, and opened the sealed envelopes. Albendazole tablets were kept in bottles of 100 pieces as provided by WHO, and a single tablet was administered to every patient together with the necessary number of ivermectin or placebo tablets according to the patient's weight. Through the use of pre-packed treatment group labels, together with ivermectin appearance-matched placebos, field staff, including investigators, participants, and outcome assessors, were masked to treatment assignment.

Procedures

At baseline, participants were asked to provide two stool samples from different days (ideally within a 5 day interval), from which duplicate Kato-Katz thick smears using 41.7 mg of stool were prepared and assessed under a light microscope for the identification of T trichiura, A lumbricoides, and hookworm ova by laboratory technicians.¹⁸ In Laos, both stool samples of T trichiurainfected participants were also assessed for Strongyloides stercoralis larvae using the Baermann technique.19 For participants who were identified as T trichiura positive after the second sample only, one S stercoralis examination of that sample was done. 10% of all Kato-Katz slides were randomly chosen for subsequent quality control by picking every tenth slide of all slides read by each laboratory technician on the respective day.

Before treatment, participants underwent a physical examination to ensure recruitment criteria were met. These examinations included rapid diagnostic testing for haemoglobin levels and malaria (in Côte d'Ivoire and Laos) and lymphatic filariasis (in Côte d'Ivoire and Pemba Island) parasites, as well as pregnancy tests in girls and women aged 10 years and older in Côte d'Ivoire See Online for appendix 1 and Pemba Island and aged 12 years and older in Laos. Participants were further examined physically, and a medical anamnesis was done by trial physicians to assess baseline conditions. On Pemba Island, treatment was administered on the same day as the clinical examination, whereas in Côte d'Ivoire and Laos, treatment took place approximately 1 week after baseline due to the preceding analysis of blood parameters to evaluate liver and kidney functions as a required safety measure put forth by the responsible ethical or drug safety boards.

Adverse events were assessed actively at 3 h and 24 h after treatment and graded into light, moderate, and severe using adapted Common Toxicity Criteria version 2.0 put forth by the Cancer Therapy Evaluation Program. Study physicians were asked to evaluate relatedness of the most common adverse events to drug administration. If causality could not be ruled out by other conditions or reasons, the adverse events were considered as possibly related. Newly emerging, as well as persistent, adverse events after 24 h and within 14-21 days of treatment were followed up using a passive monitoring scheme, as specified in the protocol. Treatment efficacy was determined 14-21 days after treatment by collecting another two stool samples per participant. At study termination, all participants positive for STH were offered the combination therapy, if found to be more efficacious, or standard therapy.

Outcomes

The primary outcome was the cure rate of T trichiura, defined as the proportion of participants with no eggs in their faeces 14-21 days after treatment. Secondary outcomes were the ERR against T trichiura; cure rates and ERRs against A lumbricoides, hookworm, and

S stercoralis; and infection status assessed by qPCR. Safety outcomes included adverse events assessed 3 h and 24 h after treatment, serious adverse events, and adverse events potentially related to treatment. In this manuscript we do not present the cure rates determined by qPCR analysis or related methods and results. At the time of writing, this analysis had been done only for samples from Pemba Island, and thus qPCR-based cure rates cannot be compared between countries. Furthermore, detailed results of this analysis have been published elsewhere.²⁰

Statistical analysis

For the sample size calculation, we used the formula $n = (Z_{\alpha/2} + Z_{\beta})^{2} \times [\pi_{1} \times (1 - \pi_{1}) + \pi_{2} \times (1 - \pi_{2})] / (\pi_{2} - \pi_{1})^{2}, \text{ where }$ $Z_{\alpha/2}$ and Z_{β} denote the critical values of the normal distribution for significance level and type 2 error, respectively, and π_1 and π_2 denote the proportion of cured individuals in the two treatment groups. For each location, the trial was powered to detect a significant difference in cure rates between the two treatment groups with 90% power at a two-sided 5% significance level, assuming that the cure rate of albendazole for T trichiura was 30% and of ivermectin-albendazole was 50%.^{5,15} We calculated that 121 participants per group would be sufficient to test the primary hypothesis that ivermectin-albendazole has a higher efficacy against T trichiura infection than albendazole alone. Taking a potential loss to follow-up of 15% into account, we anticipated that we needed to enrol 143 participants per treatment group. In view of the prolonged follow-up period to assess the long-term secondary outcomes (up to 12 months), we aimed to include 600 community members in each trial setting. For subgroup analysis, the data from all locations were pooled to ensure sufficient power to assess a potential difference in efficacy by baseline infection intensity (ie, light vs moderate to heavy) and age group (ie, 6-12 years vs 13-60 years).

The primary analysis estimated the cure rate of T trichiura using the available-case population according to intention-to-treat principles. The available-case population was defined as all randomly assigned participants, excluding those who entered the study despite not satisfying the entry criterion of positive at baseline, with at least one follow-up stool sample at 14-21 days post-treatment. To check the robustness of the primary analysis, the results were confirmed using the per-protocol population. Exact definitions of the different analysis populations are provided in the statistical analysis plan in appendix 1. As outlined in the statistical analysis plan, the available-case analysis was further complemented by an intention-to-treat analysis using multiple imputation if the proportion of missing data exceeded 10%. Major protocol deviations, leading to exclusion from the per-protocol analysis, included negative infection status for T trichiura at baseline, not

satisfying the enrolment criteria, meeting withdrawal criteria, or receiving no treatment, the wrong treatment, or concomitant treatment with anthelmintics in the past 4 weeks or drugs with known interaction with the study drugs.

The mean egg counts from the quadruplicate Kato-Katz thick smears were multiplied by 24 to be expressed as EPG. Helminth infection intensity was classified as light or moderate to heavy depending on the species following cutoffs put forth by WHO.²¹ We calculated the proportion of individuals with moderate-to-heavy infection intensities at baseline who had light infection intensities or no infection at follow-up. This indicator is used to assess progress within control programmes to eliminate morbidity due to STHs.²¹

A melded binomial test with mid-p correction was used to calculate differences in cure rates between the two treatment groups and to estimate the corresponding confidence intervals. The prespecified analytical code is provided in appendix 1 (p 171).

Geometric mean and arithmetic mean egg counts were calculated for the two treatment groups before and after treatment to assess the corresponding ERRs. Geometric mean-based and arithmetic mean-based ERRs were calculated as:

$$ERR_{GM} = 1 - \frac{\frac{1}{n} e^{\sum \log(EPG \text{ follow-up + 1})} - 1}{\frac{1}{n} e^{\sum \log(EPG \text{ baseline + 1})} - 1}$$
$$ERR_{AM} = 1 - \frac{\frac{1}{n} \sum (EPG_{\text{follow-up}})}{\frac{1}{n} \sum (EPG_{\text{baseline}})}$$

A bootstrap resampling method with 5000 replicates was used to calculate 95% CIs for geometric meanbased ERRs and the difference between them. The code for implementing the bootstrap routine is provided in the statistical analysis plan (appendix 1 p 171). All estimates presented are unadjusted estimates. Multiple imputations were done using the mi package in R. The missing outcomes were predicted using the variables sex, age, height, weight, treatment group, and baseline infection intensity. The imputation used six chains with 30 iterations each. Imputation performance was assessed via the R-hat statistics, and convergence was visually inspected.

No statistical testing was done on safety outcomes; adverse events are presented in frequency tables. Data were analysed using R software version 4.0.3 and Stata 16.

Role of the funding source

The funder of the study had no role in study design, data collection, data analysis, interpretation of the findings, writing of the report, or the decision to submit for publication.

Results

Between Sept 13 and Dec 18, 2019, Jan 12 and April 5, 2019, and Sept 26 and Nov 5, 2018, 3737, 3694, and 1435 community members were screened for trial eligibility in Côte d'Ivoire, Laos, and Pemba Island, respectively (figure 1). The recruitment phase to assess the eligibility of community members finished after 133 days in Côte d'Ivoire, 83 days in Laos, and 40 days in Pemba Island. In Côte d'Ivoire, Laos, and Pemba Island, 256, 274, and 305 participants, respectively, were randomly assigned to and received albendazole co-administered with placebo, whereas 255, 275, and 308 participants, respectively, were randomly assigned to and received ivermectin–albendazole.

Demographic, baseline anthropometric, and helminth infection characteristics of the 1673 randomised participants are summarised in table 1. Co-infections with other STH species were common and found in 951 (57%) of 1673 participants, but endemicity profiles differed between countries. In Laos, hookworm was the predominant co-infection, whereas *A lumbricoides* coinfection was most common in Côte d'Ivoire and



Figure 1: Trial profile

*Low T trichiura infection intensities not qualifying for trial inclusion were egg counts below 100 eggs per g of stool, fewer than two of four Kato-Katz slides found to be positive, or both. †Clinical malaria was defined as a rapid diagnostic test positive for *Plasmodium* spp, together with a body temperature ≥38°C.

Pemba Island. *S stercoralis* infection was only tested for in Laos and was found in 59 (11%) of 549 participants. *T trichiura* infection intensities were well balanced between treatment groups. Between study countries, differences were seen with respect to not only helminth co-infections but also demographic variables. The Laos study cohort was older (mean age $26 \cdot 8$ years [SD $17 \cdot 4$]) than the two African cohorts (mean age $16 \cdot 3$ years [13 $\cdot 7$] in Côte d'Ivoire and $14 \cdot 0$ years [10 $\cdot 0$] in Pemba Island).

	Côte d'Ivoire		Laos*		Pemba Island†	
	Albendazole (n=256)	lvermectin- albendazole (n=255)	Albendazole (n=274)	lvermectin- albendazole (n=275)	Albendazole (n=305)	lvermectin- albendazole (n=308)
Age, years	16.5 (14.1)	16.0 (13.4)	27.7 (17.3)	25.9 (17.4)	14.0 (10.5)	13.9 (9.6)
Age group‡						
School-aged (6–12 years)	171 (67%)	168 (66%)	92 (34%)	113 (41%)	191 (63%)	184 (60%)
Youth or young people (13-24 years)	30 (12%)	36 (14%)	37 (14%)	30 (11%)	81 (27%)	90 (29%)
Adults (25–60 years)	55 (21%)	51 (20%)	145 (53%)	132 (48%)	33 (11%)	34 (11%)
Sex						
Female	120 (47%)	129 (51%)	144 (53%)	147 (53%)	171 (56%)	169 (55%)
Male	136 (53%)	126 (49%)	130 (47%)	128 (47%)	134 (44%)	139 (45%)
Weight, kg	37.5 (20.1)	37.2 (19.7)	41.1 (14.5)	39.7 (15.7)	34.2 (15.5)	34.0 (14.8)
Height, cm	136.7 (20.3)	135.8 (19.4)	144·3 (16·6)§	142.3 (16.7)	137.3 (18.6)	137.7 (18.9)
Trichuris trichiura infection						
Geometric mean EPG	480.5	469.9	365.9	349.3	466.9	460.9
Arithmetic mean EPG	1036.0	1079.9	607-2	636.7	846.7	923.9
Infection intensity¶						
Light	190 (74%)	192 (75%)	232 (85%)	232 (84%)	231 (76%)	234 (76%)
Moderate	64 (25%)	60 (24%)	42 (15%)	42 (15%)	74 (24%)	71 (23%)
Heavy	2 (1%)	3 (1%)	0	1 (<1%)	0	3 (1%)
Ascaris lumbricoides infection						
Infected	91 (36%)	91 (36%)	112 (41%)	96 (35%)	74 (24%)	90 (29%)
Geometric mean EPG	5499.1	4129.9	3991.2	3635.0	4515·3	2979.5
Arithmetic mean EPG	22597.0	19266.7	13444.7	11931.3	10050.3	7593·1
Infection intensity						
Light	38 (42%)	42 (46%)	58 (52%)	48 (50%)	35 (47%)	52 (58%)
Moderate	40 (44%)	39 (43%)	47 (42%)	44 (46%)	38 (51%)	37 (41%)
Heavy	13 (14%)	10 (11%)	7 (6%)	4 (4%)	1(1%)	1(1%)
Hookworm infection						
Infected	31 (12%)	18 (7%)	250 (91%)	253 (92%)	53 (17%)	42 (14%)
Geometric mean EPG	82.1	91·3	804.8	840.3	100.5	79·9
Arithmetic mean EPG	214.5	830.0	1820.3	1743.4	236.8	205.1
Infection intensity**						
Light	31 (100%)	16 (89%)	182 (73%)	184 (73%)	53 (100%)	42 (100%)
Moderate	0	0	37 (15%)	43 (17%)	0	0
Heavy	0	2 (11%)	31 (12%)	26 (10%)	0	0
Strongyloides stercoralis infection††	ND	ND	29 (11%)	30 (11%)	ND	ND

Data are mean (SD) or n (%), unless otherwise stated. EPG=eggs per g of stool. ND=not determined. *549 randomised; two did not fulfill eligibility criteria (age >60 years) but were included in the available-case analysis. †613 randomised; one did not fulfill eligibility criteria (<100 EPG) but was included in the available-case analysis. ‡Age groups were classified and adapted into school-aged children according to WHO definitions (originally 5–12 years, but 6–12 years in this study) and youth or young people and adults according to UN definitions (originally 15–24 years for youth or young people and >25 years for adults, but redefined as 13–24 years for youth or young people and >25 years for adults in this study). SOne individual value omitted due to irrational value (479 cm). ¶T *trichiura* infection intensity was classified according to mean EPG into light (1–999 EPG), moderate (1000–999 EPG), and heavy (>10 000 EPG). ||*A lumbricoides* infection intensity was classified according to mean EPG into light (1–4999 EPG), moderate (5000-49 999 EPG), and heavy (>50 000 EPG). **Hookworm infection intensity was classified according to mean EPG into light (1–1999 EPG), moderate (2000–399 99 EPG), and heavy (>4000 EPG). **Hookworm infection intensity was classified according to mean EPG into light (1–1999 EPG), moderate (2000–399 99 EPG), and heavy (>4000 EPG). **Hookworm infection intensity was classified according to mean EPG into light (1–1999 EPG), moderate (2000–399 99 EPG), and heavy (>4000 EPG). **Hookworm infection intensity was classified according to mean EPG into light (1–1999 EPG), moderate (a conding to mean EPG). **Hookworm infection intensity was classified according to mean EPG into light (1–1999 EPG), moderate (2000–399 99 EPG), and heavy (>4000 EPG). **Hookworm infection intensity was applied only to stool samples collected in Laos; two participants (one in each group) had no S *stercoralis* result.

Table 1: Baseline characteristics of trial participants by country

44 (9%), 142 (26%), and 32 (5%) participants were lost to follow-up in Côte d'Ivoire, Laos, and Pemba Island, respectively, with similar numbers in each group

(figure 1). Data from 467, 407, and 581 trial participants in Côte d'Ivoire, Laos, and Pemba Island, respectively, were used for the final analysis. Of note, two participants in

<table-container>Image: stand stand</table-container>		Côte d'Ivoire		Laos		Pemba Island	Pemba Island		
<table-container>Kirkeina and service of the servic</table-container>		Albendazole (n=235)	lvermectin– albendazole (n=232)	Albendazole (n=194)	lvermectin- albendazole (n=213)	Albendazole (n=293)	lvermectin– albendazole (n=288)		
<table-container>Participant sponitor increates, \$(9)% (2)2112001787375148Cur rate, \$(9)% (2)10%14%8%66%6%4%4%Cur rate, \$(9)% (2)10%14%8%65%6%4%4%precentage points-40500500600600600600Corr rate, \$(9)% (2)-400500600<td>Trichuris trichiura</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></table-container>	Trichuris trichiura								
Currents (70 15)10% (10 15)6% (50 12)66% (50 12)66% (50 12)40 10 (40 10)40% (40 10)Differencia currents (5% (1)418 (50 10 5) (50 10 5) 	Participants positive for infection after treatment	211	200	178	73	275	148		
Differencing priceP4258P43greencing price(2-20 10)(20 to 65)(20 to 65)(20 to 65)(20 to 67)(20 to 10)(2175)(2572)(15764)(13175)(173)(116/21)(21757)(2577)(130)(20 55)(171)(2466)(20 to 10)(258)(757)(130)(20 55)(171)(2466)(20 to 10)(275)(173)(20 55)(171)(2466)(20 to 10)(175)(173)(20 55)(171)(2466)(20 to 10)(175)(173)(20 55)(171)(2466)(20 to 10)(175)(173)(29 55)(171)(2466)(20 to 10)(175)(176)(175)(170)(171)(2466)(20 to 10)(175)(170)(170)(170)(170)(170)(20 to 10)(175)(170)(170)(170)(170)(170)(20 to 10)(175)(170)(170)(170)(170)(170)(20 to 10)(170)(170)(170)(170)(170)(170)(20 to 10)(170)(170)(170)(170)(170)(170)(20 to 10)(170)(170)(170)(170)(170)(170)(20 to 10)(170)(170)(170)(170)(170)(170)(20 to 10)(170)(170)(170)(170)(170)(170)(20 to 10)(170)(170)(170) <td>Cure rate, % (95% CI)</td> <td>10% (7 to 15)</td> <td>14% (10 to 19)</td> <td>8% (5 to 13)</td> <td>66% (59 to 72)</td> <td>6% (4 to 10)</td> <td>49% (43 to 55)</td>	Cure rate, % (95% CI)	10% (7 to 15)	14% (10 to 19)	8% (5 to 13)	66% (59 to 72)	6% (4 to 10)	49% (43 to 55)		
Sign (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2)	Difference in cure rate, percentage points (95% Cl)*		4 (-2 to 10)		58 (50 to 65)		43 (36 to 49)		
Light13% (22/175)15% (25/172)9% (15/164)74% (13/176)8% (17/222)75% (16/223)Moderate3% (25%)15% (25%)15% (25%)1% (25%)36% (25%)1% (26%)36% (25%)Heavy (02)0(2)0% (20)- (03)0% (20)- (20)0% (20)Geometric mean EVF454 (161)462.8463.2After trastment175.7141.6115.53.0198.5463.2Geometric mean ER8, % (5% 07)644 (6110 77)(6110 77)(910 99)(4810 65)(9810 99)Difference in geometric mean ER8, percent (5% 07)66 (6110 77)3038.634.0Difference in geometric (5% 07)- (6110 77)610 78)(910 93)(4810 55)(3410 55)Difference in geometric mean ER8, percent (5% 07)- (6110 77)610 78)688.7848.5938.0After trastment874.6866.8403.270.869.893.895.1After trastment874.6866.8403.270.868.910.5After trastment874.6866.8403.270.868.910.5Moderately or heavily (160 403)(140 45)155.0(350 65)(350 65)(350 65)After trastment874.686.870.870.868.910.5Moderately or heavily (160 400)(200 65)10.6(200 65)10.610.6(160	Cure rate by infection inte	nsity, % (n/N)							
Moderate3% (1/5)12% (1/5)3% (1/3)25% (1/3)1% (1/3)96% (1/3)Havy0% (0/2)0% (0/3)-0% (0/3)0/3)0/3)Geometric0% (0/3)0%0% (0/3)0%0% (0/3)Geometric88/814/54369/83610462.8463.2After treatment175.7141.6115.53.0198.580Geometric64/8270% (58/10)(61/07)(0/10.5)(24/03)(24/03)0/10Difference in geometric (58/0)'646-3.041mana ERE, prometric (58/0)'66-3.041mana ERE, for treatment874.6866.840.3270.8698.9105.1Arithmetic mean ERE, (58/0)'174.0866.840.3270.8698.9105.1Arithmetic mean ERE, (58/50)174.0866.840.3270.8698.9105.1Arithmetic mean ERE, (58/50)174.027.436%90%18.%89%Ofference (58/50)(14/10.30)(21/10.4)(21/10.3)(21/10.3)(21/10.3)(21/10.3)(21/10.3)Moderately or heavily infocted participants meter data frametric (\$95/50)(21/10.3)(21/10.3)(21/10.3)(21/10.3)(21/10.3)(21/10.3)(21/10.3)(21/10.3)(21/10.3)(21/10.3)(21/10.3)(21/10.3)(21/10.3)(21/10.3)(21/10.3) <td< td=""><td>Light</td><td>13% (22/175)</td><td>15% (25/172)</td><td>9% (15/164)</td><td>74% (131/176)</td><td>8% (17/222)</td><td>53% (116/219)</td></td<>	Light	13% (22/175)	15% (25/172)	9% (15/164)	74% (131/176)	8% (17/222)	53% (116/219)		
Haay 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Coorderic mean EVC Coorderic mean EVC Volta 010 010 010 010 Seaseline 488.8 475.4 369.8 361.0 452.8 463.2 After tratument 175.7 141.6 115.5 3.0 195.5 80 Correctic meanenex (54.072) (61.077) (61.075) (99.099) (48.05) (98.099) Differencia geometric - 6 - 30 - 41 mana ERR, percentage 1048.8 110.9 626.1 688.7 848.5 938.0 After tratument 874.6 866.8 403.2 70.8 698.9 105.1 After tratument 874.6 866.8 403.2 70.8 698.9 105.1 After tratument 874.6 866.8 403.2 70.8 643.9 94% GSS CO (14.030) 671.40.610 (210.05.0) (Moderate	3% (2/58)	12% (7/57)	3% (1/30)	25% (9/36)	1% (1/71)	36% (24/66)		
Geometric mean EPGBaseline488.8475.436.9.8361.0462.8463.2After traatment175.7141.6115.53.0198.580Correntic mean ERR64%69%69%69%69%69%69%Differenci ngoemetri-6.3.0.41mean ERR, perentage.6.30.41points (59% CI)*.(54 to 72)(54 to 72)(54 to 72).41Mean ERR, perentage.6.30.41Saseline104.8110.9626.1688.7848.538.0After traatment87.46866.8403.270.8698.910.51Sig5 XI)(140.49)(214.04)(310.9)(310.9)(310.9)(310.9)Michaet participants(27.53.31.6)(59.54)63%90%18%89%Sig5 XI)(21.05.33.16)(59.52.9)(59.52.9)(21.03.37.17)(26.05.37.9)(26.05.37.9)Michaet participants(27.53.31.6)(59.54)(30.9)(30.9)(26.05.07.9)(26.05.07.9)(26.05.07.9)Sig5 XI)(21.05.33.16)(59.69)(10.05.10)(10.05.10)(26.05.07.9)(26.05.07.9)(26.05.07.9)Michaet participants(27.53.31.6)(59.69)(20.00.10)(20.00.10)(26.05.07.9)(26.05.07.9)(26.05.07.9)Sig5 XI)(21.05.10)(20.05.10)(20.05.10)(20.05.10)(26.05.	Heavy	0% (0/2)	0% (0/3)		0% (0/1)		0% (0/3)		
Baseline488.8475.4369.8361.0462.8463.2After treatment175.7141.6115.53.0198.58.0Geometric mean ERR, %64.%70%69%99%57%98%(65 to 7)(61 to 77)(69 to 59)(48 to 50)(98 to 99)Difference in geometric63.041mean ERR, percentage63.041points (95% C)*110.9626.1688.7848.5938.0After treatment874.6866.8403.270.8698.9105.1After treatment874.6866.8403.270.8848.5936.0Moderately or heavily (15% C)*(27 to 53; 31.60)(32 to 55; 24.60)(35 to 52; 79.60)(36 to 63.61.37)(36 to 63.61.37)Moderately princetor52%63%90%18%89%(36 to 63.61.37)(36 to 63.61.37)Moderately or heavily (15% C); n/N)(27 to 53; 31.60)(35 to 52; 24.60)(35 to 52; 24.91.30)(32 to 103; 34.71)(36 to 63.61.37)(37 to 53)Baseline828177707086After treatment % (15% C); n/N)(30 to 50)(100%)(100 to 100)(31 to 11)(37 to 11)Cure at % (95%)95%94%100%100%(37 so)(37 so)Core at % (95%)95%94%100%(100 to 100)(31 to 11)(37 so) <td< td=""><td>Geometric mean EPG</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>	Geometric mean EPG								
After treatment 1757 1416 1155 30 1985 80 Geometric mena RBR, (5% C1) (54 c7) (61 to 77) (61 to 75) (99 to 99) (48 to 55) (98 to 99) Difference in geometric mean RBR, percentage opints (5% C1) 6 30 41 mean RBR, percentage opints (5% C1) 6 30 41 mean RBR, percentage opints (5% C1) 6 30 41 Raseline 1048 8 1110-9 6261 6887 8485 938-0 Arithmetic mear RF 7/7% 22% 36% 90% 18% 89% (5% C1) (-14 to 39) (-14 to 46) (19 to 50) (81 to 96) (41 to 30) (83 to 93) Moderately or heavily (5% C1) (75 S3 31/6) (39 to 55 24/60) (32 to 103; 34/7) (36 to 65, 67/3) (89 to 100; 65/69) (5% C1, m) (25 to 13; 34/6) (34 to 50) (30 to 50) (30 to 50) (30 to 50)	Baseline	488.8	475.4	369.8	361.0	462.8	463·2		
Geometric mean ERR, % 64% 70% 69% 99% 97% 98% (95% () (54 to 72) (61 to 7) (61 to 7) (91 to 7) (99 to 9) (48 to 5) (98 to 9) Difference ingoometric 6 30 41 mean ERR, percentage (64 to 18) (24 to 38) 41 point (95% ()' 688.7 688.7 688.7 93.8 Arithmetic mean ERR 704.8 866.8 403.2 70.8 698.9 105.1 Arithmetic mean ERR 17% 22% 36% 90% 18% 89% (95% () (-14 to 40) (-14 to 40) (10 to 50) (81 to 9) (48 to 5) 810 so 100 (95% () (-14 to 40) (52% 636 to 53.2/160) (81 to 30)	After treatment	175.7	141.6	115.5	3.0	198.5	8.0		
(95% 0) (54 to 72) (61 to 77) (61 to 75) (99 to 99) (48 to 65) (98 to 99) Difference in geometric mean ERR, percentagy points (95% CI)* 6 30 41 Arithmetic mean ERR, strihmetic mean ERR 66 30 41 Baseline 1048.8 1110.9 626.1 688.7 848.5 938.0 Arithmetic mean ERR, strihmetic mean ERR, % 17% 22% 36% 90% 18% 89% (95% CI) (-14 to 39) (-14 to 6) (19 to 50) (81 to 96) (4t to 30) (83 to 93) Moderately or heaving fet retarment, % 17% 22% 63% 97% 48% 94% infected participants (95% CI) (-14 to 39) (21 to 53; 31/60) (39 to 65; 24/60) (95 to 32; 31/60) (89 to 99) (30 to 63; 33/71) (36 to 60; 36/37) (89 to 100; 65/69) with no singtinfection after treatment, % 52 63 0 2 1 Qascaline 52 0 0	Geometric mean ERR, %	64%	70%	69%	99%	57%	98%		
Difference in geometric 6 30 41 mean ERR, precentage (24 to 38) (24 to 38) (24 to 38) (34 to 50) Arithmetir mean EPG 52 ko 10* (34 to 50) (34 to 50) Arithmetir mean ERR, % 110-9 62 61 688-7 848-5 938.0 Arithmetir mean ERR, % 17% 22% 36% 90% 18% 89% (95% C1) (-14 to 39) (-14 to 46) (19 to 50) (81 to 96) (4 to 30) (83 to 93) Moderately or heavily 40% 52% 63% 97% 48% 94% Infected participants (27 to 53; 31/60) (39 to 65; 24/60) (45 to 82; 19/30) (92 to 103; 34/71) (36 to 60; 36/37) (89 to 100; 65/69) with no or light infectionary (25% C1, 7) (53 to 63) (92 to 103; 34/71) (36 to 60; 36/37) (89 to 100; 65/24/60) (95% C1, 7) V 70 70 86 Arter treatment, % (55 0 0 2 1 <td>(95% CI)</td> <td>(54 to 72)</td> <td>(61 to 77)</td> <td>(61 to 75)</td> <td>(99 to 99)</td> <td>(48 to 65)</td> <td>(98 to 99)</td>	(95% CI)	(54 to 72)	(61 to 77)	(61 to 75)	(99 to 99)	(48 to 65)	(98 to 99)		
Arithmetic mean EPG 1048-8 110-9 626-1 688-7 848-5 938-0 Arith retartment 874-6 866-8 403-2 70.8 698-9 105-1 Arithmetic mean ERR, % 17% 22% 36% 90% 18% 89% (55% () (-14 03) (-14 04) (19 050) (81 056) (40 03) (81 059) Moderately or heavily infected participants with nor light infection after treatment, % 40% 52% 63% 97% 48% 94% (27 v 53; 31/6) (39 105; 524/6) (39 105; 52, 19/6) (30 105; 52, 19/6) (30 105; 52, 19/6) (30 105; 52, 19/6) (30 105; 52, 19/6) (30 10; 52, 19/6) (30 10; 52, 19/6) </td <td>Difference in geometric mean ERR, percentage points (95% CI)*</td> <td></td> <td>6 (-6 to 18)</td> <td></td> <td>30 (24 to 38)</td> <td></td> <td>41 (34 to 50)</td>	Difference in geometric mean ERR, percentage points (95% CI)*		6 (-6 to 18)		30 (24 to 38)		41 (34 to 50)		
Baseline1048.81110.9626.1688.7848.5938.0After treatment874.6866.8403.270.8698.9105.1Arithmetic mean ERR17%22%36%90%18%89%(95% CI)(-14 to 30)(-14 to 46)(19 to 50)(81 to 96)(4 to 30)(83 to 30)Moderately or heavily infected participants40%52%63%97%48%94%(95% CI)(27 to 53; 31/60)(39 to 65; 24/60)(45 to 82; 19/30)(90 to 103; 34/71)(36 to 63; 67/7)(89 to 100; 65/69)Astaris Imbricoides52%63%97%48%94%(95% CI)(27 to 53; 31/60)(39 to 55; 24/60)(45 to 82; 19/30)(91 to 103; 34/71)(36 to 63; 67/7)(89 to 100; 65/69)Astaris Imbricoides52%0021Farticipants positive50021Cure rate, % (95% CI)95%94%100%100%(30 to 10)(31 to 10)(90 to 100)100%100%100%100%(33/34)(50/50)Cure rate by infectio intervity, % (n/X)100%100%100%(31/31)(41/35)(31/31)Light100%100%100%100%100%100%(31/31)(31/35)(31/35)Light100%100%100%100%100%100%100%(31/35)(31/35)Light100%100%100%100%100%	Arithmetic mean EPG								
After treatment 8746 866.8 403.2 70.8 698.9 105.1 Arithmetic mean ERR, % 17% 22% 36% 90% 18% 89% (95% C1) (-14 to 30) (-14 to 46) (19 to 50) (81 to 96) (41 to 30) (83 to 33) Moderately or heavily infected participants 40% 52% 63% 97% (36 to 63.36/37) (89 to 100, 65/69) Moderately or heavily infected participants 40% 52% (45 to 82, 19/30) (92 to 103, 34/71) (36 to 63.36/37) (89 to 100, 65/69) with no or light infection after treatment, % 82 81 77 70 70 86 After treatment 4 5 0 0 2 1 Cure ate by infection (95 K) (94%) 100% 100% 97% 99% Quer ate by infection 100% (100 to 100)	Baseline	1048.8	1110.9	626·1	688.7	848.5	938-0		
Arithmetic mean ERR, 17% 22% 36% 90% 18% 89% (95% (1) (-14 to 46) (19 to 50) (81 to 96) (4 to 30) (45 to 37) Moderately or heavily infected participants after treatment, (27 to 33; 31/60) 52% 63% 97% 48% 94% No or light infection after treatment, (25% (1 / n)) 52% 63% 97% 48% 94% Baseline 8 52% 63% 97% (36 to 63, 36/37) (36 to 63, 63/37) Participants (95% (1 / n)) (27 to 33; 31/60) (39 to 65; 24/60) (45 to 2; 19/30) (92 to 13; 34/71) (36 to 63, 63/37) (94% Participants 5	After treatment	874.6	866.8	403.2	70.8	698.9	105.1		
Moderately or heavily infected participants after treatment, % (95% C; n/N) 40% (27 to 53; 31/60) 52% (39 to 65; 24/60) 63% (45 to 82; 19/30) 97% (92 to 103; 34/71) 48% (36 to 60; 36/37) 94% (89 to 100; 65/69) Atternament, % (95% C; n/N) Same Same Same After treatment, % (95% C] 82 81 77 70 70 86 Atter treatment 4 5 0 0 2 1 Baseline 82 81 77 70 70 86 Cure rate, %(95% C] 95% 94% 100% 100% 97% 99% Cure rate by infection 100% 100% 100% 97% 99% 99% Moderate 92% 86% 100% 100% 97% 97% 93% Moderate 92% 86% 100% 100% 97% 97% 93% Moderate 92% 86% 100% 100% 100% 103% 103% 103% Moderate 92% 100% 100% 100% 100%	Arithmetic mean ERR, % (95% CI)	17% (-14 to 39)	22% (-14 to 46)	36% (19 to 50)	90% (81 to 96)	18% (4 to 30)	89% (83 to 93)		
Ascaris lumbricoides Participants positive for infection Participants positive for infection Baseline 82 81 77 70 70 86 After treatment 4 5 0 0 2 1 Cure rate, % (95% Cl) 95% 94% 100% 100% 97% 99% (g0 to 100) (89 to 99) (100 to 100) (100 to 100) (93 to 101) (97 to 101) Cure rate by infection intersity, % (n/N) 100% 100% 100% 33/34) (50/50) Light 100% 100% 100% 100% 97% 97% Moderate 92% 86% 100% 100% 33/34) (50/50) Heavy 92% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% Iduation 101/10 (10/10) (5/5) (1/1) (1/1) (1/1) 1/1) Goenetric mean EPG 5315.6 4748.2 3458.5 3374.7 4378.8 3173.9	Moderately or heavily infected participants with no or light infection after treatment, % (95% Cl; n/N)	40% (27 to 53; 31/60)	52% (39 to 65; 24/60)	63% (45 to 82; 19/30)	97% (92 to 103; 34/71)	48% (36 to 60; 36/37)	94% (89 to 100; 65/69)		
Participants positive for interview Sale	Ascaris lumbricoides								
Baseline 82 81 77 70 70 70 86 After treatment 4 5 0 0 2 1 Cure rate, % (95% Cl) 95% 94% 100% 100% 97% 99% (90 to 100) (89 to 99) (100 to 100) (100 to 100) (93 to 101) (97 to 101) Cure rate by infection intersity, % (n/N) 100% 100% 100% 97% 100% Light 100% 100% 100% 100% (33/34) (50/50) Moderate 92% 86% 100% 100% 97% 97% (33/36) (30/35) (28/28) (31/31) (34/35) (34/35) Heavy 92% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% Geometric mean EPG J 100% 100% 100% 100% 101 Geometric mean ERR, % 100% 100% 100% 01 01 01 Geometric mean ERRR, % 100	Participants positive for in	nfection							
After treatment 4 5 0 0 2 1 Cure rate, % (95% Cl) 95% 94% 100% 100% 97% 99% (90 to 100) (89 to 99) (100 to 100) (100 to 100) (93 to 101) (97 to 101) Cure rate by infection intersity, % (n/N) 100% 100% 100% 97% 100% Light 100% 100% 100% 33/34) (50/50) Moderate 92% 86% 100% 100% 97% 97% Moderate 92% 100% (28/28) (31/31) (34/35) (34/35) Heavy 92% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% Geometric mean EPG 11/12 (10/10) (5/5) 31747 4378-8 3173-9 After treatment 0-1 0-2 0 0 0-3 0-1 Geometric mean ERR, % 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%	Baseline	82	81	77	70	70	86		
Cure rate, % (95% Cl) 95% 94% 100% 100% 97% 99% (90 to 100) (89 to 99) (100 to 100) (100 to 100) (93 to 101) (97 to 101) Cure rate by infection intersity, % (n/N) 100% 100% 100% 97% 100% Light 100% 100% 100% 38/38) (33/34) (50/50) Moderate 92% 86% 100% 100% 97% 97% Moderate 92% 86% 100% 100% 34/35) (34/35) (34/35) Heavy 92% 100%	After treatment	4	5	0	0	2	1		
Cure rate by infection intensity, % (n/N) Light 100% 100% 100% 97% 100% Moderate 92% 86% 100% 03/30 (50/50) Moderate 92% 86% 100% 100% 97% 97% Moderate 92% 86% 100% 100% 33/30 (34/35) (34/35) Heavy 92% 100%	Cure rate, % (95% CI)	95% (90 to 100)	94% (89 to 99)	100% (100 to 100)	100% (100 to 100)	97% (93 to 101)	99% (97 to 101)		
Light 100% 100% 100% 100% 97% 100% Moderate 92% 86% 100% 100% 97% 97% Moderate 92% 86% 100% 100% 97% 97% Moderate 92% 86% 100% 100% 97% 97% Meavy 92% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% Italization 101/12 100%<	Cure rate by infection inte	nsity, % (n/N)							
Moderate 92% 86% 100% 100% 97% 97% (33/36) (30/35) (28/28) (31/31) (34/35) (34/35) Heavy 92% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% (11/12) (10/10) (5/5) (1/1) (1/1) (1/1) Geometric mean EPG 5315.6 4748.2 3458.5 3374.7 4378.8 3173.9 After treatment 0.1 0.2 0 0 0.3 0.1 Geometric mean ERR, % 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 0.1 Geometric mean ERR, % 100% <t< td=""><td>Light</td><td>100% (34/34)</td><td>100% (36/36)</td><td>100% (44/44)</td><td>100% (38/38)</td><td>97% (33/34)</td><td>100% (50/50)</td></t<>	Light	100% (34/34)	100% (36/36)	100% (44/44)	100% (38/38)	97% (33/34)	100% (50/50)		
Heavy 92% (11/12) 100% (10/10) 100% (5/5) 100% (1/1) 100% (1/1) 100% (1/1) Geometric mean EPG 5315-6 4748-2 3458-5 3374-7 4378-8 3173-9 After treatment 0-1 0-2 0 0 0-3 0-1 Geometric mean ERR, % 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% Geometric mean ERR, % 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%	Moderate	92% (33/36)	86% (30/35)	100% (28/28)	100% (31/31)	97% (34/35)	97% (34/35)		
Geometric mean EPG S315-6 4748-2 3458-5 3374-7 4378-8 3173-9 After treatment 0-1 0-2 0 0 0-3 0-1 Geometric mean ERR, % 100%<	Heavy	92% (11/12)	100% (10/10)	100% (5/5)	100% (1/1)	100% (1/1)	100% (1/1)		
Baseline 5315-6 4748-2 3458-5 3374-7 4378-8 3173-9 After treatment 0-1 0-2 0 0-3 0-1 Geometric mean ERR, % 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% (95% Cl) (100 to 100)	Geometric mean EPG								
After treatment 0·1 0·2 0 0 0·3 0·1 Geometric mean ERR, % 100% </td <td>Baseline</td> <td>5315.6</td> <td>4748-2</td> <td>3458.5</td> <td>3374.7</td> <td>4378.8</td> <td>3173.9</td>	Baseline	5315.6	4748-2	3458.5	3374.7	4378.8	3173.9		
Geometric mean ERR, % 100%	After treatment	0.1	0.2	0	0	0.3	0.1		
	Geometric mean ERR, % (95% CI)	100% (100 to 100)	100% (100 to 100)	100% (100 to 100)	100% (100 to 100)	100% (100 to 100)	100% (100 to 100)		

	Côte d'Ivoire		Laos		Pemba Island	
	Albendazole (n=235)	lvermectin– albendazole (n=232)	Albendazole (n=194)	lvermectin- albendazole (n=213)	Albendazole (n=293)	lvermectin– albendazole (n=288)
(Continued from previous	page)					
Arithmetic mean EPG						
Baseline	22874-2	19907.6	12977.7	9801.6	9525·3	7782.0
After treatment	0.9	5.1	0.0	0.0	101.1	24.4
Arithmetic mean ERR, % (95% CI)	100% (100 to 100)	100% (99·9 to 100)	100% (100 to 100)	100% (100 to 100)	99% (97 to 99)	100% (99 to 100)
Moderately or heavily infected participants with no or light infection after treatment, % (95% Cl; n/N)	100% (100 to 100; 48/48)	100% (100 to 100; 45/45)	100% (100 to 100; 32/32)	100% (100 to 100; 33/33)	100% (100 to 100; 36/36)	100% (100 to 100; 36/36)
Hookworm						
Participants positive for in	nfection					
Baseline	28	17	180	194	49	39
After treatment	1	2	80	79	9	11
Cure rate, % (95% CI)	96% (89 to 104)	88% (71 to 105)	56% (48 to 63)	59% (52 to 66)	82% (70 to 93)	72% (57 to 87)
Cure rate by infection inte	ensity, % (n/N)					
Light	96% (27/28)	93% (14/15)	63% (85/136)	67% (95/142)	82% (40/49)	72% (28/39)
Moderate			36% (10/28)	41% (14/34)		
Heavy		50% (1/2)	31% (5/16)	33% (6/18)		
Geometric mean EPG						
Baseline	94.4	108.6	731.4	861.8	100.6	80.5
After treatment	0.1	0.9	7.9	6.5	1.3	2.5
Geometric mean ERR, % (95% CI)	100% (100 to 100)	99% (97 to 100)	99% (98 to 99)	99% (99 to 100)	99% (97 to 100)	97% (93 to 99)
Arithmetic mean EPG	222.0	070 5	1(20)		222.0	214.0
Baseline	232.9	8/8.5	1020.0	10/8-/	223.0	214-0
Arithmatic maan EPD %	100%	09.3	140.0	129.5	30.0	40·0 780/
(95% CI)	(99 to 100)	90% (75 to 100)	(87 to 94)	(88 to 95)	(77 to 95)	(64 to 90)
Moderately or heavily infected participants with no or light infection after treatment, % (95% Cl; n/N)	ND	100% (100 to 100; 2/2)	95% (89 to 102; 42/44)	98% (94 to 102; 51/52)	ND	ND
Strongyloides stercoralis†						
Participants positive for in	nfection					
Baseline	ND	ND	22	22	ND	ND
After treatment	ND	ND	4	1	ND	ND
Cure rate, % (95% CI)	ND	ND	82% (64 to 99)	96% (86 to 105)	ND	ND
EPG=eggs per g of stool. ERR	egg reduction rate. ND	=not determined. *Sign	ificant differences are hig	ghlighted in bold; for cur	e rates, significance v	vas defined when the

p-value was <0.05 according to the melded binomial test for difference (mid-p version), whereas for ERRs, significance was defined when the 95% CI did not include 0. †S stercoralis infection was assessed qualitatively only (positive vs negative) in stool samples collected in Laos; 406 participants (193 in the albendazole group and 213 in the ivermectin–albendazole group) in Laos had at least one stool sample examined for S stercoralis at baseline and follow-up.

Table 2: Efficacy against T trichiura and co-infecting soil-transmitted helminths by trial country (available-case analysis)

Laos (aged >60 years) and one in Pemba Island (*T trichiura* intensity <100 EPG) were randomised erroneously. These participants were included in the available-case analysis.

Cure rates and ERRs of the available-case population are summarised in table 2. Treatment with ivermectin– albendazole resulted in significantly higher cure rates than albendazole alone in Laos (66% [140 of 213] vs 8%

[16 of 194], difference 58 percentage points, 95% CI 50 to 65, p<0.0001) and Pemba Island (49% [140 of 288] vs 6% [18 of 293], 43 percentage points, 36 to 49, p<0.0001). Similarly, ERRs were significantly higher in the combination therapy group than in the monotherapy group in Laos (geometric mean ERR 99% vs 69%, difference 30 percentage points, 95% CI 24 to 38) and Pemba Island (98% vs 57%, 41 percentage points, 34 to 50). In Côte d'Ivoire, ivermectin-albendazole showed similarly low efficacy to albendazole in terms of cure rates (14% [32 of 232] vs 10% [24 of 235], difference 4 percentage points, 95% CI -2 to 10, p=0.24) and ERRs (geometric mean ERR 70% vs 64%, difference 6 percentage points, 95% CI -6 to 18). Adjusting for age category, sex, and weight did not notably change point or interval estimates (data not shown). T trichiura egg distributions before and after treatment by treatment group, for each country, are shown in a violin plot (figure 2A-C). Of participants who received ivermectinalbendazole with moderate-intensity or heavy-intensity infections, 52% (95% CI 39 to 65; 31 of 60), 97% (92 to 103; 36 of 37), and 94% (89 to 100; 65 of 69) showed no or only light intensity infections after treatment in Côte d'Ivoire, Laos, and Pemba Island, respectively (table 2).

In Côte d'Ivoire, no major protocol deviations were observed and therefore the per-protocol population is identical to the available-case population. On Pemba Island, one participant in the ivermectin-albendazole group with a baseline infection intensity of 18 EPG was inappropriately randomised. Excluding this participant from the per-protocol analysis did not notably change the estimates (cure rate 48% in the ivermectinalbendazole group vs 6% in the albendazole group, difference 42 percentage points, 95% CI 36-49, p<0.0001). In Laos, one of the two participants older than 60 years who was erroneously randomised to the albendazole group provided a follow-up stool sample and was included in the available-case population. The per-protocol analysis excluding this participant showed similar estimates to the available-case analysis (66% vs 8%, 57 percentage points, 50-64, p<0.0001). The proportion of missing data in Laos was higher than expected. Missing data for the intention-to-treat analysis were imputed by multiple imputation but neither point nor interval estimates changed substantially from the available-case analysis (appendix 2 p 2).

Subgroup analysis showed higher cure rates against *T trichiura* in participants with light infection intensities (45% [156 of 348] in the ivermectin–albendazole group and 11% [37 of 339] in the albendazole group) than in participants with moderate or heavy infection intensities (16% [16 of 97] and 3% [three of 90]) at baseline, but the conclusions with respect to superiority of the ivermectin–albendazole combination did not change (appendix 2 p 3). The cure rate for ivermectin–albendazole in the 6–12 years age group (26%; 64 of 243) was lower than the cure rate in the 13–60 years age group (53%; 108 of 202),



Figure 2: Violin plots illustrating Trichuris trichiura egg reduction in Côte d'Ivoire (A), Laos (B), and Pemba Island (C), by treatment group Violins represent egg densities at baseline and follow-up; boxes represent IQRs and the dots connected by lines the individual participants. EPG=eggs per g of stool.

See Online for appendix 2

but we also observed higher baseline infection intensities irrespective of treatment group in the younger than in the older age group (median EPG at baseline was 444 [IQR 204–1236] *vs* 264 [159–525]; appendix 2 p 3).

Both treatment regimens showed high efficacy against *A lumbricoides*, with cure rates above 93% and ERRs of 99–100% in all trial settings. Cure rates in hookworm-infected participants differed between settings but not

	Albendazole				Ivermectin-albendazole			
	Number of participants assessed	Participants with adverse event (%)	Number of adverse events	Number of possibly related adverse events/number assessed for relatedness (%)*	Number of participants assessed	Participants with adverse event (%)	Number of adverse events	Number of possibly related adverse events/number assessed for relatedness (%)*
Baseline	830	324 (39%)	644		831	351 (42%)	699	
Côte d'Ivoire	254	194 (76%)	467		254	198 (78%)	498	
Laos	273	83 (30%)	110		273	94 (34%)	117	
Pemba Island	303	47 (16%)	67		304	59 (19%)	84	
3 h after treatment	829	111 (13%)	139	43/90 (48%)	834	121 (15%)	152	43/109 (40%)
Côte d'Ivoire	253	47 (19%)	61	29/54 (54%)	253	54 (21%)	77	22/61 (36%)
Laos	273	41 (15%)	50	14/36 (39%)	273	51 (19%)	59	21/48 (44%)
Pemba Island	303	23 (8%)	28	ND	308	16 (5%)	16	ND
24 h after treatment	779	104 (13%)	140	82/121 (68%)	786	109 (14%)	165	103/130 (79%)
Côte d'Ivoire	227	50 (22%)	77	59/65 (91%)	231	62 (27%)	110	78/86 (91%)
Laos	247	48 (19%)	57	23/56 (41%)	247	42 (17%)	49	25/44 (57%)
Pemba Island	305	6 (2%)	6	ND	308	5 (2%)	6	ND
2–21 days after treatment	356	15 (4%)	15	ND	361	14 (4%)	17	ND
Côte d'Ivoire†	15	0	0	ND	23	0	0	ND
Laos‡	42	8 (19%)	8	ND	39	4 (10%)	5	ND
Pemba Island§	299	7 (2%)	7	ND	299	10 (3%)	12	ND

ND=not determined. *On Pemba Island, only four out of 50 events were assessed for causality; relatedness was thus considered as ND. †Safety monitoring after the 24 h post-treatment period was done actively for participants showing moderate or severe adverse events or needing medical intervention at 24 h and passively for all remaining participants. ‡Mainly includes participants who were missed out at, or had persisting symptoms from, the 24-h assessment and symptoms occurring after 24 h but within 14–21 days after treatment that were mentioned by participants during monitoring visits. \$We aimed to visit all trial participants to ask about symptoms occurring after 24 h; symptoms mentioned after 24 h could include persisting symptoms from the 24-h assessment or symptoms occurring after 24 h but within 14–21 days after treatment that were mentioned after 24 h could include persisting symptoms from the 24-h assessment or symptoms occurring after 24 h but within 14–21 days after treatment that were mentioned after 24 h could include persisting symptoms from the 24-h assessment or symptoms occurring after 24 h but within 14–21 days after treatment that were mentioned after 24 h could include persisting symptoms from the 24-h assessment or symptoms occurring after 24 h but within 14–21 days after treatment that were mentioned after 24 h could include persisting symptoms from the 24-h assessment or symptoms occurring after 24 h but within 14–21 days after treatment that were possibly related to drug administration.

Table 3: Baseline symptoms and adverse events after treatment

between treatment groups. We found the highest cure rate against hookworm in Côte d'Ivoire (96% [27 of 28] for albendazole and 88% [15 of 17] for ivermectin– albendazole), followed by Pemba Island (82% [40 of 49] and 72% [28 of 39]), where infections were primarily of light intensity. In Laos, we found moderate efficacy in terms of cure rates for both treatment groups (56% [100 of 180] and 59% [115 of 194]). Hookworm infections were well reduced in terms of ERRs (geometric mean ERR ≥97%) in all settings. Of 22 participants in Laos infected with *S stercoralis* in each treatment group, four were still infected after treatment in the albendazole group (cure rate 82%) and one in the ivermectinalbendazole group (96%).

Safety was assessed in 508, 546, and 613 trial participants in Côte d'Ivoire, Laos, and Pemba Island, respectively. Not all participants were available at each timepoint (table 3). We did not observe any serious adverse events in any of the three countries. Adverse event reporting was similar between treatment groups. Before treatment, any symptom or condition was reported by 392 (77%) of 508, 177 (32%) of 546, and 106 (18%) of 607 examined participants from Côte d'Ivoire, Laos, and Pemba Island, respectively. All reported baseline symptoms and adverse events assessed 3 h and 24 h after treatment are illustrated in figure 3. Details on country-specific adverse events are provided in

appendix 2 (pp 4-6). 232 (14%) of 1663 participants reported any adverse event 3 h after treatment, and 213 (14%) of 1565 reported any adverse event 24 h after treatment. The most frequently reported adverse events in both groups were headache, abdominal pain, and itching. Adverse events were mostly transient and resolved within 24 h. Few participants experienced moderate (23 of 1663, 1%) and severe (six of 1663, <1%) adverse events. 61% (146 of 239) and 59% (125 of 211) of all assessed adverse events were classified as possibly treatment-related in the ivermectin-albendazole and albendazole groups, respectively. More moderate-tosevere adverse events were observed 24 h than 3 h after treatment (27 vs 15 events), with higher numbers in Côte d'Ivoire (21 events) than in Laos (18 events) and Pemba Island (three events). At 24 h after treatment, more moderate-to-severe adverse events were reported in the ivermectin-albendazole group (21 events) than in the albendazole group (six events). These mostly included allergy-like symptoms involving itching, rash, and disorders of the digestive tract, but also diarrhoea as a separate clinical symptom, that were resolved without intervention or with antihistamines and glucocorticoid treatment. Adverse events as a result of ivermectin acting on lymphatic filariasis parasites were negligible. None of 607 participants in Pemba Island and four (1%) of 510 participants in Côte d'Ivoire tested positive for IgG or IgM antibodies against *Wuchereria bancrofti* before treatment, only one of whom reported mild abdominal pain 3 h after treatment.

Discussion

We did a randomised controlled trial in three distinct epidemiological settings in people aged 6-60 years with the overarching goal to inform STH control guidelines and programmes on the potential benefit of using ivermectin in combination with albendazole against trichuriasis. Our findings revealed superiority in terms of cure rate and ERR of the combination therapy over albendazole monotherapy against T trichiura infections in Laos and Pemba Island. Yet, in Côte d'Ivoire, ivermectin-albendazole showed unsatisfactory efficacy. The trial results further highlight the need for a change in treatment for mass drug administration campaigns, since we found low efficacy of albendazole according to the WHO reference efficacy (arithmetic mean-based ERR <50%) in all three settings.²² The observed cure rates were even lower than the initially assumed cure rate for albendazole of 30%, which might be explained by a more rigid eligibility criterion (minimal egg count of 100 EPG) and diagnostic approach (four Kato-Katz slides analysed per timepoint) than used in earlier studies. Ivermectinalbendazole showed a good safety profile, with mostly mild and transient adverse events. More moderate and severe adverse events were observed 24 h after treatment than 3 h after treatment and in the ivermectinalbendazole group than in the albendazole monotherapy group. This finding might in part be explained by the half-life of ivermectin (ie, approximately 18-28 h in humans).23 Nevertheless, trials like this one are not powered to assess statistical differences in safety outcomes.

The efficacy of ivermectin-albendazole on Pemba Island was slightly higher in our study (cure rate 49%) than in earlier studies in Zanzibari school-aged children (cure rates 38% and 28%);^{13,14} however, in a subgroup analysis in which we considered only school-aged children (6-12 years), the cure rate was similar to the earlier studies (26%). Previous trials done in Asian settings showed similar or higher cure rates for combination therapy in T trichiura-infected children from the Philippines (65%) and Sri Lanka (79%) compared with children from Laos (52%),11,12 yet these data were collected around 20 years ago and the diagnostic approaches used in those studies were less rigid than the diagnostic approach we applied. While the two African trial cohorts were relatively comparable with regard to age composition and baseline infection intensity of T trichiura, the mean age in Laos was much older and in turn baseline EPGs were lower. Subgroup analysis has shown that baseline infection intensities have an important role in treatment efficacy and thus might in part explain why the highest cure rates for ivermectin-albendazole were found in Laos.



Figure 3: Baseline symptoms and adverse events at each timepoint by group and grade *Not applicable at this timepoint.

The low efficacy of ivermectin–albendazole against T trichiura in Côte d'Ivoire warrants further investigation. Several patient factors might influence treatment outcome. Metabolisation and drug absorption are universally accepted to play a role in drug efficacy, but in the case of intestinal parasites, direct drug exposure in the lumen might be as important to kill them. To date, the influence of changes in drug disposition of albendazole and ivermectin on efficacy have not been described. Moreover, the nutritional and immunological status, as well as the intestinal microbiome, of patients are believed to have a potential impact on pharmacokinetics or how effectively parasitic infections are cleared.^{24,25}

Acquired drug resistance might be another explanation for treatment failure. However, there is no evidence for resistance in human STH infections, and potential mechanisms of ivermectin resistance in *T trichiura* are yet to be fully understood.²³ Nonetheless, drug pressure might trigger anthelmintic resistance and should not be underestimated. Côte d'Ivoire has the longest history of community-wide use of ivermectin to fight filarial diseases, compared with Laos, where to date ivermectin has not been used in any programme.^{26,27} In Laos, mainly mebendazole is provided for STH control. On Pemba Island, mass drug administration against lymphatic filariasis was stopped in 2015 after six rounds.²⁸ We observed no typical patterns of acquired resistance in the data, such as geographical heterogeneity in efficacy, as efficacy was similarly low in villages situated within a perimeter of up to 40 km distance. Moreover, a surprisingly low efficacy of ivermectin was observed in dose-finding studies in another study area in Côte d'Ivoire.²⁹

Differences in parasite genetics, causing variance in parasite defense systems (eg, drug efflux pumps and detoxification enzymes), among *T trichiura* strains might have a role in reduced treatment efficacy.^{7,30} Wholegenome and amplicon sequencing of local *T trichiura* parasites or eggs might provide further insight into potential adaptations of the Côte d'Ivoire strain.³¹

The biggest limitation of our study was the reduced sensitivity of the Kato-Katz diagnosis technique compared with PCR-based diagnosis. However, to minimise potential overestimation of efficacy measures, we applied rigorous inclusion criteria for positive individuals (ie, 100 EPG and two out of four Kato-Katz slides positive). Furthermore, we performed qPCR diagnosis on samples from Pemba Island and compared efficacy measures. These findings revealed lower cure rates in PCR-based diagnosis than in diagnosis with the Kato-Katz technique, but ivermectin-albendazole still showed significantly higher cure rates against T trichiura than albendazole.8 Our safety outcomes were descriptive and did not explore for multiple events nor account for differential follow-up between settings. Comparison of safety outcomes between settings should thus be interpreted with caution.

Countries affected by trichuriasis, strongyloidiasis, and scabies would clearly benefit from introduction or broader application of ivermectin-albendazole, which is currently exclusively used for onchocerciasis and lymphatic filariasis.28 These efforts would go hand in hand with the recommendations put forth by WHO in the 2021-30 roadmap for neglected tropical diseases.4 A current obstacle for use of ivermectin-albendazole in STH programmes is the prohibitive costs of good-quality ivermectin and the absence of donations for this purpose; the Mectizan Donation Program covers only lymphatic filariasis and onchocerciasis.4 Challenges for communitywide ivermectin-albendazole implementation include administration to identified at-risk groups (preschoolaged children and pregnant and lactating women).3 Ivermectin is not recommended for children shorter than 90 cm or weighing less than 15 kg, pregnant women, or lactating women in the first week after birth.9 New evidence on ivermectin safety and field-applicable solutions for dosing are needed. Simultaneously, efforts

should be made to identify and test alternative treatment options to effectively treat infections in areas with low ivermectin–albendazole efficacy against *T trichiura*. Alternative drug combination candidates could be oxantel pamoate or moxidectin with albendazole against *T trichiura* infections.⁸

In conclusion, ivermectin–albendazole, the only approved and available combination anthelmintic therapy, is a valuable and safe alternative treatment to albendazole monotherapy, which showed low efficacy against *T trichiura* in all settings. Future trials might look at effectiveness rather than efficacy using cluster-randomised designs, allowing for inclusion of bigger sample sizes and more conclusive safety comparisons. Current diagnosis to assess STH efficacy in trials should be complemented by molecular techniques (eg, qPCR) in at least a subsample from each trial site to better depict the real-life performance.

Contributors

EH, JH, and JK designed the study. EH, LK, CP, SW, SMAl, SMAm, SS, JTC, and JK planned the study. EH, LK, CP, SW, SMAl, SMAm, SS, JTC, and JK implemented the study. EH, JH, and JK analysed and interpreted the trial data and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. LK, CP, SW, SMAl, SMAM, SS, and JTC revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript, had full access to all the data in the study, and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication. EH, LK, CP, SW, and JH accessed and verified the data.

Declaration of interests

We declare no competing interests.

Data sharing

The study protocol is available on ClinicalTrials.gov, NCT03527732, and in appendix 1, together with the statistical analysis plan, which also includes key elements of the analysis code. Individual deidentified participant data that underlie the results reported in this Article will be available upon request directly after publication, with no end date. Supporting clinical documents, including approval of the proposals and the informed consent form plan, will be made available upon request immediately following publication for at least 1 year. Access will be granted to researchers who provide a methodologically sound proposal. The sponsor, investigators, and collaborators will approve the proposals on the basis of scientific merit. Requests should be directed to the corresponding author (jennifer.keiser@swisstph.ch). Researchers who request data will need to sign a data access agreement before they are granted access.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank all participants and parents or guardians for their trust and vital participation in this study. We are indebted to all local helpers, including the village and medical authorities of Chake Chake district, Pemba Island, Nambak district, Luang Prabang province, Laos, and the districts of Dabou and Jacqueville in Côte d'Ivoire, for their collaboration, which made this work possible. We are deeply thankful to all trial team members from Centre Suisse de Recherches Scientiques and Université Félix Hophouët-Boigny in Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire, Lao Tropical and Public Health Institute, Vientiane, Laos, and Public Health Laboratory-Ivo de Carneri, Chake Chake, Pemba Island, for their hard and skillful work in the field and laboratory. We are grateful to Jörg Huwyler and Maxim Puchkov from the pharmacological technology department of the University of Basel for production and provision of appearance-matched ivermectin placebos. We acknowledge WHO for supplying albendazole free of charge and Merck Sharp & Dohme for provision of Stromectol (ivermectin) to reduced costs. This study was funded by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (reference number OPP1153928)

For more on the Mectizan Donation Program see https://mectizan.org/

References

- Montresor A, Mupfasoni D, Mikhailov A, et al. The global progress of soil-transmitted helminthiases control in 2020 and World Health Organization targets for 2030. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 2020; 14: e0008505.
- 2 Jourdan PM, Lamberton PHL, Fenwick A, Addiss DG. Soil-transmitted helminth infections. *Lancet* 2018; 391: 252–65.
- 3 WHO. Guideline: preventive chemotherapy to control soiltransmitted helminth infections in at-risk population groups. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2017.
- 4 WHO. Ending the neglect to attain the sustainable development goals—a road map for neglected tropical diseases 2021–2030. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2020.
- 5 Moser W, Schindler C, Keiser J. Efficacy of recommended drugs against soil transmitted helminths: systematic review and network meta-analysis. *BMJ* 2017; 358: j4307.
- 6 Kaplan RM, Vidyashankar AN. An inconvenient truth: global worming and anthelmintic resistance. Vet Parasitol 2012; 186: 70–78.
- 7 WHO. Research priorities for helminth infections: technical report of the TDR disase reference group on helminth infections. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2012.
- 8 Moser W, Schindler C, Keiser J. Drug combinations against soiltransmitted helminth infections. Adv Parasitol 2019; 103: 91–115.
- 9 WHO. The selection and use of essential medicines: report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization, 2017.
- 10 Bockarie MJ, Taylor MJ, Gyapong JO. Current practices in the management of lymphatic filariasis. *Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther* 2009; 7: 595–605.
- 11 Ismail MM, Jayakody RL. Efficacy of albendazole and its combinations with ivermectin or diethylcarbamazine (DEC) in the treatment of *Trichuris trichiura* infections in Sri Lanka. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* 1999; **93**: 501–04.
- 12 Belizario VY, Amarillo ME, de Leon WU, de los Reyes AE, Bugayong MG, Macatangay BJ. A comparison of the efficacy of single doses of albendazole, ivermectin, and diethylcarbamazine alone or in combinations against Ascaris and Trichuris spp. Bull World Health Organ 2003; 81: 35–42.
- 13 Knopp S, Mohammed KA, Speich B, et al. Albendazole and mebendazole administered alone or in combination with ivermectin against *Trichuris trichiura*: a randomized controlled trial. *Clin Infect Dis* 2010; **51**: 1420–28.
- 14 Speich B, Ali SM, Ame SM, et al. Efficacy and safety of albendazole plus ivermectin, albendazole plus mebendazole, albendazole plus oxantel pamoate, and mebendazole alone against *Trichuris trichiura* and concomitant soil-transmitted helminth infections: a four-arm, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2015; 15: 277–84.
- 15 Palmeirim MS, Hürlimann E, Knopp S, et al. Efficacy and safety of co-administered ivermectin plus albendazole for treating soiltransmitted helminths: a systematic review, meta-analysis and individual patient data analysis. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 2018; 12: e0006458.
- 16 Keller L, Welsche S, Patel C, et al. Long-term outcomes of ivermectinalbendazole versus albendazole alone against soil-transmitted helminths: results from randomized controlled trials in Lao PDR and Pemba Island, Tanzania. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 2021; 15: e0009561.

- 17 Patel C, Hürlimann E, Keller L, et al. Efficacy and safety of ivermectin and albendazole co-administration in school-aged children and adults infected with *Trichuris trichiura*: study protocol for a multi-country randomized controlled double-blind trial. *BMC Infect Dis* 2019; 19: 262.
- 18 Katz N, Chaves A, Pellegrino J. A simple device for quantitative stool thick-smear technique in *Schistosomiasis mansoni. Rev Inst Med Trop São Paulo* 1972; 14: 397–400.
- Schär F, Hattendorf J, Khieu V, et al. Strongyloides stercoralis larvae excretion patterns before and after treatment. Parasitology 2014; 141: 892–97.
- 20 Keller L, Patel C, Welsche S, Schindler T, Hürlimann E, Keiser J. Performance of the Kato-Katz method and real time polymerase chain reaction for the diagnosis of soil-transmitted helminthiasis in the framework of a randomised controlled trial: treatment efficacy and day-to-day variation. *Parasit Vectors* 2020; 13: 517.
- 21 WHO. Soil-transmitted helminthiases: eliminating soiltransmitted helminthiases as a plublic health problem in children: progress report 2001–2010 and strategic plan 2011–2020. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2012.
- 22 WHO. Assessing the efficacy of anthelminthic drugs against schistosomiasis and soil-transmitted helminthiases. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2013.
- 23 Prichard RK. Ivermectin resistance and overview of the Consortium for Anthelmintic Resistance SNPs. *Expert Opin Drug Discov* 2007; **2**: S41–52.
- Koski KG, Scott ME. Gastrointestinal nematodes, nutrition and immunity: breaking the negative spiral. *Annu Rev Nutr* 2001; 21: 297–321.
- 25 Schneeberger PHH, Coulibaly JT, Panic G, et al. Investigations on the interplays between *Schistosoma mansoni*, praziquantel and the gut microbiome. *Parasit Vectors* 2018; **11**: 168.
- 26 Koudou BG, Kouakou MM, Ouattara AF, et al. Update on the current status of onchocerciasis in Côte d'Ivoire following 40 years of intervention: progress and challenges. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 2018; 12: e0006897.
- 27 Yokoly FN, Zahouli JBZ, Meite A, et al. Low transmission of Wuchereria bancrofii in cross-border districts of Côte d'Ivoire: a great step towards lymphatic filariasis elimination in west Africa. PLoS One 2020; 15: e0231541.
- 28 Barda B, Albonico M, Buonfrate D, et al. Side benefits of mass drug administration for lymphatic filariasis on *Strongyloides stercoralis* prevalence on Pemba Island, Tanzania. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 2017; **97**: 681–83.
- 29 Wimmersberger D, Coulibaly JT, Schulz JD, et al. Efficacy and safety of ivermectin against *Trichuris trichiura* in preschool-aged and school-aged children: a randomized controlled dose-finding trial. *Clin Infect Dis* 2018; 67: 1247–55.
- 30 Else KJ, Keiser J, Holland CV, et al. Whipworm and roundworm infections. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* 2020; **6:** 44.
- 31 Hawash MB, Betson M, Al-Jubury A, et al. Whipworms in humans and pigs: origins and demography. *Parasit Vectors* 2016; **9**: 37.

Supplementary appendix: Efficacy and safety of co-administered ivermectin and albendazole against T. trichiura

Page 1 of 6

Supplementary appendix

Tables of contents

Multiple imputation in Laos	2
Table S1. Comparison of odds ratios from unadjusted logistic regression analysis of available case and intention to treat population samples in Laos	ole 2
Table S2. Sub group analysis	3
Table S3. Specific adverse events by treatment arm and time point in Côte d'Ivoire	4
Table S4. Specific adverse events by treatment arm and time point in Laos	5
Table S5. Specific adverse events by treatment arm and time point on Pemba Island	6

Page 2 of 6

Multiple imputation in Laos

In Laos, the proportion of missing data exceeded the threshold of 10%. Therefore, the available case analysis was complemented by an intention to treat analysis using multiple imputation (as implemented in R's mi package).

Participants' sex, age, height, weight, *T. trichiura* egg counts at baseline and treatment arm were used to impute the infection status (cured) at follow-up. Except the variable infection status at follow-up (142 values missing) none of the other variables had missing values.

The imputation algorithm generated 20 imputed datasets (30 iterations, 6 chains). Imputation performance was assessed via the R-hat statistics and convergence was visually inspected. Imputation performance was assessed via the R-hat statistics and convergence was visually inspected. Imputation diagnostics indicated convergence after 30 iterations ($\hat{R} = 1.006$).

Below point and interval estimates are provided for the available case on the imputed intention to treat analysis (unadjusted logistic regression).

Table S1. Comparison of odds ratios from unadjusted logistic regression analysis of available case and intention to treat population samples in Laos

Analysis population	N ALB	N IVM-ALB	Odds ratio	95% CI
Available case	194	213	21.3	12.2 - 39.5
Intention to treat (multiple imputation)	274	275	21.1	12.0 - 37.3

Table S2. Sub group analysis

Subgroup	Ν	Baseline EPG Median (Q1-Q3)	CR ALB % (N _{cured} /N _{total})	CR IVM-ALB % (N _{cured} /N _{total})	Difference %-points	95% CI
Age 6 to 12 years	467	444 (204-1236)	8% (17/224)	26% (64/243)	18.7	12 - 25
Age 13 years and older	407	264 (159-525)	11% (23/205)	53% (108/202)	42.2	34 - 50
Light baseline infection intensity	687	246 (156-441)	11% (37/339)	45% (156/348)	33.9	28 - 40
Moderate/heavy baseline infection intensity	187	1908 (1293-3330)	3% (3/90)	16% (16/97)	13.2	5 - 22
	1 CD			01 00 1	. •1	

ALB, albendazole; CI,: confidence interval; CR, cure rate; IVM-ALB, ivermectin-albendazole; Q1-Q3, interquartile range.

	Baseline								3h post-t	reatment		24h post-treatment							
	ALB (n=254)		IVM-ALB (n=254)		TOTAL (n=508)		ALB (n=253)		IVM-ALB (n=253)		TOTAL (n=506)		ALB (n=227)		IVM-ALB (n=231)		TOTAL (n=458)		
	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	
Adverse event	Any grade	Grade ≥2	Any grade	Grade ≥2	Any grade	Grade ≥2	Any grade	Grade ≥2	Any grade	Grade ≥2	Any grade	Grade ≥2	Any grade	Grade ≥2	Any grade	Grade ≥2	Any grade	Grade ≥2	
Abdominal pain	102	11	96	17	198	28	15	0	17	1	32	1	20	0	15	1	35	1	
Allergic reaction	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	1	0	0	0	1	0	8	0	11	4	19	4	
Diarrhea	51	3	66	7	117	10	3	0	9	0	12	0	10	1	20	3	30	4	
Fever ^a	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	3	0	0	0	5	1	5	1	
Headache	76	7	88	13	164	20	14	0	16	1	30	1	15	0	20	0	35	0	
Itching	84	5	96	8	180	13	18	1	19	0	37	1	19	1	28	6	47	7	
Nausea	37	2	32	3	69	5	7	0	7	0	14	0	3	0	4	0	7	0	
Other ^b	97	6	101	7	198	13	1	0	2	0	3	0	1	0	1	0	2	0	
Vomiting Total adverse	20	1	19	2	39	3	2	0	4	0	6	0	1	0	6	1	7	1	
events	467	35	498	57	965	92	61	1	77	2	138	3	77	2	110	16	187	18	

Table S3. Specific adverse events by t	treatment arm and time	point in Côte d'Ivoire
--	------------------------	------------------------

ALB, albendazole; IVM-ALB, ivermectin-albendazole; NA, not applicable.

^a Fever; defined as body temperature \geq 38°C. Assessed in 508, 503 and 422 participants at baseline, 3h and 24h time points, respectively. Fever was graded in grade1=38-39°C, grade2=39-40°C, grade3=>40°C (<24h) and grade4=>40°C (>24h).

^b Other baseline symptoms include: reported fever (n=57), cough (n=55), rhinorrhea (n=33), body pain (n=17; including myalgia, arthralgia, lumbago, thoracic pain, limbs, scrotum), vertigo (n=11), ear/eye/throat problems (n=4; including: otalgia, ophthalmalgia, dysphagia, drooling), heartburn (n=4), asthenia/fatigue (n=3), anorexia (n=2), sneezing (n=2), dental problems (n=2; including tooth pain and decay), cardiovascular symptoms (n=2; including high BP and palpitations), psychomotor retardation (n=2), bronchitis (n=1), blood in stool (n=1), insomnia (n=1) and malaria (n=1). Other 3h symptoms: lumbago (n=1), myalgia (n=1), vertigo (n=1). Other 24h symptoms: liquid or foul-smelling stool (n=2).

	Baseline								3h post-t	reatment		24h post-treatment							
	ALB (n=273) IVM-ALB		B (n=273) TOTAL (n=546)		ALB (n=273)		IVM-ALB (n=273)		TOTAL (n=546)		ALB (n=247)		IVM-ALB (n=247)		TOTAL (n=494)				
	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	
Adverse event	Any grade	Grade ≥2	Any grade	Grade ≥2	Any grade	Grade ≥2	Any grade	Grade ≥2	Any grade	Grade ≥2	Any grade	Grade ≥2	Any grade	Grade ≥2	Any grade	Grade ≥2	Any grade	Grade ≥2	
Abdominal pain	14	0	19	0	33	0	10	0	2	1	12	1	12	1	8	0	20	1	
Allergic reaction	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Diarrhea	14	0	10	0	24	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	6	0	3	1	9	1	
Fever ^a	1	0	1	0	2	0	8	0	5	1	13	1	1	0	3	0	4	0	
Headache	51	7	67	8	118	15	23	1	35	1	58	2	34	1	28	0	62	1	
Itching	7	2	10	4	17	6	0	0	2	0	2	0	2	1	5	4	7	5	
Nausea	3	2	2	0	5	2	2	1	8	1	10	2	2	1	0	0	2	1	
Other ^b	18	10	8	4	26	14	5	1	6	0	11	1	0	0	2	0	2	0	
Vomiting Total adverse events	2 110	2 23	0 117	0 16	2 227	2 39	2 50	1 4	1 59	1 5	3 109	2 9	0 57	0 4	0 49	0 5	0 106	0 9	

Table S4. Specific adverse events by treatment arm and time point in Laos

ALB, albendazole; IVM-ALB, ivermectin-albendazole; NA, not applicable.

^a Fever; defined as measured body temperature \geq 38°C. Assessed in 545, 542 and 494 participants at baseline, 3h and 24h time points, respectively. Fever was graded in grade1=38-39°C, grade2=39-40°C, grade3=>40°C (<24h) and grade4=>40°C (>24h).

^b Other baseline symptoms: migraine (n=6), reported fever (n=5), cough (n=3), body pain (including lumbago, thoracic pain) (n=4), vertigo (n=3), common cold (n=2), anorexia (n=1), gonorrhea (n=1), skin rash on limbs (n=1). Other 3h symptoms: vertigo (n=9), fatigue (n=1), hot sensation of face (n=1). Other 24h symptoms: heart burn (n=1), vertigo (n=1).

	Baseline								3h post-t	reatment		24h post-treatment							
	ALB (n=303)		IVM-ALB (n=304)		TOTAL (n=607)		ALB (n=303)		IVM-ALB (n=308)		TOTAL (n=611)		ALB (n=305)		IVM-AL	B (n=308)	TOTAL (n=613)		
	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	No.,	
A driance event	Any	Grade	Any	Grade	Any	Grade	Any	Grade	Any	Grade	Any	Grade	Any	Grade	Any	Grade	Any	Grade	
Adverse event	grade	<u> </u>	grade	<u> </u>	grade	<u> </u>	grade	<u> </u>	grade	<u> </u>	grade	<u> </u>	grade	<u> </u>	grade	<u> </u>	grade	<u> </u>	
Abdominal pain	25	0	30	1	55	1	12	0	6	0	18	0	3	0	2	0	5	0	
Allergic reaction	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Diarrhea	9	0	10	0	19	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Fever ^a	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Headache	14	0	17	0	31	0	7	1	5	0	12	1	1	0	4	0	5	0	
Itching	9	2	5	0	14	2	0	0	1	0	1	0	2	0	0	0	2	0	
Nausea	8	0	14	1	22	1	4	0	1	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Other ^b	2	0	4	0	6	0	3	0	2	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Vomiting Total adverse	0	0	4	0	4	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	
events	67	2	84	2	151	4	28	2	16	1	44	3	6	0	6	0	12	0	

Table S5. Specific adverse events by treatment arm and time point on Pemba Island

ALB, albendazole; IVM-ALB, ivermectin-albendazole; NA, not applicable.

^a Fever; defined as body temperature \geq 38° C. Assessed in 613, 610 and 612 participants at baseline, 3h and 24h time points, respectively.

^b Other symptoms include: dizziness (n=2), cough (n=1), hemoptysis (n=1), feeling feverish (n=1), wrist pain (n=1) at baseline; dizziness (n=3), abdominal discomfort (n=1), feeling feverish (n=1) 3h post-treatment.

5. Assessment of fecal calprotectin and fecal occult blood as point-of-care markers for soil-transmitted helminth attributable intestinal morbidity in a case-control substudy conducted in Côte d'Ivoire, Lao PDR and Pemba Island, Tanzania

Chandni Patel^{1,2‡}, Ladina Keller^{1,2‡}, Sophie Welsche^{1,2}, Jan Hattendorf^{1,2}, Somphou Sayasone^{1,2,3}, Said M. Ali⁴, Shaali M. Ame⁴, Jean Tenena Coulibaly^{1,2,5,6}, Eveline Hürlimann^{1,2} and Jennifer Keiser^{1,2}

¹Medical Parasitology and Infection Biology, Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Basel,

Switzerland

² University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

³ Department of International Program for Health in the Tropics, Lao Tropical and Public Health

Institute, Vientiane, Lao People's Democratic Republic

⁴ Public Health Laboratory Ivo de Carneri, Chake Chake, Pemba, Zanzibar (Tanzania)

⁵ Unité de Formation et de Recherche Biosciences, Université Félix Houphouët-Boigny,

Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

⁶ Department of Research and Development, Centre Suisse de Recherches Scientifiques en Côte

d'Ivoire, Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

[‡] The authors contributed equally to the present work.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

EClinicalMedicine



journal homepage: https://www.journals.elsevier.com/eclinicalmedicine

Research Paper

Assessment of fecal calprotectin and fecal occult blood as point-of-care markers for soil-transmitted helminth attributable intestinal morbidity in a case-control substudy conducted in Côte d'Ivoire, Lao PDR and Pemba Island, Tanzania

Chandni Patel^{a,b,1}, Ladina Keller^{a,b,1}, Sophie Welsche^{a,b}, Jan Hattendorf^{a,b}, Somphou Sayasone^{a,b,c}, Said M. Ali^d, Shaali M. Ame^d, Jean Tenena Coulibaly^{a,b,e,f}, Eveline Hürlimann^{a,b}, Jennifer Keiser^{a,b,*}

^b University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

^d Public Health Laboratory Ivo de Carneri, Chake Chake, Pemba, Zanzibar, Tanzania

^e Unité de Formation et de Recherche Biosciences, Université Félix Houphouët-Boigny, Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

^f Department of Research and Development, Centre Suisse de Recherches Scientifiques en Côte d'Ivoire, Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

ARTICLE INFO

Article History: Received 2 November 2020 Revised 6 January 2021 Accepted 7 January 2021 Available online 30 January 2021

Keywords: Soil-transmitted helminths Helminthiasis Fecal calprotectin Fecal occult blood Intestinal morbidity

ABSTRACT

Background: Infections with soil-transmitted helminths (STHs) may result in chronic inflammatory disorders affecting the human host. The objective of this study was to evaluate Fecal Calprotectin (FC) and Fecal Occult Blood (FOB) in individuals infected and non-infected with STHs to identify potential intestinal morbidity markers. *Methods:* Stool from participants diagnosed positive for *Trichuris trichiura* and concomitant STH infections from three countries was used to perform FC and FOB point-of-care assays. Simultaneously, identified STH negative participants underwent FC and FOB testing as controls. Potential associations between test results and determinants were analyzed using multivariable logistic regression.

Findings: In total, 1034 *T. trichiura* infected cases (mostly light infections) and 157 STH negative controls were tested for FC and FOB. Among all participants tested, 18.5% had \geq 50 µg/g FC concentration, while 14 (1.2%) were positive for FOB. No statistically significant association was found between *T. trichiura* infection or *Ascaris lumbricoides* co-infection and FC concentration, while an inverse association (odds ratio (OR): 0.45, 95% credible intervals (CrI): 0.26, 0.75) was found between hookworm co-infection and FC concentration. In Lao PDR, the proportion of participants in the \geq 50 µg/g FC category was significantly higher in the oldest age category compared to the 5–11 years group (OR: 3.31, 95% CrI: 1.62, 7.24). Too few participants were found positive for FOB to derive any conclusions.

Interpretation: Studies are needed to better understand the relationship between intestinal morbidity and STH infections. Suitable, standardized, low-cost markers of STH attributable morbidity to better monitor the impact of STH control interventions are necessary.

Funding: BMGF (OPP1153928)

© 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/)

1. Introduction

More than 1.5 billion people worldwide are infected with soil-transmitted helminths (STHs), namely Ascaris lumbricoides, hookworm

* Corresponding author.

¹ The authors contributed equally to the present work.

(Ancylostoma duodenale and Necator americanus), and Trichuris trichiura [1]. Helminthiases typically affect the poorest and the most marginalized populations, particularly in tropical and subtropical regions, where access to water, sanitation, and hygiene is inadequate [2,3]. STH infections manifest, if left untreated, as generally asymptomatic chronic infections causing both concurrent and delayed-onset pathologies affecting the human host [4]. Chronic infections and/or infections of heavy intensities can result in malnutrition, malabsorption, reduced growth rate, intestinal obstruction, poor iron status, and iron deficiency

^a Medical Parasitology and Infection Biology, Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Basel, Switzerland

^c Department of International Program for Health in the Tropics, Lao Tropical and Public Health Institute, Vientiane, Lao People's Democratic Republic

E-mail address: jennifer.keiser@swisstph.ch (J. Keiser).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.100724

^{2589-5370/© 2021} The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/)

Research in context

Evidence before this study

Long-term infections with soil-transmitted helminths (STHs) contribute to substantial morbidity; however, evidence on appropriate point-of-care indicators of STH attributable morbidity is scarce. We searched in PubMed for all articles published before Nov 2, 2020 which mentioned "helminth", *"Trichuris trichiura"*, *"Ascaris lumbricoides"*, or "hookworm" and "fecal calprotectin" or "fecal occult blood" in the abstract, without language restrictions. Contradictory findings result from a small body of evidence (nine studies) on the association between STH infection status, infection intensity and intestinal morbidity, using Fecal Calprotectin (FC) or Fecal Occult Blood (FOB) as indicators. Only one study used novel rapid diagnostic immunoassay tests for FOB detection, while none had a sufficient sample size to derive meaningful conclusions.

Added value of this study

This is the first large scale study testing FC and FOB as potential proxy markers for STH attributable intestinal morbidity in three different countries. No association between the presence of intestinal inflammation or mucosal bleeding, assessed with FC and FOB, and *T. trichiura* and *A. lumbricoides* infection status was found, while a negative association between FC concentration and hookworm infection was found.

Implications of all the available evidence

Further research should focus on the development and evaluation of potential morbidity markers, as the appropriate monitoring of STH attributable morbidity might become as important as diagnosing the infection itself. Thus, appropriate indicators of helminth attributable morbidity are still lacking.

anemia [4–9], particularly in those on marginal diets [10]. Long-term consequences include subtle effects on cognition [11], educational performance [12], and school absenteeism [13], impacting individuals' workforce potential, and economic progress among affected groups [14].

Embryonated *T. trichiura* eggs hatch in the small intestine and potentially attach to the mucosa in the large intestine, whereas larvae penetrate the epithelial cells for subsequent growing and molting into adult stages [15]. Adult worms embed their head part into a intracellular niche in the large intestine [16] causing petechial lesions, blotchy mucosal hemorrhage, and oozing leading to both mucosal and systemic immune responses [17–19]. Similarly, hookworm larvae use their cutting plates to attach to the mucosa to begin feeding and molting into adult worms, attributing to intestinal morbidity [20]. In contrast, *A. lumbricoides* feeds passively and never attaches directly to the mucosa [4,21].

The present goal of global control programs recommended by the World Health Organization (WHO), is to reduce morbidity with preventive chemotherapy (i.e. administration of albendazole or mebendazole without prior diagnosis) to at-risk populations (i.e. schoolaged children and women of reproductive age) with accompanying improvements in access to clean water and sanitation to reduce worm burden associated morbidity [22]. Inherent with such control interventions is the necessity to define and validate indicators of helminth attributable morbidity. Even though in most cases morbidity is associated with infecton intensity [23], assessed by classic microscopic diagnosis detecting eggs in the feces, appropriate morbidity parameters are of pivotal importance as they provide additional information on the degree to which the STH infection affects the patient. This is particularly important after anthelmintic treatment, when intensity of infection has reduced markedly, but morbidity still is present [24]. A better clinical understanding of measurable reductions in STH attributable morbidity in response to anthelmintics is needed to appropriately shape and evaluate ongoing or future STH control programs [25].

Fecal biomarkers are promising non-invasive indicators possibly reflecting mucosal inflammation or damage, as molecules from the intestinal mucosa are transported in passing with the feces [26]. It is a well-known phenomenon that the occurrence of blood in feces can be indicative of pathologic changes, especially in the context of malignancies or inflammation [27].

Fecal Calprotectin (FC), a neutrophil cytoplasmic multimeric complex of the calcium-binding proteins, is abundant in neutrophil granulocytes, monocytes, and early stage macrophages [28,29]. Translocation of these cells into the intestinal mucosa and degranulation inside the intestinal lumen leads to increased secretion of FC as a response to local inflammation [30,31]. Given the fact that FC levels are stable in feces and not influenced by systemic infections, FC is an interesting biomarker for understanding the association between intestinal inflammation [19,32–34]. Therefore, FC is widely used across gastroenterology practices as a non-invasive surrogate marker for disease activity and response to treatment [35,36]. In the past years, its use in enteric infections is increasing, particularly as a correlative marker for clinical severity and in evaluating bacterial and viral pathogens [37].

Fecal blood is a late symptom of inflammatory tissue damage [30]. For example, blood loss due to *T. trichiura* infections has been estimated to be 5 μ L per adult worm per day [38]. Thus, fecal occult blood (FOB) might be another candidate for a morbidity marker of helminthiasis. FOB tests have been previously used for identifying blood loss in hookworm infection, trichuriasis, and intestinal schistosomiasis [39–42]. However, most studies used guaiac-based FOB tests that are known to be less sensitive than immunochemical assays [43].

Rapid immunological FC and FOB dipstick tests are non-invasive, easily preserved, and reliable diagnostic tools allowing immediate detection of FC for diagnosing intestinal inflammation and FOB for occult blood in the feces indicating intestinal morbidity [44]. Characteristics and applicability of field-appropriate diagnostic tools using proxy markers for STH morbidity are not well investigated to date [42]. Moreover, previous work on morbidity indicators is mostly limited to research on schistosomiasis causing gastrointestinal morbidity [41–43,45–47]. Although, some case reports suggest mucosal damage as a consequence of STH infections [48,49], evidence on the association between infection and intestinal inflammation is lacking [8].

The objective of the current study was to investigate FC and FOB as potential STH gut morbidity markers as a tool to monitor the impact of community-level deworming. Using FC and FOB as biomarkers, we aimed at assessing the potential association between the presence of intestinal inflammation and STH infection status.

2. Methods

2.1. Study design

The presented data derive from a randomized controlled trial (RCT) assessing efficacies of ivermectin-albendazole and albendazole alone against *T. trichiura* and concomitant STH infections in participants aged 6–60 years. The study was conducted in communities in the Lagunes region in Côte d'Ivoire, in the Luang Prabang Province in Lao PDR, and in South Pemba on Pemba Island, Tanzania during the screening period (Nov 2018 to Dec 2019) of the trial. Prior to study initiation, ethical clearance was granted by the Ethics Committee of Northwestern and Central Switzerland (EKNZ; reference no: BASEC Nr Req-2018–00494), the Zanzibar Medical Research and Ethics Committee (ZAMREC, reference no.: ZAMREC/0003/Feb/2018), the Comité National d'Éthique et de la Recherche, Ministère de la Santé et de Lutte contre le SIDA (reference no.: 088–18/MSHP/CNESVS-



Fig. 1. Study design.

Abbreviations: T. trichiura, Trichura; FC, Fecal Calprotectin, FOB; Fecal Occult Blood; Lao PDR, Lao People's Democratic Republic; RCT, Randomized Controlled Trial; RDT, Rapid Diagnostic Test; STH, Soil-transmitted helminth

^a Positive or negative according to the first and second stool sample; second stool sample was used for subsequent fecal RDT

^b Positive or negative according to the first stool sample, which was used for subsequent fecal RDT on the same day.

km), the Direction de la Pharmacie, du Médicament et des Laboratoires (reference no. ECCI00918) in Côte d'Ivoire, and the National Ethics Committee for Health Research, Ministry of Health in Lao PDR (reference no. 093/NECHR). Trial and study details are summarized in the published trial protocol [50] and in the trial registration (clinicaltrials.gov, reference: NCT03527732, date assigned: 17 May 2018).

Prior to study enrollment, all inhabitants of the chosen villages were invited to information sessions at local places, during which the research staff explained the purpose and procedures of this study, as well as the potential benefits and risks of participation. Written informed consent was obtained from adults and parents or legal guardians of children below the age of adulthood (21 years in Côte d'Ivoire and 18 years in Lao PDR and Pemba Island). Children aged below the age of adulthood gave written assent (Côte d'Ivoire) or oral assent (Lao PDR and Pemba Island).

2.2. Study procedures

A short census was conducted at the start of screening, during which the name, sex, age, and village name were recorded for all participants. Consenting and eligible participants (aged 6–60, as the only inclusion criteria for screening) were asked to provide two fresh morning stool samples (as per inclusion criteria), preferably on consecutive days, in containers labelled with their assigned unique ID. Collected stool samples were kept in a cool box containing ice packs while being transported to the field laboratory.

Duplicate Kato-Katz thick smears $(2 \times 41.7 \text{ mg of stool})$ were prepared and examined under a microscope by experienced laboratory technicians for species-specific diagnosis of STH ova (i.e. *T. trichiura, A. lumbricoides,* and hookworm) within 60 min after preparation to avoid over-clearing of hookworm eggs [51] following the World Health Organization (WHO) standard procedures [52]. Additionally, in Lao PDR, Kato-Katz thick smear slides were examined for *Opisthorchis viverrini* infection and infections of *Strongyloides stercoralis* were classified as larvae-positive or negative using the Baermann technique [53]. To assure high quality of the microscopic evaluation, 10% of all Kato-Katz slides were randomly chosen, re-labeled, and reexamined for *A. lumbricoides* and *T. trichiura*. In brief, microscopic results were considered inconsistent if there was a difference in presence/absence of a specific helminth species, or if differences in egg counts exceeded (i) 10 eggs for Kato-Katz thick smears with \leq 100 eggs, or (ii) exceeded 20% for Kato-Katz thick smears with > 100 eggs. In case of discrepancies between the original and the quality control read, slides were read by a third independent microscopist and results were discussed until consensus was reached [54].

Of those found positive for T. trichiura, a random subsample of unique ID numbers (generated by a co-investigator not involved in the laboratory work) were chosen to undergo FC and FOB testing the same day. At the same time, of those participants found negative for T. trichiura, A. lumbricoides, and hookworm, a subsample of approximately 50 participants were chosen at random (using a list generated in the same manner as described above) in each setting to undergo FC and FOB testing. Participants who were found not to be infected with T. trichiura, but were infected with A. lumbricoides and/or hookworm infections were not included in this study. All included participants donated two fecal samples in order to increase the precision of the STH infection result. On Pemba Island, the first of the two fecal sample was used for subsequent rapid diagnostic testing (RDT). Due to the low prevalence of T. trichiura infections in the communities chosen in Lao PDR and Côte d'Ivoire, it was decided to use the second donated stool sample to ensure participants in this study would also be included in the larger trial, which had a minimum infection intensity cut-off of 100 T. trichiura eggs per gram of stool.

Cases that were subsequently enrolled in the clinical trial, were clinically examined by a physician and their height, weight, and hemoglobin levels recorded. However, negative controls, whom were not eligible for trial inclusion, did not undergo clinical examination.

C. Patel et al. / EClinicalMedicine 32 (2021) 100724



Fig. 2. Prevalence of \geq 50 μ g/g FC concentration by EPG for *Trichiura trichuris* infections, *Ascaris lumbricoides*, and hookworm co-infections, and, in addition, by country (middle row), and age group (bottom row).

Abbreviations: A. lumbricoides, Ascaris lumbricoides; EPG, eggs per gram; FC, fecal calprotectin; T. trichiura, Trichuris trichiura.

2.3. Point-of-care tests: fecal calprotectin and fecal occult blood

A semi-quantitative chromatographic immunoassay (Actim[®] Fecal Calprotectin test, Medix Biochemica, Finland) was applied for FC detection according to the manufacturer's instructions. In brief, the participant number was first written on the Specimen Dilution Buffer tube (3 mL) before unscrewing. The sampling stick, attached to the cap, was first twisted into different places of the fecal sample in order to make sure that both slits at the head of the stick contained stool. The sampling stick was put back in the tube and shaken to suspend the feces in the buffer. A dipstick was then inserted into the perforation area of the buffer tube before inverting the tube by 90° for two seconds. The tube was then placed on a flat surface in an upright position. Results were read after ten minutes with one test line indicating a valid test result with a FC level < 50 μ g/g, two lines indicating a level of 50–200 μ g/g, and three lines indicating a level > 200 μ g/g of FC concentration in the test specimen based on reference values provided by the manufacturer. FC levels < 50 μ g/g were interpreted as no inflammation, 50–200 μ g/g of FC as possible inflammation and > 200 μ g/g of FC as likely active inflammation, similar to suggestions by Bressler et al [55].
Table 1
Baseline characteristics of T. trichiura positive cases and STH negative controls.

Total of participants included N (%) ^a	<i>T. trichiura</i> positive, n (%) 1034 (86.8)	STH negative, n (%) 157 (13.2)
Total of participants included, N. (%)	1054(80.8)	137 (13-2)
Females, n (%)	533 (51.5)	104 (66-2)
Mean age, years (SD)	18.7 (15.0)	30.1 (16.2)
Mean BMI, kg/m ² (SD) ^b	18.1 (4.6)	NA
Mean hemoglobin, g/L (SD) ^b	124.6 (14.5)	NA
T.trichiura infection		NA
Geometric mean EPG	492.0	
Infection intensity ^c , n (%)		
Light	784 (75.8)	
Moderate	240 (23.2)	
Heavy	10(1.0)	
A. lumbricoides co-infection		NA
Infected, n (%)	345 (33.3)	
Geometric mean EPG	4317.9	
Infection intensity ^c , n (%)		
Light	167 (48-4)	
Moderate	150 (43.5)	
Heavy	28 (8.1)	
Hookworm co-infection	. ,	NA
Infected, n (%)	338 (32.7)	
Geometric mean EPG	559.4	
vInfection intensity ^c , n (%)		
Light	253 (74.9)	
Moderate	49 (14.5)	
Heavy	36 (10.7)	
S. stercoralis co-infection ^d	. ,	NA
Infected/Surveyed, n (%)	49/277 (17.7)	
<i>O. viverrini</i> co-infection ^d	,	NA
Infected, n (%)	54/300 (18.0)	

Abbreviations: A. lumbricoides, Ascaris lumbricoides; BMI, body mass index; EPG, eggs per gram; NA, not applicable; O. viverrini, Opisthorchis viverrini; SD, standard deviation; S. stercoralis, Strongyloides stercoralis; T. trichiura, Trichuris trichiura.

^a Baseline characteristics were assessed for 1191 participants surveyed for FC. Additionally, 2 participants missed FOB testing, however, baseline characteristics between FC and FOB are thus very similar.

^b BMI and hemoglobin was only assessed in participants attending subsequent clinical examination.

^c Infection intensities were classified according to WHO recommendations, based on guidelines established by Montresor et al. (1998).

^d O. viverrini and S. stercoralis co-infections were only assessed in Lao PDR.

A simple immunochemical test was applied for FOB (Actim[®] Fecal Blood test, Medix Biochemica, Finland) detection, following the manufacturer's instructions. Unlike traditional guaiac tests, this test is based on highly specific monoclonal antibodies that only detect human hemoglobin, thus, food substances containing hemoglobin or peroxidase activity do not influence test results. Test procedure was similar to the aforementioned FC test, however; positive results were readable immediately as soon as two blue lines appeared, negative samples remained with only one blue line after ten minutes. Detailed test characteristics (e.g. sensitivity and specificity) are summarized by the manufacturer and published online [56].

Fecal rapid tests were conducted by laboratory personnel not involved in assessing parasitological data and masked to the identity of participants providing samples. The results from each test were then recorded on a personal log form by the technician involved in the fecal rapid diagnostic testing. If no control line appeared, the result was recorded as invalid and was repeated with a new dipstick.

2.4. Outcomes

The objective of this study was to evaluate FC and FOB as potential STH gut morbidity markers. Adjusted odds ratios of FC and FOB values were calculated for STH infected participants compared to STH negative controls.

2.5. Sample size

We aimed for a total sample size of 1050: 300 *T. trichiura* positive individuals and 50 individuals negative for all STH infections per country. This study was conducted within the framework of a RCT; therefore, no separate sample size calculation has been conducted. Since prevalence of FC and FOB is unlikely very rare and varies drastically by setting, a sample size of above 1000 was deemed to be sufficient. Moreover, experience has shown that the study would be sufficiently powered unless the outcome or the exposure is rare. We estimated we would be able to detect a halving of risk with at least 80% power if the prevalence in the non-exposed group is at least 10% or higher.

2.6. Statistical analysis

Data were double entered into EpiInfo 3.5.4 by two independent data clerks and crosschecked using the data compare tool of EpiInfo 3.5.4 Any discrepancies between the two datasets were resolved by consulting the original hardcopy. Descriptive analysis was done in Stata IC 15 (StataCorp.; College Station, TX), whereas all statistical estimations were performed in R 3.5.1 (RStudio, PBC, Boston, MA). Proportions of infection with *T. trichiura* and co-infections with *A. lumbricoides* and/or hookworm were assessed for all participants in all three settings, while for Lao PDR *O. viverrini* and *S. stercoralis* co-infections were additionally assessed.

Results from the duplicate Kato-Katz smears from each of the two stool samples were summed and multiplied by a factor of six to be expressed as mean egg count per gram (EPG) of feces. Associations between FC with participant's age, sex, country, and parasitic infections was assessed using Bayesian logistic regression with logit link to estimate odds ratios (ORs) with corresponding 95% credible intervals (CrI). The Bayesian framework - as implemented in the R package 'rstanarm' (v 2.19.3) - was preferred to avoid potential guasi separation problems. We used the default weakly informative prior distributions for all parameters, i.e. normal priors with mean 0 and standard deviation 2.5. The Markov chain Monte Carlo alogorithm drew 1000 samples from 4 chains after a warm-up of additional 1000 samples per chain. Convergence was assessed by the R-hat statistic. Smoothing lines in figures were predicted via generalized additive models for binomial data. Due to the low number of individuals (n = 14/1189) testing positive for FOB, it was decided to forego formal statistical testing and present the results descriptively.

2.7. Role of the funding source

The funder of the study had no role in study design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, or writing of the report. The corresponding author had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

3. Results

3.1. Participants characteristics

Fig. 1 shows the study design by setting. Out of the 6567 participants screened, 2983 (45·4%) were positive for *T. trichiura* infection and 3584 (54·6%) were negative for all STH infections. From these, 1034 of the 2983 *T. trichiura* positive cases and 157 of the STH negative cases were randomly selected for FC and FOB testing.

Baseline parasitological and demographic characteristics of participants surveyed for FC and FOB are summarized in Table 1. Of those participants infected with *T. trichiura* (n = 1034), 51.5% were female, while the mean age of those was 18.7 (±15.0) years. The identified STH negative participants (n = 157) were slightly older with a mean age of 30.1 (± 16.2), while 66.2% of those participants were female.

Test results of fecal calprotectin and fecal occult blood in T. trichiura positive and STH negative participants.

		Fecal calprotectir	1		Fecal occult blood	Total N(%)
	$<$ 50 μ g/g	50–200 μ g/g	$>$ 200 μ g/g	Negative	Positive	
Number of test results, n (%)	971 (81.5)	167 (14.0)	53 (4.5)	1175 (98.8)	14(1.2)	1191 ^a (100)
T. trichiura positive, n (%)	842 (86.7)	149 (12.5)	43 (3.6)	1020 (98.8)	12(1.2)	1034 (100)
Females, n (%)	436 (81.8)	77 (14.4)	20 (3.8)	520 (97.9)	11 (2.1)	533 (100)
Mean age, years (SD)	18.0(14.3)	22.1 (17.5)	21.1 (17.4)	18.6 (14.9)	29.6(18.2)	18.8 (15.0)
Mean BMI, kg/m ² (SD) ^b	18.0 (4.5)	18.9 (5.1)	18.0 (4.5)	18.1 (4.6)	19.2 (3.7)	18.1 (4.6)
Mean hemoglobin, g/L (SD) ^c	124.6(14.5)	124.6 (14.3)	126.0 (14.9)	124.6(14.4)	123.3 (20.6)	124.6 (14.5)
Median EPG (IQR)	408	360	390	405	279	402
	(216-948)	(210-966)	(186-720)	(210-960)	(138-432)	(210-948)
Co-infections with A. lumbricoides						
Positive (%)	273 (78.9)	54 (15.6)	19 (5.5)	343 (99.1)	2 (0.9)	346 (100)
Median EPG (IQR)	4716	9864	10,716	5508	12,861	5508
	(1212-14,376)	(1830-32,802)	(4014-25,362)	(1332-18,462)	(360-25,362)	(1332–18,462)
Co-infections with hookworm						
Positive (%)	271 (79.9)	49 (14.5)	19 (5.6)	330 (97.3)	9 (2.7)	339(100)
Median EPG (IQR)	714	954	522	729	1158	759
	(186–1974)	(492–2064)	(210-2556)	(198-1968)	(252 - 6042)	(204-2064)
Co-infections of T. trichiura						
with 1 other STH	442 (79.0)	87 (15.5)	31 (5.5)	548 (98.2)	10(1.8)	560 (100)
with 2 other STHs	101 (82.1)	15 (12.2)	7 (5.7)	122 (12.0)	1 (8.3)	123 (100)
with O. viverrini ^d	43 (79.6)	8 (14.8)	3 (5.6)	53 (98.1)	1(1.9)	54(100)
with S. stercoralis ^d	39 (79.6)	7 (14-3)	3 (6.1)	48 (98.0)	1 (2.0)	49 (100)
STH negative, n (%)	129 (82-2)	18 (11-4)	10 (6-4)	155 (98.7)	2 (1.3)	157 (100)
Females (%)	89 (69.0)	9 (50.0)	6(60.0)	104 (67.1)	0(0.0)	104 (100)
Mean age, years (SD)	31.3 (15.4)	32.4 (20.5)	20.9 (16.1)	30.1 (16.1)	30.5 (29.0)	21.1 (17.4)

Abbreviations: A. lumbricoides, Ascaris lumbricoides; BMI, body mass index; EPG, eggs per gram; IQR, interquartile range; O. viverrini, Opisthorchis viverrini; SD, standard deviation; S. stercoralis, Strongyloides stercoralis; T. trichiura, Trichuris trichiura.

^a 1191 FC test results and 1189 FOB test results were obtained, as not enough stool was collected from two individuals to conduct FOB tests.

^b Data was only collected in 954 individuals for FC and 953 individuals for FOB, as STH negative and other possibly eligible participants did not attend subseguent clinical examination.

^c Data was only collected in 957 individuals for FC and 956 individuals for FOB, as STH negative and other possibly eligible participants did not attend subsequent clinical examination.

^d O. viverrini and S. stercoralis infections were only assessed in Lao PDR.

In addition to *T. trichiura* infection, 345 (33·3%) participants were co-infected with *A. lumbricoides*, while 338 (32·7%) participants harbored a hookworm co-infection. Among those participants in Lao PDR, 18·0% were found to be co-infected with *O. viverrini* and 17·7% with *S. stercoralis*. Mean body mass index (BMI) and mean hemoglobin concentration were 18·1 (±4·6) kg/m² and 124·6 (±14·5) g/L, respectively.

Median EPGs were 402, 5508, and 759 for *T. trichiura* infections and *A. lumbricoides* and hookworm co-infections, respectively (Table 2). Table 3 shows that the EPG distribution differs among settings with Pemba Island, having a higher median EPG (558, IQR 330–1224) than Côte d'Ivoire (median EPG: 408, IQR 198–1068), and Lao PDR (median EPG: 252, IQR 150–543) for those with *T. trichiura* infection. *A. lumbricoides* co-infection was found in 35.9%, 36.0%, and 27.8% of study participants in Côte d'Ivoire, Lao PDR, and Pemba Island, respectively; though the proportion of *T. trichiura* infected participants with hookworm co-infection was higher in Lao PDR (91.7%) compared to Côte d'Ivoire (7.6%) and Pemba Island (9.9%).

3.2. Fecal rapid diagnostic test results

As shown in Table 2, of those diagnosed with *T. trichiura* (n = 1034), most participants (842 (86·7%)) were found to have a normal FC concentration of $< 50 \ \mu g/g$, while 149 (12·5%) were found to have elevated FC concentrations of 50–200 $\ \mu g/g$. Only a few participants (43 (3·6%)) were identified with high ($> 200 \ \mu g/g$) FC levels. Most participants harboring a co-infection with *A. lumbricoides* (78·9%) or hookworm (79·0%) were found to have a normal FC concentration of $< 50 \ \mu g/g$.

Negative controls showed a similar distribution of FC levels; the majority 129 (82·2%) had a normal FC concentration of < 50 μ g/g, while 18 (11·4%) were identified with FC concentrations of 50–200 μ g/g and 10 (6·4%) with high FC concentrations of >

200 μ g/g. Age, Sex, BMI, and hemoglobin level were similar among the different FC levels.

During the study, 1189 participants were surveyed for FOB, while only a minority of 14 (1.2%) participants were found to be positive. Most of the participants (78.6%) tested positive for FOB were found in the Asian setting. Country specific study results are summarized in Table 3.

Fig. 2 shows the proportion of $\ge 50 \ \mu g/g$ concentration of FC by EPG for each STH and, additionally, by country and age group. For *T. trichiura* infections and hookworm co-infections, FC proportion of $\ge 50 \ \mu g/g$ remains flat as EPG increases; while there is an increase in percentage of $\ge 50 \ \mu g/g$ starting at 100 EPG for *A. lumbricoides* co-infections.

Results of multivariable logistic regression models are summarized in Table 4, while country-specific results are shown in S1 Table (Supplementary Table 1). When results from all three countries were combined, no association was found between FC and infection with T. trichiura and co-infection with A. lumbricoides, while hookworm coinfection was associated with lower odds (OR: 0.45, 95% CrI: 0.26, 0.75). Country was the greatest overall predictor of FC concentration with Lao PDR having a higher odds (OR: 1.77, 95% CrI: 1.09, 2.97)) of \geq 50 μ g/g FC concentration and Pemba Island having a lower odds (OR: 0.23, 95% CrI: 0.14, 0.37) of \geq 50 μ g/g FC concentration when compared, respectively, to Côte d'Ivoire. Older participants (ages 36-64 years) had a statistically significant higher odds of \geq 50 μ g/g FC concentration when compared to participants ages 5-11 years (OR: 1.49, 95% CrI: 1.00, 2.20)). In Lao PDR, the higher odds of \geq 50 μ g/g FC concentration amongst older participants was also seen (OR: 3-31, 95% Crl: 1.62, 7.24 for 36-64 age group). The raw data suggests a country × T. trichiura interaction. Therefore, an additional model including the interaction terms was fitted, which can be found in S2 Table (Supplementary Table 2). However, the estimated odds ratios for age categories, sex, and co-infections changed only slightly.

	Côte d'Ivoire T. trichiura positive	all STH negative	Lao PDR T. trichiura positive	all STH negative	Pemba Island T. trichiura positive	all STH negative
Participants, n	410	51 ^a	300	51 ^b	324	55
Mean age in years (SD)	16.3 (13.6)	31.5 (14.8)	28.3 (17.5)	24.6(17.5)	13.0 (8.8)	24.9 (14.3)
Age categories						
5-11 years (%)	251 (61.2)	8(16.0)	92 (30.7)	20 (40.0)	182 (56-2)	2(3.6)
12-34 years (%)	99 (24.2)	18 (36.0)	91 (30.3)	11 (22.0)	126 (38.9)	22 (40.0)
35-64 years (%)	60 (14.6)	24 (48.0)	117 (39.0)	19 (38.0)	16 (4.9)	31 (56.4)
Females (%)	209 (51.0)	29 (58.0)	157 (52.3)	31 (62.0)	167 (51.5)	43 (78.2)
Median EPG (IQR))	408 (198–1068)	0(0)	252 (150-543)	0(0)	558 (330-1224)	0(0)
A. lumbricoides infection (%)	147 (35.9)	0(0)	108 (36.0)	1 (2·0) ^b	90 (27.8)	0(0)
Hookworm infection (%)	31 (7.6)	$1(2.0)^{a}$	275 (91.7)	0(0)	32 (9.9)	0(0)
O. viverrini infection (%)	ND	ND	54 (18.0)	1 (2.0)	ND	ND
S. stercoralis infection (%)	ND	ND	49 (17.7)	0(0.0)	ND	ND
Fecal calprotectin						
$< 50 \mu g/g$ (%)	311 (75.9)	40 (80.0)	231 (77.0)	33 (66.0)	300 (92.6)	55 (100.0)
\geq 50 μ g/g (%)	99 (24.1)	10 (20.0)	69 (23.0)	17 (34.0)	24 (7.4)	0(0)
Fecal occult blood ^c						
Positive (%)	2(0.5)	0(0)	9 (3.0)	2(4.0)	1 (0.3)	0(0)
Negative (%)	407 (99.5)	50 (100.0)	291 (97.0)	48 (96.0)	322 (99.7)	55 (100.0)

Table 3

Age, sex, and co-infection for participants surveyed for fecal calprotectin and fecal occult blood by country.

Abbreviations: A. lumbricoides, Ascaris lumbricoides; ND, not determined; O. viverrini, Opisthorchis viverrini; SD, standard deviation; STH, soil-transmitted helminths; S. stercoralis, Strongyloides stercoralis; T. trichiura, Trichuris trichiura.

^a 1 of 51 participants was wrongly assigned to a STH negative sample. The hookworm co-infection was of light intensity.

^b 1 of 51 participants was wrongly assigned to a STH negative sample. The *A. lumbricoides* co-infection was of light intensity.

^c Only 409 and 323 assessed in Côte d'Ivoire and Pemba Island, respectively.

4. Discussion

We applied FC and FOB tests to assess the relationship between STH infections and intestinal inflammation or mucosal bleeding in three different countries. It is of pivotal importance to find an affordable, standardized and simple point-of-care test to assess STH attributable morbidity to better survey control interventions. Evidence on the association between local inflammation and STH infections is scarce; however, key problems with much of the literature are the generally small sample sizes [40,57,58] and the use of different biomarkers [19] for intestinal inflammation leading to contradictory results.

We found no associations of FC and FOB with T. trichiura infection and A. lumbricoides co-infection status and intensity in each of the three settings tested, demonstrating that FC and FOB are not good proxy markers for STH attributable gut morbidity. Known immunoregulatory properties of STHs have shown a down-regulation of host response to limit inflammation and tissue damage, which may explain our findings [59,60]. Albeit our results show a slight protective effect of hookworm co-infection, this might be attributed to the hypothesis that hookworm infection causes a dampening effect on FC levels by inhibiting neutrophils, the main calprotectin-producing cell type [61]. Of note, *N. americanus* is expected to be the predominant hookworm species in our settings, ingesting around 0.001 mL blood per day [62–65] Our results suggest age and setting are greater predictors of FC concentration than the presence of helminth infection. Though age has been thoroughly established as a predictor for inflammation in the body [66,67], the root cause of why setting is predictive of high calprotectin is yet to be determined although different diets and exercise might play a role [68].

Our findings add to the small body of evidence currently available on FC concentration and helminth infections. The results we found substantiate on a larger scale the previous findings of de Gier and colleagues, who reported no association between FC concentration and STH infection in 2018 [19]. Additionally, de Gier et al. reported no association between hookworm and FC concentration at baseline or at seven months follow-up [69]. Cepon-Robins et al. similarly observed in a small sample size among the Shuar of Amazonian Ecuador that the relationship between infection and intestinal inflammation were age- and species-specific. These researchers found children singly infected with *T. trichiura* to have significantly lower FC levels, regardless their infection intensity, while no significant relationships were found among adults [57].

Surprisingly, we only found 12 FOB positive results among all STH infected participants. Though we did not formally apply a statistical test for FOB, due to the low number of positive test results, our findings correlate fairly well with Raj et al. as they also did not find a significant difference in the rate of FOB between *T. trichiura* or *A. lumbricoides* positive and negative children [70]. These findings are supported by Wakid who did not detect significant evidence on intestinal parasitic infections, including STHs, and positive FOB tests [71]. In contrast, the findings of Kanzaria et al. and Wanachiwanawin et al. support a relationship between FOB and moderate and heavy *T. trichiura* infections only [40,43].

Different findings were documented for schistosomiasis, a strong association between prevalence and intensity of *Schistosoma mansoni* infection and FOB was observed after repeated treatment over a period of one year in a cohort of young children [41]. These findings seem to be supported by Bustinduy et al. who found a significant correlation between FOB and moderate and heavy egg intensities of *S. mansoni* infection [46]. Moreover, Kanzaria et al. found a positive correlation between FOB and *Schistosoma japonicum* [43]. However, comparison to these studies on schistosomiasis needs to be interpreted with caution, as the host-parasite interaction differs compared to STHs. In the case of intestinal schistosomiasis, the disease is progressed by the chronic and downregulated granulomatous response to entrapped eggs causing polypsosis and pseudopolypsosis leading to rectal bleeding [72].

According to our findings, we suggest that intestinal inflammation and mucosal bleeding caused by STH infections potentially are very low-grade. There might be an age attributable reduction in the rate of parasite establishment, survival, and fecundity due to acquired immunity [73]. Moreover, immune system response to presence of STH ova might differ between the chosen settings. Additionally, blood loss in STH infected individuals might particularly result from the 8

Table 4
Determinants for fecal calprotectin levels in fecal stool samples. Presented are odds
ratios and 95% credible intervals estimated by multivariable logistic regression. ^a

Variable All participants FC ≥ 50 µg/g 220/1191 (18.5%) FC < 50 µg/g 971/1191 (81.5%) OR 95% Crl Country 220/1191 (18.5%) 971/1191 (81.5%) OR 95% Crl Country 352 (76.4%) ref ref Lao PDR 86 (24.6%) 264 (75.4%) 1.77 1.09, 2.97 Pemba Island 24 (6.3%) 352 (76.4%) ref ref Age categories 5 50.93.7%) 0.23 0.14, 0.37 S – 11 years 102 (18.4%) 453 (81.6%) ref ref 12–34 years 49 (13.8%) 305 (86.2%) 0.78 0.52, 1.16 35–64 years 69 (24.5%) 213 (75.5%) 1.49 1.00, 2.20 Sex F F F F Male 1.12 (17.6%) 525 (82.4%) ref ref Male 112 (17.6%) 525 (82.4%) ref ref Male 129 (18.6%) 842 (81.4%) 1.48 0.87, 2.60 Alumbricoides co- infection I I G88 (82.6%) ref <t< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></t<>					
All participants $220/1191(18.5\%)$ $971/1191(81.5\%)$ CountryCôte d'Ivoire $109(23.6\%)$ $352(76.4\%)$ refrefLao PDR $86(24.6\%)$ $264(75.4\%)$ 1.77 $1.09, 2.97$ Pemba Island $24(6.3\%)$ $355(93.7\%)$ 0.23 $0.14, 0.37$ Age categories5-11 years $102(18.4\%)$ $453(81.6\%)$ refref $2-34$ years $49(13.8\%)$ $305(86.2\%)$ 0.78 $0.52, 1.16$ 35-64 years $69(24.5\%)$ $213(75.5\%)$ 1.49 $1.00, 2.20$ SexFemale $112(17.6\%)$ $525(82.4\%)$ refrefMale $108(19.5\%)$ $446(80.5\%)$ 1.12 $0.82, 1.50$ Trichiura infectionNegative $28(17.8\%)$ $129(82.2\%)$ refrefPositive $28(17.8\%)$ $129(82.2\%)$ refrefNegative $147(17.4\%)$ $698(82.6\%)$ refrefNegative $68(8.9\%)$ $700(91.1\%)$ 0.45 $0.26, 0.75$	Variable	$FC \ge 50 \ \mu g/g$	$FC < 50 \ \mu g/g$	OR	95% CrI
Country ref ref Côte d'Ivoire $109 (23.6\%)$ $352 (76.4\%)$ ref ref Lao PDR $86 (24.6\%)$ $264 (75.4\%)$ 1.77 $1.09, 2.97$ Pemba Island $24 (6.3\%)$ $355 (93.7\%)$ 0.23 $0.14, 0.37$ Age categories $5-11$ years $102 (18.4\%)$ $453 (81.6\%)$ ref ref $5-11$ years $102 (18.4\%)$ $453 (81.6\%)$ ref ref $102 (13.3\%)$ $305 (86.2\%)$ 0.78 $0.52, 1.16$ $35-64$ years $69 (24.5\%)$ $213 (75.5\%)$ $1.49 1.00, 2.20$ Sex Female $112 (17.6\%)$ $525 (82.4\%)$ ref ref Male $108 (19.5\%)$ $446 (80.5\%)$ 1.12 $0.82, 1.50$ T. trichiura infection Negative $28 (17.8\%)$ $129 (82.2\%)$ ref ref Negative $28 (17.8\%)$ $129 (82.2\%)$ ref ref $90.87, 2.60$ A. lumbricoides co-infection Infection Infection Infection Infection <	All participants	220/1191 (18.5%)	971/1191 (81.5%)		
Contry Côte d'Ivoire 109 (23.6%) 352 (76.4%) ref ref Lao PDR 86 (24.6%) 264 (75.4%) 1.77 1.09, 2.97 Pemba Island 24 (6.3%) 355 (93.7%) 0.23 0.14, 0.37 Age categories	6				
Cote d'Ivoire $109 (23.6\%)$ $352 (76.4\%)$ refrefLao PDR $86 (24.6\%)$ $264 (75.4\%)$ 1.77 $1.09 2.97$ Pemba Island $24 (6.3\%)$ $355 (93.7\%)$ 0.23 $0.14, 0.37$ Age categories $5-11$ years $102 (18.4\%)$ $453 (81.6\%)$ refref $5-11$ years $102 (18.4\%)$ $453 (81.6\%)$ refref $12-34$ years $49 (13.8\%)$ $305 (86.2\%)$ 0.78 $0.52, 1.16$ $35-64$ years $69 (24.5\%)$ $213 (75.5\%)$ 1.49 $1.00, 2.20$ Sex </td <td>Country</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Country				
Lao PDR $86 (24-6\%)$ $264 (75-4\%)$ 1.77 $1.09, 2.97$ Pemba Island $24 (6.3\%)$ $355 (93.7\%)$ 0.23 $0.14, 0.37$ Age categories $$	Côte d'Ivoire	109 (23.6%)	352 (76-4%)	ref	ref
Pemba Island $24 (6.3\%)$ $355 (93.7\%)$ 0.23 $0.14, 0.37$ Age categories	Lao PDR	86 (24.6%)	264 (75.4%)	1.77	1.09, 2.97
Age categories verticate verticate 5-11 years 102 (18.4%) 453 (81.6%) ref ref 12-34 years 49 (13.8%) 305 (86.2%) 0.78 0.52, 1.16 35-64 years 69 (24.5%) 213 (75.5%) 1.49 100, 2.20 Sex Female 112 (17.6%) 525 (82.4%) ref ref Male 108 (19.5%) 446 (80.5%) 1.12 0.82, 1.50 <i>T. trichiura</i> 0.82, 1.50 <i>T. trichiura</i> 0.82, 1.50 <i>Regative</i> 28 (17.8%) 129 (82.2%) ref ref Positive 192 (18.6%) 842 (81.4%) 1.48 0.87, 2.60 <i>A. lumbricoides co-</i> Negative 147 (17.4%) 698 (82.6%) ref ref Positive 73 (21.1%) 273 (78.9%) 1.19 0.85, 1.66 Hookworm co- <	Pemba Island	24 (6.3%)	355 (93.7%)	0.23	0.14, 0.37
	Age categories				
$\begin{array}{cccccccc} 12-34 \mbox{ years} & 49 \ (13.8\%) & 305 \ (86.2\%) & 0.78 & 0.52, 1\cdot16 \\ 35-64 \mbox{ years} & 69 \ (24.5\%) & 213 \ (75.5\%) & 1\cdot49 & 1\cdot00, 2\cdot20 \\ \hline Sex & & & & & & \\ Female & 112 \ (17.6\%) & 525 \ (82.4\%) & ref & ref \\ Male & 108 \ (19.5\%) & 446 \ (80.5\%) & 1\cdot12 & 0.82, 1\cdot50 \\ \hline \emph{I. trichiura} & & & & & \\ infection & & & & & \\ Negative & 28 \ (17.8\%) & 129 \ (82.2\%) & ref & ref \\ Positive & 192 \ (18.6\%) & 842 \ (81.4\%) & 1\cdot48 & 0.87, 2\cdot60 \\ \hline \emph{A. lumbricoides co-} & & & & \\ infection & & & & \\ Negative & 147 \ (17.4\%) & 698 \ (82.6\%) & ref & ref \\ Positive & 73 \ (21.1\%) & 273 \ (78.9\%) & 1\cdot19 & 0.85, 1\cdot66 \\ \hline Hookworm co-\\ infection & & & \\ Negative & 152 \ (35.9\%) & 271 \ (64.1\%) & ref & ref \\ Positive & 68 \ (8.9\%) & 700 \ (91.1\%) & 0.45 & 0.26, 0.75 \\ \hline \end{array}$	5–11 years	102 (18.4%)	453 (81.6%)	ref	ref
35-64 years 69 (24-5%) 213 (75-5%) 1.49 1.00, 2.20 Sex	12–34 years	49 (13.8%)	305 (86.2%)	0.78	0.52, 1.16
Sex ref ref Female 112 (17.6%) 525 (82.4%) ref ref Male 108 (19.5%) 446 (80.5%) 1.12 0.82, 1.50 T. trichiura 1.12 0.82, 1.50 T. trichiura 1.12 0.82, 1.50 T. trichiura Negative 28 (17.8%) 129 (82.2%) ref ref Positive 192 (18.6%) 842 (81.4%) 1.48 0.87, 2.60 A. lumbricoides co- infection Negative 147 (17.4%) 698 (82.6%) ref ref Negative 73 (21.1%) 273 (78.9%) 1.19 0.85, 1.66 Hookworm co- infection Negative 152 (35.9%) 271 (64.1%) ref ref <td< td=""><td>35–64 years</td><td>69 (24.5%)</td><td>213 (75.5%)</td><td>1.49</td><td>1.00, 2.20</td></td<>	35–64 years	69 (24.5%)	213 (75.5%)	1.49	1.00, 2.20
Female 112 (17.6%) 525 (82.4%) ref ref Male 108 (19.5%) 446 (80.5%) 1.12 0.82, 1.50 <i>T. trichiura</i> 446 (80.5%) 1.12 0.82, 1.50 <i>T. trichiura</i> 1 19.5%) 446 (80.5%) 1.12 0.82, 1.50 <i>Negative</i> 28 (17.8%) 129 (82.2%) ref ref Positive 192 (18.6%) 842 (81.4%) 1.48 0.87, 2.60 <i>A. lumbricoides</i> co- infection 192 (17.4%) 698 (82.6%) ref ref Negative 147 (17.4%) 698 (82.6%) ref ref Positive 73 (21.1%) 273 (78.9%) 1.19 0.85, 1.66 Hookworm co- infection 152 (35.9%) 271 (64.1%) ref ref Negative 152 (35.9%) 271 (64.1%) ref o.26, 0.75	Sex				
Male 108 (19.5%) 446 (80.5%) 1.12 0.82, 1.50 T. trichiura infection Negative 28 (17.8%) 129 (82.2%) ref ref Positive 192 (18.6%) 842 (81.4%) 1.48 0.87, 2.60 A. lumbricoides co- infection Negative 147 (17.4%) 698 (82.6%) ref ref Positive 73 (21.1%) 273 (78.9%) 1.19 0.85, 1.66 Hookworm co- infection Negative 152 (35.9%) 271 (64.1%) ref ref Positive 68 (8.9%) 700 (91.1%) 0.45 0.26, 0.75	Female	112 (17.6%)	525 (82.4%)	ref	ref
T. trichiura infection ref ref Negative 28 (17.8%) 129 (82.2%) ref ref Positive 192 (18.6%) 842 (81.4%) 1.48 0.87, 2.60 A. lumbricoides co- infection Negative 147 (17.4%) 698 (82.6%) ref ref Positive 73 (21.1%) 273 (78.9%) 1.19 0.85, 1.66 Hookworm co- infection ref Negative 152 (35.9%) 271 (64.1%) ref ref Positive 68 (8.9%) 700 (91.1%) 0.45 0.26, 0.75	Male	108 (19.5%)	446 (80.5%)	1.12	0.82, 1.50
infection ref ref Negative 28 (17.8%) 129 (82.2%) ref ref Positive 192 (18.6%) 842 (81.4%) 1.48 0.87, 2.60 A. lumbricoides co- infection 842 (81.4%) 1.48 0.87, 2.60 Negative 147 (17.4%) 698 (82.6%) ref ref Positive 73 (21.1%) 273 (78.9%) 1.19 0.85, 1.66 Hookworn co- infection Negative 152 (35.9%) 271 (64.1%) ref ref Negative 152 (35.9%) 271 (64.1%) ref o.45, 0.25, 0.75	T. trichiura				
Negative 28 (17.8%) 129 (82.2%) ref ref Positive 192 (18.6%) 842 (81.4%) 1.48 0.87, 2.60 A. lumbricoides co- infection 4 148 0.87, 2.60 Negative 147 (17.4%) 698 (82.6%) ref ref Positive 73 (21.1%) 273 (78.9%) 1.19 0.85, 1.66 Hookworm co- infection V 271 (64.1%) ref ref Negative 152 (35.9%) 271 (64.1%) ref o.26, 0.75 Positive 68 (8.9%) 700 (91.1%) 0.45 0.26, 0.75	infection				
Positive 192 (18.6%) 842 (81.4%) 1.48 0.87, 2.60 A. lumbricoides co- infection Image: Comparison of the comparison of th	Negative	28 (17.8%)	129 (82.2%)	ref	ref
A. lumbricoides co- infection ref Negative 147 (17.4%) 698 (82.6%) ref ref Positive 73 (21.1%) 273 (78.9%) 1.19 0.85, 1.66 Hookworm co- infection 273 (78.9%) 1.19 0.85, 1.66 Negative 52 (35.9%) 271 (64.1%) ref ref Positive 68 (8.9%) 700 (91.1%) 0.45 0.26, 0.75	Positive	192 (18.6%)	842 (81.4%)	1.48	0.87, 2.60
infection ref Negative 147 (17.4%) 698 (82.6%) ref ref Positive 73 (21.1%) 273 (78.9%) 1.19 0.85, 1.66 Hookworm co- infection 273 (78.9%) 1.19 0.85, 1.66 Negative 79.27 78.9% 1.97 0.85, 1.66 Hookworm co- infection 79.27 78.9% 1.98 0.85, 1.66 Positive 152 (35.9%) 271 (64.1%) ref ref Positive 68 (8.9%) 700 (91.1%) 0.45 0.26, 0.75	A. lumbricoides co-				
Negative 147 (17.4%) 698 (82.6%) ref ref Positive 73 (21.1%) 273 (78.9%) 1.19 0.85, 1.66 Hookworm co- infection V ref ref Negative 152 (35.9%) 271 (64.1%) ref ref Positive 68 (8.9%) 700 (91.1%) 0.45 0.26, 0.75	infection				
Positive 73 (21·1%) 273 (78·9%) 1·19 0·85, 1·66 Hookworm co- infection Image: Comparison of the state of the	Negative	147 (17.4%)	698 (82.6%)	ref	ref
Hookworm co- infection Image: Negative 152 (35.9%) 271 (64.1%) ref ref Positive 68 (8.9%) 700 (91.1%) 0.45 0.26, 0.75	Positive	73 (21.1%)	273 (78.9%)	1.19	0.85, 1.66
infection Negative 152 (35.9%) 271 (64.1%) ref ref Positive 68 (8.9%) 700 (91.1%) 0.45 0.26, 0.75	Hookworm co-				
Negative 152 (35.9%) 271 (64.1%) ref ref Positive 68 (8.9%) 700 (91.1%) 0.45 0.26, 0.75	infection				
Positive 68 (8.9%) 700 (91.1%) 0.45 0.26, 0.75	Negative	152 (35.9%)	271 (64.1%)	ref	ref
	Positive	68 (8.9%)	700 (91.1%)	0.45	0.26, 0.75

Abbreviations: A. lumbricoides, Ascaris lumbricoides; Crl, credible intervals; FC, fecal calprotectin; OR, odds ratio; ref, reference group; T. trichiura, Trichuris trichiura.

^a Regression model includes country, age, sex, *T. trichiura, A. lumbricoides,* and hookworm infection status.

active feeding by adult worms, rather than the leakage around the parasite's attachment site in the gut, leading to decreased levels of hemoglobin instead of blood loss in feces [74]. Therefore, it remains challenging measuring morbidity in the context of STH infection and treatment, which is in agreement with Bogoch et al., who conducted a detailed clinical examination to determine whether STH cause measurable morbidity [75], which was not the case.

It is plausible that a number of limitations might have influenced the results obtained. Some controversy remains on the optimal cutoff values. Historical data on FC levels derive from delevoped countries and evidence on normal FC levels in populations equivalent to our study population is still limited, hampering interpretation of our data. Little evidence suggests to consider FC levels of 50–200 μ g/g as normal in people of African-Caribbean descent; however, repeated tests at different time points in several settings would need to be done to strengthen this finding [76]. Similar to most point-of-care RDTs, precision can be limited to ease interpretation and dissemination of results. A meta-analysis by Lin et al. found that in regular FC RDTs, sensitivity is decreasing with higher FC levels, while specificity is increasing [77]. Moreover, the limit of detection of the FC test used in this study was > 200 μ g/g, however, especially values > 500 μ g/g seem to highly predict pathological findings [76]. As most STH infections of our study population were of light infection intensities, we might have missed an association between heavy infections and intestinal inflammation (FC) or mucosal bleeding (FOB). Furthermore, our study design was restricted to cases of T. trichiura, which limits the interpretation for A. lumbricoides and hookworm infections to coinfections rather than single infections, which may affect the interpretation of the results. As FC and FOB tests are not disease-specific, we were not able to control for chronic gastrointestinal diseases, malaria, schistosomiasis, and other confounding infective agents, such as bacterial pathogens. In addition, due to monetary constraints, we only analysed one fecal sample for FC/FOB per participant and a sufficient internal quality control method for FC/FOB testing could not be established. Future studies should establish such controls, whenever possible, by partially re-labeling and re-examining results

of tests. Moreover, as in many multicountry research, various challenges arose across multiple settings. Differences in diet, culture, and social norms were unable to be accounted for and could potentially bias results. In addition, varying seasonality, host susceptibility, and parasite strains would have an uncontrollable impact on the findings of this study. In spite of these challenges, the results of this study add to the expanding body of literature of STH attributable morbidity. Lastly, the generalizability of our findings are limited to populations in resource-limited settings with recurring and chronic STH infections.

In conclusion, we were not able to detect intestinal morbidity in our study population using FC and FOB as proxy markers. Other potential markers of intestinal inflammation including antitrypsin, eosinophilic protein X, TNF α , or lysozyme have been suggested for diagnosing inflammatory bowel disease, which may be expanded to test for STH attributable intestinal morbidity. However, these test suffer from low diagnostic performance or have not been investigated well enough [78]. Furthermore, markers assessing other facets of STH attributable intestinal morbidity, such as mucosal changes, are needed. Thus, field applicable morbidity markers for STH infections need to be further explored to appropriately monitor and evaluate current global control strategies as monitoring levels of morbidity might become as important as diagnosing the infection itself.

5. Author contributions

EH and JK planned and designed the study; CP, LK, SW, SS, SMA, ShMA, JTC, EH, and JK conducted the study; JH and CP did the formal analyses; LK, CP, and JK interpreted the study data and drafted the manuscript; SW and EH assisted with revising and editing. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript and took responsibility to submit this manuscript for publication.

Funding

This work was fully funded by the Bill and Melinda Gates foundation (opportunity ID: OPP1153928).

Acknowledgments

We would like to express our thanks to all participants for their contribution; the village heads and the local medical teams for their support and commitment; and the team of the centre Suisse de Recherches Scientifiques en Côte d'Ivoire, the Public Health Laboratory – Ivo de Carneri and Lao Tropical and Public Health Institute for all their hard work within this collaboration.

Data sharing

The datasets used and analysed during the current study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request after publishing the manuscript.

Supplementary materials

Supplementary material associated with this article can be found in the online version at doi:10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.100724.

References

- Pullan RL, Smith JL, Jasrasaria R, Brooker SJ. Global numbers of infection and disease burden of soil transmitted helminth infections in 2010. Parasites Vect 2014;7:37.
- [2] World Health Organization. Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Final report of the commission on social determinants of health. Geneva: World Health Organization: 2008.
- [3] Jourdan PM, Lamberton PHL, Fenwick A, Addiss DG. Soil-transmitted helminth infections. Lancet 2018;391:252–65.

- [4] Bethony J, Brooker S, Albonico M, et al. Soil-transmitted helminth infections: ascariasis, trichuriasis, and hookworm. Lancet 2006;367:1521–32.
- [5] Crompton D, Nesheim M. Nutritional impact of intestinal helminthiasis during the human life cycle. Annu Rev Nutr 2002;22:35–59.
- [6] Musgrove P, Hotez PJ. Turning neglected tropical diseases into forgotten maladies. Health Aff (Millwood) 2009;28:1691–706.
- [7] Lwanga F, Kirunda BE, Orach CG. Intestinal helminth infections and nutritional status of children attending primary schools in Wakiso District, Central Uganda. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2012;9:2910–21.
- [8] Hall A, Hewitt G, Tuffrey V, De Silva N. A review and meta-analysis of the impact of intestinal worms on child growth and nutrition. Matern Child Nutr 2008;4:118–236.
- [9] Stephenson LS, Latham MC, Ottesen EA. Malnutrition and parasitic helminth infections. Parasitology 2000;121:S23–38 Suppl.
- [10] Adegnika AA, Lötsch F, Mba RMO, Ramharter M. Update on treatment and resistance of human trichuriasis. Curr Trop Med Rep 2015;2:218–23.
- [11] Gardner JM, Grantham-McGregor S, Baddeley A. Trichuris trichiura infection and cognitive function in Jamaican school children. Ann Trop Med Parasitol 1996;90:55–63.
- [12] Simeon DT, Grantham-McGregor SM, Callender JE, Wong MS. Treatment of *Tri-churis trichiura* infections improves growth, spelling scores and school attendance in some children. J Nutr 1995;125:1875–83.
- [13] Ahmed A, Al-Mekhlafi HM, Azam MN, et al. Soil-transmitted helminthiasis: a critical but neglected factor influencing school participation of aboriginal children in rural Malaysia. Parasitology 2012;139:802–8.
- [14] Rosenberg M. Global child health: burden of disease, achievements, and future challenges. Curr Probl Pediatr Adolesc Health Care 2007;37:338–62.
- [15] Cliffe LJ, Grencis RK. The Trichuris muris system: a paradigm of resistance and susceptibility to intestinal nematode infection. Adv Parasitol 2004;57:255-307.
- [16] TIÎney LG, Connelly PS, Guild GM, Vranich KA, Artis D. Adaptation of a nematode parasite to living within the mammalian epithelium. J Exp Zool A Comp Exp Biol 2005;303:927–45.
- [17] Khuroo MS, Khuroo NS. Khuroo NS. Trichuris dysentery syndrome: a common cause of chronic iron deficiency anemia in adults in an endemic area (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc 2010;71:200–4.
- [18] Dige A, Rasmussen TK, Nejsum P, et al. Mucosal and systemic immune modulation by *Trichuris trichiura* in a self-infected individual. Parasite Immunol 2017;39:e12394.
- [19] de Gier B, Pita-Rodríguez GM, Campos-Ponce M, et al. Soil-transmitted helminth infections and intestinal and systemic inflammation in schoolchildren. Acta Trop 2018;182:124–7.
- [20] Loukas A, Hotez PJ, Diemert D, et al. Hookworm infection. Nat Rev Dis 2016;2:16088.
- [21] Dold C, Holland CV. Ascaris and ascariasis. Microbes Infect 2011;13:632–7.
- [22] World Health Organization. Guideline: preventive chemotherapy to control soiltransmitted helminth infections in at-risk population groups. Geneva, World Health Organization 2017.
- [23] Cooper ES, Bundy DA. *Trichuris* is not trivial. Parasitol Today 1988;4:301–6.
- [24] Vennervald BJ, Kahama AI, Reimert CM. Assessment of morbidity in Schistosoma haematobium infection: current methods and future tools. Acta Trop 2000;77:81–9.
- [25] Becker SL, Liwanag HJ, Snyder JS, et al. Toward the 2020 goal of soil-transmitted helminthiasis control and elimination. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2018;12:06606.
- [26] Boon GJ, Day AS, Mulder CJ, Gearry RB. Are faecal markers good indicators of mucosal healing in inflammatory bowel disease? World J Gastroenterol 2015;21:11469–80.
- [27] Stephens FO, Lawrenson KB. The pathologic significance of occult blood in feces. Dis Colon Rectum 1970;13.
- [28] Fagerhol MK, Dale I, Anderson T. Release and quantitation of a leucocyte derived protein (L1). Scand J Haematol 1980;24:393–8.
- [29] Fagherol MK, Andersson KB, Naess-Andresen CF, Brandtzaeg P, I D. Calprotectin (the L1 leucocyte protein). In: Smith VL, Dedman JR, editors. Stimulus response coupling: the role of intracellular calcium-binding proteins. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 1990, p. 187–210.
- [30] Foell D, Wittkowski H, Roth J. Monitoring disease activity by stool analyses: from occult blood to molecular markers of intestinal inflammation and damage. Gut 2009;58:859–68.
- [31] Brun JG, Ulvestad E, Fagerhol MK, Jonsson R. Effects of human calprotectin (L1) on in vitro immunoglobulin synthesis. Scand J Immunol 1994;40:675–80.
 [32] Gisbert JP, McNicholl AG. Questions and answers on the role of faecal calprotectin as
- [32] Gisbert JP, McNicholl AG. Questions and answers on the role of faecal calprotectin as a biological marker in inflammatory bowel disease. Dig Liver Dis 2009;41:56–66.
 [33] Røseth AG, Fagerhol MK, Aadland E, Schjønsby H. Assessment of the neutrophil
- [33] Røseth AG, Fagerhol MK, Aadland E, Schjønsby H. Assessment of the neutrophil dominating protein calprotectin in feces. A methodologic study. Scand J Gastroenterol 1992;27:793–8.
- [34] Konikoff MR, Denson LA. Role of fecal calprotectin as a biomarker of intestinal inflammation in inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2006:12:524–34.
- [35] Sherwood RA. Faecal markers of gastrointestinal inflammation. J Clin Pathol 2012;65:981–5.
- [36] Berni Canani R, Rapacciuolo L, Romano MT, et al. Diagnostic value of faecal calprotectin in paediatric gastroenterology clinical practice. Dig Liver Dis 2004;36:467–70.
- [37] Chen CC, Huang JL, Chang CJ, Kong MS. Fecal calprotectin as a correlative marker in clinical severity of infectious diarrhea and usefulness in evaluating bacterial or viral pathogens in children. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2012;55:541–7.
- [38] Layrisse M, Aparcedo L, Martínez-Torres C, Roche M. Blood loss due to infection with *Trichuris trichiura*. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1967;16:613–9.
- [39] Stoltzfus RJ, Albonico M, Chwaya HM, et al. Hemoquant determination of hookworm-related blood loss and its role in iron deficiency in African children. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1996;55:399–404.

- [40] Wanachiwanawin D, Wongkamchai S, Loymek S, et al. Determination of fecal occult blood in primary schoolchildren infected with *Trichuris trichiura*. Southeast Asian | Trop Med Public Health 2005;36:1110–3.
- [41] Betson M, Sousa-Figueiredo JC, Kabatereine NB, Stothard JR. Use of fecal occult blood tests as epidemiologic indicators of morbidity associated with intestinal schistosomiasis during preventive chemotherapy in young children. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2012;87:694–700.
- [42] Betson M, Sousa-Figueiredo JC, Rowell C, Kabatereine NB, Stothard JR. Intestinal schistosomiasis in mothers and young children in Uganda: investigation of fieldapplicable markers of bowel morbidity. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2010;83:1048–55.
- [43] Kanzaria HK, Acosta LP, Langdon GC, et al. Schistosoma japonicum and occult blood loss in endemic villages in Leyte, the Philippines. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2005;72:115–8.
- [44] Meklin J, Syrjänen K, Eskelinen M. Fecal occult blood tests in colorectal cancer screening: systematic review and meta-analysis of traditional and new-generation fecal immunochemical tests. Anticancer Res 2020;40:3591–604.
- [45] Verjee MA. Schistosomiasis: still a cause of significant morbidity and mortality. Res Rep Trop Med 2019;10:153–63.
- [46] Bustinduy ÅL, Sousa-Figueiredo JC, Adriko M, et al. Fecal occult blood and fecal calprotectin as point-of-care markers of intestinal morbidity in Ugandan children with *Schistosoma mansoni* infection. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2013;7:e2542.
- [47] Schunk M, Kebede Mekonnen S, Wondafrash B, et al. Use of occult blood detection cards for real-time PCR-based diagnosis of *Schistosoma mansoni* infection. PLoS ONE 2015;10:e0137730.
- [48] Ok KS, Kim YS, Song JH, et al. *Trichuris trichiura* infection diagnosed by colonoscopy: case reports and review of literature. Korean J Parasitol 2009;47:275–80.
- [49] Sarmast AH, Parray FQ, Showkat HI, Lone YA, Bhat NA. Duodenal perforation with an unusual presentation: a case report. Case Rep Infect Dis 2011;2011:512607.
- [50] Patel C, Hürlimann E, Keller L, et al. Efficacy and safety of ivermectin and albendazole co-administration in school-aged children and adults infected with *Trichuris trichiura*: study protocol for a multi-country randomized controlled double-blind trial. BMC Infect Dis 2019;19:262.
- [51] Martin LK, Beaver PC. Evaluation of Kato thick-smear technique for quantitative diagnosis of helminth infections. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1968;17:382–91.
- [52] Katz N, Chaves A, Pellegrino J. A simple device for quantitative stool thick-smear technique in schistosomiasis mansoni. Revista do IMTSP 1972;14:397–400.
- [53] Garcia LSB, David A. Diagnostic medical parasitology. 3rd Ed. Washington, D.C: ASM Press; 1997.
- [54] Speich B, Ali SM, Ame SM, Albonico M, Utzinger J, Keiser J. Quality control in the diagnosis of *Trichuris trichiura* and *Ascaris lumbricoides* using the Kato-Katz technique: experience from three randomised controlled trials. Parasites Vectors 2015;8:82.
- [55] Bressler B, Panaccione R, Fedorak RN, Seidman EG. Clinicians' guide to the use of fecal calprotectin to identify and monitor disease activity in inflammatory bowel disease. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015;29:369–72.
- [56] Actim Oy. Instructions for use; 2019 [updated 2019; cited 2020 Dec 04]. Available from: https://www.medixbiochemica.com/en/actim-rapid-test/actim-fecal-blood/#materials
- [57] Cepon-Robins TJ, Gildner TE, Schrock J, et al. Soil-transmitted helminth infection and intestinal inflammation among the Shuar of Amazonian Ecuador. Am J Phys Anthropol 2019;170:65–74.
- [58] Hestvik E, Tumwine JK, Tylleskar T, et al. Faecal calprotectin concentrations in apparently healthy children aged 0-12 years in urban Kampala, Uganda: a community-based survey. BMC Pediatr 2011;11:9.
- [59] Maizels RM, McSorley HJ, Smyth DJ. Helminths in the hygiene hypothesis: sooner or later? Clin Exp Immunol 2014;177:38–46.
- [60] Briggs N, Weatherhead J, Sastry KJ, Hotez PJ. The hygiene hypothesis and its inconvenient truths about helminth infections. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2016;10: e0004944.
- [61] Loukas A, Prociv P. Immune responses in hookworm infections. Clin Microbiol Rev 2001;14:689–703 table of contents.
- [62] Albonico M, Stoltzfus RJ, Savioli L, et al. Epidemiological evidence for a differential effect of hookworm species, *Ancylostoma duodenale* or *Necator americanus*, on iron status of children. Int J Epidemiol 1998;27:530–7.
- [63] Loukouri A, Méité A, Kouadio OK, et al. Prevalence, intensity of soil-transmitted helminths and factors associated with infection: importance in control program with ivermectin and albendazole in Eastern Côte d'Ivoire. J Tropl Med 2019:2019:7658594.
- [64] Conlan JV, Khamlome B, Vongxay K, et al. Soil-transmitted helminthiasis in Laos: a community-wide cross-sectional study of humans and dogs in a mass drug administration environment. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2012;86:624–34.
- [65] Layrisse M, Linares J, Roche M. Excess hemolysis in subjects with severe iron deficiency anemia assciated and nonassociated with hookworm infection. Blood 1965;25:73–91.
- [66] Joshi S, Lewis SJ, Creanor S, Ayling RM. Age-related faecal calprotectin, lactoferrin and tumour M2-PK concentrations in healthy volunteers. Ann Clin Biochem 2010;47:259–63.
- [67] Goldberg EL, Dixit VD. Drivers of age-related inflammation and strategies for healthspan extension. Immunol Rev 2015;265:63–74.
- [68] Poullis A, Foster R, Shetty A, Fagerhol MK, Mendall MA. Bowel inflammation as measured by fecal calprotectin: a link between lifestyle factors and colorectal cancer risk. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2004;13 279–4.
- [69] de Gier B, Campos Ponce M, Perignon M, et al. Micronutrient-fortified rice can increase hookworm infection risk: a cluster randomized trial. PLoS ONE 2016;11: e0145351.
- [70] Raj SM. Fecal occult blood testing on *Trichuris*-infected primary school children in northeastern peninsular Malaysia. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1999;60:165–6.

- [71] Wakid MH. Fecal occult blood test and gastrointestinal parasitic infection. J Parasitol Res 2010;23210:434801. [72] Colley DG, Bustinduy AL, Secor WE, King CH. Human schistosomiasis. Lancet
- 2014;383:2253-64.
- [73] Wakelin D. The role of the immune response in helminth population regulation. Int J Parasitol 1987;17:549–57.
 [74] Osazuwa F, Ayo O, Imade P. A significant association between intestinal helminth infection and anaemia burden in children in rural communities of Edo state, intervention and intervention of the state of the state. Nigeria. N A J Med Sci 2011;3:30-4.
- [75] Bogoch II, Speich B, Lo NC, et al. Clinical evaluation for morbidity associated with soil-transmitted helminth infection in school-age children on Pemba Island, Tanzania. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2019;13:e0007581.
- [76] Bjarnason I. The use of fecal calprotectin in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastro-enterol Hepatol 2017;13:53–6.
 [77] Lin JF, Chen JM, Zuo JH, et al. Meta-analysis: fecal calprotectin for assessment of
- inflammatory bowel disease activity. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2014;20:1407–15. [78] Lehmann FS, Burri E, Beglinger C. The role and utility of faecal markers in inflam-
- matory bowel disease. Therap Adv Gastroenterol 2015;8:23-36.

S1 Table. Determinants for fecal calprotectin levels in fecal stool samples for Côte d'Ivoire, Lao PDR and Pemba Island. Presented are odds ratios and 95% credible intervals estimated by multivariable logistic regression.^a

Variable	$FC \ge 50 \ \mu g/mg$	FC < 50 μg/mg	OR	95% CrI	Sensitivity ^b
Côte d'Ivoire	n: 109	n: 352			·
Age					
5-11 years	66 (25.5%)	193 (74.5%)	ref	ref	
12-34 years	22 (18.8%)	95 (81.2%)	0.67	0.36, 1.19	
35-64 years	21 (24.7%)	64 (75.3%)	1.02	0.54, 1.85	
Sex				,	
Female	52 (21.8%)	187 (78.2%)	ref	ref	
Male	57 (25.7%)	165 (74.3%)	1.20	0.77.1.82	
Trichuris trichiura infection					
Negative	10 (19.6%)	41 (80.4%)	ref	ref	
Positive	99 (24.1%)	311 (75.9%)	1.13	0.51, 2.60	90.8%
Ascaris lumbricoides infection		- (-		
Negative	66 (21.0%)	248 (79.0%)	ref	ref	
Positive	43 (29.3%)	104 (70.7%)	1.52	0.95, 2.39	39.4%
Hookworm infection			-	,	
Negative	105 (24.5%)	324 (75.5%)	ref	ref	
Positive	4 (12.5%)	28 (87.5%)	0.45	0.13, 1.19	3.6%
Lao PDR	n: 87	n: 264		,	
Age					
5-11 years	22 (19.6%)	90 (80.4%)	ref	ref	
12-34 years	18 (17.6%)	84 (82.4%)	1.07	0.47.2.44	
35-64 years	47 (34.3%)	90 (65.7%)	3.31	1.62, 7.24	
Sex				,	
Female	48 (25.5%)	140 (74.5%)	ref	ref	
Male	39 (23.9%)	124 (76.1%)	0.97	0.53, 1.76	
Trichuris trichiura infection				• • • • • •	
Negative	18 (35.3%)	33 (64.7%)	ref	ref	
Positive	69 (23.0%)	231 (77.0%)	0.22	0.00, 7.09	79.3%
Ascaris lumbricoides infection	0) (20 0) 0)	201 (// 0/0)	0 ==	0 00, 7 05	17 010
Negative	63(26.0%)	179 (74.0%)	ref	ref	
Positive	24 (22.0%)	85 (78.0%)	0.88	0.49, 1.60	27.6%
Hookworm infection	(*)			• • • • • • •	_,
Negative	25 (32.9%)	51 (67.1%)	ref	ref	
Positive	62 (22:5%)	213 (77.5%)	0:51	0.20.1.37	71.3%
Onisthorchis viverrini infection	02 (22 070)	210 (11 010)	001	0 20, 1 0 /	,10,0
Negative	76 (25.7%)	220 (74.3%)	ref	ref	
Positive	11 (20.0%)	44 (80:0%)	0.66	0.28.1.48	12:6%
Strongyloides stercoralis infection	(-* */*)		~ ~ ~	,	-2 0/0
Negative	50/228 (21.9%)	178/228 (78.1%)	ref	ref	
Positive	10/49 (20.4%)	39/49 (79.6%)	0.48	0.12.1.62	60%
Pemba Island	n: 24	n: 355		. ,	
Аде					
5-11 years	14 (7.6%)	170 (92.4%)	ref	ref	
12-34 years	9 (6.1%)	139 (93.9%)	0.90	0.36.2.17	
35-64 years	1 (2.1%)	46 (97.9%)	0.54	0.05, 3.09	
Sex	× /	× /		,	
Female	12 (5.7%)	198 (94.3%)	ref	ref	
Male	12 (7.1%)	157 (92.9%)	1.10	0.46.2.65	
Trichuris trichiura infection	\· [−] /		~	, =	
Negative	0 (0.0%)	55 (100.0%)	ref	ref	
Positive	24 (7.4%)	300 (92.6%)	14.39	1.32.467.34	100%
Ascaris lumbricoides infection	\· [−] /			- ,	
Negative	18 (6.2%)	271 (93.8%)	ref	ref	
Positive	6 (6.7%)	84 (93.3%)	0.85	0.31.2.06	25.0%
Hookworm infection	· (* · · · · /		~ ~ ~	, =	20 0/0
Negative	22 (6.3%)	325 (93.7%)	ref	ref	
Positive	2 (6.3%)	30 (93.8%)	0.75	0.13.2.81	8.3%
	- ()	(,	0.070

Abbreviations: CrI, credible interval; FC, fecal calprotectin; OR, odds ratio; ref, reference group

^a Adjusted for age, sex, *T. trichiura*, *A. lumbricoides* and hookworm infection status

^b Calculated as positive/(positive + negative) in the participants with FC \geq 50 µg/mg

S2 Table. Determinants for fecal calprotectin levels in fecal stool samples – Country × *T. trichiura* infection model. Presented are odds ratios and 95% credible intervals estimated by multivariable logistic regression.^a

Variable	OR	95% CrI
Country ^b		
Côte d'Ivoire	ref	ref
Lao PDR	2.41	0.97, 6.15
Pemba Island	0.01	0.00, 0.16
Age categories		
5-11 years	ref	ref
12-34 years	0.80	0.55, 1.17
35-64 years	1.58	1.07, 2.35
Sex		
Female	ref	ref
Male	1.11	0.81, 1.53
Ttrichuris trichiura infection ^b		
Negative	ref	ref
Positive	1.56	0.71, 3.49
Ascaris lumbricoides co-infection		
Negative	ref	ref
Positive	1.19	0.86, 1.65
Hookworm co-infection		
Negative	ref	ref
Positive	0.56	0.29, 1.01
Interactions		
Lao PDR $\times T$ trichiura infection	0.58	0.19, 1.77
Pemba Island \times <i>T</i> · <i>trichiura</i> infection	30.04	1.56, 8038

Abbreviations: CI, credible interval; FC, fecal calprotectin; OR, odds ratio; ref, reference group

^a Regression model includes country, age, sex, *T. trichiura, A. lumbricoides,* hookworm infection status, and country \times *T. trichiura* interaction term

^b Main country and *T. trichiura* infection effects have a different interpretation in the presence of an interaction term

6. Discussion

Based on the research conducted during this PhD, several conclusions can be drawn. First and foremost, the current mass drug administration guidelines recommending the standard dose of albendazole are ineffective and unsustainable in the control of *T. trichiura*. Though preventive chemotherapy on a large scale has been the mainstay of successful STH control programs in the past due to its low costs and high coverage of targeted populations, the limited efficacy and mounting drug pressure of the two benzimidazoles hinder progress towards elimination, especially in low transmission settings. Secondly, optimized drug regimens and combinations may be successful in combatting STHs, such as *A. lumbricoides* and hookworm; however, they are limited against *T. trichiura* infections in Côte d'Ivoire and perhaps elsewhere. Lastly, research gaps in the fields of anthelminthics and STH morbidity remain, which is why novel approaches fitting to the current state of helminth control and elimination are needed.

This discussion aims to bring the research conducted in this PhD into the context of what can be done to improve the control of STHs. To begin, current available treatment options and promising new treatments will be discussed, as well as the possibility of emerging resistance and other factors playing a role in anthelminthic efficacy. Then a brief outline of the current gaps in STH research will be provided. Since all the research projects conducted during this PhD were part of clinical trials, I will discuss the roles of study design in STH research. Lastly, recommendations for the future of STH control will be provided.

6.1. Controlling STHs with anthelminthics

As previously discussed, current recommendations of using albendazole or mebendazole as preventive chemotherapy during mass drug administration falls short in controlling *T. trichiura* infections, and to a lesser extent, hookworm infections. The three other drugs that the WHO recommends against helminths on their Essential Medicines List are levamisole, pyrantel pamoate and ivermectin, which also have limitations [1]. Levamisole and pyrantel pamoate have high CRs (>90%) and ERRs (>90%) against *A. lumbricoides*, but low efficacy against *T*.

trichuris and hookworm infections [2]. Levamisole's CR and ERR against trichuriasis are 29.5% and 28.3%, respectively, while pyrantel pamoate's are also low (CR: 20.2%, ERR: 47.5%) [2]. Though pyrantel pamoate has a more promising effect against hookworm (CR: 49.8%, ERR: 71.9%), levamisole has lower CR (10.3%) and an ERR of 61.8% [2]. The varying findings for levamisole may be attributed to the small number of trials included in the metaanalysis [2]. Ivermectin showed varying effects against all three STHs. Recently added to Essential Medicines list in 2017, the known antifilarial had shown to have antihelminthic properties in numerous studies and performed modestly against T. trichiura (CRs: <45%; ERRs: <88%) [3-6]. However, when combined with the standard dose of albendazole (a combination already used for lymphatic filariasis control in many NTD control programs), CRs ranged from 28% to 81% and ERRs from 91% to 100%, showing a considerable reduction in T. trichriura worm morbidity [7]. The same systematic review found moderate CRs (>50%) and high ERRs (>95%) against hookworm infections, though only based on two trials [7]. These efficacy findings for combination therapy are supplemented by those of this PhD. CRs of combination therapy against *T. trichiura* varied across the three different settings ranging from 13.8% to 65.7%, while ERRs ranged from 70.2% to 99.2%.

6.1.1. Anthelminthic resistance

The low efficacy against *T. trichiura* observed in Côte d'Ivoire could be attributed to any number of factors from resistance to differing absorption rates of the drugs. Other factors that may explain the reduced efficacy of the combination therapy in Côte d'Ivoire include population demographics (i.e. age composition), social/cultural practices (i.e. diet) or the low prevalence/transmission of STHs. Though antihelminthic drug resistance has yet to be proven in human populations, there is much evidence in the veterinary field [8-10]. In veterinary nematodes, resistance to the benzimidazoles in *Haemonchus contortus* was proven to be associated to a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in the nematode's β -tubulin gene at

either codon 200, 167 or 198 [11]. In particular, the SNP at codon 200 has been shown to have increased frequencies in *T. trichiura* after treatment with albendazole [12]. However, no association between increased frequencies of SNP alleles and reduced efficacy of benzimidazoles have been confirmed in the literature to date, partly due to the paucity of evidence available on antihelminthic resistance in humans [12, 13]. Evidence for ivermectin resistance has been shown in ATP-binding cassette (ABC) drug transporter genes of *Onchcerca volvulus* and of Glu/Cl receptor genes in the veterinary nematodes *Cooperia oncophora* and *H. contortus* [14, 15]. However, there is no current evidence available in the literature to support ivermectin resistance in human helminths.

Drug resistance can be triggered by long, repeated monotherapy, an expansion of control populations limiting refugia and administration of suboptimal doses leading to propagation of resistant genes. Though Côte d'Ivoire has a long history of repeated use of combination albendazole and ivermectin against lymphatic filariasis, our findings do not suggest anthelminthic resistance. In previous trials, efficacy of albendazole and ivermectin remained low against *T. trichiura* even in age groups not part of mass drug administration of preventive chemotherapy providing wild-type genes to propagate in the next generation [6, 16]. Moreover, geographic analysis of our results show that there was little change in efficacy of the combination therapy from village to village, indicating no clustering effect or patterns of emerging resistance. To confirm our findings, a subset of samples were sent to a third-party laboratory to undergo testing for resistance markers and results are underway. Of note, differences in the *T. trichiura* strain found in Côte d'Ivoire and their susceptibility to resistance cannot be discounted [17].

6.1.2. Other causes of reduced efficacy

A more likely scenario is that there are other causes related to the host to the reduced efficacy of combination therapy. For example, a complex relationship between the host, parasite and drug in the context of host gut microbiome has been shown to play a role in host immunity and drug metabolism [18]. This complex relationship is further littered by population-related confounding factors that make it difficult to assess the relationship clearly. Evidence tends to vary geographically, where differences in diet and cultural/social norms may have an effect on the local microbiome of communities. This relationship is further complicated by the effects of consistent deworming on the microbial profiles of the gut. For *T. trichiura*, there is conflicting evidence in the literature for the association between infection and bacteria belonging to the genus *Prevotella* [18]. Studies from Malaysia reported an association, while studies from Ecuador, Liberia and Indonesia did not find evidence of an association [19-23]. Nevertheless, gut microbiota of the host can interact with drugs modulating their absorption and activity [24, 25]. In particular, the combination of tribendimidine and ivermectin was shown to change host gut microbiota significantly in hookworm-infected individuals in Côte d'Ivoire. Further investigations are underway to see the extent at which gut microbiota plays a role in the efficacy of combination therapy in Côte d'Ivoire, Pemba Island and Lao PDR.

6.1.3. Changing drug regimens to improve efficacy

Despite the reduced efficacy of combination albendazole and ivermectin therapy in Côte d'Ivoire, there are other regimens and drugs available for the treatment of STHs. Though current therapy with standard doses of mebendazole and albendazole have low or moderate efficacy against *T. trichiura* and hookworm infections, different regimens of the two most commonly used drugs for mass drug administration have improved efficacies. Several studies have assessed the effects of multiple dose of mebendazole on hookworm infections with CRs ranging from 35%-98% [26-30]. Two of these studies reported CRs against trichuriasis of 100 mg of mebendazole twice daily for three days at 39% and 43% [28, 30]. A randomized controlled trial conducted in Chinese children and adults found 54% and 71% CRs (96% and 97% ERRs) against hookworm and *T. trichiura* infection, respectively, using triple dose (3x500 mg of

mebendazole over 3 days) [31]. The same trial found 400 mg of albendazole once daily for three days had high efficacy against hookworm (CR: 92%; ERR: >99%) and 56% CR and 94% ERR against trichuriasis [31]. A prospective study in Indonesian children found CRs of the same triple regimen of albendazole to be 100% and 61% for hookworm and *T. trichiura* infections, respectively, though only 24 individuals had a hookworm infection [32]. An RCT enrolling children in Gabon comparing single dose albendazole (400 mg) to 2 doses (2x400 mg over 2 days) or 3 doses (3x400 mg over 3 days) found significantly high CRs against hookworm (92% for 2 doses and 93% for 3 doses) and trichuriasis (CRs of 67% and 83% for 2 and 3 doses, respectively) [33]. Though CRs of triple dose of albendazole against *T. trichiura* were limited (56%-83%) when compared to the single dose (34%-40%), ERRs were substantial (>91%) when using triple dose, signifying a significant reduction in the worm burden [31, 33].

For hookworm infections, the findings of this thesis confirm results that a higher dose of current standard therapy provides significant increases in the efficacy. A double dose (800 mg) in adults, regardless of regimen, is effective in hookworm control while maintaining low toxicity levels [33, 34]. However, the same cannot be said in the context of *T. trichiura* control. From the limited evidence available, it is difficult to discern any clear conclusion. There is evidence suggesting that a single dose of either benzimidazole, regardless of how high, is not effective, while a repeated dose has somewhat higher CRs (dependent on the benzimidazole, dose, regimen and population assessed) and significantly higher ERRs [28, 30, 31, 33]. This need for a repeated dose over consecutive days for *T. trichiura* may be attributed to the short half-life of the active component of the benzimidazoles (<12 hours) and possibly the location of the parasite, which resides in the cecum of the large intestine rather than the small intestine (as is the case for *A. lumbricoides* and hookworm).

6.1.4. Alternative treatment options

Other drugs are available for the treatment of STHs, especially T. trichiura infections. Promising drugs include oxantel pamoate, tribendimine and moxidectin (briefly discussed in the Introduction). A recent systematic review showed a high CR (75.7%) and ERR (85.0%) for oxantel pamoate against trichuriasis [35]. However, oxantel pamoate is no longer marketed today making it difficult to be part of a mainstay mass drug administration control programs[36-39]. Importantly, a weight-independent dose of 500 mg is effective in treating trichuriasis in children [40, 41]. Though oxantel pamoate shows promising effects against *T. trichiura*; however, evidence shows low efficacy against A. lumbricoides (CR: 21.8%; ERR: 35.8%) and hookworm species (CR: 23.8%; ERR: 39.5%) [35]. Though this could be a limitation for its use as part of a monotherapy regimen against STHs, oxantel pamoate is a promising candidate as part of a combination therapy. A combination of oxantel pamoate and albendazole was shown to have a high efficacy against all three STHs with CRs of 95.2%, 88.7% and 72.0% for A. lumbricoides, T. trichiura and hookworm infections, respectively [35]. Additional curative effects against hookworm species may be achieved when a third drug (either pyrantel pamoate or mebendazole) is added to the combination; however, clinical evidence for triple combination therapy with oxantel pamoate is limited to one trial in one setting [42].

Unlike oxantel pamoate, tribendimidine is more efficacious against *A. lumbricoides* (CR: 83.4%; ERR: 91.6%) and hookworm (CR: 96.5%; 88.1%) infections and has low efficacy against *T. trichiura* (CR: 5.9%; ERR: 41.3%) [35]. Tribendimine, which is only approved for use in China, is also efficacious against other NTDs, such as cestodes and trematodes, which is advantageous in the planning and implementation of integrated NTDs programs [43-45] Regardless, only a handful of studies are available including tribendimidine with only one non-inferiority trial assessing combination therapy with oxantel pamoate or ivermectin [46].

Moxidectin, which has a longer half-life than the more common ivermectin, shows high efficacy against ascariasis (CR: 90.5%; ERR: 97.9%) and low to moderate efficacy against *T. trichiura* (CR: 30.1%; ERR: 81.0%) and hookworm (CR: 37.6%; RR: 76.0%) [35]. Already

approved for oncheriasis, there is also early evidence of its diverse use against lymphatic filariasis, strongyloidiasis and human scabies [47-49]. Since moxidectin trials report low adverse events and can be administered weight-independently, it is a good candidate for combination therapy against multiple NTDs. Furthermore, two trials have presented CRs >50% and ERRs >90% against *T. trichiura* for the standard dose of 8 mg of moxidectin in combination with 400 mg of albendazole.

6.1.5. Emerging drugs in the fight against STHs

While existing drugs offer easy access to the ongoing control of STHs, new drug development, which was stagnant for the final decades of the 20th century, is starting to emerge even amidst economic and regulatory challenges. Emodepside, Cry5B and derguantel are examples of drugs under development. Emodepside is a cyclooctadepsipeptide that binds to neural acetylcholine receptors and to G-protrain coupled latrophilin-like receptors causing paralysis of nematodes [50]. Being from another class of drugs entirely, emodepside has reportedly shown activity against nematodes including those resistant to the macrocyclic lactones and benzimidazoles [51, 52]. Cry5B is a protein made by Gram-positive bacterium *Bacillus thuringiensis* [53]. Working as a pore-forming protein, Cry5B is toxic to nematodes, resulting in eventual death [54]. Currently, only *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies are underway examining the effects of Cry5B, but promising results have been reported for hookworm species in particular [54-57]. Derquantel, which is of the new class of spiroindoles, is marketed combination with a macrocyclic lactone (STARTECT®) in veterinary medicine [58]. Acting as a nAChR antagonist, derquantel causes flaccid paralysis of the worm and eventual death [58]. A UK study reported a high efficacy (>99% worm count reduction) of the combination in multi-drug resistant nematodes in sheep; however, limited evidence is available in animal models for specific STHs [59]. More evidence in clinical human subject research are needed before these potential anthelminthics can be marketed to humans.

6.2. Eliminating the STH research gaps

As an NTD, soil-transmitted helminthiasis has many research areas that need cultivation. Relevant to this PhD thesis, assessment of the impact of mass drug administration and integrated NTD programs is lacking. As the controversy of the impact of deworming continues with the 2019 update of the 2015 published Cochrane review, it is important to consider how the current body of evidence shapes the mass drug administration landscape [60, 61]. Updated evidence from 51 RCTs show deworming has little to no effect on height, hemoglobin concentration, cognition, school performance or mortality (with moderate to low quality of evidence); however, there is still not enough evidence to confirm the effects of deworming on weight [60]. Another review including 52 studies (RCTs and prospective studies), similarly, found no impact on the well-being of children [62]. This may come as a surprise, since the most recent WHO guideline has used weight and height gain to rationalize the use of annual or biannual PC [63]. In 2017, two additional published reviews showed a meaningful impact of deworming on children's health outcomes [64, 65].

6.2.1. Geographic gaps in the evaluation of mass drug administration

Most remarkably, closer examination of these reviews shows very little evidence in West African settings. Taylor-Robinson and colleagues only included three trials taking place in West African countries (Benin, Nigeria and Sierra Leone) in their comprehensive update in 2019. The trials occurring in Benin and Nigeria both assessed albendazole's effects on various health outcomes, while the trial from Sierre Leone was excluded from meta-analyses [66-68]. Furthermore, the included trials from Benin and Nigeria only included preschool-aged children (PSAC), which are not the primary targets of mass deworming efforts in West Africa [66, 67]. Another trial included in the meta-analysis was conducted in the school-aged children (SAC) in nearby Cameroon; however, the trial was conducted in 1972 and assessed the effects of thiabendazole, which is not part of any national control program [69]. Welch *et al.* 2017 included the trial from Benin in PSAC and the 1972 trial in Cameroon using thiabendazole in

its meta-analyses, but also included a cluster RCT evaluating the a large scale nutrition intervention by Linnemayr and colleagues conducted in Senegal [62, 70]. Though the Sengalese trial had over 4200 participants, they were all under the age of five and the exact intervention for deworming is unclearly reported [62, 70].

The evidence is as equally sparse for West Africa on the other side of the controversy. The review by Clarke and colleagues did not include any of the aforementioned trials, but included a trial with both praziquantel and mebendazole for schistosomiasis and hookworm infections in SAC of Sierra Leone [64, 71]. Also included was a prospective study in Ghana analyzing both annual and repeated mass drug administration using ivermectin combined with albendazole (as part of a lymphatic filariasis control program) against parasitic nematode *Oesophagostomum bifurcum* and hookworm infections, but the study did not include any health outcomes besides prevalence of infections [72, 73].

Considering all the evidence (or lack thereof), there is little that can be said about the impact of deworming in West African settings, especially among SAC, the target of WHO recommended PC on a national scale. In light of the paucity of evidence, it is recommended that more trials and prospective studies be dedicated to the evaluation of mass deworming efforts. In children, this extends beyond weight, height and hemoglobin concentration to school attendance and performance, cognition and physical fitness.

6.2.2. Difficulties in morbidity measurements

Another research gap is measuring morbidity attributable to STHs. Currently, morbidity is measured indirectly through coprological egg count-based techniques, which are usually done microscopically. Besides the limited diagnostic sensitivity of these techniques, they only quantify unhatched eggs produced by female parasites producing egg. Though it is known more eggs equates to heavier burden of infection, it is unknown the true number of adult worms (or

larvae) in the human body; moreover, the effect of the worms on the host gut remains unclear. Identifying potential markers of gut morbidity was an objective of this PhD research.

Though most infections are asymptomatic and can be chronic (due to repeated exposure and rare resolution of infection), the presence of worms in the gut has been shown to cause changes in host intestinal mucosa and modulate the host's immune response [74-76]. The findings from this thesis support the framework of a heightened Th2 immune response that reduces harmful inflammation marked by high fecal calprotectin levels. The outlook of these findings is further clouded by a complex relationship between host, parasite and intestine. Nonetheless, the search for alternative markers of gut morbidity remains ongoing. Potential markers, such as C-reactive protein (CRP) and alpha(1)-acid glycoprotein (AGP), better characterize generic host immune response rather than gut morbidity, while more specific markers lack evidence in the field of helminths [74]. Hence, there is a necessity for additional studies identifying potential gut morbidity markers that correlate better to worm burden.

6.3. Study design in the context of STH control

All of the research conducted in this PhD were part a series of clinical trials conducted in Côte d'Ivoire (low endemic setting), so it is important to discuss the role of clinical trials in ongoing STH research. Though the gold standard of all study designs in epidemiology, the drawbacks of clinical trials are apparent. High costs, limited external validity and short follow-up opportunities (especially for safety measures) are a tradeoff for a high level of internal validity, minimal risks of bias and confounding and consistent results. More importantly, clinical trials are necessary in clinical drug development pipelines and are required by regulatory agencies when seeking approval for marketing drugs. In the field of NTD, most drugs currently recommended and available to use have gained regulatory approval in the past for various indications; however, there are new drugs that are in need of regulatory approval. This section will discuss the possibility of new trial designs to ensure high-powered clinical trials continue

to be conducted and how alternative study designs may be appropriate for already approved drugs seeking for new indications.

The classic randomized controlled trial (RCT) compares an experimental group to a control group in parallel. Participants provide consent before being recruited and enrolled in the trial. A randomization procedure is used to allocate participants into either the experimental group or the control group, which will be followed by treatment and follow-up examination and outcome assessment. However, over the past two decades, alternatives from crossover trials to adaptive trials have been used to test the superiority, non-inferiority or equivalence of single or multiple interventions in rare to highly prevalent diseases. Designs of trials are not only affected by the research question, but also by stage in pipeline development (Phase I, II, III or IV), logistics and resources available. In resource-limited settings, additional obstacles such as political instability, varying regulations and poor infrastructure might also influence the choice in trial design. Specific to STHs, the endemicity of a setting, the expansion of mass drug administration to groups outside of school-aged children and high likelihood of reinfection are all factors when designing trials.

6.3.1. Alternative trial designs for evaluation of anthelminthics

For dose-finding (Phase II) trials of anthelminthics, the prevalence of the STH in question along with the population tested is crucial when designing trials. In the two dose-finding trials conducted as part of this PhD thesis, recruitment goals were not met for several of the age cohorts assessed. In the case of the albendazole dose-finding trial against *T. trichiura*, results from adults and PSAC were considered underpowered, while the similar dose-finding trial had recruitment difficulties in SAC and PSAC. Poor trial recruitment is not unique to the field of NTD, but common in many trials and is the leading cause of discontinuation of trials [77, 78]. Underpowered trials increase the possibility of a type two error, or false negative result (a study fails to detect a difference or association that does exist). In rare cases, when recruitment goals

are almost met (power is only slightly reduced) and no difference is found, interpretations of the data may still be possible, because it is unlikely a false negative result would be found. However, in the majority of cases, results are not interpretable because the likelihood of missing an actual finding could double or triple [79]. An underpowered, as well as overpowered, studies should be avoided due to ethical implications for participants and resources.

Though the classic design of an RCT has the lowest sample size for recruitment, it may not be the most advantageous when using drugs that have been used for decades for mass drug administration and are deemed "safe" even at higher doses. Albendazole has been in use as an anthelminthic since the 1980s and millions of tablets are distributed annually to children all over the world. An alternative trial design could help reduce the likelihood for an underpowered dose-finding trial. Adaptive trial designs have been used in dose-finding trials in other fields using response-adaptive randomization that allows for modulating allocation ratios based on favorable outcomes. In short, at predetermined intervals, increases in allocation of participants to an intervention, which is more favorable (in terms of risks and benefits), are planned allowing for a smaller sample size. Drop-the-loser adaptive trial designs follow the same mentality allowing for the complete discontinuation of arms that do not meet threshold requirement at fixed time points. The advantage is the "winning arm(s)" will produce a high statistical power during analyses. Adaptive trials in settings with low transmission of STH, such as Côte d'Ivoire, may be useful if planning and resources can be allocated prior to trial initiation and the complexity and time commitment of the adaptive design are in line with research plans.

For larger Phase III trials evaluating the efficacy of an intervention that is delivered to groups, a cluster RCT would be the best fit. Since evidence is scarce in West Africa on the evaluation of mass drug administration programs, a cluster randomized trial would help evaluate the efficacy of anthelminthics as programs switch to community-wide approach rather than a school-based approach. A variation of the cluster RCT, the cluster randomized stepped wedge trial has the added benefit of reducing sample size by allowing each cluster to be randomized

to the experimental group at a different point until all clusters have received the intervention [80]. Within the cluster stepped wedge design, long term observations on morbidity markers or other secondary outcomes along with multiple comparisons could be made; however, the complex design requires much planning and use of a strict statistical analysis plan.

For newer dugs that are still seeking out regulatory approval, such as moxidectin or tribendimidine, a more cautious approach needs to be taken. Though adaptive trial designs in Phase II trials may be appropriate, a more classic parallel design for the Phase III superiority (or non-inferiority) trials are necessary. However, to mitigate poor recruitment or failed treatment arms, the use of a "rescue" therapy arm or a trial within a cohort might be fruitful in resource-limited settings. Since trials in NTDs are conducted my a very few number of research groups in many of the same settings, an ongoing registry could be created as part of technological and infrastructure improvements. As is the case in many research projects, this requires collaboration of on-site staff, government officials and partner institutes to ensure that best practices are implemented and maintained.

6.3.2. Complimenting trials with non-randomized studies

Along with Phase II and III trials, pragmatic trials have gained momentum to improve generalizability and external validity in real-world settings. Though not directed at measuring efficacy, the pragmatic trial measures effectiveness of an intervention, making it a perfect tool in evaluating large integrated NTD programs across multiple communities. Alternatively, to be more conservative and less cost-prohibitive, prospective studies could be used to test if an association is present before preceding to more costly RCTs. Since case-control and cohort studies are not held to the most stringent rules of RCTs, which usually seek regulatory approval, studies could be done at lower cost and shorter timelines to provide initial evidence to secure funding and aid in planning efforts of larger trials. The combination of ivermectin and albendazole had been used in Côte d'Ivoire for several years for lymphatic filariasis, but its

effects on STHs in the same setting remained unclear. A smaller case-control or cohort study could have shown very little association between the combination therapy and STH cure rate. Of course, the value of evidence produced in prospective studies is not to the gold standard of clinical trials as bias and confounding usually overestimate results; however, there has been an overwhelming push to devalue prospective study designs [81-83]. Current best practices assessing the quality of evidence includes Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) approach, which classifies the quality of a body of evidence as "low" (only "very low" is worse) if composed of nonrandomized studies and "high" (the highest level) if composed of randomized studies [84, 85]. Though a body of evidence can move up levels in 2-3 other criteria, most evidence of thorough systematic reviews that must include observational studies from before the 1990s will always be downgraded. In certain fields the risk of overestimating the quality of evidence could be life-threatening (such as surgical interventions or radiation therapy); however, in many fields (as in the case of STHs), the penalization of the GRADE system is harsh and always drives the quality of evidence lower or risks the exclusion of vast bodies of literature including observational studies. This is particularly apparent in the previous chapter's discussion on the lack of evidence of the effects of mass drug administration in West Africa. Recently, tools have been created to evaluate evidence from nonrandomized studies, such as the Risk Of Bias In Non-randomised Studies – of Interventions (ROBINS-I) and the Grading of Evidence for Public Health Interventions (GEPHI), which is based on the GRADE system, but systemic changes in research need to be made to overcome a "gold standard" only approach to evidence synthesis [86, 87].

6.4. References

- WHO, WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children (21st list). 2019, World Health Organization: Geneva.
- 2. Moser, W., C. Schindler, and J. Keiser, *Efficacy of recommended drugs against soil transmitted helminths: systematic review and network meta-analysis.* Bmj, 2017. **358**: p. j4307.

- Beach, M.J., et al., Assessment of combined ivermectin and albendazole for treatment of intestinal helminth and Wuchereria bancrofti infections in Haitian schoolchildren. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 1999. 60(3): p. 479-86.
- Belizario, V.Y., et al., A comparison of the efficacy of single doses of albendazole, ivermectin, and diethylcarbamazine alone or in combinations against Ascaris and Trichuris spp. Bull World Health Organ, 2003. 81(1): p. 35-42.
- 5. Marti, H., et al., *A comparative trial of a single-dose ivermectin versus three days of albendazole for treatment of Strongyloides stercoralis and other soil-transmitted helminth infections in children.* Am J Trop Med Hyg, 1996. **55**(5): p. 477-81.
- 6. Wimmersberger, D., et al., *Efficacy and safety of ivermectin against Trichuris trichiura in preschool- and school-aged children: a randomized controlled dose-finding trial.* Clin Infect Dis, 2018.
- 7. Palmeirim, M.S., et al., *Efficacy and safety of co-administered ivermectin plus albendazole for treating soil-transmitted helminths: A systematic review meta-analysis and individual patient data analysis.* PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2018. **12**(4): p. e0006458.
- Coles, G.C., *Drug resistance and drug tolerance in parasites*. Trends in Parasitology, 2006.
 22(8): p. 348.
- Kaplan, R.M., *Drug resistance in nematodes of veterinary importance: a status report*. Trends Parasitol, 2004. 20(10): p. 477-81.
- Sutherland, I.A. and D.M. Leathwick, *Anthelmintic resistance in nematode parasites of cattle: a global issue*? Trends in Parasitology, 2011. 27(4): p. 176-181.
- Ghisi, M., R. Kaminsky, and P. Mäser, *Phenotyping and genotyping of Haemonchus contortus isolates reveals a new putative candidate mutation for benzimidazole resistance in nematodes.* Vet Parasitol, 2007. 144(3-4): p. 313-20.
- 12. Diawara, A., et al., Association between response to albendazole treatment and β-tubulin genotype frequencies in soil-transmitted helminths. PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2013.
 7(5): p. e2247-e2247.

- 13. Schulz, J.D., et al., *Preventive Chemotherapy in the Fight against Soil-Transmitted Helminthiasis: Achievements and Limitations.* Trends Parasitol, 2018.
- 14. Prichard, R.K., *Ivermectin resistance and overview of the Consortium for Anthelmintic Resistance SNPs*. Expert Opinion on Drug Discovery, 2007. **2**(sup1): p. S41-S52.
- 15. Wolstenholme, A.J., et al., *Drug resistance in veterinary helminths*. Trends in Parasitology, 2004. 20(10): p. 469-476.
- 16. Patel, C., et al., Efficacy and safety of ascending dosages of albendazole against Trichuris trichiura in preschool-aged children, school-aged children and adults: A multi-cohort randomized controlled trial. EClinicalMedicine, 2020. 22.
- Hawash, M.B.F., et al., *Whipworms in humans and pigs: origins and demography*. Parasites & Vectors, 2016. 9(1): p. 37.
- Cortés, A., et al., *Helminths and microbes within the vertebrate gut not all studies are created equal*. Parasitology, 2019. 146(11): p. 1371-1378.
- 19. Cooper, P., et al., *Patent Human Infections with the Whipworm, Trichuris trichiura, Are Not Associated with Alterations in the Faecal Microbiota*. PLOS ONE, 2013. **8**(10): p. e76573.
- 20. Lee, S.C., et al., *Helminth colonization is associated with increased diversity of the gut microbiota*. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2014. **8**(5): p. e2880.
- 21. Martin, I., et al., *Dynamic changes in human-gut microbiome in relation to a placebo-controlled anthelminthic trial in Indonesia.* PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2018. **12**(8): p. e0006620.
- Ramanan, D., et al., *Helminth infection promotes colonization resistance via type 2 immunity*.
 Science, 2016. 352(6285): p. 608.
- 23. Rosa, B.A., et al., *Differential human gut microbiome assemblages during soil-transmitted helminth infections in Indonesia and Liberia*. Microbiome, 2018. **6**(1): p. 33.
- 24. Schneeberger, P.H.H., et al., *Off-target effects of tribendimidine, tribendimidine plus ivermectin, tribendimidine plus oxantel-pamoate, and albendazole plus oxantel-pamoate on the human gut microbiota.* International journal for parasitology. Drugs and drug resistance, 2018.
 8(3): p. 372-378.

- Wilson, I.D. and J.K. Nicholson, *The role of gut microbiota in drug response*. Curr Pharm Des, 2009. 15(13): p. 1519-23.
- 26. Eshetu, T., M. Aemero, and A.J. Zeleke, *Efficacy of a single dose versus a multiple dose regimen of Mebendazole against hookworm infections among school children: a randomized open-label trial.* BMC Infectious Diseases, 2020. 20(1): p. 376.
- 27. Farahmandian, I., et al., *Comparative studies on the evaluation of the effect of new anthelminthics on various intestinal helminthiasis in Iran. Effects of anthelminthics on intestinal helminthiasis.* Chemotherapy, 1977. **23**(2): p. 98-105.
- Palmeirim, M.S., et al., *Efficacy and safety of a single dose versus a multiple dose regimen of mebendazole against hookworm infections in children: a randomised, double-blind trial.* EClinicalMedicine, 2018. 1: p. 7-13.
- 29. Wesche, D. and G. Barnish, *A comparative study of the effectiveness of mebendazole (Janssen)* and generically equivalent mebendazole (Nordia) in intestinal helminthiasis in Papua New Guinean children. P N G Med J, 1994. **37**(1): p. 7-11.
- 30. Zani, L.C., et al., Impact of antihelminthic treatment on infection by Ascaris lumbricoides, Trichuris trichiura and hookworms in Covas, a rural community of Pernambuco, Brazil. Rev Inst Med Trop Sao Paulo, 2004. 46(2): p. 63-71.
- 31. Steinmann, P., et al., Efficacy of single-dose and triple-dose albendazole and mebendazole against soil-transmitted helminths and Taenia spp.: a randomized controlled trial. PloS one, 2011. 6(9): p. e25003-e25003.
- 32. Sungkar, S., et al., *The Effectiveness of Triple Dose Albendazole in Treating Soil Transmitted Helminths Infection.* Journal of Parasitology Research, 2019. **2019**: p. 6438497.
- Adegnika, A.A., et al., Randomized, Controlled, Assessor-Blind Clinical Trial to Assess the Efficacy of Single- Versus Repeated-Dose Albendazole to Treat Ascaris Lumbricoides, Trichuris Trichiura, and Hookworm Infection. 2014. 58(5): p. 2535-2540.
- 34. Patel, C., et al., *Efficacy and safety of albendazole in hookworm-infected preschool-aged children, school-aged children and adults in Côte d'Ivoire: a phase II randomized controlled dose-finding trial.* Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2020.

- Moser, W., C. Schindler, and J. Keiser, Chapter Five Drug Combinations Against Soil-Transmitted Helminth Infections, in Advances in Parasitology, J. Keiser, Editor. 2019, Academic Press. p. 91-115.
- Garcia, E.G., *Treatment for Trichuriasis with Oxantel*. The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 1976. 25(6): p. 914-915.
- 37. Lee, E.-L., et al., Therapeutic Evaluation of Oxantel Pamoate (1,4,5,6-Tetrahydro-1-Methyl-2-[Trans-3-Hydroxystyryl] Pyrimidine Pamoate) in Severe Trichuris trichiura Infection*. The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 1976. 25(4): p. 563-567.
- 38. Lim, J.K., Anthelminthic Effect of Oxantel and Oxantel- pyrantel in Intestinal Nematode Infections. Drugs, 1978. **15**(1): p. 99-103.
- 39. Young, C.W., et al., *A clinical trial of oxantel and pyrantel against intestinal nematodes infections*. Korean J Parasitol, 1979. **17**(1): p. 60-66.
- 40. Moser, W., et al., *Efficacy and safety of oxantel pamoate in school-aged children infected with Trichuris trichiura on Pemba Island, Tanzania: a parallel, randomised, controlled, doseranging study.* The Lancet Infectious Diseases, 2016. **16**(1): p. 53-60.
- Speich, B., et al., Oxantel Pamoate–Albendazole for Trichuris trichiura Infection. New England Journal of Medicine, 2014. 370(7): p. 610-620.
- 42. Moser, W., et al., *Efficacy and tolerability of triple drug therapy with albendazole, pyrantel pamoate, and oxantel pamoate compared with albendazole plus oxantel pamoate, pyrantel pamoate plus oxantel pamoate, and mebendazole plus pyrantel pamoate and oxantel pamoate against hookworm infections in school-aged children in Laos: a randomised, single-blind trial.* The Lancet Infectious Diseases, 2018. **18**(7): p. 729-737.
- Qian, M.-B., et al., Accuracy of the Kato-Katz method and formalin-ether concentration technique for the diagnosis of Clonorchis sinensis, and implication for assessing drug efficacy.
 Parasites & Vectors, 2013. 6(1): p. 314.
- 44. Sayasone, S., et al., *Efficacy and safety of tribendimidine against Opisthorchis viverrini: two randomised, parallel-group, single-blind, dose-ranging, phase 2 trials.* The Lancet Infectious Diseases, 2016. 16(10): p. 1145-1153.

- Steinmann, P., et al., Tribendimidine and Albendazole for Treating Soil-Transmitted Helminths, Strongyloides stercoralis and Taenia spp.: Open-Label Randomized Trial. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2008. 2(10): p. e322.
- 46. Moser, W., et al., *Efficacy and safety of tribendimidine, tribendimidine plus ivermectin, tribendimidine plus oxantel pamoate, and albendazole plus oxantel pamoate against hookworm and concomitant soil-transmitted helminth infections in Tanzania and Côte d'Ivoire: a randomised, controlled, single-blinded, non-inferiority trial.* The Lancet Infectious Diseases, 2017. **17**(11): p. 1162-1171.
- 47. Barda, B., et al., *Efficacy of Moxidectin Versus Ivermectin Against Strongyloides stercoralis Infections: A Randomized, Controlled Noninferiority Trial.* Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2017.
 65(2): p. 276-281.
- 48. Mounsey, K.E., et al., *Prospects for Moxidectin as a New Oral Treatment for Human Scabies*.
 PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2016. 10(3): p. e0004389-e0004389.
- 49. Opoku, N.O., et al., Single dose moxidectin versus ivermectin for Onchocerca volvulus infection in Ghana, Liberia, and the Democratic Republic of the Congo: a randomised, controlled, double-blind phase 3 trial. The Lancet, 2018. **392**(10154): p. 1207-1216.
- 50. Saeger, B., et al., *Latrophilin-like receptor from the parasitic nematode Haemonchus contortus as target for the anthelmintic depsipeptide PF1022A*. Faseb j, 2001. **15**(7): p. 1332-4.
- 51. Kulke, D., et al., Efficacy of cyclooctadepsipeptides and aminophenylamidines against larval, immature and mature adult stages of a parasitologically characterized trichurosis model in mice. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2014. 8(2): p. e2698.
- 52. von Samson-Himmelstjerna, G., et al., *Efficacy of two cyclooctadepsipeptides*, *PF1022A and emodepside, against anthelmintic-resistant nematodes in sheep and cattle*. Parasitology, 2005.
 130(Pt 3): p. 343-7.
- 53. Hu, Y. and R.V. Aroian, *Bacterial pore-forming proteins as anthelmintics*. Invert Neurosci, 2012. 12(1): p. 37-41.

- 54. Hu, Y., et al., *Mechanistic and single-dose in vivo therapeutic studies of Cry5B anthelmintic action against hookworms*. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2012. **6**(11): p. e1900.
- 55. Cappello, M., et al., *A purified Bacillus thuringiensis crystal protein with therapeutic activity against the hookworm parasite Ancylostoma ceylanicum*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2006. **103**(41): p. 15154-15159.
- 56. Hu, Y., et al., *In vivo and in vitro studies of Cry5B and nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonist anthelmintics reveal a powerful and unique combination therapy against intestinal nematode parasites.* PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2018. **12**(5): p. e0006506-e0006506.
- 57. Hu, Y., et al., *Bacillus thuringiensis Cry5B protein as a new pan-hookworm cure*. Int J Parasitol Drugs Drug Resist, 2018. 8(2): p. 287-294.
- 58. Abongwa, M., R.J. Martin, and A.P. Robertson, *A BRIEF REVIEW ON THE MODE OF ACTION OF ANTINEMATODAL DRUGS*. Acta veterinaria, 2017. **67**(2): p. 137-152.
- 59. Geurden, T., et al., *The efficacy of a combined oral formulation of derquantel-abamectin against anthelmintic resistant gastro-intestinal nematodes of sheep in the UK*. Veterinary Parasitology, 2012. **189**(2): p. 308-316.
- Taylor-Robinson, D.C., et al., Public health deworming programmes for soil-transmitted helminths in children living in endemic areas. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews, 2019. 9(9): p. CD000371-CD000371.
- 61. Taylor-Robinson, D.C., et al., *Deworming drugs for soil-transmitted intestinal worms in children: effects on nutritional indicators, haemoglobin, and school performance*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2015(7): p. Cd000371.
- 62. Welch, V.A., et al., *Mass deworming to improve developmental health and wellbeing of children in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic review and network meta-analysis.*Lancet Glob Health, 2017. 5(1): p. e40-e50.
- 63. WHO, *Guideline: preventive chemotherapy to control soil-transmitted helminth infections in at-risk population groups.* 2017, World Health Organization: Geneva.

- 64. Clarke, N.E., et al., Differential effect of mass deworming and targeted deworming for soil-transmitted helminth control in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet, 2017.
 389(10066): p. 287-297.
- Marocco, C., et al., Preventive chemotherapy in one year reduces by over 80% the number of individuals with soil-transmitted helminthiases causing morbidity: results from meta-analysis.
 Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 2017. 111(1): p. 12-17.
- 66. Dossa, R.A.M., et al., Impact of iron supplementation and deworming on growth performance in preschool Beninese children. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 2001. 55(4): p. 223-228.
- 67. Kirwan, P., et al., *Patterns of soil-transmitted helminth infection and impact of four-monthly albendazole treatments in preschool children from semi-urban communities in Nigeria: a double-blind placebo-controlled randomised trial.* BMC Infect Dis, 2009. **9**: p. 20.
- 68. Koroma, M.M., et al., *Effects of albendazole on growth of primary school children and the prevalence and intensity of soil-transmitted helminths in Sierra Leone*. J Trop Pediatr, 1996.
 42(6): p. 371-2.
- 69. Gateff, C., G. Lemarinier, and R. Labusquiere, *[Systematic anhelmintic treatment with thiabendazole in African school children]*. Ann Soc Belg Med Trop, 1972. **52**(2): p. 103-12.
- 70. Linnemayr, S. and H. Alderman, *Almost random: Evaluating a large-scale randomized nutrition program in the presence of crossover*. Journal of Development Economics, 2011.
 96(1): p. 106-114.
- Hodges, M.H., et al., Mass drug administration significantly reduces infection of Schistosoma mansoni and hookworm in school children in the national control program in Sierra Leone.
 BMC infectious diseases, 2012. 12: p. 16-16.
- 72. Ziem, J.B., et al., Impact of repeated mass treatment on human Oesophagostomum and hookworm infections in northern Ghana. Tropical Medicine & International Health, 2006.
 11(11): p. 1764-1772.

- 73. Ziem, J.B., et al., Annual mass treatment with albendazole might eliminate human oesophagostomiasis from the endemic focus in northern Ghana. Tropical Medicine & International Health, 2006. 11(11): p. 1759-1763.
- 74. de Gier, B., et al., *Soil-transmitted helminth infections and intestinal and systemic inflammation in schoolchildren*. Acta Tropica, 2018. **182**: p. 124-127.
- 75. Else, K.J., et al., *Whipworm and roundworm infections*. Nature Reviews Disease Primers, 2020.
 6(1): p. 44.
- 76. Mishra, P.K., et al., *Systemic impact of intestinal helminth infections*. Mucosal Immunology, 2014. 7(4): p. 753-762.
- 77. McDonald, A.M., et al., *What influences recruitment to randomised controlled trials? A review of trials funded by two UK funding agencies.* Trials, 2006. 7: p. 9.
- 78. Treweek, S., et al., *Methods to improve recruitment to randomised controlled trials: Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis.* BMJ Open, 2013. **3**(2): p. e002360.
- Altman, D.G., Statistics and ethics in medical research: III How large a sample? British Medical Journal, 1980. 281(6251): p. 1336-1338.
- 80. Harvin, J.A., et al., *Alternative clinical trial designs*. Trauma surgery & acute care open, 2020.
 5(1): p. e000420-e000420.
- Benson, K. and A.J. Hartz, *A comparison of observational studies and randomized, controlled trials*. N Engl J Med, 2000. 342(25): p. 1878-86.
- 82. Concato, J., N. Shah, and R.I. Horwitz, *Randomized, controlled trials, observational studies, and the hierarchy of research designs*. The New England journal of medicine, 2000. 342(25):
 p. 1887-1892.
- Song, J.W. and K.C. Chung, *Observational studies: cohort and case-control studies*. Plastic and reconstructive surgery, 2010. **126**(6): p. 2234-2242.
- 84. Balshem, H., et al., *GRADE guidelines: 3. Rating the quality of evidence*. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 2011. 64(4): p. 401-406.
- 85. Guyatt, G., et al., *GRADE guidelines: 1. Introduction—GRADE evidence profiles and summary of findings tables.* Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 2011. **64**(4): p. 383-394.

- 86. Movsisyan, A., et al., *Rating the quality of a body of evidence on the effectiveness of health and social interventions: A systematic review and mapping of evidence domains*. Research Synthesis Methods, 2018. 9(2): p. 224-242.
- 87. Sterne, J.A., et al., *ROBINS-I: a tool for assessing risk of bias in non-randomised studies of interventions*. BMJ, 2016. **355**: p. i4919.

7. Conclusions

While strides have been made in the past decades to greatly reduce the burden of STHs, greater steps need to be taken if elimination is to be reached in the coming future. The aim of this PhD research was to inform decision and policymakers on best treatment and monitoring practices for the control of STHs in Côte d'Ivoire and globally. The goal of this PhD was to evaluate optimal treatment regimens and dosages against STH infections and to assess the potential markers of STH morbidity.

Given the complex landscape of high drug pressure, slow drug development and reduced efficacy of mainstay treatments, the conclusions of this thesis lead to recommending alternative treatment combinations for the control of STHs, rather than monotherapy alone, while continuing ongoing research and development of new drugs. The combination of albendazole and ivermectin is promising in many settings; however, this combination is not efficacious in Côte d'Ivoire. Further investigation into potential other combinations such as a higher dose (800 mg) of albendazole combined with a weight independent dose of either oxantel pamoate (500 mg) or moxidectin (8 mg) should be conducted in multiple low transmission settings. Of course, the cost-effectiveness of the aforementioned combinations would be higher than monotherapy, but, as proven by the elimination of lymphatic filariasis in many countries over the past two decades, is worthwhile on the road to elimination. This would require the cooperation and coordination of various stakeholders, including pharmaceutical companies, regulatory agencies and funders, to ensure oxantel pamoate and moxidectin can be approved, produced and made available at low costs for the use of STH control and elimination through mass drug administration.

As many countries switch to a more integrated approach to NTD management, it is important to consider the evaluation of the impact of various treatments together. For example, in Côte d'Ivoire, there were ongoing programs for helminthiasis, schistosomiasis, malaria and lymphatic filariasis control at the time this PhD research began. Evaluation of morbidity targets outside of prevalence should be a planned and coordinated part of integrated NTD control programs since there is an opportunity to reach and collect ongoing information on children and adults with multiple infectious diseases. Morbidity data from national control programs should be made available on a global level, which requires improved technology and infrastructure, capacity building in data science, increased access to individual patient data in research and collaboration with global agencies to ensure data quality and assurance.

Lastly, to accomplish the changes in current treatment guidelines and evaluation of control programs, it is recommended that alternative trial designs should be used in STH research, especially in Phase II clinical research and in settings of low endemicity. For trials of drugs seeking regulatory approval, a more classic approach should be used; however, pre-planning and setting choice is key when deciding where to access the efficacy of an anthelminthic. Furthermore, observational studies should not be overlooked and small pilot studies could avoid costly and unethical trial designs.

Chandni Patel

350 Glenbrook Dr, Atlantis, FL 33462 | chandnipatel21@gmail.com | (561) 618-0383

Profile

Public health professional with strong skill set in clinical project and program management in the field of epidemiology seeking employment in the Public Health sector. Over eight years of experience in coordinating and monitoring diverse health projects with expertise in infectious disease. Demonstrated clear communication with internal team and external stakeholders.

CERTIFICATIONS AND SKILLS

- Certifications: Good Clinical Practice, Strategic Project Management, Research Data Management, Conflict Resolution.
- Software proficiency: Microsoft Office (Word, Excel, Powerpoint, Access), STATA, ODK, R.
- Languages: English (native), Spanish (intermediate), French (intermediate), Gujurati (native).

Select Professional Experience

Research Assistant in Epidemiology

Department of Medical parasitology and Infection Control, Swiss Tropical Institute, Basel, Switzerland

- \circ Developed protocols for monitoring, evaluation, surveillance, quality control and safety in a clinical framework.
- Coordinated and managed international and multidisciplinary teams across research, financial and regulatory authorities.
- Created and implementing health project plans in clinical and laboratory settings.

Research Associate in Clinical Epidemiology

Basel Institute of Clinical Epidemiology and Biostatistics, University Hospital, Basel, Switzerland

- Consulted and advised on study design and data analysis plans.
- $\circ~$ Performed meta-analyses and individual patient data analyses on relevant clinical topics.
- \circ Conducted health technology assessments and systematic reviews for public and private health authorities.

Health Planner and Program Manager

Health Council of Southeast Florida, Palm Beach Gardens, FL, USA

- $\circ~$ Evaluated and audited health programs led by various hospitals and health departments.
- Maintained and generated agency databases, including emergency room and inpatient hospital utilization.
- Leveraged data and research to devise community health assessments and improvement plans.
- Devised health education and information dissemination plans for various initiatives in Palm Beach County.

Breast Cancer Researcher

Department of Epidemiology, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, USA

- $\circ~$ Created and submitted protocol and study documents to ethical and regulatory committees.
- $\circ~$ Collected, organized, and compiled data for literature reviews on breast cancer incidence and survival.
- Assisted in grant preparation for funding from the National Institute of Health and the National Cancer Institute.

Study Navigator

Department of Epidemiology, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, USA

- $\circ~$ Recruited, screened and tracked participants based on recruitment criteria for clinical studies.
- $\circ~$ Monitored recruitment timelines and goals for industry-funded and investigator-initiated trials.
- $\circ~$ Assisted in maintaining a participant recruitment database.

Education

M.S. in Public Health

Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, USA

inty.

Aug 2014 – Jan 2015

Nov 2013 – July 2014

Mar 2018 – Feb
 2021

Jan 2015 – Sep 2016

Apr 2017 - Feb 2018

2014